

Ghafouri, Khloud Jamil (2018) *Effect of exercise, diet and ethnicity on metabolic responses in postprandial state.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/8634/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten:Theses http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

Effect of Exercise, Diet and Ethnicity

on Metabolic Responses in

Postprandial State

By

Khloud Jamil Ghafouri

A doctoral Thesis Submitted in fulfilment of the requirement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

June 2017

University of Glasgow

University | College of Medical, of Glasgow | Veterinary & Life Sciences

Abstract

Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide. One of the key factors mediating cardiovascular disease risk, and the underlying atherogenic disease process, is disturbances to metabolism in the postprandial state, particularly with respect to lipoprotein metabolism.

A number of studies have demonstrated that prior exercise can reduce postprandial triglyceride (TG) concentrations, with recent evidence indicating that increased clearance from the circulation of large very low density lipoproteins (VLDL₁) plays an important role. However, it was unclear how exercise facilitated this potentially beneficial effect and this was the focus of the present work.

The first experimental study in this thesis demonstrated, in 10 overweight/obese men, that 90 minutes of prior moderate exercise increased the affinity of VLDL₁ for TG hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase by 2.2-fold in the fasted state (p = 0.02) and 2.6-fold in the postprandial state (p = 0.001), but did not significantly alter the affinity of chylomicrons, a novel observation that adds to understanding of the mechanism by which exercise lowers TG concentrations.

Postprandial responses to meal ingestion depend on the macronutrient composition of the food ingested. In the second experimental chapter, postprandial responses to ingestion of a test meal containing 75g glucose, or 75g fat, or a combination of 75g glucose and 75g fat were compared in 10 overweight/obese men. The main finding was that co-ingestion of fat with the glucose load reduced the postprandial glucose response, but not insulin response, compared with glucose ingestion alone. Co-ingestion of fat with the glucose load also substantially reduced the postprandial suppression of non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) compared to glucose only ingestion. Postprandial TG responses were similar when only fat was consumed compared with co-ingestion of fat and glucose, but postprandial VLDL₁ concentrations were lower in the latter condition.

It is well established that ethnic differences exist in the prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases. In particular, diabetes prevalence is high in Middle-Eastern populations. It is not known whether ethnic differences in postprandial metabolism contribute to these differences in risk. In the third experimental study, eight white European men and eight men of Middle-Eastern origin consumed a mixed-meal and postprandial responses were assessed. Postprandial insulin responses were higher in the Middle-Eastern men and postprandial TG concentrations were higher in the European men. This suggests that ethnic differences may exist in the inter-relationship between insulin resistance and lipoprotein metabolism.

Thus, overall this thesis has provided insights into how postprandial metabolism is modulated by exercise, macronutrient intake and ethnicity.

Table of Contents

Ał	ostract	Ι
Li	st of Tables	VII
Li	st of Figures	IX
Ac	eknowledgement	XV
Sta	atement of Contributions	XVIII
Aı	thor's Declaration	XXII
De	efinitions/Abbreviations	XXIII
1	Introduction and literature review	1
1.1 Intro	oduction	1
1.2 Non	-modifiable risk factors	3
1.3 Moa	lifiable risk factors	5
1.3.1	Behavioural factors	7
1.3.2	Biomarker Risk factors	10
1.4 Lipic 1.4.1	l metabolism Lipoproteins	12 12
1.4.2	Apolipoproteins	14
1.4.3	De-novo lipogenesis (DNL) pathway	16
1.4.4	Exogenous lipoprotein metabolism	17
1.4.5	Endogenous lipoprotein metabolism	20
1.4.0	Obesity insulin resistance, diabetes and CVD risk	36
1.5 Inter	rvention to modify CVD through behavioural changes	53
1.5.1	Controlling plasma lipids by exercise	53
1.5.2	Controlling plasma lipids by diet modification	58
1.6 Ethn	icity, plasma lipids and postprandial response	69
1.6.1	Ethnicity and plasma lipids	69
1.6.2	Ethnicity, obesity and adipose tissue	70
1.6.3	Ethnicity and diabetes Ethnicity and other CVD risk factors	73
1.6.5	Middle East and North Africa	75
1.7 Aim	of the thesis	77
2	General methods	78
2.1 Subi	ect Recruitment and Screening	78
2.1.1	Anthropometric Measurements	79
2.1.2	Skinfold Measurement	80

2.2 Expired air measurements

82

nitoring of Heart Rate	83
maximal Exercise Test	83
t meals	84
Fat Loading Test (FLT)using high fat mixed meal (HFM)	84
Oral glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)	86
Oral fat Tolerance Test (OFTT)	86
Combined test (COMB)	86
od sampling and processing	86
Plasma Analysis	88
Lipoprotein separation	88
Insulin Analysis	93
Insulin resistance estimated the homeostasis model	94
vry assay	94
assay	95
tistical analysis	96
Power calculations	96
Calculation of summary postprandial responses	96
Normality of data	96
Significant testing	96
Cohen's <i>d</i> , effect size	97
	nitoring of Heart Rate maximal Exercise Test fat Loading Test (FLT)using high fat mixed meal (HFM) Oral glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) Oral fat Tolerance Test (OFTT) Combined test (COMB) od sampling and processing Plasma Analysis Lipoprotein separation Insulin Analysis Insulin resistance estimated the homeostasis model rry assay assay ristical analysis Power calculations Calculation of summary postprandial responses Normality of data Significant testing Cohen's d, effect size

3 Development of a Method to Determine the
Susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for
Hydrolysis99

3.1 Elem	ents of standardised lipolysis assay	99
3.1.1	Choice of indicator of rate of lipolysis	101
3.1.2	Triglyceride measurements	103
3.1.3	Glycerol measurements	106
3.1.4	I-Lab reproducibility	107
3.1.5	Albumin Interference	107
3.1.6	Conclusion	111
3.2 Stan	dardisation of TRL concentration	112
3.2.1	Aim	112
3.2.2	Method	112
3.2.3	Result	115
3.3 Optir	mising lipase amount	116
3.3.1	Aim	116
3.3.2	Methods	116
3.3.3	Final enzyme concentrations	117
3.3.4	Conclusion	119
3.4 Assa	y conditions	119
3.4.1	Stopping the reaction	119
3.5 Discu	ission	122

4 Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase 126

4.1 Inti	roduction	126
4.2 Pai	ticipants and Methods	<i>127</i>
4.2.1	Participants	127

4.2.2	Study design	128
4.2.3	Lipoprotein separation	130
4.2.4	LPL affinity assay	131
4.2.5	Plasma assays	131
4.2.6	Data analysis	131
4.3 Resi	ılts	133
4.3.1	Plasma concentrations in the fasted and postprandial states	133
4.3.2	Lipoprotein concentrations and composition in the fasted and postprandial states	144
4.3.3	Lipoprotein affinity for LPL	153
4.4 Disc	ussion	159

Effect of co-ingesting fat with carbohydrate on 5 lipid and glucose response 165 5.1 Introduction 165

5.2 Par	ticipants and Methods	168
5.2.1	Participants	168
5.2.2	Study design	168
5.2.3	Plasma assays	171
5.2.4	Lipoprotein separation	171
5.2.5	Calculations and statistical analysis	171
5.3 Res	ults	173
5.3.1	Plasma measurements	173
5.3.2	Lipoprotein composition	180
5.4 Disc	cussion	192

5.4 Discussion

A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity 6 on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin 199

6.1	lr	ntroduction	199
6.2	Part	icipants and Methods	200
6	.2.1	Participants	200
6	.2.2	Test meals	201
6	.2.3	Blood sampling	201
6	.2.4	Plasma assays	203
6	.2.5	Lipoprotein separation	203
6	.2.6	Calculations and statistical analysis	203
6.3	Resi	ılts	205
6	.3.1	Fasting plasma concentration	205
6	.3.2	Postprandial concentrations	206
6	.3.3	Lipoprotein subfractions	213
6.4	Disc	ussion	220
	7	General Discussion	224
7.1	Sum	Imary	224
7.2	Limi	tation of the studies	228
7.3	Futu	ire experiments	230
7.4	Cond	clusion	232

8 References	233
9 Appendices	317
Appendix A; Heath Screen Questionnaire –Chap 4, 5 & 6	ter 317
Appendix B1; Subjects Information Sheet and consent Form –Chapter 4	319
Appendix B2; Subjects Information Sheet and consent Form –Chapter 4	324
Appendix C; Blood and lipoprotein subfraction analysis	329
Appendix D; participants Feedback Sheet	346
Appendix E; Statistician Report about statistical test used in Chapter 4	353

List of Tables

Table 1.2; Sources and functions of some lipoproteins (Jackson et al., 1976, Schaefer et al., 1978). 15 Table1.3; Distribution of Apolipoproteins in different lipoprotein particles (Schaefer et al., 1978). 16 Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-100) in the fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999). 21 Table 1.5: Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009). 24 Table 1.6: Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid 28 Table 1.7: Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012). 37 Table 1.9: Insulin's effects on metabolism. 44 Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974). 81 Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal. 85 Table 2.3: Composition conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions. 90 Table 3.1; initial assay mixture. 102 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 147 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 147 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 150 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.	Table 1.1; Lipoprotein composition (Sparks JD, 1994).	13
al., 1978). 15 Table 1.3; Distribution of Apolipoproteins in different lipoprotein particles (Schaefer et al., 1978).	Table 1.2; Sources and functions of some lipoproteins (Jackson et al., 1976, Scha	efer et
Table 1.3; Distribution of Apolipoproteins in different lipoprotein particles (Schaefer et al., 1978). 16 Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-100) in the fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999). 21 Table 1.5: Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009). 24 Table 1.6: Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid 38 Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012). 37 Table 1.8: Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population 44 (WHO, 2012). 37 Table 2.1; Insulin's effects on metabolism. 44 Table 2.2; Composition of the OFTT. 86 Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT. 86 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions. 90 Table 2.5: Certrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions. 92 Table 3.1; initial assay mixture. 124 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.3; Timal assay mixture. 128 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 135 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition o	al., 1978)	15
1978) 16 Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-100) in the fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999). .21 Table 1.5 Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009). .24 Table 1.5. Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009). .24 Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid	Table1.3; Distribution of Apolipoproteins in different lipoprotein particles (Schae	efer et al.,
Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-100) in the fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999).21Table 1.5. Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009).24Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990).28Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid (WHO, 2012).37Table 1.8: Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population (WHO, 2012).39Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974).81Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal.85Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT.86Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions90Table 2.5; Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions.92Table 3.1; initial assay mixture.124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics.28Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.136Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states.147Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLD2 in the postprandia	1978).	16
fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999) 21 Table 1.5 Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009). 24 Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990) 28 Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012) 37 Table 1.9; Insulin's effects on metabolism 44 Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974) 81 Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal 85 Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT. 86 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions 90 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.3; finial assay mixture. 102 Table 4.1; Physical characteristics. 128 Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations. 135 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 147 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 153 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.	Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-10	0) in the
Table 1.5 Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009)24 Table 1.6 Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990)	fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999).	
Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990). 28 Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012). 37 Table 1.8. Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population 39 Table 1.9; Insulin's effects on metabolism. 44 Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974)81 81 Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal. 85 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions 90 Table 2.5; Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions. 92 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.3; Final assay mixture. 128 Table 4.1; Physical characteristics. 128 Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 140 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240 151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states. 150 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states. 150	Table 1.5 Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism (Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2	2009)24
Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990) 28 Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012) 37 Table 1.8; Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population 39 (WHO, 2012) 39 Table 1.9; Insulin's effects on metabolism 44 Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974) 81 Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal. 85 Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT. 86 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions 90 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600 107 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600 107 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600 107 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 150 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 150 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.	Table 1.6. Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipic	, t
Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012)	Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990)	28
Table 1.8. Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population (WHO, 2012)	Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012)	37
(WHO, 2012)	Table 1.8. Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic popula	ation
Table 1.9; Insulin's effects on metabolism.44Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974)81Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal.Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT	(WHO. 2012)	
Table 2.1; standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 1974)81Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal	Table 1.9: Insulin's effects on metabolism.	44
Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal. .85 Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT. .86 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions. .92 Table 3.1; initial assay mixture. .102 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. .107 Table 3.3; Final assay mixture. .124 Table 4.1; Physical characteristics. .128 Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations. .135 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. .136 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. .146 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. .150 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240 .151 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. .151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. .151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. .151 Table 5.1; Demographic data. .168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. .185 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve fo	Table 2.1: standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Durnin and Womersley, 19	74)81
Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT. 86 Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions 90 Table 2.5; Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions. 92 Table 3.1; initial assay mixture. 102 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600. 107 Table 4.1; Physical characteristics. 128 Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations. 135 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240 147 minutes). 147 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 179 Table 5.1; Demographic data. 168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. <td>Table 2.2: Composition of the high fat mixed meal</td> <td></td>	Table 2.2: Composition of the high fat mixed meal	
Table 2.4; Layers of density solutions90Table 2.5; Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions.92Table 3.1; initial assay mixture102Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.107Table 3.3; Final assay mixture124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics128Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations135Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations136Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240minutes)147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state151Table 4.8; Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL155Table 5.1; Demographic data168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for Chylomicron concentration and VLD1185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD12 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration189Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the c	Table 2.3: Composition of the OFTT.	
Table 2.5; Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fractions.92Table 3.1; initial assay mixture.102Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.107Table 3.3; Final assay mixture.124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics.128Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.135Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.3; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240minutes).147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLD12 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLD12 in the postprandial state.151Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for Chylomicron concentration and VLD11185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD12 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL compo	Table 2.4: Lavers of density solutions	
Table 3.1; initial assay mixture.102Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.107Table 3.3;Final assay mixture.124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics.128Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.135Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240147minutes).147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and vLDL1185composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curv	Table 2.5: Centrifugation conditions used for the separation of lipoprotein fraction	ons
Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.107Table 3.3; Final assay mixture.124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics.128Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.135Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.3; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the postprandial states (240147minutes).147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189<	Table 3.1: initial assay mixture	102
Table 3.3;Final assay mixture.124Table 4.1; Physical characteristics.128Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.135Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial states (240147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial states (240147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state.150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLD1 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.8; Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL.155Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLD1185romposition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD12 composition and concentration186Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration180Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 co	Table 3.2 : reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.	
Table 4.1; Physical characteristics. 128 Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations. 135 Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.3; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the postprandial states (240 147 minutes). 147 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 150 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 5.1; Demographic data. 168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 179 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189 Table 5.6; Time-averag	Table 3.3: Final assav mixture.	
Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.135Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.136Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.136Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states.146Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial states (240147minutes).147Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.150Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1185Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged area	Table 4.1: Physical characteristics	
Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations. 136 Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the postprandial states (240 147 minutes). 147 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 150 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.8; Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL. 155 Table 5.1; Demographic data. 168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period 179 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLD11 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD2 composition and concentration 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD2 composition and concentration 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD2 composition and concentration 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under	Table 4.2: Fasting plasma concentrations	
Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the fasted states. 146 Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the postprandial states (240 147 minutes). 147 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 150 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 5.1; Demographic data. 168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period 179 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLD11 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD12 composition and concentration 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLD12 composition and concentration 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for ID1 composition and concentration 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LD1 composition and concentr	Table 4.3: Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.	
Table 4.5; Concentration and composition of VLDL1 in the postprandial states (240 minutes). 147 Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state. 150 Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state. 151 Table 4.8; Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL. 155 Table 5.1; Demographic data. 168 Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 179 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas unde	Table 4.4: Concentration and composition of VLDL ₁ in the fasted states.	
minutes)	Table 4.5: Concentration and composition of VLDL ₁ in the postprandial states (24)	40
Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the fasted state.150Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.8; Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL.155Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1179composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration18	minutes).	
Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of VLDL2 in the postprandial state.151Table 4.8;Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL.155Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1179composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentrati	Table 4.6: Concentration and composition of VLDL ₂ in the fasted state	
Table 4.8;Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL.155Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1185composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration180Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189T	Table 4.7: Concentration and composition of VLDL ₂ in the postprandial state	
Table 5.1; Demographic data.168Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period179Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1179Composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation185period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration185Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration186Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration189Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and c	Table 4.8:Lipoprotein Affinity for LPL.	
Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 179 Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration 185 Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration 186 COMB trials. 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration 186 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration 189	Table 5.1: Demographic data	
in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	Table 5.2: Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation	on period
Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL1 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL2 composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 186 Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189 Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. 189	in the OGTT. OFTT and COMB trials	
composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	Table 5.3: Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration a	and VLDL1
period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observ	ation
Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL ₂ composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	period in the OGTT. OFTT and COMB trials.	
values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	Table 5.4: Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL ₂ composition and conc	entration
COMB trials	values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT. OFTT	and
Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	COMB trials	186
values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	Table 5.5: Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concen	tration
COMB trials	values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT_OFTT	and
Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	COMB trials.	
values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials	Table 5.6: Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concer	tration
COMB trials	values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT_OFTT a	and
	COMB trials.	

Table 6.1; Physical characteristics	202
Table 6.2; Fasting Plasma Values.	205
Table 6.3; Time-Averaged and incremental postprandial plasma Concentration	208
Table 6.4; Fasted values for VLDL1 and VLDL2 composition.	214
Table 6.5; Time-averaged area under the curve for VLDL1 and VLDL2 composition	216
Table 7.1; Effects of lifestyle practices and lipid-lowering therapies on TG level reduc	tion
(Talayero and Sacks, 2011)	226

List of Figures

Figure 1.2. Interaction between modifiable risk factors in aged population. Ageing increases negative behaviours like smoking and drinking alcohol. It also, reduces the physical activity for the individuals all these factors contribute to increase body weight and develop some CVD risk factors such as diabetes, dyslipidemia and hypertension.....11 Figure 1.3; Chylomicron metabolism. Chylomicron metabolism begins when it emerges from the lymph carrying triglyceride into the circulation. Lipoprotein lipase from adipose tissue and skeletal muscles starts hydrolysing the triglyceride into fatty acids and glycerol. After it goes through the hydrolysis it loses most of its triglyceride, resulting in the formation of chylomicron remnants. These remnants enter to the liver through apoE receptors......19 Figure 1.4. VLDL metabolism. VLDL is secreted from the liver with one apo B on the surface and triglyceride and cholesteryl ester in the core. Core triglyceride is hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase and becomes a remnant lipoprotein that is recognized by the liver in part, by apo E. The remnant lipoprotein is further processed to form LDL, which has a cholesterol-rich core and an intact apo B on its surface. The LDL particle can be removed by peripheral or hepatic LDL receptors. As the VLDL core is hydrolyzed, the unesterified cholesterol and phospholipid are transferred to HDL by phospholipid transfer protein to become the cholesteryl ester of HDL......25 Figure 1.5. Dyslipidaemia of insulin resistance. Panel [A], shows the normal lipedmic response, Panel [B] shows insulin resistance/diabetes dyslipidaemia. Hypertriglyceridaemia reflects accumulation in plasma of TRL, the pivotal defect in lipoprotein metabolism. Over secretion of VLDL and chylomicrons by the liver and intestine, coupled with decreased catabolism, increases the plasma pool of TRLs, including remnant lipoproteins; increased hetero exchange of neutral lipids between TRL and LDL and HDLs via CETP results in remodelling of LDL and HDL to form correspondingly smaller, denser particles. LPL activity is decreased in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue owing to the inhibitory effects of insulin Figure 2.1. A schematic diagram of a 4-stage submaximal incremental test (black boxes Figure 3.1. Conditions that been addressed in lipolysis assay include, standardizing TRL, LPL concentration and optimal assay conditions......100 Figure 3.2. The products of TRL hydrolysis, panel [A] shows the rise in NEFA, panel [B] shows the degradation of TG; both can be used as a parameter of the reaction. NEFA concentration will rise as triple as TG will fall. The higher TG will breakdown the higher NEFA will be released. The rate of the reaction will increase when a higher activity enzyme is used......101 Figure 3.3. Release of NEFA and degradation of TG from VLDL₁ during 30-minutes observation, Panel [A] shows the release of NEFA and degradation of TG from (0.10 mmol.I⁻¹) of VLDL₁ and 100 units of LPL, Panel [B] shows release of NEFA and degradation Figure 3.4. Release of NEFA and glycerol and degradation of TG from 0.5 mmol. ¹ VLDL₁ Figure 3.5. The effect of adding albumin to the hydrolysis assay during 30m interval. Panel [A] shows the release of NEFA from chylomicron when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [B], shows the degradation of TG

in chylomicron when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [C], shows the release of NEFA from VLDL1 when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [D], shows the degradation of TG in VLDL₁ when Figure 3.6. Chylomicron were concentrated using filtered tubes at 3000 rpm at 4°C for 90 Figure 3.8. Values for NEFA release over 90-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₁ using different LPL concentrations; 100, 200, 400 and 800 units.....117 Figure 3.9. Release of NEFA over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL1 using 0.1 unit Figure 3.10. Stopping the reaction by using two concentrations of NaCl. Panle [A] shows the effect of adding 2 and 5 M of NaCl to stop the reaction, Panel [B] shows the repeated measurement for the same reaction after one hour.....121 Figure 3.11. Schematic diagram of LPL assay protocol......125 Figure 4.1. Study Design. A day prior the OFTT participants performed either exercise for 90 minutes or rest. A base line blood sample was acquired, then a test meal was provided, further blood samples were obtained at 30, 60, 90, 120 and 240 minutes after Figure 4.2. Time-averaged postprandial plasma TG concentrations in Control and Exercise trial. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.1 and 4.2. N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Figure 4.3. Individual values for TG in the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting TG concentrations; panel [B] shows raw values for time-averaged postprandial TG concentrations; panel [C] shows log transformed values for fasting TG concentration; panel [D] shows log-transformed values for time-averaged postprandial TG concentrations. Black symbols show individual values; red symbols show the mean values. Figure 4.4. Time-averaged postprandial concentrations in Control and Exercise trial, panel [A] shows time-averaged postprandial glucose concentrations and panel [B] shows time-averaged postprandial insulin concentrations. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 and 4.2 N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).139 Figure 4.5. Individual values for glucose and insulin in the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting glucose concentrations; panel [B] shows fasting insulin concentrations; panel [C] shows time-averaged glucose concentration; panel [D] shows time-averaged postprandial insulin concentrations. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3.....140 Figure 4.6. Time-averaged postprandial concentrations in Control and Exercise trial, panel [A] shows time-averaged postprandial NEFA concentrations and panel [B] shows time-averaged postprandial 3-Hydroxybutyrate concentrations. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 and 4.2 N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005)......141 Figure 4.7. Individual values for NEFA and 3-Hydroxybutyratein the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting NEFA concentrations; panel [B] shows fasting

3-Hydroxybutyrate concentrations; panel [C] shows time-averaged NEFA concentration; panel [D] shows time-averaged postprandial 3-Hydroxybutyrateconcentrations. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical Figure 4.8. Individual values for sdLDL the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows fasting sdLDL concentrations; panel [B] shows time-averaged sdLDL concentration. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical Figure 4.9. Values for chylomicron-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for time-averaged postprandial chylomicron-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for time-averaged postprandial chylomicron-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). The table below, shows the mean \pm SEM differences between the two trials at each time point.* significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).148 Figure 4.10. Values for VLDL₁-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for time-averaged postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for fasted VLDL₁-TG concentrations, [C] shows individual values for timeaveraged postprandial VLDL1-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). The table below, shows the mean ± SEM differences between the two trials at each time point.* significant difference Figure 4.11. Values for VLDL2-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for time-averaged postprandial VLDL2-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for fasted VLDL2-TG concentrations [C] shows individual values for timeaveraged postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005).

Individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the Individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined by the rate of NEFA release over the linear portion of the 30-minute incubation period before a plateau was achieved for each individual participant. Values for lipoprotein affinity for LPL and statistical analyses are shown in Table 4.8 Significant values from the other group * (p = 0.005) and ** (p< 0.05).

Figure 4.14. Values for NEFA release over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₂ in fasted and postprandial state in Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel [B] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in postprandial state, panel [C] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel [C] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel for the state. N = 10, Values are mean ± SEM . The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined by the rate of NEFA release over the linear portion of the 30-minute incubation period before a plateau was achieved for each individual participant. Values for lipoprotein affinity for LPL and statistical analyses are shown in Table 4.8. Significant values from the other group * (p = 0.005) and ** (p< 0.05).

Figure 5.1. Study design. Participants reported to the lab after 12 h fasting. A base line blood sample was taken, then a meal containing either 75 g of fat or 75 g of glucose or Figure 5.2. Change in glucose response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay. ^aSignificantly different from OGTT trial, ^bsignificantly different from OFTT trial, ^csignificantly different from COMB trial, all (p<0.001)......175 Figure 5.3. Change in insulin response over the 480 minute observation period in the **OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials**. Values are mean \pm SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).176 Figure 5.4. Change in NEFA response over the 480 minute observation period in the **OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.** Values are mean ± SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).177 Figure 5.5. Change in TG response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, **OFTT and COMB trials.** Values are mean \pm SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analyses was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, b significantly different Figure 5.6. Change in chylomicron-TG response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all

Figure 5.7. Change in lipoprotein-TG response over the 480 minute observation period, panel [A] shows the change in VLDL₁-TG and panel [B] the change in VLDL₂-TG in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05)......183 Figure 5.8. Change in lipoprotein concentration response over the 480 minute **observation period**, panel [A] shows the change in $VLDL_1$ concentration and panels [B] the change in VLDL₂ concentration in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05)......184 Figure 5.9. Change in lipoprotein concentration response over the 480 minute observation period, panel [A] shows the change in IDL concentration and panel [B] shows the change in LDL concentration in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05).....188 Figure 5.10. Differences between lipoprotein compositions in the three trials, lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, p<0.005. Protein, phospholipid (PL) and free-cholesterol (FC) comprise the outer coat of the lipoprotein; triglyceride (TG) and cholesteryl-ester (CE) comprise the lipoprotein core......191 Figure 6.1. Plasma-TG concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for TG concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma TG, N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean ± SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005), ** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3.....209 Figure 6.2. Plasma-glucose concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for glucose concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma glucose. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p<0.05). Figure 6.3 . Plasma-insulin concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for insulin concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma insulin. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p \leq 0.05). Figure 6.4. Plasma-NEFA concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for NEFA concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma NEFA. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3...... Figure 6.5. Chylomicron concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for chylomicron concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for chylomicron concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean ± SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005). Values and statistical analysis Figure 6.6. VLDL₁ concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for VLDL1 concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for VLDL₁ concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean ± SEM. *significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical Figure 6.7. VLDL₂ concentrations during 4 h observation period in o in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for VLDL₂ concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for $VLDL_2$ concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. *significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** ($p \le 0.05$). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.5. ...219

Acknowledgement

Wear gratitude like a cloak and it will feed every corner of your

life. ~Rumi

First and above all, I praise God, the almighty for providing me this opportunity and granting me the capability to proceed successfully. This thesis appears in its current form due to the assistance and guidance of several people. I would therefore like to offer my sincere gratitude to all of them.

Umm al-Qura University and Saudi government- for funding the research contained in this thesis and generously supporting my whole PhD study period.

From the bottom of my heart I would like to thank the angels who lighting my path during my PhD;

Prof. Jason Gill - for his excellent supervision, the trust, the insightful discussion, offering valuable advice, for his support during the whole period of the study, and especially for your patience and guidance;

Prof. Muriel J. Caslake - for her supervision and enthusiasm, her encouragement and motherly affection have always put me at ease and comforted me;

Prof. Christopher Packard - for his great insight, supervision and support, he is such an inspiring person with huge knowledge and wisdom;

Josephine Cooney and Dorothy Bedford - for their lab help in analysing samples and teaching me the correct technique to be used. I left my mother back in Saudi, however Josephine and Dorothy were always been there for me, with a shoulder to cry on, the love I required and the support I needed; *Mr John Wilson* - a professional technician who helped me in measuring skin folds and cannulation. He is a friend, supporter and teacher. He always gave me his shoulder when I needed and never let me down.

Participants - as it was the most difficult part in my PhD, I am so grateful for all the participants who underwent the trials for every single drop of blood and their time and patience;

Dr.Inayat Shah- for his unlimited help during the trials and the PhD;

Dr.Iqbal Al Shayji- for her great help and guidance through my final year in PhD;

Dr. Andrew Hamilton- for his support to complete my studies, guidance, love and help;

Eman Al-Rabighi- my best friend, who always supported, engaged and believed in me;

My friends and colleague- Dr.Roba Shaheen, Dr. Tariq Nada, Dr.Farida Alkandari, Ghareeb Al-Shuwair, Safa Al-Snosi, Dr. shrouq Bodi, Philip Stewart, Chris Lavery, Evan Campbell, Leena Al-Wafi, Kholod Abughazalah and Wid Daghustani for all the help and support;

Walton Pantland- my fiancé for his endless love, understanding and support;

Marie Murray- for her help to get over my anxiety and being able to attend the viva.

Lastly, my family: my mother and father who were always there for me. Whatever the distance, their love and prayers made me reach where I am now. My amazing and powerful grandmother for her strong believe in me and her love. My brothers Mohammed and Ahmed, my sisters Amal, Lujain, Reem and Raghad. My auntie Dr. Amal Al-Abdulwahab, my uncles Dr. Ahmed Al-Abdulwahab, Dr. Osama Abdulwahab and Prof. Sami Al-Abdulwahab, Nabeha and Ghadah Abdulwahab for their guidance and support, and my grandmother who has always prayed for me.

Statement of Contributions

Personnel	Contributions
Prof. Jason Gill	Principal Supervisor
Prof. Muriel J. Caslake	Second supervisor and laboratory assistance.
Prof. Christopher Packard	Co-Supervisor.
Josephine Cooney and Dorothy Bedford	Laboratory training and assistance. Samples analysis (plasma and lipoprotein subfractions) by ILab analyser.
John Wilson	Blood sampling and body composition measurements.

"Allah will raise those who have believed among you and those who were given knowledge, by degrees." Surat Al-Mujādila-Holy Quran "If you are irritated by every rub, how will your mirror be polished"- Rumi



المتنتبي

Author's Declaration

Unless otherwise indicated by acknowledgment or reference to published literature, the presented work in this thesis is the author's own and has not been submitted for a degree at another institution.

Khloud Ghafouri Date12/12/2017

The findings of some of the studies have been published as follows:

Published Papers

Ghafouri, K.J., Cooney, J., Bedford, D., Wilson, Caslake, M.J. & Gill, J.M.R. (2015) Moderate exercise increases affinity of large very low density lipoproteins for hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism (epub ahead of print) DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-1196</u>

Published Conference Communications

Ghafouri, K.J., Caslake, M.J. & Gill, J.M.R. (2015) The effect of moderate exercise on the affinity of postprandial triglyceride-rich lipoproteins for lipoprotein lipase (Oral presentation at the 83rd European Atherosclerosis Society Congress - Glasgow, March 22-25 2015).

Ghafouri, K.J., Caslake, M.J. & Gill, J.M.R. (2014) The effect of moderate exercise on the affinity of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins for lipoprotein lipase. Atherosclerosis Supplements volume 235, Issue 2, p247-658, e11-e302. (Accepted a poster at 82nd European Atherosclerosis Society Congress - Madrid, March 2014).

Definitions/Abbreviations

4S	The Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study	
AA	African-American	
ABCA1	ATP-binding cassette transporter	
AL	Adipose Lipase	
ALA	α linolenic acid	
AMPK	Activated protein kinase	
Аро	Apolipoprotein	
ART	Antiretroviral therapy	
AUC	Area under curve	
BHF	British Heart Foundation	
BMI	Body mass index	
BMR	Basal metabolic rate	
CA	Caucasian	
CAD	Coronary artery disease	
ССК	Cholecystokinin	
CE	Cholesteryl ester	
CHD	Coronary heart disease	
CETP	cholesteryl ester transfer protein	
СНО	Carbohydrate	
Co ₂	Carbon dioxide	
СМ	Chylomicrons	
СОМВ	Trial using combination of fat and glucose	
CRL	Cholesterol rich lipoprotein	
CRP	C-reactive protein	
СТ	Computed tomography	
CV	Coefficient of variation	
CVD	Cardiovascular disease	
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure	
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid	
	1	

DNL	de novo lipogenesis
DXA	dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
EE	Energy expenditure
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
EU	European
Ex	Exercise Trial
FA	Fatty acid
FC	Free cholesterol
FFA	Free fatty acid
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT	Glucose transporter
HBA _{1c}	Hemoglobin A _{1c}
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HDL-C	High Density Lipoprotein cholesterol
HL	Hepatic lipase
HOMAIR	Homeostasis model of assessment - insulin resistance
HPS	The Heart Protection Study
HSL	Hormone-sensitive lipase
HSPG	Heparin sulphate-proteoglycans
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IDL	Intermediate density lipoprotein
IAF	Intra-Abdominal Fat
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
INTERHEART	The international heart study
IOTF	International Obesity Task Force
IR	Insulin resistance
kDa	Kilo Dalton
	1

LCAT	Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LDL-C	Low density lipoprotein Cholesterol
LDLR	LDL receptor
LGI	Low glycaemic index diet
LRP	LDL receptor-related protein
LXRα	liver X receptor-α
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
ME	Middle Eastern
MENA	The Middle East and North Africa
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
MI	Myocardial infarction
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty
MW	Molecular weight
n-3 PUFA	omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acids
NCEP-ATP III	National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel
NHB	non-Hispanic Black
NHS	National Health Services
NHW	Non- Hispanics White
NIDDM	Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
OFTT	Oral fat tolerance test
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PDHS	Penn Diabetes Heart Study
рН	Power of hydrogen
PL	Phospholipid
PLTP	phospholipid transfer protein
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid
	I

PVD	Peripheral vascular disease
QC	Quality control
RCT	Reverse Cholesterol Transport
RCTs	Randomized control trials
RER	Respiratory exchange ration
RLPs	Remnant-like lipoprotein particles
RPE	Ratings of perceived exertion
SA	South Asian
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SCRIP	Stanford Coronary Risk Intervention Project
SD	Standard deviation
sdLDL	Small dense low density lipoprotein
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SER	sterol response elements
SES	Socioeconomic status
S _f	Svedberg floatation rate
SFA	Saturated fatty acid
SR-BI	scavenger receptor B1
STPD	Slandered temperature and pressure
T2D	Type-2 diabetes
TAUC	Time-averaged area under curve
тс	Total cholesterol
TFA	Trans fatty acids
TG	Triglyceride
Tris-HCl	Trisaminomethane hydrochloride
TRL	Triglyceride rich lipoprotein
VLDL ₁	Very low density lipoprotein 1
VLDL ₂	Very low density lipoprotein 2
VO _{2max}	Maximal oxygen consomption
WC	Waist circumference
WOSCOP	West of Scotland coranary prevention study

WHOWorld Health OrganisationWHRWaist-hip ratio

1 Introduction and literature review

1.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a family of common multifactorial diseases, including coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease, hypertension, and heart failure, which develop as a consequence of interactions between the innate factors, encoded in a person's genotype interacting with environmental factors (e.g. nutrition, smoking, inactive lifestyle) (Sing et al., 2003). Atherosclerosis, which develops over decades, is the underlying pathology of these conditions (Griffin, 1999). Cardiovascular disease, together with related metabolic diseases, such as diabetes often termed cardio-metabolic diseases - are leading causes of disability and premature death around the world, and make a substantial contribution to total health care costs (WHO, 2014a). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) an estimated 16.7 million - or 29.2% of deaths - result from the various forms of CVD (WHO, 2014a). In the UK, CVD was a major cause of death, accounting for almost 155,000 deaths in 2014 (Townsend et al., 2015). Thus, this disease places an extensive economic burden on healthcare systems (Deaton et al., 2011, WHO, 2014a). More than £6.8 billion was spent on treating CVD within the NHS in England in 2012/2013 (British Heart Foundation, 2012). The highest expenditure was on secondary care with £4373 million spent on secondary care for CVD in England. Within secondary care, emergency admissions had the greatest expenditure. Within primary care, the second highest setting for expenditure, the majority of costs were due to prescribing (£1387.5 million). In 2012/2013 in Wales, a total of £442.3 million was spent on CVD, in Northern Ireland, £393 million was spent and in Scotland it is estimated that >£750 million was spent on treatment of CVD (Bhatnagar et al., 2015).

Environmental factors influencing CVD can be classified as non-modifiable risk factors, such as age, sex, family history and ethnicity, and modifiable risk factors (**see Figure 1.1**). Much of our knowledge about the latter comes from the pioneering Framingham study (D'Agostino Sr et al., 2001). This longitudinal cohort study

identified a number of potentially modifiable risk factors including high levels of cholesterol and triglycerides, hypertension, diabetes, high adiposity, obesity, smoking, unhealthy diet, and lack of physical activity (WHO, 2014b, Bitton and Gaziano, 2010). Although many cases of CVD are potentially preventable by action on risk factors such as unhealthy diet, physical inactivity and smoking, the public health and economic importance of CVD means the need to fully understand all the root causes of CVD prevalence remains.



Figure 1.1. Cardiovascular diseases risk factors.

1.2 Non-modifiable risk factors

Age, sex, family history and ethnicity are factors that cannot be modified. Age plays an important role in the development of cardiovascular disease. The risk of CVD increases approximately by 3 fold with each decade of life (Finegold et al., 2013). Similarly, the risk of having a stroke doubles every decade after the age of 55 (American Heart Association, 2011, Brown et al., 1996, Wolf et al., 1992). Even in developed countries, despite a decrease in mortality due to CVD, mortality from CVD still increases with age (Finegold et al., 2013). Approximately 82% of CVD deaths occur after 55 years of age (Mackay and Mensah, 2004). The reasons for the increase in incidence of CVD with age are not completely clear, however, with advancing age the serum total cholesterol concentration increases which is likely to contribute to the effect (Jousilahti et al., 1999). Loss of compliance and functions of blood vessels due to mechanical and structural changes in vessel wall with advancing age, may also contribute to CVD development and progression (Jani and Rajkumar, 2006).

Sex contributes to 40% of the variation in coronary heart disease mortality (Jousilahti et al., 1999, Hu and Group, 2003). Epidemiologically, the sex difference in prognosis of CVD suggests an intrinsic sexual difference in susceptibility to CVD (Finegold et al., 2013, Kannel et al., 1976, WHO, 2014a). In developed countries, CHD is being two to five times more common in men than in women in the younger age groups. (Möller-Leimkühler, 2007)[•] CHD risk increases with age in both men and women, but shows a more prominent increase in women older than 50. Despite better medical treatment of CHD, It remains the leading killer of women (Mosca et al., 2007). In Europe, about 55% of all female deaths are caused by cardiovascular disease (CVD), especially CHD and stroke, compared with 44% of all male deaths (Petersen et al., 2005). Age-adjusted mortality for CVD has continuously declined in the last four decades, but to a lesser extent in women than in men. In fact, the temporal trend of the incidence of CVD even shows a rise in women (Tunstall-Pedoe et al., 1999, Thom et al., 2006). This has been mainly attributed to a decrease in myocardial infarction incidence in younger men, with a concomitant increase in older women (Tunstall-

Pedoe et al., 1999). Although, the mechanism behind these differences is unclear, some explanations such as hormonal difference in premenopausal stages were suggested. Oestrogen, for example may provide protective effects through glucose metabolism and haemostatic system indirectly and may improve endothelial cell function directly (Jousilahti et al., 1999).

Family history of CVD is another unmodifiable risk factor that is an independent predictor of future disease incidence (Hunt et al., 1986). The risk of developing CVD doubles if a first degree male relative develops coronary heart disease or stroke before the age of 60 or if a first degree female relative does so before 65 years (British Heart Foundation, 2012, Sesso et al., 2001). The risk increase by 50%, if both parents have suffered from heart disease before the age of 55 (British Heart Foundation, 2012).

Finally, ethnic origin can play a role in the incidence of CVD. There is ample evidence for substantial and persistent disparities between racial/ethnic groups in cardiovascular disease and associated risk factors, such as obesity, hypertension and diabetes (Mensah and Brown, 2007, Halder et al., 2012). Research into ethnic differences in general health has mainly focused on factors that are related to the ethnic minorities directly, such as genetic, socioeconomic, and sociocultural factors (Venema et al., 1995). Another possible determinant of ethnic health differences is health care itself, more specifically the accessibility and the quality of health care (Venema et al., 1995, Lanting et al., 2005). However, it has been reported that South Asian men and women in the UK experience approximately 50% higher agestandardised CHD mortality than European Whites (Wild et al., 2006). Also, compared to Caucasians, African-Caribbeans and people of African descent have high incidence of stroke (Balarajan, 1991, Cappuccio, 1997), end-stage renal failure but lower CHD (Roderick et al., 1994, Raleigh, 1997). This may be due to higher rates of high blood pressure: in those of African ancestry, hypertension is three- to four- fold more prevalent than in Caucasians (McKeigue et al., 1991, Cruickshank et al., 1991, Cappuccio et al., 1997, Joffe et al., 1992, Chaturvedi et al., 1994), as is diabetes (Shai et al., 2006, McKeigue et al., 1991, Simmons et al., 1991). Risk factors in South Asians are hyperinsulinaemia, raised TG and low HDL cholesterol levels, central adiposity with a high waist to hip ratio (McKeigue, 1991, McKeigue et al., 1992, Cruickshank et al., 1991). Whereas in Africans with glucose intolerance there is a low triglyceride and high HDL cholesterol levels, due to lower visceral adiposity when compare to whites at the same BMI (Chaturvedi, 1993, Chaturvedi, 1994, Cooper et al., 1997, Cappuccio, 1997).

1.3 Modifiable risk factors

The international heart study over 52 countries (INTERHEART) assessed the importance of risk factors for coronary artery disease worldwide (Yusuf et al., 2004a, Yusuf et al., 2004b). Nine measured and potentially modifiable risk factors, accounted for more than 90% of the proportion of the risk for acute myocardial infarction. These can be classified into two categories, modifiable biomarkers and modifiable behavioural factors. The modifiable markers are linked to metabolic syndrome (MetS). Metabolic syndrome had been identified by Dr. Gerald Reaven almost three decades ago. Originally known as "syndrome X", the cluster has also been termed pluri-metabolic syndrome (MS), or Reaven's syndrome. These characteristics, when found in the same person, are so ominous that they have also been called "the deadly quartet" or "the awesome foursome" (Reaven, 1988). Reaven and subsequently others postulated that insulin resistance underlies Syndrome X (hence the commonly used term insulin resistance syndrome) (Haffner et al., 1992). According to the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP-ATP III) panel, MetS include an increased waist circumference, blood pressure elevation, low HDL cholesterol, high triglycerides, and hyperglycaemia (NCEP, 2002). Although the risk associated with the MetS is well-documented, the definition of the syndrome is still in flux. In addition, there are behavioural risk factors include, physical activity, diet pattern, smoking, psychosocial factors and alcohol consumption. The effect of these risk factors was consistent in men and women across different geographic regions and by ethnic group. The British Regional Heart Study also found that smoking, blood pressure and cholesterol accounted for 90% of attributable risk of CVD (Emberson et al., 2003). CVD can be prevented through modification of behavioural risk factors and /or through pharmacological therapy for medical conditions (e.g., using blood pressure-lowering agents and lipid-modifying agents). Modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors can interact with each other's, thus, through a combination of treatments and healthy lifestyle choices, the risk of heart disease and stroke can be significantly decreased (See Figure 1.2).

1.3.1 Behavioural factors

Socioeconomic status and psychosocial factors

Socioeconomic status (SES) refers to an individual's social position relative to other members of a society. A number of studies suggest that poor living conditions in childhood and adolescence contribute to increased risk of developing CVD in both genders (Clark et al., 2009, Kaplan and Keil, 1993). The social status is linked also to alcohol consumption. The Marmot Review (2010) mentioned an association between alcohol-related hospital admissions and high levels of deprivation for both men and women, with particularly high rates of admission for those areas among the most deprived quintile of England and Wales. Binge drinking was also reported to be most common among those living in deprived areas (Marmot, 2010). Cigarette smoking follows a social class gradient in the USA and most developed countries. Starting in youth, smoking initiation is positively correlated with being from a low income household and performing poorly in school (Barbeau et al., 2004b, Elders, 1997, Steptoe et al., 2002). The prevalence of smoking is linked to low educational attainment (Pierce et al., 1989, Cavelaars et al., 2000, Barbeau et al., 2004a), working class occupations (Bang and Kim, 2001, Barbeau et al., 2004a), and lower income levels (Barbeau et al., 2004a, Control and Prevention, 2002, H., 2005). Thus, cigarette smoking is clearly associated with social disadvantage as defined by educational attainment, income, and occupational class. Cigarette smoking is the social behaviour that has the single largest impact on health inequalities. All these risk factors increase the incidence of developing CVD. Moreover, depression and depressive symptoms are common in patients with CVD (Timberlake et al., 1997) or heart failure (Rutledge et al., 2006) and are associated with adverse outcomes (Van Melle et al., 2004) showing strong and consistent evidence that depression and social isolation or lack of quality social support are independent risk factors for the development of and prognosis with CHD (Carney and Freedland, 2016, Valtorta et al., 2016).
Alcohol consumption

Alcohol is one of the behavioural risk factors. It is known to have both beneficial and harmful effects on the biochemical basis for CHD and the psychological consequences of the disease (Foppa et al., 2002). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have addressed the association of alcohol consumption with cardiovascular disease outcomes (Cleophas, 1999, Corrao et al., 2000, Corrao et al., 2004, Di Castelnuovo et al., 2002, Fillmore et al., 2007, Maclure, 1993, Reynolds et al., 2003). In Scotland, 32% of men and 4% of women drink above weekly recommended limits. Patterns of drinking vary and 44% of men who had drunk in the last week consumed eight units or more on their heaviest drinking day (where one unit is defined as approximately 8 g /10 ml of alcohol), indicating that binge drinking may be a particular problem (Wilson et al., 2015). Drinking is harmful and associated with a poorer lipid profile, and adverse effect on systolic blood pressure and increased risk of thrombosis (McKee and Britton, 1998, Britton and McKee, 2000). Clearly, ethanol consumed with a meal elevates plasma and VLDL-TG (Lee et al., 2005). It has been observed that, the addition of 47.5 g alcohol to a high-fat meal (54 % of energy) was associated with an approximately 60 % increase in the peak plasma TG concentration compared with a meal consumed without alcohol (Fielding et al., 2000). Ethanol has also been shown to increase fatty acid synthesis (Siler et al., 1998) and also to reduce TG clearance from the plasma (Pownall et al., 1999). The relationship between alcohol consumption and stroke is believed to involve various mechanisms including alcoholinduced hypertension, cardiomyopathy, coagulation disorders, atrial fibrillation, and reductions in cerebral blood flow (Malarcher et al., 2001, Hillborn, 1998, Gorelick et al., 1999, Zakhari, 1997). A possible explanation of a reduced risk of ischemic stroke with moderate alcohol consumption is that alcohol increases high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and decreases platelet aggregation and fibrinolytic activity (Gorelick et al., 1999, Zakhari, 1997, Stampfer et al., 1988). There does not appear to be any differential effect associated with type of alcohol consumed (Whelan et al., 2004, Di Castelnuovo et al., 2002).

Smoking

Smoking is a strong independent risk factor of cardiovascular events and mortality even at older age, advancing cardiovascular mortality by more than five years (Mons et al., 2015, Gellert et al., 2013, Kenfield et al., 2010). Smoking is linked to a twoto four-fold increased risk of CHD (Go et al., 2014, Kondo et al., 2011). Smoking independently contributes to the risk of myocardial infarction (Ferrie et al., 2009, Teo et al., 2006), stroke (Kelly-Hayes, 2010). A dose-response relationship between the number of cigarettes smoked per day and both myocardial infarction and stroke has been established in large cohort studies (Kenfield et al., 2010, Kondo et al., 2011). It also, influences the risk factor of developing CVD. Cigarette smoking also increases postprandial triglyceride levels by 50% (Pourmand et al., 2004, Axelsen et al., 1995, Chiolero et al., 2008), and studies of young adults have identified early use of alcohol and tobacco as key determinants of subsequent levels of serum triglyceride (Croft et al., 1987), lower HDL-C (Ellison et al., 2004). Data obtained in a large sample of men and women support the interpretation of Axelson et al. that smoking affects postprandial TG metabolism primarily by raising lipoproteins of intestinal origin because cigarette smokers had substantially greater postprandial retinyl palmitate and apo B-48 (by 114 - 259 %) responses than did non-smokers, when adjusted for fasting TG. In addition, smoking may increase insulin resistance directly (Benowitz, 2003, Houston et al., 2006, Janzon et al., 1983). The response of insulin in smokers to an oral glucose test was more pronounced compared to non-smokers (Facchini et al., 1992), insulin resistance was dose dependently related to smoking (Eliasson et al., 1994). Most of the excess risk and risk advancement disappeared within 5 years after smoking cessation. Smoking cessation is highly and rapidly beneficial also at advanced age (Gellert et al., 2013, Iso et al., 2005). A Japanese cohort study found that guitting smoking more than 4 years ago was found to reduce the risk for major cardiovascular events by 70% compared to continuing smoking (Kondo et al., 2011). A systematic review of 20 studies concluded that quitting smoking is associated with a 36% reduction in the relative risk of mortality for patients with CHD who quit compared with those who continued smoking (RR 0.64; 95% CI 0.58 to 0.71). This risk reduction appears to be consistent regardless of age, sex, index cardiac event, country, and year of study commencement (Critchley and Capewell, 2003).

1.3.2 Biomarker Risk factors

Blood pressure

High blood pressure or hypertension refers to a chronic condition characterised by increase of blood pressure in the arteries. This increase could either be in systolic blood pressure (SBP) which represents the peak pressure due to ventricular contraction during systole, or a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) which represents the pressure during ventricular relaxation in diastole, or both. A reading of \geq 140 mm Hg of SBP or \geq 90 mm Hg of DBP indicates the presence of hypertension (Tajeu et al., 2017, Schiffrin et al., 2016).

The Department of Health survey of 2010 for England showed 31.5% prevalence of hypertension in male adults over 16 years and above and 29.0% in women. This puts a huge burden of approximately £2 billion on NHS annually (Public Health England, 2014, British Hypertension Soceity, 2015). Hypertension is considered as a major risk factor for stroke, myocardial infarction, heart failure, chronic kidney disease, peripheral vascular disease, cognitive decline and premature death (Freis, 1969, Baudouin-Legros and Meyer, 1990, Rapsomaniki et al., 2014). Hypertension affects blood vessels by altering their functionality. It can lead to atherosclerosis and narrowing of the blood vessels making them more likely to block from blood clots or bits of fatty material breaking off from the lining of the blood vessel wall. Both SBP and DBP can be used as predictors of cardiovascular risk (Stamler et al., 1993a), atrial fibrillation (Kannel et al., 1982), coronary heart disease, stroke, transient ischemic attack, and congestive heart failure (Hubert et al., 1983). Untreated hypertension is associated with a progressive rise in blood pressure and shows a strong positive correlation with the risk of CVD onset and mortality (Cutler, 1996). The risk of cardiovascular events doubles for every 20/10 mmHg rise in blood pressure beyond the normal range (Rapsomaniki et al., 2014, Bauchner et al., 2014).



Figure 1.2. Interaction between modifiable risk factors in aged population. Ageing increases negative behaviours like smoking and drinking alcohol. It also, reduces the physical activity for the individuals all these factors contribute to increase body weight and develop some CVD risk factors such as diabetes, dyslipidemia and hypertension.

Lipid and CHD risk

Lipid metabolism disturbance can lead to CVD. These diseases could be a result of inherited defects in lipoprotein metabolism, such as hyper- or hypo-lipoproteinemias, or of a metabolic disorder; abnormal lipoprotein metabolism is often observed as a secondary effect of diabetes, hypothyroidism and kidney disease, or it could be due to life style.

1.4 Lipid metabolism

1.4.1 Lipoproteins

Lipids are hydrophobic and mostly insoluble in blood, so they require transport within hydrophilic, spherical structures called lipoproteins. Circulating lipoproteins are originally produced either from the intestine (exogenous) or from the liver (endogenous). They can be broadly divided in order of increasing density into: chylomicrons (CM), very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and high-density lipoprotein (HDL). The density of lipoprotein depends on cholesterol, TG and protein content as the more cholesterol and TG and less protein the less dense it is. LDL are the major carriers of cholesterol in blood and contain one molecule of apolipoprotein B100 which is recognized by the LDL receptors (Gurr et al., 2002). VLDL and CM are the major carriers for TG. Lipoproteins can classified according to their lipid contents into TG-Rich Lipoprotein (TRL; includes CM and VLDL) and Cholesterol Rich Lipoprotein (CRL; includes LDL and HDL (Sparks JD, 1994)) (See Table 1.1).

Table 1.1; Lipoprotein composition (Sparks JD, 1994).

	СМ	VLDL	LDL	HDL
Density (g.mL ⁻¹)	<0.96	0.96-1.006	1.006-1.063	<1.063-1.21
Diameter (nm)	100-1000	30-90	20-25	10-20
Apolipoprotein	A,C,E,B48	A,C,E,B100	B100	A,C,D,E
Composition (%)				
Proteins	2	10	20	40
Lipids	98	90	80	60
Lipid composition (%)				
Triglyceride	88	55	12	12
Cholesterol Ester + cholesterol	4	24	59	40
Phospholipid	8	20	28	47
Free fatty acid	-	1	1	1

1.4.2 Apolipoproteins

Apolipoproteins are specific proteins associated with lipoprotein particles, and they are either an integral part of the lipoprotein or are located peripherally. They can emulsify and transport lipids in the blood. They appear on the surface of the lipoproteins and a number are synthesized in the liver and intestine. They are apoB, (B-48 and B-100) apoA-I, apo A-II. apo A-IV, apo A-V, apoC-II, apoC-III and apoE. Apoproteins have important structural and metabolic functions. For example, apolipoproteins A are predominantly found in the high HDL and are important for reverse cholesterol transport (Zhao et al., 2012). Moreover, they are responsible for recognition of particles by receptors and act as coenzymes (enzyme activator) (Ginsberg, 2002, Gurr et al., 2002). Table 1.2 illustrates sources and functions of apolipoproteins.

Apolipoprotein	Molecular wt.	Source	Function
apo A-I	28.300	Liver, Intestine	Structural component of HDL; activates LCAT
apo A-II	17.000	Liver, Intestine	May inhibit HL activity; inhibits AI/LCAT
apo A-IV	44.500	Intestine	Activates LCAT; possibly facilitates transfer of apos between HDL and CM
apo A-V	39.000	Intestine	Associated with lower TG levels; facilitates LPL
apoB-48	241.000	Intestine	Necessary for secretion of chylomicron from intestine, activates LPL uptake of remnants by the liver
apo B-100	55.000	Liver	Necessary for secretion of VLDL from liver; structural protein of VLDL, IDL and LDL; ligand for the LDL receptor
apo C-I	6.331	Liver	Activates LCAT; may inhibit hepatic uptake of CM and VLDL remnants; may inhibit CETP
apo C-II	8.837	Liver,	Activates LPL (essential cofactor)
apo C-III	8.764	Liver, intestine	Inhibits LPL and hepatic uptake of CM and VLDL remnants Ligand for LDL receptor, LDL receptor-related protein and proteoglycans
apo E	33.000	Liver (60-80%), and other tissues including adipose tissue	May inhibit HL activity; inhibits AI/LCAT

Table 1.2; Sources and functions of some lipoproteins (Jackson et al., 1976, Schaefer et al., 1978).

As each apolipoproteins has a specific function the proportions of them differ between lipoprotein particles (Schaefer et al., 1978) as shown in Table 1.3.

Apoprotein (%)	СМ	VLDL	LDL	HDL
apo A-I	7.4	Trace		67
apo A-II	4.2	Trace		22
D (0				
аро В-48	22 E			
200 B 100	22.0	26.0	00	Traca
аро Б-100		30.9	90	Trace
apo C-I	15	3.3	Trace	1-3
	10	515	indee	
apo C-II	15	6.7		3-5
apo C-III	36	39.9		+
apo E		13.0	Trace	

Table 1.3; Distribution of Apolipoproteins in different lipoprotein particles (Schaefer et al., 1978).

Two pathways are involved in lipoprotein metabolism; exogenous and endogenous. Exogenous pathway delivers cholesterol, TG and phospholipids from the small intestine to the liver and peripheral tissues, while the endogenous pathway transfers lipids from liver to peripheral tissue.

1.4.3 De-novo lipogenesis (DNL) pathway

In the DNL carbohydrates transformed into FA in the liver and adipose tissues (Hellerstein, 1999, Ameer et al., 2014). This pathway is activated in the feeding state 16 in which it is controlled by many hormonal factors such as insulin (Ameer et al., 2014). These factors include sterol response elements (SRE) binding protein isoform one (SREBP1-c) (Horton et al., 2002) and the liver X receptor- α (LXR α) (Liu et al., 2007b). It has been demonstrated that SREB1-c upregulates all enzymes in the FA synthesis pathway and enzymes that regulate the availability of acetyl-CoA units in the pathway (Horton et al., 2002). Also, LXR α regulates lipogenesis via inducing the expression of SREBP-1c (Liu et al., 2007b). The Insulin increases the activity of LXR α , which hence induces SREBP-1c expression (Hellerstein, 1999, Ameer et al., 2014, Liu et al., 2007a). DNL contributes in FFA syntheses in endogenous pathway by 4% in fasted state and this rise to 8% postprandially. (Hellerstein, 1999, Ameer et al., 2014, Barrows and Parks, 2006).

1.4.4 Exogenous lipoprotein metabolism

The exogenous lipoprotein pathway starts in the intestine. Dietary triglycerides (approximately 100 grams per day) are hydrolysed to free fatty acids and monoacylglycerol by intestinal lipases and emulsified with bile acids, cholesterol, plant sterols, and fat soluble vitamins to form micelles. While the fatty acids in the intestine are overwhelmingly accounted for by dietary intake the cholesterol in the intestinal lumen is primarily derived from bile (approximately 800-1200 mg of cholesterol from bile vs. 300-500mg from diet) (Feingold and Grunfeld, 2015).

In the postprandial state, endothelial cells of the gut produce digested fat from food as CM, which contains varies components as seen in **Table 1.3.** These particles travel to plasma through lymph, and acquire the apoC-I,C-II, C-III and E from VLDL and HDL (Patsch, 1987). By acquiring apoC-II the action of LPL starts on CM hydrolysing TG to fatty acid and 2-monoacylglycerols. The hydrolysis continues until CM have lost 70-90% of their TG (Chen and Reaven, 1991). LPL cannot hydrolysis the TRL remnant particles and they are taken up by liver through specific receptors (Martins et al., 1997) (see **Figure 1.3**). It appears that apo B-48 containing particles are continuously secreted from the enterocyte and at times of excessive triglyceride availability, lipid

droplets fuse with nascent lipoprotein particles resulting in secretion of very large chylomicrons (Hayashi et al., 1990, Martins et al., 1994).

A balance between apoC-III, apoE which inhibit LPL and apoC-II which activates LPL is required for effective hydrolysis (Corrao et al., 1990). The CM remnant is generated by the lipolysis process. By definition, a TRL-remnant is an apo B-containing lipoprotein that has delivered some, or the major part, of its original triglyceride content to tissues by means of LPL-mediated lipolysis (Karpe, 1999). Certain other modifications also often take place, such as apoE enrichment, possibly apoC-III enrichment and apoC-II depletion. This new particle has more apoE and apoB and less apoA-I and apoCs with an abundant amount of CE. CE is transferred to other lipoproteins in exchange for TG, mediated by cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) (Roche and Gibney, 2000). The CM-remnant is responsible for delivering cholesterol and TG to the liver (Redgrave, 2004). The liver uses lipid from this remnant to assemble VLDL (Jung et al., 1999). It has been shown that endogenous VLDL accumulate in the plasma postprandially due to delayed competitive lipolysis of apoB-100 TRL particles with CM for the sites of LPL action (Bjorkegren et al., 1996) (see Table 1.4).



Figure 1.3; Chylomicron metabolism. Chylomicron metabolism begins when it emerges from the lymph carrying triglyceride into the circulation. Lipoprotein lipase from adipose tissue and skeletal muscles starts hydrolysing the triglyceride into fatty acids and glycerol. After it goes through the hydrolysis it loses most of its triglyceride, resulting in the formation of chylomicron remnants. These remnants enter to the liver through apoE receptors.

1.4.5 Endogenous lipoprotein metabolism

Metabolism in the post-absorptive state

Post-absorptive state refers to a state in which most of the previous meal has been fully absorbed *e.g.* after an overnight fast prior to any further food being consumed (Frayn 2009). The studies in subsequent chapters were implemented in the post absorptive state and therefore the following section will consider the metabolic processes involved in lipid metabolism during this state.

Lipoproteins synthesized by the liver transport endogenous TG and cholesterol. Lipoproteins circulate through the blood continuously until taken by peripheral cells or cleared by the liver. Factors that stimulate hepatic lipoprotein synthesis generally lead to elevated plasma cholesterol and TG levels.

VLDL metabolism parallels that of CM in many aspects. Like all lipoproteins, VLDL contains CE, phospholipids, free cholesterol and TG, and apolipoproteins as mentioned in **Table 1.3**. They are secreted continuously from liver and they are responsible for delivering TG to the peripheral tissues during fasting (Figure 1.4).

There are two subclasses of VLDL particles: large TG-rich VLDL₁ and smaller, more dense VLDL₂, which have more cholesterol and a lower ratio of apoCs and apoE to apoB (Packard and Shepherd, 1997, Packard et al., 1984). VLDL is continuously being excreted from the liver. A major proportion of the VLDL undergoes sequential delipidation to form LDL in the fasting state (Björkegren et al., 1997).

The secretion of the large VLDL particles is regulated by insulin-sensitive mechanisms which regulate the availability of triglyceride for VLDL production. FA are generated by lipolysis in adipose tissue through the action of HSL and are a major source for liver TG (Mifflin et al., 1990). Insulin stimulates the endothelial expression of LPL, the key enzyme for TRL metabolism, in a post-absorptive state (Semb and Olivecrona, 1986, Ong and Kern, 1989). Hepatic uptake of partially lipolysed VLDL or chylomicrons remnant particles may also contribute to the hepatocellular TG availability. Likewise, a lower rate of FA uptake by adipose and muscle tissues after LPL-mediated lipolysis of chylomicrons and VLDL promotes FFA uptake by the liver (Frayn et al., 1994). In addition, the liver has the capacity

of *de novo* synthesis of triglycerides, which is most evident in carbohydrate overfeeding. Therefore, the balance between oxidation of FFA in liver and muscle and the relative contribution of all of these TG/FFA flux rates, all regulated to a greater or lesser extent by insulin, determine the availability of hepatic TG for VLDL secretion (Malmström et al., 1997). Also, insulin seems to have a direct inhibitory effect on the hepatic secretion of large VLDL (Malmström et al., 1997). However, the secretion of smaller and less triglyceride rich VLDL, doesn't required any of the above stated mechanism. It needs cholesterol availability or a high cholesterol synthesis rate (Watts et al., 1995).

VLDL represents most of the pool of TRL in the post absorptive state. **Table 1.4** shows the variations of TRL concentrations during the day. It has been estimated that the endogenous TRL constitutes 96-97% of all TRL particles in the fasting state, and this figure was reduced to 91-96% in the postprandial state (Karpe et al., 1999, Sharrett et al., 1995).

	0 h	3 h	6 h
Large TRL (S _f 60 - 400)	96 ± 3	91 ± 3	93 ± 4
Small TRL (S _f 20 - 60)	97 ± 2	95 ± 4	96 ± 3

Table 1.4; Percentage of TRL particles which are of endogenous origin (apo B-100) in the fasting and the postprandial state inhuman plasma (Karpe, 1999).

It has been demonstrated that chylomicron and VLDL particles are competing for the same lipolytic pathway (Bjorkegren et al., 1996, Brunzell, 1973). After fat intake, an accumulation of endogenous TRL has been reported (Cohn et al., 1988a, Schneeman et al., 1993). This is might be due the delayed lipolysis of the apo B-100 TRL particles due to competition for the sites of LPL action by the chylomicrons (Brunzell, 1973). In rat plasma, it has been shown that the accumulation of endogenous TRL due the competition of the chylomicron-like triglyceride emulsion for the hydrolysis by LPL (Karpe and Hultin, 1995). In postprandial state, the rise of the number of TRL apoB-100 particles is actually far greater than that of apoB-48 containing lipoproteins (Havel, 1994). Conversely, 80% of the postprandial increase of triglycerides is accounted for by apoB-48 containing lipoproteins (Cohn et al., 1993). This apparent paradox is explained by the fact that the major triglyceride-carrier in the postprandial state is the chylomicron with each chylomicron particle carrying a very large number of triglyceride molecules. Therefore large quantities of triglycerides are transported by very few chylomicron particles (Karpe, 1999).

Within the circulation, LPL hydrolyses the TG in the core of VLDL. This action turns VLDL₁ into VLDL₂ which is then hydrolysed by the action of hepatic lipase (HL) and LPL to IDL, and HL then hydrolyses IDL to LDL (Nakajima et al., 2011b, Cohn et al., 1993). This delipidation process is slowed by the presence of chylomicrons resulting in a prolonged residence for VLDL in the postprandial state (Björkegren et al., 1997, Bjorkegren et al., 1996). This leads to more opportunities for cholesterol ester exchange between lipoprotein particles, and a cholesterol-enriched VLDL remnant is subsequently formed. This remnant lipoprotein is also enriched by apoE. Because of its increased cholesterol content, the remnant will probably not be further delipidated (Björkegren et al., 1997).

Cholesterol is an essential steroid involved in the formation of steroid hormones and bile salts and is also an important structural component of cell membranes (Hardman et al. 2003). LDL contains relatively high cholesterol content (around 40-50%) and transports the majority of cholesterol (Frayn, 2002). Binding of LDL to target tissue occurs through an interaction between the LDL receptor and apolipoprotein B-100 or E on the LDL particle. Uptake occurs through endocytosis, and the internalized LDL particles are hydrolysed within lysosomes, releasing lipids, mainly cholesterol (Packard and Shepherd, 1997). LDL is the supplier of body tissue with cholesterol; around 65% of total plasma cholesterol is carried in LDL (Wang and Briggs, 2004). Larger LDL particles exhibit the highest affinity (Packard and Shepherd, 1997). While 70% of the LDLRs are located on hepatic cells, 30% are located on the other cells of the body (Verges, 2005).

HDL metabolism

HDL particles are synthesized in the liver and the small intestine. They are a heterogeneous group of particles that differ in size, shape, density, cholesterol and phospholipid content, as well as in apolipoprotein such as, Apo A1, ApoE and Apo C-II (Miller, 1990). Apo A-1 activates LCAT, an enzyme associated to HDL (Von Eckardstein et al., 2001). They contain higher protein content, around 50 % of the particle total weight (Miller, 1990). The life cycle of HDL begins with apolipoprotein A-I being secreted by the liver (Miller, 1990). As ApoA-I bind circulating phospholipids and cholesterol, nascent discoid lipid-poor HDL particles are formed. These immature HDL particles trigger cholesterol efflux in subendothelial macrophages and fibroblasts and, via interactions with ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) (Miller, 1990). This process is called Reverse Cholesterol Transport (RTC) which involves transport of cholesterol back to the liver for excretion or to other tissues that use cholesterol to synthesize hormones (Lewis and Rader, 2005). HDL particles assimilate cholesterol from cells into their cores, then the cholesterol is esterified by the action of LCAT. Finally, uptake of HDL cholesteryl esters by the liver, through the scavenger receptor B1 (SR-BI), hepatocytes and steroid-producing cells delivers cholesterol to sites where it can be metabolized or excreted in the bile (Lagrost and Gambert, 1991, Barter et al., 2003, Alan, 1993).

Mature HDL particles have a spherical shape. There are two main mature particles, HDL₂ and HDL₃ (Miller, 1990, Jaye et al., 1999). HDL particles acquire triglyceride via Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein (CETP) which promotes the transfer of cholesteryl esters and TG between HDL, LDL and VLDL (Lagrost and Gambert, 1991, Barter et al., 2003, Alan, 1993). CE is carried from HDL to VLDL and LDL particles, and TG is carried in the opposite direction from VLDL and LDL to HDL particles, resulting in CE depletion and TG enrichment of HDL (Lagrost and Gambert, 1991, Barter et al., 2003, Alan, 1993). The subsequent HDL particle enriched with triglycerides may regenerate small HDL particles through hydrolysis from hepatic lipase (Kontush and Chapman, 2006, Von Eckardstein et al., 2001, Lewis and Rader, 2005). It has been, demonstrated that the lower HDL concentration in the plasma the higher the risk of developing CHD (Gordon et al., 1989a) (see Table 1.5).

Table 1.5 Enzymes involved in lipoprotein metabolism ((Gurr et al., 2002, Frayn, 2009).
--	-----------------------------------

Enzyme	Secretion place	Function
ABCA1	Within cells	Contributes to intracellular cholesterol transport to membrane
CETP	Liver	Mediates transfer of cholesteryl esters from HDL to VLDL
LPL	Endothelium	Hydrolyses triglycerides of chylomicrons and VLDL to release free fatty acids
	Liver	Esterifies free shelestered for transport within UDI
LCAT	Liver	Estermes free cholesterol for transport within HDL
HL	Endothelium	Hydrolyses triglycerides of $VLDL_2$, IDL, and LDL
HSL	Adipocyte cells	Hydrolyses triglyceride in adipocytes facilitating fatty acid release

ABCA1 = ATP-binding cassette transporter; CETP = cholesteryl ester transfer protein; LCAT = lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; HL= Hepatic Lipase; HSL= hormone-sensitive lipase.



Figure 1.4. VLDL metabolism. VLDL is secreted from the liver with one apo B on the surface and triglyceride and cholesteryl ester in the core. Core triglyceride is hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase and becomes a remnant lipoprotein that is recognized by the liver in part, by apo E. The remnant lipoprotein is further processed to form LDL, which has a cholesterol-rich core and an intact apo B on its surface. The LDL particle can be removed by peripheral or hepatic LDL receptors. As the VLDL core is hydrolyzed, the unesterified cholesterol and phospholipid are transferred to HDL by phospholipid transfer protein to become the cholesteryl ester of HDL.

Function of Lipoprotein Lipase

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is a central enzyme in lipid metabolism. It is mainly produced by parenchymal cells of adipose tissue, heart and skeletal muscle (Merkel et al., 2002, Merkel et al., 1998, Olivecrona and Olivecrona, 1999). LPL is also produced in kidney (Ruge, 2004), lung (Hamosh and Hamosh, 1975), placenta (Lindegaard et al., 2005), brain (Vilaró, 1990) as well as in pancreatic islets (Cruz et al., 2001b) and in macrophages (Camps et al., 1990). LPL hydrolyses mainly TG, but also some phospholipids in TRL (Goldberg and Merkel, 2001, Olivecrona and Olivecrona, 1999). Moreover, LPL has the ability to bind simultaneously to lipoproteins and to specific cell surface receptors, such as the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP) (Beisiegel et al., 1991) and this allows it to carry out a non-catalytic, bridging function, which leads to the accumulation and cellular uptake of lipoproteins (Mead et al., 1999). These interactions lead to the increased accumulation and cellular uptake of lipoproteins. A number of studies have been provided evidence for this function of LPL. This bridging function has been reported in several tissue culture-based studies and *in vivo* (Mead and Ramji, 2002, Mead et al., 1999, Merkel et al., 1998). A variation of such bridging action involves cells rather than lipoproteins. For instance, LPL can act as a monocyte adhesion protein by forming a bridge between the monocyte surface HSPG and the arterial endothelial cells (Mamputu et al., 1997).

LPL activity is modulated by apoC-I, C-II and C-III (Jong et al., 1999). All three apolipoproteins are produced in the liver and they are physically associated with CM, VLDL IDL and HDL. Studies have provided support for a plasma TG-lowering effect of apoC-II via stimulation of LPL activity (Jong et al., 1999). It is wildly known that apoC-II is an activator or co factor for LPL (LaRosa J. C., 1970). However, studies in mice have shown that the overexpression of the human apoC-II gene leads to marked hypertriglyceridemia via impaired plasma TG clearance (Hoogewerf et al., 1991), suggesting that at higher concentrations apoC-II may inhibit LPL (Jong et al., 1999). Several factors were shown to impact plasma apoC-II levels, including obesity diabetes and several hypolipidemic drugs (Kolset and Salmivirta, 1999). However, these factors are primarily pathological or pharmacological in nature, suggesting that

based on current knowledge apoC-II does not appear to be a major mediator of regulation of LPL activity in response to physiological stimulates, such as feeding/fasting, exercise and cold exposure. As opposed to C-II, C-I and C-III inhibit LPL-dependent plasma TG clearance, as shown using transgenic mice overexpressing human and mouse apoC-I or C-III (Nadanaka and Kitagawa, 2008, Pillarisetti et al., 1997, Wang et al., 2013) or mice lacking apoC-I (Stins et al., 1992)., It was proposed that apoC-I and C-III inhibit LPL activity by displacement of the enzyme from TG-rich particles (Chajek-Shaul et al., 1990). In addition, apoC-I and C-III may influence plasma lipoprotein metabolism via modulation of the activity of other enzymes involved in lipoprotein processing, as well as by altering the binding of apoC-containing lipoproteins to their receptors (Jong et al., 1999).

1.4.6 Plasma lipids as risk factors

Cholesterol and triglycerides, like many other essential components of the body, attract clinical attention when present in abnormal concentrations. Increased or decreased levels usually occur because of abnormalities in the synthesis, degradation, and transport of their associated lipoprotein particles. When hyperlipidaemia or hypolipidaemia are defined in terms of the class or classes of increased or decreased plasma lipoproteins, the names hyperlipoproteinaemia or hypolipoproteinaemia are preferentially employed (Stone, 2001, Havel, 1982). Increased concentration of plasma lipids is etiologically related mainly to genetic disorders, dietary factors (such as ingestion of excessive calories, trans and saturated fatty acids), or ingestion of some drugs, or it may occur as a secondary phenomenon in a large variety of diseases (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990, Stone, 2001). In any of these instances the elevation of the different plasma lipoproteins usually occurs in a number of combinations that have led to their classification into six different patterns or phenotypes (see Table 1.6).

Predominant lipoprotein

Туре І	Triglycerides	Chylomicrons
Type 2a	Cholesterol	LDL
Type 2b	Cholesterol and triglycerides	LDL and VLDL
Туре 3	Triglycerides and cholesterol	Remnants
Туре 4	Triglycerides	VLDL
Туре 5	Triglycerides and cholesterol	VLDL and chylomicrons

Table 1.6.Lipoprotein Patterns Resulting from Elevation of Different Plasma Lipid Fractions (Cox and Garcia-Palmieri, 1990).

Increased lipid fraction

LDL as risk factor

Lipoprotein pattern

Many studies have repeatedly shown that elevated levels of cholesterol play a key role in the development of atherosclerotic disease. In particular, LDL cholesterol has been strongly associated with CHD risk (Pyörälä et al., 1994, Expert Panel on Detection, 2001, Stamler et al., 1986, Castelli et al., 1992, Verschuren et al., 1995). LDL measurements are complicated by the fact that LDL is not a single-molecular species, but a multimolecular particle aggregate composed of protein and thousands of molecules of cholesterol and other lipids. Quantification can thus be accomplished in different ways, depending on which molecular constituent of LDL is measured. Because cholesterol is the most abundant lipid in LDL, and cholesterol assays have been available for many years, LDL concentrations in clinical practice are routinely expressed in terms of measured or estimated cholesterol content (LDL cholesterol [LDL-C]) (Friedewald et al., 1972). An elevated total serum low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol \geq 4 mmol.l⁻¹, is considered as risk factor. An excess number of LDL *28*

particles undergo oxidation and at hemodynamically vulnerable parts of the arterial vessels get trapped in the sub intimal space where they are taken up by monocytes that are transformed into macrophages (Pedersen, 2011). Ultimately these cells end up as foam cells in plaques and attract inflammatory molecules that further intensify the pathological process (Pedersen, 2011). Glycation is another type of atherogenic modification of LDL that may contribute to atherosclerosis (Soran and Durrington, 2011). Glycation is the result of bonding of a protein or lipid molecule with a sugar molecule, such as fructose or glucose, via a non-enzymatic process. Small, dense LDL is more susceptible to glycation than more buoyant LDL (Soran and Durrington, 2011, Ravandi et al., 2000).

A number of key studies provide the evidence base to understand the role of LDL in CHD. Total cholesterol was positively associated with IHD mortality in both middle and old age and at all blood pressure levels (Prospective Studies Collaboration, 1995, Prospective Studies Collaboration, 2007). Evidence that lowering LDL leads to reduced risk has come from landmark clinical trials. The Framingham study (considered the longest running study of cardiovascular disease in the world) which started in 1948 with an original cohort of 5,209 subjects aged 30-62 at baseline concluded that serum total cholesterol derived its atherogenic potential from its LDL component and showed also the importance of assessing the cardio-protective HDL fraction (Castelli et al., 1986). The total/HDL-cholesterol ratio was demonstrated to be the most efficient lipid profile for predicting coronary disease. LDL was shown to be correlated with hemostatic factors, suggesting that there would be additional benefits to lowering LDL (Castelli et al., 1986).

Important intervention trials helped proved the causal association between LDL cholesterol and CVD risk. The Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) further boosted the status of statins in preventive cardiology. A total of 4,444 patients with CHD and total plasma cholesterol 5.5-8.0 mmol.l⁻¹ on a lipid-lowering diet were randomly allocated on a double-blind basis to simvastatin 20-40 mg once daily or placebo for five years. There was an unequivocal 30% reduction in all-cause mortality (P = 0.0003), due to a 42% reduction in coronary deaths (Scandinavian Simvastatin

Survival Study Group, 1994). Even after 10 years of follow up, Simvastatin treatment for 5 years in a placebo-controlled trial, followed by open-label statin therapy, was associated with survival benefit over 10 years of follow-up compared with open-label statin therapy for the past 5 years only (Strandberg et al., 2004). The West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study (WOSCOPS) was a landmark primary prevention trial that used pravastatin to reduce LDL cholesterol, (Packard and Shepherd, 1997). It showed again that statin use was associated with a reduction in CHD events. These studies and many other studies have shown the benefits of reduction in cholesterol on cardiovascular end points. The Heart Protection Study (HPS) was a landmark study in secondary prevention in which 20,536 people were divided into those given a statin and those on placebo. The active treated arm showed a substantial reduction in risk over the 5 years of the trial (Collins et al., 2002). For people with raised LDL who are at high CVD risk, drugs (statins) are considered essential. Dietary intervention leads to only a moderate lowering of cholesterol i.e. in the Whitehall Study in which 4469 patients completed the study, the patients who improved diet and lifestyle lowered cholesterol by only about 0.9 mmol.l⁻¹ over 9 years compared with 2.7 mmol.l⁻¹ for lipid lowering drug treatment (Bouillon et al., 2011). It has been observed that a reduction in plasma LDL-C concentrations by 1.0 mmol.l⁻¹ reduces CVD mortality and non-fatal myocardial infarction by around 20-25% (Flather, 2010). It has been recommended to achieve a concentrations of 1.8 mmol.1⁻¹ of LDL-C among high risk patients (Flather, 2010).

Small Dense LDL and CHD

Fisher *et al* proposed that small dense LDL may be more prevalent among CHD cases with premature atherosclerosis compared with controls (Fisher, 1983). The amount of TG transfer from TRL to LDL plays a crucial role in the formation of sdLDL. Thus, repeated episodes of exaggerated postprandial lipaemia can result in disturbances of the lipoprotein profile, characterized by elevated TG levels, increased hepatic VLDL-TG production, generation of sdLDL and a decrease in HDL concentrations. Small, dense LDL is thought to be particularly atherogenic because these particles have low affinity for LDL receptors and this will increase the residence time in the circulation and their opportunity for binding to the arterial wall (Chancharme et al., 1999).

Cross-sectional studies have reported that the odds of finding CHD among individuals with small, dense LDL particles was increased by 2-5 fold compared with individuals having larger, more buoyant LDL particles in Caucasian men (Campos et al., 1992, Tornvall et al., 1991, Coresh and Kwiterovich, 1996) and women (Austin et al., 1988, Coresh et al., 1993).

Other studies have explored further the atherogenicity of these LDL variants. Smaller and denser LDL particles are more susceptible to *in vitro* oxidation and taken up by macrophages and smooth muscle cells, leading to the development and progression of atherosclerosis (Carmena et al., 2004, Twickler et al., 2005, Tribble et al., 1994, de Graaf et al., 1991, de Graaf et al., 1993, Tribble et al., 1992), a mechanism that may contribute to the formation of foam cells in vivo. Small, dense LDL particles have also been shown to be degraded less rapidly than particles of intermediate density (Lamarche et al., 2008). This process has been attributed, among other factors, to the reduced binding affinity of small, dense LDL particles to the LDL receptor (Lamarche et al., 2008, Galeano et al., 1994). Small LDL particles also display an increased potential for interaction with proteoglycans of the arterial wall (Superko and Krauss, 1992, La Belle and Krauss, 1990), and appear to penetrate the endothelial barrier 1.7-fold more than large LDL particles (Rosenson, 2005). These processes could contribute to accelerate the formation of the atherosclerotic plague and could explain, at least partly, the relationship between LDL particle size and density and the risk of CHD risk.

Role of HDL in the prevention of CHD

HDL is thought to protect against atherosclerosis in a number of ways including; removing cholesterol from foam cells, inhibiting the oxidation of LDL, and limiting the inflammatory processes that underlay atherosclerosis (Stender et al., 2005). The reduced plasma HDL cholesterol of <0.9 mmol.l⁻¹ concentration characterizing hypertriglyceridaemic individuals with small dense LDL particlescan be explained by an alteration of intravascular lipase activities. It has been shown that abdominal obesity was associated with a reduced plasma post-heparin lipoprotein lipase activity and with an increased hepatic lipase activity (Despres et al., 1990, Despres et al.,

1989) and these metabolic alterations may contribute to the hypertriglyceridemiclow HDL cholesterol dyslipidemia noted among subjects with small, dense LDL particles. The first study to show the negative relation between HDL and heart disease was the Framingham Heart Study in the 1980s (Brezina and Padmos, 1994). Supportively it has been demonstrated that independent negative association between HDL and ischaemic stroke mortality during a long-term (21-year) follow-up (Tanne et al., 1997). Another prospective study measured the survival in 535 elderly and they found that a significant negative association of serum HDL-C with mortality (Nikkla and Heikkinen, 1990). An estimated rise of 10 mg.dl⁻¹ of HDL-C is associated with a 2% lower risk of CHD for men and a 3% lower risk for women (Gordon et al., 1989b). A recent meta-analysis, including 302.430 subjects from 68 long-term prospective studies, supported the importance of HDL-C measurement in the risk assessment for CAD (Di Angelantonio E et al., 2009).

VLDL as a risk factor

Although LDL is the lipoprotein most commonly associated with atherosclerosis, other lipoproteins, such as chylomicrons and VLDL are also considered to be atherogenic (Khetarpal and Rader, 2015). A link between fasting plasma TG and CHD was first proposed in the 1950s (Gofman, 1953) and this was later confirmed in 1996 in a metaanalysis that showed that fasting TG levels are a weak risk factor for CVD (Austin et al., 1996, Austin et al., 1998). However, the association between fasting TG and CVD events is weakened or neglected in multivariate analysis which include HDL (Austin, 1990, Austin et al., 1996). This reported weak link between fasting TG levels and CHD is somewhat surprising, given that HDL-C concentrations which are mainly determined by the efficiency of TRL metabolism have a strong relation with CHD (Griffin, 1999). The perceived weakness of the association might be due the significant biological variation observed in fasting TG concentrations (Durrington, 1990, Tolfrey et al., 1999); this variations would lower its predictive power in multivariate analysis (Durrington, 1990). Moreover, fasting TG might not reflect the true state of the lipid's metabolism over a 24 hour period; postprandial plasma TG may be a more accurate and sensitive indicator of TRL metabolic efficiency. This has been supported by the observation that individuals with similar fasting plasma TG

have different levels of postprandial plasma TG (Patsch et al., 1983, Alcala-Diaz et al., 2014, Schrezenmeir et al., 1992, Corella and Ordovas, 2005).

Triglyceride concentrations in the postprandial period, are emerging as a significant independent risk factor for atherosclerosis, and may be а stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease and a contributor to insulin resistance compared with fasting TG levels (Langsted et al., 2011, Mora et al., 2008, Nordestgaard et al., 2007, Bansal et al., 2007, Schrezenmeir et al., 1997). Postprandial TG levels are well known to be a significant risk for CHD events (Mamputu et al., 2000, G Nordestgaard and J Freiberg, 2011, Patsch JR, 1992, Langsted et al., 2011). It has been reported also that ΤG to CHD HDL-C postprandial has а stronger association than JR, 1992). Karpe (1999), found that a concentrations (Patsch strong correlation between postprandial lipaemia and atherosclerosis. High concentrations of large VLDL (VLDL₁, S_f 60-400) are the major determinants of plasma TG levels and believed to initiate a chain of reactions that generate the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype associated with insulin resistance, obesity, T2D and MetS (Taskinen, 2003, Ginsberg et al., 2005, Bloomgarden, 2007). However, the elevation of CM and CMremnant concentrations might be as a result of the lipaemia that occurs due to impaired LPL function or any TRL and their remnants are the major lipoproteins which are increased in the postprandial hyperlipidaemia.

Chylomicrons as risk factors

Zilversmit was first to suggest that postprandial lipaemia as an important risk factor of CVD (Zilversmit, 1979). The increase in postprandial TRL from 80% fasting levels contributed to approximately of the increase of postprandial total TG from total fasting TG (Nakajima et al., 2011a). Individuals with hypertriglyceridemia tend to have a prolonged postprandial hypertriglyceridemia after a fat-meal tolerance test (Patsch JR, 1992). Exaggerated postprandial TG can occur at any age, as it has been observed in young women aged 22.5 years with existence of other CHD risk factors (Kolovou et al., 2011). Higher postprandial TG has been measured among diabetic adolescents (Umpaichitra et al., 2004), children with familial hypercholesterolemia (Reiber et al., 2003), and central obesity (Moreno et al., 2001) compared to control healthy participants. Evidence suggests that high postprandial concentration of TG can promote generation of potentially atherogenic TRL remnants (Karpe, 1999, Nakajima et al., 2009). It is also has been observed postprandial TG correlates more strongly with Remnant Lipoprotein (RLP) than fasting TG (Nakajima et al., 2009). It also induces the structural abnormalities in LDL and HDL particles (Karpe et al., 1993, Yang and Smith, 2007, Packard, 2003).

High concentrations of TRL in the postprandial state affect endothelial function and contribute to atherosclerotic plaque formation (Zilversmit, 1979, Groot 1991). An increased of CVD risk in men (32%) and women (76%) with elevated plasma concentrations of postprandial TG has been reported (Groot 1991, Patsch JR, 1992). Many other studies support Zilversmit's hypothesis, and show that patients with CHD have increased postprandial levels of TG and intestinally-derived TRL in response to a fat load challenge compared to healthy controls (Patsch JR, 1992, Groot 1991, Simons et al., 1987, Weintraub et al., 1996).

Plasma TG concentration fluctuates throughout the day in response to the ingestion of meals. Even if measured after a 10 to 12 hours overnight fast

(as is normal clinical practice), TG levels vary considerably more than LDL and HDL cholesterol levels (Nakajima et al., 2011b, Varbo et al., 2011).

Remnant lipoproteins and CHD risk

RLP, include chylomicron remnants and VLDL remnants which are subject to clearance by the liver (Mahley and Ji, 1999). They can enter the arterial wall, where they are preferentially retained and then taken up bv studies, macrophages. In macrophage-based lipoprotein particles that increase sterol delivery or reduce sterol efflux or that promote an inflammatory response are considered atherogenic (Moore and Tabas. 2011). Compared with the nascent TG-rich lipoproteins, TRL remnants are depleted of TG, phospholipid, and apoC, but enriched in EC and apoE with a reduced size. Thus they are more likely to diffuse into the blood vessel wall, and retained by heparin sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) within the arterial intima and can be taken up by macrophages (Nordestgaard and Nielsen, 1994, Tetali et al., 2010, Tomono et al., 1993). Therefore, they are more potentially atherogenic. Indeed, TRLP cholesterol level has recently considered as an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease (Twickler et al., 2005, Nakajima et al., 2008). Postprandial RLP has also been shown to increase the expression of proinflammatory genes such as, interleukin-6, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (Norata et al., 2007), induce apoptosis (Shin et al., 2004) and accentuate the inflammatory response of cultured endothelial cells to tumour necrosis factor- α (Ting et al., 2007). It has been suggested that the atherogenic potential of these lipoproteins is mainly due to their cholesterol content (Varbo et al., 2013). A non-fasting remnant cholesterol increase of 1 mmol. l^{-1} is associated with a 2.8-fold causal risk for ischemic heart disease, independent of reduced HDL cholesterol (Varbo et al., 2013).

35

1.4.7 Obesity insulin resistance, diabetes and CVD risk

Prevalence and importance of obesity in CVD

Obesity and overweight are considered as one of the leading health issues and obesity is becoming a global epidemic (Kelly et al., 2008). The increase in the prevalence of obesity has occurred across every age, sex, and race (Hill and Melanson, 1999). Overweight and obesity are defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation of the adipose tissue that may impair physical and psychosocial health (Haslam and James, 2006, Naser et al., 2006). Overweight and obesity depend on the imbalance between energy intake and expenditure (Koopmans, 2003). To asses obesity Body Mass Index (BMI) is a widely used tool (see Table 1.7).

Category	BMI (kg.m ⁻²)
Under weight	16-18.5
Normal	18.5-24.99
Overweight	25.00 - 29.99
Moderately obese	30-35
Severely obese	>35

Table 1.7; Body Mass Index categories (WHO, 2012).

These BMI cut points in adults are the same for men and women, regardless of their age. For clinical and research purpose, obesity is classified into three categories: class I (30-34.9), class II (35-39.9), and class III (>40) (James et al., 2004). With the growth of extreme obesity, researchers and clinicians have further divided class III into super obesity (BMI 50-59) and super-super obesity (BMI > 60).

The current used BMI cut-off values are based on morbidity and mortality studies in Caucasian population (De Lorenzo et al., 2016). Several studies observed that some obese patients do not show expected metabolic abnormalities despite their substantial excess of body fat, demonstrating that while obesity increases the possibility of having complications, not every obese patient will develop them (Tchernof and Després, 2013). Although BMI is the accepted method to classify obesity and it can be used to predict and evaluate disease risk in epidemiological studies, it does not differentiate the composition of lean versus fat tissue and therefore may lead to erroneous interpretations (Sharma and Kushner, 2009). In addition to BMI and WC, there are other markers for excess body fat evaluation used for clinical practice, as the skinfold thickness and the waist-to-hip ratio (De Lorenzo et al., 2016).

Finally, direct measure of body mass fat, through magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT), dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), bioimpedance analysis, and total body water, is gaining interest to assess the obese phenotype, but more studies are needed before either can be routinely recommended for office use.

Many large scale studies have shown a positive relationship between h CVD mortality and body mass index, a widely used measure of human obesity (McGee and Collaboration, 2005, Wilson et al., 2002, Stevens et al., 1998, Raben et al., 2003, Flint and Rimm, 2006, Calle et al., 2000, Larsson et al., 1984, Lapidus et al., 1984). Although cohort studies from Gothenburg, Sweden, in 1984 found that fat distribution was potentially stronger risk factor for morbidity and mortality (Lapidus et al., 1984, Larsson et al., 1984). Intra-abdominal fat has been associated with adverse clinical effects, characterized by hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, glucose intolerance, and hypertension, increased risk of diseases such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and some cancers (Han et al., 1995, Bosello and Zamboni, 2000). Waist circumference for a given BMI was found to be a strong risk indicator of all-cause mortality in both men and women, and the combination of waist circumference and BMI may be very relevant in clinical practice (Bigaard et al., 2003). (see Table 1.8).

Country / Ethnic group		Waist circumference
Europids In the USA, the ATP III values (102 cm male; 88 cm female) are likely to continue to be used for clinical purposes	Male Female	94 cm 80 cm
South Asians Based on a Chinese , Malay and Asian-Indian population	Male Female	90 cm 80 cm
Chinese	Male Female	90 cm 80 cm
Japanese	Male Female	90 cm 80 cm
Ethnic South and Central Americans		Same recommendations for South Asian until more specific data are available
Sub-Saharan Africans		Same recommendations for European data until more specific data are available
EMME (Arab) populations		Same recommendations for South Asian until more specific data are available

Table 1.8. Sex-specific cut-offs for waist circumference in different ethnic population (WHO, 2012).

WHO statistics estimate the prevalence of overweight adults in 2014 was more than 1.9 billion and of these over 600 million were obese which is 13% of the world's adult population in 2014 (WHO, 2014b). Obesity is the sixth most important risk factor contributing to the overall burden of disease worldwide (Ezzati et al., 2002). In England in 2013, the percentage of adults aged 16 years and over measured as overweight or obese (BMI > 25) was 67 per cent in men and 57 per cent in women; the percentage measured as obese was 26% in men and 24% in women (Health and Social Care Information Centre, 2014). In Scotland in 2014, 69% of men and 61% of

women aged 16 years and over were overweight or obese; 26% of men and 29% of women were defined as obese (The Scottish Health Survey, 2014).

According to a recent health survey in the UK, the average prevalence of overweight and obesity (BMI > 25) is 66.1% in men and 57.5% in women, while the prevalence of obesity (BMI > 30) alone is 24.8% in men and 25.3% in women (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016). In the Middle East obesity has become a growing problem in the past two decades. The WHO indicates that the Gulf States have the highest rate of obesity and are in the list of top ten countries worldwide in term of obesity. In all WHO regions women were more likely to be obese than men. In the WHO regions for Africa, Eastern Mediterranean and South-East Asia, women had roughly double the obesity prevalence of men (WHO, 2014b, Alwan, 2011). Among different countries in the Middle East region there is significant heterogeneity in obesity prevalence (Sliem et al., 2012). Kuwait is the worst affected with a 42.8% obese population, placing Kuwait in the top 10 most obese countries in the world. Countries such as Saudi Arabia and Qatar are not far behind, with 35.2% and 33.1% obesity rates respectively (Arab Human Development Report, 2009). Obesity is assessed using body-mass index globally. Individuals are considered overweight with a BMI of 25 kg.m⁻² or higher and obese with BMI of 30 kg.m⁻² or more (WHO, 2014b). Obese individuals differ not only in respect to the excess fat mass but also in its regional distribution in different body sites. Indeed, central or visceral abdominal obesity is associated with substantially different metabolic profiles and cardiovascular risk factors than gluteal-femoral obesity. To assess these differences, it is useful to measure waist circumference (WC). Population studies have shown that people with larger WC have impaired health and increased cardiovascular risk compared with those with normal WC within the healthful, overweight, and class I obesity BMI categories. Abdominal fat is clinically defined as a WC of 102 cm or more in men and 88 cm or more in women (Sharma and Kushner, 2009).

Aetiology of obesity

Obesity is a multifaceted problem that can occur due to physiological, psychological and cultural factors. The aetiology of obesity is highly complex and includes genetic predisposition, physiologic, environmental, psychological, social, economic, and even political factors that interact in varying degrees to promote the development of obesity (Haslam, 2007, Haslam and James, 2006, Hill and Melanson, 1999). Obesity is most commonly caused by excess energy consumption (dietary intake) relative to energy expenditure (energy loss via metabolic and physical activity) (Jequier et al., 1987). Nutritional changes towards westernized diet, high in sugar and fats, and the sedentary lifestyle have led to increased obesity and CVD prevalence even in the developing countries (Sodjinou et al., 2008, Boutayeb, 2006, Popkin, 2002). Chronic positive shift of the energy equation resulting from increases in energy input, decreases in energy output, or both led to excess fat deposition in body (Bray, 1987). The imbalance in energy intake and expenditure does not need to be large to induce changes in body weight and an energy intake of just 5% higher than energy expenditure can result in 5 kg weight gain each year (Hill and Melanson, 1999). If repeated every year this has obvious implications for the development of obesity.

Energy balance is determined by macronutrient intake, energy expenditure and partitioning in nutrient storage (Bray, 1997). Thus, protein and carbohydrate intakes spontaneously elicit powerful autoregulatory adjustments in protein and carbohydrate oxidation, while the fat balance is less acutely regulated and more easily disrupted (Flatt, 1995, Schutz, 1995, Schrauwen et al., 1997). However, at the same time consumption of carbohydrates in excess of what is required may decrease internal fat oxidation which will contribute to a positive fat balance (Frayn, 2009). Although interventions on a person's nutrition can reduce BMI, it has been shown that efforts towards BMI reduction can be affected by a person's genetic profile (Arkadianos et al., 2007, Ordovas and Mooser, 2004). The synergy of genes and nutrition is studied within the new fields of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics (Ordovas and Mooser, 2004). These new disciplines establish new strategies for CVD control which traditionally has been limited to nutrition interventions (e.g. fruits,

vegetables, fish) and supplementation, the latter being more popular in American population (Pearson et al., 2000). In addition, physical inactivity has dramatically increased in the past several decades and more time is spent on sedentary behaviours such as television watching, surfing the internet, and playing video games (Andersen et al., 1998).

Metabolic consequences of obesity

Obesity contributes to many metabolic abnormalities such as hypertension, IR, T2D and dyslipidaemia (Haffner, 2006) and organ damage such as fatty-inflammatory degeneration of the liver and peripheral vascular disease (Abate et al., 2001, Visscher and Seidell, 2001, Skilton et al., 2011). It is also a significant risk for the development of CHD and increased arterial stiffness (Zebekakis et al., 2005).

It is important to distinguish between android obesity and gynoid fat distribution, in which fat is allocated peripherally around the body (De Lorenzo et al., 2016). The type of obesity (android vs gynoid) and the amount of adipose tissue in the body could influence risk of developing CVD. Gynoid obesity, refer to preferential adipose tissue accumulation in the hips and thighs, with poor muscle-blood development, typically described as female obesity, a form much less associated with complications. Gynoid obesity is menaced only by direct mechanical complications of excessive adiposity: locomotor difficulty, abdominal pressure, limitation of respiratory motion, slowing of the venous and lymphatic circulation, cellulitis, lowering of energy, and reduction of the elasticity of the fat-infiltrated myocardium-complications which are all proportional to the degree of excess fat (Vague, 1956). Whereas, android obesity, refer to adipose tissue accumulated preferentially in the trunk/upper body area and pronounced muscle-blood development and suggested that this was a form of obesity closely associated with metabolic disturbances. It not only is associated with premature atherosclerosis and diabetes, but it is also the usual cause of diabetes in the adult in 80 to 90% of the cases. Gout and uric calculous disease generally appear in this form of obesity (Vague, 1956). Android obesity is associated with greater health risks such as increased TG and lower HDL concentrations in the plasma (Frayn 2002) and the progression of atherosclerosis (Kortelainen and Särkioja, 1999).

Accumulation of visceral fat contributes to a higher risk of hypertriglyceridaemia (Couillard et al., 1998), glucose intolerance and IR (Yang and Smith, 2007), all of which increase an individual's risk of developing CHD.

Interestingly the risks of diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia increase from a BMI of about 21 kg.m⁻², thereby reducing life expectancy and greatly increasing socio economic burden (James et al., 2004). Evidence suggests that a 1 kg.m⁻² increase in BMI increases the risk of developing new-onset T2D by 8.4%. The risk of impaired fasting glucose rises by 9.5%. An increase in waist circumference by 1 cm increases the risk of type 2 diabetes and impaired fasting glucose by 3.5% and 3.2% respectively (Bombelli et al., 2011). Moreover, it has been observed in the Asian Pacific study that, for each unit increase in BMI there is a 9% increase in ischaemic cardiac events and 7% of hypertensive death and strokes (Collaboration, 2004). Many mechanisms driven by obesity are thought to be responsible for this increased health risk and almost all are based on the unifying principle of generalized inflammation (Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2005, Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2003, Visscher and Seidell, 2001). Other mechanisms include impairment of glucose and insulin function.

Diabetes and insulin resistance

Insulin is a hormone produced by the β cells of the islets of Langerhans (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2011). These cells are are embedded in the exocrine portion of the pancreas (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2011). Insulin is carefully coordinated with the release of glucagon from pancreatic α cells. The relative amounts of both hormones released by the pancreas are regulated so that the rate of hepatic glucose production is kept equal to the use of glucose by peripheral tissues (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2011). The synthesis and release of insulin are decreased during the scarcity of dietary fuels and during stress. These latter effects are mediated by adrenaline which is a hormone secreted by the adrenal medulla in response to stress, trauma, or extreme exercise. On the other hand, insulin secretion and synthesis are increased by glucose, amino acids, FA and gut hormones (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et adrenal medulla in response to stress, trauma, or extreme exercise. On the other
al., 2011). Insulin exerts important actions on metabolism as shown in **Table 1.9**. For instance, in the liver and muscle tissues, insulin increases glycogen synthesis, and glucose breakdown by increasing glycogenesis and glycolysis respectively. In muscle and adipose tissue, insulin increases glucose uptake by increasing the number of glucose transporters (GLUT-4) in the cell membrane. Also, in the liver, insulin decreases the production of glucose through the inhibition of glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2011). Insulin also decreases TG degradation by inhibiting lipolysis in adipose tissue. This is accomplished by inhibition of hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) activity which reduces the concentration of circulating FFA. Insulin also increases TG synthesis in adipocytes by increasing the rate of transport and metabolism of glucose into adipocytes, providing the substrate glycerol 3-phosphate for TG synthesis. Insulin also increases LPL activity in adipose tissue by increasing its synthesis, which increases TG hydrolysis releasing FAs needed for TG synthesis. Also, insulin in the liver promotes de novo lipogenesis, amino acid cellular uptake and protein synthesis (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004, Dimitriadis et al., 2011).

Inhibit	Stimulates
Gluconeogenesis	Glucose uptake
Glycogenosis	Glycolysis
Lipolysis	Glycogenesis
Ketogenesis	Protein synthesis

Table 1.9; Insulin's effects on metabolism.

An altered cellular biological response to insulin action is known as IR, and it is associated with T2D, obesity and metabolic syndrome (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004). Therefore, IR is a strong sign of the risk of developing

T2D especially in obese individuals who are present with central or visceral obesity (Greenfield and Campbell, 2004, Kriketos et al., 2004).

Insulin resistance, defined as inhibition of insulin stimulation of several metabolic pathways including glucose transport, glycogen synthesis and anti-lipolysis, is of considerable clinical relevance because it is pathophysiologically linked to several serious medical problems including type 2 diabetes (Boden, 2011). Type two diabetes is a metabolic disorder of the haemostasis of body fuel characterized by a decreased rate of insulin-mediated glucose uptake due to peripheral insulin resistance (Kasuga, 2006). The pathology of diabetes is a complex process and it is accompanied by a variety of metabolic abnormalities attributed to IR (Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994, Baekkeskov et al., 1982, Catalano et al., 2014). Insulin sensitivity fluctuation occurs across through life cycle for example, during puberty, in pregnancy, and during the aging process (Karpe et al., 2011). Generalized insulin resistance occurs primarily as a result of obesity. Insulin resistance is associated with many serious medical conditions, such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, atherosclerosis, and metabolic syndrome (Boden, 2011, Reaven, 1988).

Adipose tissue affects metabolism by secreting hormones, glycerol, and other substances including leptin, cytokines, adiponectin, and pro-inflammatory substances, and by releasing NEFA. In obese individuals, the secretion of these substances will be increased (Karpe et al., 2011). Insulin sensitivity is inversely proportional to adiposity (Yki-Järvinen and Koivisto, 1983). Body fat distribution also has an influence on insulin sensitivity. Insulin resistance is associated with body mass index at any degree of weight gain. Insulin sensitivity also differs completely in lean individuals because of differences in body fat distribution. Individuals whose fat distribution is more peripheral have more insulin sensitivity than do individuals whose fat distribution is more central (Karpe et al., 2011). Abdominal fat is considered more lipolytic than subcutaneous fat, and it also does not respond easily to the antilipolytic action of insulin, which makes intra-abdominal fat more important in causing insulin resistance, and thus diabetes (Roden et al., 1996, Fain et al., 2004).

NEFA levels are strong predictors of muscle insulin resistance (Kelley et al., 2001). Increased release of NEFAs is observed in T2D and in obesity, and it is associated with insulin resistance in both conditions (Jelic et al., 2007). Muscle fat content is increased in obesity and more so in type 2 diabetes (Kelley et al., 2001). Shortly after an acute increase of plasma NEFA levels in humans, insulin resistance starts to develop. Conversely, when the level of plasma NEFA decreases, as in the case with antilipolytic agent use, peripheral insulin uptake and glucose monitoring will be improved (Roden et al., 1996). Circulating concentrations of plasma NFFA are determined to a large extent by the release by lipolysis of adipocyte triglyceride stores by adipose lipase (AL) (Lass et al., 2011) and HSL. Hormone-sensitive lipase stimulated release of FFA from TG stores in adipose tissue, is tightly controlled by hormones that are regulated by the metabolic status. During conditions such as fasting, when blood glucose is low or when energy demands are increased, glucagon, glucocorticoids and catecholamines lead to activation of HSL to promote hydrolysis of stored triglycerides to FFA (Stanley et al., 2005). By contrast, in the fed state insulin inactivates HSL and inhibits lipolysis (Stanley et al., 2005). In vivo, the majority of FFA that are delivered to tissues arise from hydrolysis of a triglycerides, which are transported in plasma in chylomicrons or VLDL particles and the remainder exist in the non-esterified form bound to albumin. Plasma FFAs can increase in healthy individuals due to adrenergic stimulation brought on by exercise, stress, fasting, ischemia, or diabetes. The release of FFA from chylomicrons or VLDL by lipoprotein lipase in these situations also increases plasma FFA (Stanley et al., 2005). When tissues up take FA, they have three major fates in the cell. They can be esterified into TG, diglycerides, or phospholipids; converted to sphingolipids; or oxidized for energy (Chavez and Summers, 2010). FFAs are transported to cardiomyocytes by either passive diffusion or transport proteins (Stanley et al., 2005). Since the majority of FFA that enter the heart are to provide 70-90% of the energy (Lopaschuk et al., 1994), they must enter the mitochondrial matrix for Boxidation. FFA are transported across the outer and inner mitochondrial membrane by carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1 (CPT1), which is the rate-limiting step of fatty acid oxidation, and CPT2. The acetyl-CoA enters the tricarboxylic acid cycle, yielding NADH and FADH2, which enter the electron transport chain to produce ATP (Stanley et al., 2005). Persistent exposure of tissues to increased concentrations of fatty acids, and associated changes in the metabolic fate of fatty acids are an important cause of insulin resistance.

The resistance to insulin action in diabetes is due to reduced insulin action on target tissues such as skeletal muscle and adipose tissues (Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994, Baekkeskov et al., 1982). The normal effect of insulin on carbohydrate metabolism is reducing glucose levels on the plasma, on lipids it favours its synthesis (lipogenesis) and decreases its breakdown by favouring cholesterol biosynthesis by using glucose as substrate and also favours protein synthesis by decreasing protein catabolism. The dysregulation of insulin action on carbohydrate, protein and lipid metabolism causes the clinical condition 'hyperglycaemia' (Falciglia, 2007, Triplitt et al., 2015). Still it is highly debatable about the events that are causing T2D. It is associated with adverse changes in cardiovascular risk factors such as high TG levels, low levels of HDL-C and raised blood pressure. It usually results from impairment of ß cells to secrete adequate insulin in response to overeating, inactivity, obesity and IR (Weyer et al., 1999, Schrauwen-Hinderling et al., 2011). It has been observed that patients with diabetes are more likely to have high plasma TG concentration (Shen, 2007). In the San Antonio Heart Study patients with insulin resistance were at high risk for CVD development and presented with elevated TG, blood pressure and lower HDL compared with healthy non-diabetic individuals (Haffner et al., 2000). IR may be the underlying cause of impaired glucose tolerance (Weyer et al., 2001, Garvey and Hermayer, 1998). The exact mechanisms that cause IR are not fully understood and both environmental and genetic factors are involved. IR has been linked with one or more genes with varying frequencies among different ethnic groups (Mercado et al., 2002, Stern and Mitchell, 1999).

Diabetes and CVD risk

According to IDF (International Diabetes Federation, 2014), there are currently 382 million people with diabetes, which is projected to rise to 592 million by 2035. Over three-quarters of these cases are in low middle-income countries (International Diabetes Federation, 2014, Shaw et al., 2010, Whiting et al., 2011). Diabetes caused

around 4.9 million deaths in 2014 (International Diabetes Federation, 2014, Shaw et al., 2010, Whiting et al., 2011). Diabetes and IR are prime risk factors for CVD. Diabetes leads to metabolic, structural and functional changes in the heart and vasculature leading to diabetic cardiomyopathy, coronary artery disease and myocardial ischemia, and ultimately heart failure (Gray and Kim, 2011, Donnelly et al., 2000). Along with complications like retinopathy and nephropathy, peripheral vascular disease (PVD), it is also one of the leading risk factors for stroke and coronary artery disease (CAD). As people progress from impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) to diabetes mellitus, their risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) and stroke increases 2 to 3 fold (Wilson et al., 1991, Stamler et al., 1993b, Zimmet et al., 2001), while the risk of peripheral vascular disease increases by four-fold (Haffner et al., 1998). The risk of all cause and CVD mortality is almost double in people with glucose levels \geq 11.1 mmol.l⁻¹ in the fasted state, measured in response to an oral glucose load (Shaw et al., 2010). Diabetes also affects the heart muscle causing heart failure (Dokken, 2008, Muhlestein et al., 2003, Thrainsdottir et al., 2005). A possible explanation is the impact of insulin resistance to induce impaired vascular function, which leads to impaired nitric oxide mediated vasorelaxation, which may contribute to hypertension and to increased risk of atherosclerosis (Zhang et al., 2012, Symons et al., 2009, Muniyappa et al., 2008). Moreover, genetic manipulation of insulin action in the vasculature will increase atherosclerosis (Rask-Madsen et al., 2012, Rask-Madsen et al., 2010, Qiang et al., 2012). Insulin resistance via multiple mechanisms may contribute to macrophage accumulation in the vessel wall to increase atherosclerosis and instability of vulnerable plaques (Bornfeldt and Tabas, 2011, Aurigemma et al., 2013). Lastly, insulin resistance has been shown in many human and animal studies to increase the extent of myocardial injury in the context of myocardial ischemia, which may contribute to the increased risk of heart failure in affected individuals (Aurigemma et al., 2013, Abel et al., 2008).

Causes of diabetic dyslipidemia

Diabetic dyslipidaemia is caused by several factors, including hyperglycaemia, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinaemia, visceral adiposity, hepatic steatosis, and dysregulated

fatty acid metabolism (Taskinen, 2003, Chan and Watts, 2011). Insulin is involved in the regulation of lipid metabolism particularly in the release of FFA, as patients with IR or diabetes have higher TRL level and abnormalities in their lipid profile (Taskinen, 2003). Any impairment of insulin sensitivity appears in the liver, skeletal muscles and adipose tissue (Turner and Clapham, 1998) and causes impairment in glucose uptake and storage (Turner and Clapham, 1998). Insulin resistance leads to an increase in the burden of fatty acid which builds up in the liver as triglyceride. The liver has three options for handling excess TG: store them, enhance B-oxidation in mitochondria (Gavrilova et al., 2000, Turner and Clapham, 1998, Meena et al., 2014, Shen, 2007, Björntorp, 1991, Wood, 2006) or stimulate the synthesis VLDL resulting in hypertriglyceridemia (Steinberger et al., 2001, Björntorp, 1991, Reaven, 1988, Reaven and Chen, 1996, Wood, 2006).

In patients with T2D have high concentrations of both fasted and postprandial TG and apoB-48 (Lewis et al., 1991, Meng et al., 1983, Schaefer et al., 2002, Taniguchi et al., 2000, Curtin et al., 1996). Elevated concentrations of postprandial CM and CMRs in insulin resistance have been mainly attributed to impaired TRL clearance from the circulation (Shojaee-Moradie et al., 2013). In patients with T2D, increased plasma apoB-48 is related to reduce the rate of CMRs catabolism (Dane-Stewart et al., 2003, Hogue et al., 2007). Therefore, clearance of CMRs could be impaired as a result of increased hepatic-VLDL secretion in insulin resistance (Lewis, 1995). That is because increased availability of TG and cholesterol in T2D increases VLDL-hepatic synthesis which might affect the LPL activity in clearing CMR (Lewis, 1995).

The overproduction of VLDL is a key mechanism leading to the development of dyslipidaemia in the metabolic syndrome and a frequent co-morbidity of peripheral IR and type 2 diabetes mellitus (Bamba and Rader, 2007). This resulting overproduction of VLDL₁ causes an increase in small density LDL and decreases HDL transport to liver (Duell et al., 1991, Zimmet et al., 2001).

Insulin resistance also contributes to elevated TG levels in plasma by reducing the activity of LPL which inhibit the clearance of both VLDL and TRL (Mead et al., 2002).

The slow removal of CM and CMRs by reduced LPL activity has been addressed in insulin resistance (Kobayashi et al., 2007) due to the diminished regulation of LPL by insulin (Patsch, 1998). Moreover, diabetic patients in general and diabetic women in particular have slow clearance of CM which expose the arterial wall to high concentrations of accumulated VLDL and CM (Goldberg and Merkel, 2001, De Man et al., 1996, Howard, 1999).

Formation of small dense LDL in diabetics

CETP promotes exchange of HDL cholesteryl ester for triglycerides of TRL. In the presence of high concentrations of chylomicrons and VLDLs, HDL cholesteryl esters are preferentially transferred by CETP to larger VLDL particles that become cholesterol rich and thus, potentially more atherogenic (Guérin et al., 2001). Transfers of cholesteryl esters to TRLs, particularly chylomicrons, are enhanced in the postprandial state (Guerin et al., 2002, Contacos et al., 1998). The rate of cholesteryl ester transfer to TRLs and LDLs and the mass of CETP are increased in patients with a range of atherogenic dyslipidaemias (McPherson et al., 1991). Thus, reducing VLDL₁ concentration is likely to induce clinically important changes to the atherosclerotic risk profile.

Other studies show that insulin directly increased degradation of newly synthesized apoB (Sparks and Sparks, 1990). Therefore, insulin deficiency or hepatic insulin resistance may increase the secretion of apoB. Insulin may modulate the production of a number of other proteins that affect circulating levels of lipoproteins. These include apoC-III (Chen et al., 1994), a small apoprotein that may increase VLDL by preventing the actions of LPL and inhibiting lipoprotein uptake via the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP). This leads to decrease in the clearance of postprandial remnant lipoproteins. LDL particles in diabetic patients can also become glycated, in a process similar to the glycation of the haemoglobin. Glycation of LDL lengthens its half-life (Napoli et al., 1997) and therefore increases the ability of the LDL to promote atherogenesis (Bucala et al., 1993).

HDL acquires cholesterol and PL by the actions of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) or by the efflux of cellular FC by the esterification of this cholesterol by the enzyme

lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT) (Hayek et al., 1993, Jiang et al., 1999, Young and Fielding, 1999). This metabolism is often defective in diabetes, reducing the production of HDL-C from this source (Taskinen, 1987). Also, high concentrations of TRL, stimulate CETP exchange of VLDL triglyceride for cholesteryl ester in the core of LDL and HDL. This triglyceride can then be converted to free fatty acids by the actions of plasma lipases, primarily hepatic lipase. The net effect is a decrease in size and an increase in density of both LDL and HDL (Chahil and Ginsberg, 2006). (see **Figure 1.5**).

Dyslipidaemia is only one mechanism by which diabetes promotes atherosclerosis. IR is also believed to be a key factor mediating the progression of endothelial dysfunction (Lteif et al., 2005). Moreover, diabetes might also influence CVD by leukocyte adhesion, thrombogenesis and inflammation (Celermajer, 1997, Pickup and Mattock, 2003). The latter also has a paracrine suppressive effect on the secretion of adiponectin, a powerful insulin sensitizer which is secreted less as the adipocyte mass expands (Ryo et al., 2004, Kojima et al., 2005, Friedman and Halaas, 1998). The fat accumulation into islet cells might cause a reduction in the capacity of islets ultimately causing glucose intolerance and premature T2D (Ouchi et al., 1999, Kojima et al., 2005).



Figure 1.5. Dyslipidaemia of insulin resistance. Panel [A], shows the normal lipedmic response, Panel [B] shows insulin resistance/diabetes dyslipidaemia. Hypertriglyceridaemia reflects accumulation in plasma of TRL, the pivotal defect in lipoprotein metabolism. Over secretion of VLDL and chylomicrons by the liver and intestine, coupled with decreased catabolism, increases the plasma pool of TRLs, including remnant lipoproteins; increased hetero exchange of neutral lipids between TRL and LDL and HDLs via CETP results in remodelling of LDL and HDL to form correspondingly smaller, denser particles. LPL activity is decreased in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue owing to the inhibitory effects of insulin resistance and apoC-III.

1.5 Intervention to modify CVD through behavioural changes

Most patients often undergo pharmacological treatments for lipoprotein disorders, obesity and IR. Long-term pharmacological therapies are often expensive, and probably undesirable to large sections of the population, whereas life style, diet and exercise can be an alternative solutions that are more acceptable and carry less risk of side effects.

1.5.1 Controlling plasma lipids by exercise

Moderate exercise is one potential non-pharmacological treatment to reduce elevated postprandial TG concentrations. In the last decade studies have shown that exercise can lower TG concentrations in both fasting and postprandial state by 20-25%, mostly the VLDL₁ particles among highly risk CVD population (Gill et al., 2004a) such as centrally obese middle-aged men (Gill et al., 2004a) and postmenopausal women (Gill and Hardman, 2000). This effect is seen following a single exercise session and is not due to weight loss (Gill et al., 2004b, Gill et al., 2004a). The TG-lowering effect cannot be replicated by a dietary-induced energy deficit of the same magnitude (Gill and Hardman, 2000) although it contributes as replacing the energy expended by exercise attenuates the TG-lowering effect (Burton et al., 2007). However, exercise induces lower postprandial TG concentrations when food is consumed ad libitum (Farah and Gill, 2012).

Various studies indicated that exercise reduces postprandial lipaemia in various age groups and usually the effect of exercise appears after some hours of after exercise (Peterson et al., 1990).

Borghouts et al., indicated that insulin sensitivity is improved by exercise training (Borghouts and Keizer, 2000). Mestek et al., (2009) reported that, in men with MetS, postprandial lipaemia tends to be lower after continuous aerobic exercise with 500 kcal of energy expenditure before a meal (Mestek, 2009). Ziogas et al., (1997) demonstrated that endurance exercise individuals exhibit a significantly lower postprandial hyperinsulinaemia response to a fat-rich meal compared with sedentary individuals (Ziogas et al., 1997). Ten hypertriglyceridaemic men with

insulin resistance were studied by Zhang et al., (2007), and they suggested that in individuals with metabolic syndrome, exercising at moderate intensity for 45 min effectively resulted in a reduction of postprandial hypertriglyceridemia, while exercise for 30 min is sufficient to improve insulin action (Zhang et al., 2007). Similarly, Schrauwen-Hinderling et al., (2011) studied the effect of exercise on 11 diabetic patients for 12 weeks of progressive endurance/strength training and found that although the cardiac lipid content remained unchanged, the aerobic capacity and insulin sensitivity were increased (Schrauwen-Hinderling et al., 2011). Lee *et al.*, (2011), investigated the effect of exercise on diabetic mice and implied that adiponectin (APN) suppresses inflammation and oxidative stress in the aorta (Lee et al., 2011). Supervised aerobic training exercise for 16 week in dyslipidemic patients without MetS was associated with weight loss, increased APN and a decline in LDL, IDL and VLDL-cholesterol (Yoshida et al., 2010). Endurance exercise training is known to generally increase HDL cholesterol concentrations and to decrease plasma triglyceride and LDL cholesterol levels (Després and Lamarche, 1993, Després and Lamarche, 1994).

Studies show that trained individuals have lower postprandial lipaemia than untrained (Ziogas et al., 1997) and 50% lower TG concentration after exercise (Merrill et al., 1989). The period of endurance has been studied in different groups of individuals: overweight men and women with dyslipidaemia (Kraus et al., 2002) and older men and women (Halverstadt et al., 2007), and these indicate that the period of training reduces either fasting and/or postprandial TG. However, the effect on TG is due to short term metabolic response as shown by Herd *et al.*, (2000) who found no difference in postprandial TG concentrations between endurance trained and untrained young adults. The basic role of exercise depends on how much energy is expended, according to a study conducted in 2008 by Burton *et al.*, on 13 overweight/ obese men who enrolled for a three arms namely control, energy defect and energy replacement (Burton et al., 2007). The authors found that the greater reduction in postprandial TG was with energy defect by 14%, compared to with 10% observed control and energy replacement arms respectively.

Comparing regular exercise with a single bout of exercise

Regular exercise is beneficial for health by maintaining the healthy weight and it reduces TG concentration in the plasma (Jakicic, 2002). It also helps to reduce the acute changes in TG metabolism (Peterson et al., 1990). It has been found that there is no difference on level of TG on plasma between 30 min of moderate cycling (0.87 MJ per 30 min) accumulated in short bouts and one continuous 30 min bout of cycling in obese men (Miyashita, 2008). Exercising at moderate activity over the course of 6 months, was shown to significantly increase HDL-C in young adult women (Duncan et al., 1991). In a population of men and women ranging from 50 to 65 years of age, however, an increased frequency of exercise resulted in the highest HDL-C levels (Kraus et al., 2002). Over the course of only 3 weeks of exercise, although HDL-C levels did not increase, HDL preferentially converted to an anti-inflammatory state (Roberts et al., 2006). A beneficial effect on LDL particle size and density has been observed in long -distance runners (Williams et al., 1986).

On the other hand, many studies show that a single session of exercise is more effective on TG reduction than continuous exercise. A session of aerobic exercise tends to reduce postprandial hyperinsulinaemia in healthy adult (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996, Zhang et al., 2007, Graham, 2004). Moreover, Mestek *et al.*, (2009), stated that accumulating moderate-intensity exercise does not appear to effectively modulate postprandial lipaemia in men with MetS (Mestek, 2009). Similarly, different kinds of exercise either in its intensity or duration have the same influence in decreasing plasma TG (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996). The greatest effect of exercise appears 12-18 h after exercise (Peterson et al., 1990). Similarly exercise is considered to have short lived effect on insulin because insulin sensitivity can decline significantly after as little as 38 h after the final exercise training (Mikines et al., 1989). One single 90 minute session of moderate intensity exercise completely reversed FFA induced insulin resistance in healthy volunteers one day later (Schenk and Horowitz, 2007).

Energy Expenditure and Energy Deficit

Accumulating evidence suggests that the TG lowering effect of exercise depends on the energy expended during the exercise sessions (Gill et al., 2003). It is widely accepted that the higher the energy expenditure, the larger amount of TG reduction (Petitt and Cureton, 2003). Maraki et al., (2009) studied the influence of low energy expenditure exercise (30% of maximal oxygen uptake(VO_{2max}) along with mild energy intake restriction by 2.44 MJ on fasting and postprandial TG in young women (Maraki et al., 2009). They demonstrated that, fasting plasma TG, TG in TRL and serum insulin concentrations reduced by 18, 34 and 30% respectively after intervention compared with the control trial. Postprandial concentrations of plasma TG and TRL-TG also reduced significantly but there was no difference in serum insulin concentrations. Although energy intake restriction can reduce fasting TG, postprandial lipaemia and insulin concentrations, exercise was more effective in reducing fasting and postprandial TG and insulin in postmenopausal women (Gill and Hardman, 2000). Another study by Burton et al., indicated an approximately doubling of the reduction in postprandial lipaemia and rise in fat oxidation through exercise alone when compared to exercise plus energy replacement (Burton et al., 2007).

Another way to manipulate the energy expenditure is to increase the duration of exercise. For instance significant reductions of both postprandial TG and postprandial insulin response was showed in premenopausal women who exercised for 2 h vs. 1 h at 50% VO_{2max} another (Gill et al., 2002). They found that the reduction of postprandial TG concentrations was more after 90 min exercise at 60 % of VO_{2max} compared to the same period at 30% VO_{2max} (Tsetsonis and Hardman, 1996). Magkos *et al.*, in different study found that a 2 h cycling at 60% decreased VLDL-TG -but not VLDL-apoB at the same intensity (Magkos et al., 2007, Magkos et al., 2006). As the exercise intensity and duration reduce postprandial TG, it also increases insulin sensitivity. It has been suggested that the effect of exercise on insulin sensitivity can last for 15 days on middle age overweight men which depends on intensity and weekly amount of exercise during each session (Breckenridge et al., 1982). Babraj and his team reported that low volume, high intensity exercise is effective in reducing plasma glucose and insulin in sedentary young adults (Babraj et al., 2009).

Possible Mechanisms for the effect of exercise on TRL

The TG lowering effect of exercise does not appear to be due to a reduction in the rate of appearance of CM in the circulation (Gill et al., 2006, Gill et al., 2001a). There is also no impact of exercise on CM number (James et al., 2007).

Evidence supports the hypothesis that endurance trained individuals have high clearance rates of CM-like lipid emulsions compared with untrained peers (Carmena et al., 2004, Podl et al., 1994). LPL activity in muscles has been reported to increase over 200% in response to intense exercise sessions (Sady et al., 1986), which can be used as indicator of increased post-heparin plasma LPL activity (Podl et al., 1994). The level of LPL post exercise has been investigated in many studies. For instance; Miyashita and Tokuyama demonstrated that 30 min of moderate-intensity cycling performed the day before a meal of moderate fat content reduce postprandial serum TG concentrations but did not affect serum pre-heparin lipoprotein lipase concentrations in young men (Miyashita, 2008). Similarly there was no difference observed in post-heparin plasma LPL activity, although it was correlated significantly with exercise-induced changes in fasting and postprandial TG (Gill et al., 2003).

VLDL is the lipoprotein most influenced by exercise (Peterson et al., 1990, Gill et al., 2001b, Gill et al., 2006). The rise of postprandial lipaemia occurs due to a rise in VLDL remnant apoB-100 particles, not CM or CM remnants or apoB-48 particles (Havel, 2000). Recently it has been demonstrated that the major RLP associated with postprandial hyperlipidaemia is in fact VLDL and not CM remnants (Nakajima et al., 2011a).

Despite the fact that CM is the preferred substrate for LPL (Fisher et al., 1995, Bjorkegren et al., 1997), it seems that VLDL concentration reductions after a session of exercise are mediated by increased peripheral clearance, rather than reduced hepatic production (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). It was hypothesised that this may be due to exercise altering the composition of VLDL₁ to make it a more favourable substrate for LPL (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). The first objective of this PhD thesis is to explore and understand why LPL clears VLDL₁ more rapidly after exercise by testing the hypothesis that the affinity of VLDL to LPL increases after exercise. This work in described in Chapter 3. This may help to improve the understanding of the nature of these exercise-induced changes. For health care professionals this will help to emphasize the reason behind high level of TG and might recommend exercise as part of the treatment for people with high TG level.

1.5.2 Controlling plasma lipids by diet modification

A balanced dietary intake is necessary for optimal health benefits. Despite the essential role of diet in the treatment of many metabolic syndromes, the role of diet in the treatment of hypercholesterolemia has been largely neglected with the advent and use of medications (statins) (Kreisberg and Oberman, 2003). The relationship between plasma lipid and dietary intake has been studied in populations and individuals. Older studies examined total cholesterol and triglyceride levels; more recent studies have looked at specific lipoproteins and apolipoproteins.

Studies relating the effect of diet to serum lipid levels and to rates of atherosclerosis in free-living populations have consisted mostly of cross-sectional surveys. Some studies found correlations between dietary fat and serum lipids when different groups were compared, e.g. Japanese living in urban and rural areas (Ueshima et al., 1982) and Polynesian groups consuming different levels of dietary saturated fat (Prior et al., 1981). Surveys of single populations such as that of the Western Electric Study showed that a high ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fat was correlated positively with plasma lipid levels and positively with a decreased incidence of coronary heart disease (Shekelle et al., 1981), but the correlation coefficients were small. The Tecumseh Study, on the other hand, failed to show a correlation between fat, cholesterol, and other macronutrient intake and serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels (Nichols et al., 1976). The North American diet pattern of consuming higher quantities of red meat, high-fat dairy products, and refined grains and low amount of fiber was positively correlated with higher CRP (Fung et al., 2001). The Northern Manhattan Study (Gardener et al., 2011), European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort reported (Dilis et al., 2012) that a dietary pattern resembling the Mediterranean Diet was inversely associated with a composite outcome of CVD (ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction or vascular death). Worldwide cross-sectional surveys, both prospective and retrospective, generally support the concept that low-fat diets correlate with lower lipid levels and lower incidence of atherosclerotic heart disease; and they are used to support position papers advocating the adoption of such diets (Gotto Jr et al., 1984). Nevertheless, there are problems in interpreting such studies. It is difficult to assess the part played by other factors such as the type of consumed fat, percentage of fat and carbohydrate, exercise, total caloric intake, obesity, and stress (Gordon et al., 1984). More information concerning the relationships of diets and lipoproteins has come from individual and group feeding studies.

Effect of total fat ingestion on lipid metabolism

There is growing evidence about how major shifts in the macronutrient content of the diet can affect plasma lipoprotein patterns, which can be used to form dietary recommendations to minimize the risk of developing CVD. Early work focused on assessing the effect of a high fat meal on plasma lipoprotein pattern and it was observed that plasma TG increased (Havel, 1957b). However, later in the 1960s, it was noted that diets very low in fat resulted in hypertriglyceridemia (Ahrens Jr et al., 1961, Frayn, 2009, Lichtenstein and Van Horn, 1998). Hudgins and coworker observed an increase in fatty acid and VLDL-TG induction by very-low-fat, high-sugar diets (Hudgins et al., 1998, Nestel et al., 1970). From the early 1950, the role of fatty acid on plasma cholesterol was studied (Hegsted et al., 1959, Keys et al., 1950) and it is accepted that dietary saturated fatty acids (SFAs) are detrimental to health (Hunter et al., 2010). It was observed that not all saturated fatty acid (SFA) had similar effect on plasma cholesterol. The shorter the chain of saturated fatty acids (6:0-10:0) the lower effect on plasma cholesterol, whereas those with intermediate chain lengths (12:0-16:0) increased concentrations of cholesterol (Keys et al., 1950, Mcgandy et al., 1970). This increase in cholesterol level has been attributed to a decrease in low-density lipoprotein receptor activity (Matthan et al., 2004). Saturated fatty acid increases plasma LDL-cholesterol concentrations and lowers levels of cholesteryl esters in the liver (Spady and Dietschy, 1985). Myristic and palmitic acids increased LDL-C and HDL-C levels to a similar extent without significantly altering TC/HDL-C ratio, whereas lauric acid had the largest LDL-C- and HDL-C-raising effect leading to a decrease in the

TC/HDL-C ratio (Mensink et al., 2003). Epidemiological studies have found an association between higher saturated fat intake and higher rates of cardiovascular disease (Howard et al., 2006, Dayton et al., 1969). Randomized clinical trials have documented that lowering saturated fat reduces coronary events and reduces cholesterol, and that Mediterranean diet (high in fibre, olive oil, fish, and a 30% fat) improves survival (De Lorgeril et al., 1999, Mauger et al., 2003, Roth and Brown, 2005).

Effect of quality of diet fatty acids on lipid metabolism

Trans-fatty acids

The frequent ingestion of high fat content foods such as margarine, cookies, cake and white bread which contain partially hydrogenated vegetable oils provide the body with *trans*-fatty acid (TFA) which are significantly associated with higher risks of CHD. A diet with the same energy density from saturated or cis unsaturated fats showed that the consumption of trans fatty acids raises levels of LDL-C, reduces levels of HDL-C, and increases the ratio of total cholesterol to HDL cholesterol (Stampfer et al., 1991). For every 1% increase in total calories from TFA, the amount of LDL-C increases by 2% (Cleeman et al., 2001). Trans fatty acid also increases the plasma concentration of TG (Mensink et al., 2003), and Lp(a) lipoprotein (Zaloga et al., 2006) and reduces the particle size of LDL-C more than other fats (Mauger et al., 2003). Five weeks consumption of TFA derived partially hydrogenated fats was associated higher total and LDL cholesterol, and lower HDL cholesterol concentrations in post-menopausal women (Matthan et al., 2004). These changes were attributed to impaired LDL apoB-100 and enhanced HDL apoA-I fractional catabolism. Consumption of TFA did not alter TRL apoB-100 or apoB-48 metabolism (Matthan et al., 2004). The combined effect of dietary saturated and *trans* fatty acids on plasma lipids is amplified by the lack of n-3 long-chain fatty acids, which have complex competitive effects on prostanoid synthesis, cellular function, and thrombosis (Amine et al., 2002). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that diets low in saturated fat are associated with lower rates of CVD (Vessby, 2003, Trial, 2006). For instance the inverse relationship of dietary ω -3 fatty acids and CVD events (Dyerberg et al., 1975). However, The effects of dietary fats on plasma TG is less clear than the effects of dietary fats on cholesterol and tend to be determined by specific fatty acids (Howell et al., 1997).

Monounsaturated fatty acid

Zheng *et al.* reported that replacing 17% of total energy intake from complex carbohydrate with MUFA selectively stimulated the secretion of VLDL and IDL particles containing apoE and apoC-III, while suppressing the secretion of particles that did not (Zheng et al., 2008). Consequently, the concentration of apoBcontaining lipoproteins with apoE and apoC-III was higher with the MUFA diet compared with the carbohydrate diet (Zheng et al., 2008). The MUFA diet was also associated with increased VLDL and IDL apoB catabolism, although LDL apoB metabolism was not altered (Zheng et al., 2008). This study lends support to the potential benefits of increased MUFA and reduced complex carbohydrate in modulating lipoprotein metabolism. The study, however, was non-randomized and short-term, with an intervention period of only three weeks. Notably, this study compared two relatively healthy diets, both low in SFA, high in fiber and utilized primarily low glycaemic foods. High-MUFA diets have gained significant attention as an alternative dietary pattern to the commonly recommended low-fat and highcarbohydrate (CHO) pattern. Several meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) suggested potential benefits of a high-MUFA diet compared with a high-CHO diet in improving metabolic factors, such as glycemic control, serum lipids, and blood pressure, among both healthy individuals and T2D patients (Schwingshackl et al., 2011, Shah et al., 2007, Garg et al., 1994). A recent metaanalysis illustrated that, When comparing high-MUFA to high-CHO diets, there were significant reductions in fasting plasma glucose, TG, body weight, and systolic blood pressure along with significant increases in HDL cholesterol (Qian et al., 2016). Also a diet rich in MUFA has been linked to a reduction in LDL oxidation. Studies found that the particles rich in MUFA have been shown to be less susceptible to oxidative modification compared to LDL particles enriched with n-6 fatty acids (Parthasarathy et al., 1990, Abbey et al., 1993, Bonanome et al., 1991).

Polyunsaturated fatty acids

An aspect of CVD research focuses on the cardio-protective effects of fish oils and of individual omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 PUFA), or more specifically, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; 20:5 n-3), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA; 22:6 n-3) and α linolenic acid (ALA; 18:3 n-3). Many large-scale studies, including primary and secondary prevention clinical trials and meta-analysis of cohorts, have concluded that consumption of fatty fish, fish oils or individual n-3 PUFA is an effective dietary strategy to lower CVD morbidity, mortality, as well as classic and emerging risk factors (Bucher et al., 2002, von Schacky, 2003, Calder, 2004, Von Schacky and Harris, 2007, Yaktine and Nesheim, 2007, Hu et al., 2002). Clinical and epidemiological trials have shown that an elevated intake of long-chain was also associated with a reduced cardiovascular risk, reduced inflammatory processes and reduced all-cause mortality (Simopoulos, 2008, Tapiero et al., 2002). A high intake of n-3 PUFA has been associated with antiarrhythmic, anti-thrombotic and vasodilatory effects (De Caterina, 2011, Leaf et al., 2003). Replacement of energy from saturated fat with PUFA has been shown to decrease TC and LDL-C, with a concomitant decrease in HDL-C (Hodson et al., 2001). In addition, n-3 PUFA have been shown to improve a number of cardiac hemodynamic factors such as blood pressure (Mozaffarian et al., 2006, Geleijnse et al., 2002) and endothelial function (Hirafuji et al., 2003, Goodfellow et al., 2000) plasma TG reduction (Harris, 1997) anti-inflammatory responses (Calder, 2006) and anti-atherosclerotic effects (von Schacky, 2003).

Effect of carbohydrate ingestion on lipid metabolism

On the other hand, it has been observed that the ingestion of CHO alone (as in an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) has no influence on lipoprotein particles (Havel, 1957a). In free living, the majority of ingested food contains CHO, fat and protein. Most human interventions are carried out by holding the protein content of the diet relatively constant and varying the amount of fat and CHO. Therefore, many studies have been examining the effect of different ratios of fat/CHO diets on metabolism. Increases in the relative proportion of CHO result in reductions in HDL-C and an increase in TG concentration (Stampfer et al., 1996, Lichtenstein et al., 1994, Grundy et al., 1986, Mensink et al., 2003).

Diets high in carbohydrate (60-80% of calories) and low in fats (0-25% of calories) have marked effects on plasma levels of lipoproteins and on lipoprotein metabolism. The substitution of SFA by CHO decreases HDL-C and increases TG (Knopp et al., 2000, Howard and Wylie-Rosett, 2002). Plasma TG and VLDL-TG rise in both normal and hypertriglyceridaemic subjects (Blum et al., 1977, Falko et al., 1980b, Falko et al., 1980a, Ginsberg et al., 1981, Huff and Nestel, 1982, Kashyap et al., 1982, Liu et al., 1984, Schonfeld et al., 1976). Hepatic secretion of VLDL increases (Schonfeld and Pfleger, 1971), and the VLDL becomes more TG enriched (Falko et al., 1980b, Ginsberg et al., 1981, Kashyap et al., 1982). The elevations in plasma TG reach a peak after one week and decrease after three weeks, although they do not return to baseline levels in that time (Kashyap et al., 1982). Interventional studies comparing the effects of low and high carbohydrate diets on LDL found that high-carbohydrate diets affect LDL particle size, generating smaller, potentially more atherogenic LDL particles as compared to low carbohydrate diets. During 3 days. After the low-fat and high-carbohydrate diet, LDL particle size distribution shifted towards smaller particle size. These changes in LDL particle size were thought to be the consequence of an observed increase in large triglyceride-rich VLDL particles and serum triglycerides, which both are of importance in the generation of small, dense LDL as mentioned above (Guay et al., 2012). However, changes such as those observed in the above-mentioned study have not been observed in another study after just a single meal with different fat content (Callow et al., 2002). One study of 4 weeks duration demonstrated a smaller LDL peak size in individuals after a low-fat and high-carbohydrate diet compared to a high-fat and low-carbohydrate diet (Faghihnia et al., 2010). A longterm diet intervention over 9 months has been performed in overweight or obese middle-aged adults. Most importantly, LDL size increased in this population during a low-carbohydrate diet, whereas no differences were observed during a low-fat diet. The change in body weight did not differ between these two groups (LeCheminant et al., 2010). HDL-C also decreases after a few days on a high carbohydrate diet (Kashyap et al., 1982, Gonen et al., 1981, Blum et al., 1977, Schonfeld et al., 1976), with the HDL₂ fraction falling to a greater extent than HDL₃ (Gonen et al., 1981). Thus, in some respects diets high in carbohydrate and those with high P/S ratios both produce similar effects on LDL and HDL, but not on VLDL. There are significant changes in apolipoprotein concentrations in

response to these short-term increases in dietary carbohydrate. Proteins of the C family increase in response to high-carbohydrate diets. Plasma levels of apoC-II increase both in normal subjects fed a high-carbohydrate formula diet and in patients with high plasma TG (Falko et al., 1980b). Kashyap et al, found increases in both apoC-II and C-III but the ratio of apoC-III to apoC-II was lower in VLDL and HDL₂ after three weeks of a high-carbohydrate diet; this indicates a relative enrichment of VLDL and HDL₂ with apoC-II. Kashyap et al suggest that the difference in amounts of apoC-III and C-III in HDL₂ subfractions may be due to differences in binding affinities of the different apoC's for HDL subfractions (Kashyap et al., 1982).

The type of carbohydrate used in the diet significantly affects TG and VLDL responses. On a diet with 70% carbohydrate and with sucrose contributing 55% of calories, VLDL increased in six of seven subjects (Nestel et al., 1979). VLDL-apoB also increased. In two subjects there were increases in removal rates of apoB VLDL from the circulation, whereas in four subjects there was decreased removal of apoB VLDL. In most of the studies involving high carbohydrate diets, sucrose comprised a large part of the additional carbohydrate calories. In a recent study of hypertriglyceridaemic subjects, when the sucrose content of the diet was increased from 9 to 15% while total carbohydrate content was increased from 40 to 60%, the degree of fasting hypertriglyceridemia and increase in VLDL triglyceride were greater than if sucrose was kept at a constant percentage of total carbohydrate (Liu et al., 1984). VLDL triglyceride, VLDL cholesterol, and VLDL protein rise by factors of 2.4, 1.67, and 1.88 respectively; LDL cholesterol decreases while LDL triglyceride remains the same. However, this response is attenuated when complex CHO primarily consisting of whole grains are given. Fifty percent CHO intake worsens lipid and non-lipid risk factors in patients with the metabolic syndrome. However, some CHO commonly referred to as complex has a higher glycaemic index (GI) and consequently increase insulin responses more than simple sugars (Ludwig, 2002). GI is a term used to classify food according their effects on glycaemic responses (Wolever et al., 1991). High GI Foods are digested and transformed into glucose rapidly for a given amount of CHO than foods with a low GI (Axen and Axen, 2010, Rossetti et al., 1987). A high glycaemic load (product of GI and CHO content) is associated with higher fasting TG and lower HDL-C levels (Ludwig, 2002). Increased dietary carbohydrates, particularly simple sugars and starches with high glycemic index, can increase levels of small, dense LDL (Siri and Krauss, 2005). Ingesting high glycaemic meals can lead to various metabolic changes that promote excessive food intake (Ludwig et al., 1999). On the other hand, a meta-analysis of observational studies reported an association between the consumption of lower GI foods and lower TG, LDL-C and total cholesterol and higher HDL-C concentrations (Barclay et al., 2008, Goff et al., 2013). It was estimated that replacement of high GI foods for low GI foods can result 15% to 25% reductions in TG concentrations (Pelkman, 2001).

However, most studies have examined the long-term effect of high CHO diet or high fat diet or specific fatty acid ingestion on total plasma TG, HDL and LDL. There is limited data on the acute effect of fat, CHO or combination of both on the lipoprotein particles metabolism.

Effects of dietary fibre on lipid metabolism

Dietary fibre and whole grains contain a unique blend of bioactive components including resistant starches, vitamins, minerals, phytochemicals and antioxidants. As a result, research regarding their potential health benefits has received considerable attention in the last several decades. Epidemiological and clinical studies demonstrate that consumption of dietary fiber and whole grain intake is inversely related to obesity (Liu et al., 2002), type two diabetes (Meyer et al., 2000), cancer (Forman and Hernandez, 2010) and CVD (Streppel et al., 2008).

Dietary fibre, by its impact on the glycaemic response and other aspects of metabolism, may also have important effects on cardio metabolic pathways (Pereira and Liu, 2003). An increasing number of studies have reported that for every 10 g of additional fiber added to a diet the mortality risk of CHD decreased by 17-35% (Pereira et al., 2004, Streppel et al., 2008). Based on findings from epidemiologic studies regarding the protective effects of fiber intakes, the Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) recommended consumption of dietary fiber is 14 g/1000 kcal, or 25 and 38 g/day for adult women and men, respectively (Slavin, 2008). It has been proposed that dietary fibre could modify underlying CVD risk factors

including lipid and lipoprotein metabolism, insulin homeostasis, inflammatory markers and coagulation, and improves insulin sensitivity, thereby reducing the risk of CVD mortality (Erkkilä and Lichtenstein, 2006, Kokubo et al., 2011, Eshak et al., 2010). Although studies showed beneficial effects of soluble, gel-forming fiber on cardio metabolic risk factors, food sources of mainly insoluble fibers, primarily contributed by cereal products, have been the fiber most consistently associated with lower risk of CVD (Erkkilä and Lichtenstein, 2006). Findings of some investigations also suggest that the role of dietary fibre is more dependent on its types and sources, rather than the amount of intake (McKeown et al., 2004, Hosseinpour-Niazi et al., 2011). Different types or sources of dietary fibre may induce different physiological effects; soluble fibre is responsible for the cholesterol-lowering effect of dietary fibre whereas insoluble fiber interacts with intestinal absorption of foods and contributes to reduction in clotting factors (Brown et al., 1999).

It has been demonstrated that inflammation may be an important mediator in the association between consumption of dietary fibre and CVD. A research has demonstrated an association between dietary fibre and levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), a clinical indicator of inflammation (King et al., 2003). After adjustment for age, gender, race, education, smoking, physical activity, BMI, total energy consumed, and fat intake. Dietary fiber intake from a variety of sources has been associated with a significantly decreased risk of coronary heart disease. In the Nurses' Health Study, women in the highest quintile of fibre intake (median 22.9 g/day) had an age- adjusted relative risk for major coronary events that was 47% lower than women in the lowest quintile (11.5 g/day) (Stampfer et al., 2000).

Several studies have evaluated dietary fibre in relation to intermediate vascular markers such as cholesterol. Studies suggest that 3 g soluble fiber from oats (three servings of oatmeal, 28 g each) can decrease total cholesterol and LDL by 0.13 mmol.l⁻¹ (Gulati et al., 2017, Katz, 2001). The mechanism can be explained by the reduction in the absorption of ileal bile acid (Morgan et al., 1993). These soluble forms of dietary fibre appear to have a negligible effect on triglyceride or HDL levels. Insoluble dietary fibre subgroups are derived largely from cereal sources and have little or no effect on lipids and lipoproteins (Jenkins et al., 2000).

Effect of high fat vs. high carbohydrate diets

In a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing high fat diets with high carbohydrate diets, it has been found that, both diets reduced participants' blood pressures, total to HDL cholesterol ratios, and total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, triglycerides, blood glucose, and serum insulin levels and raised HDL cholesterol; however, participants on high fat diets had greater increases in HDL cholesterol and greater decreases in triglycerides but experienced less reduction in total and LDL cholesterol compared with persons on high carbohydrate diets (Hu et al., 2012, Mansoor et al., 2016b, Sackner-Bernstein et al., 2015). However, it should be noted that the associations between diets and lipid profiles may be stronger in shorter-term studies due to greater control over the participants' diets and higher compliance rates, and might provide insight to how these effects might be long-term. The acute effect of high carbohydrate diet on lipid metabolism would explain the mechanism behind the long term ingestion. It has been shown that ingesting high carbohydrate diet by patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus led to little or no decrease in postprandial plasma or lipoprotein TG or cholesterol concentrations and an actual increase in concentration of potentially atherogenic small chylomicron and/or chylomicron remnants (Chen et al., 1992). Also, in nondiabetic population, it reduces total, LDL and HDL cholesterol. In contrast, the acute ingestion of fat has been related to increase in the postprandial concentrations of TG, phospholipid and remnant lipoprotein (Wilson et al., 1985, Nestel, 1964, Jeppesen et al., 1995, Cohen et al., 1988, Havel, 1957b). In addition, the acute fat ingestion increases plasma NEFA concentrations (Katan et al., 1994); also, the acute ingestion of fat led to stepwise increases in the postprandial rise of chylomicron and serum TG and induced marked changes in serum lipoproteins postprandially (Dubois et al., 1998). However, there is a limited knowledge in the effect of the acute ingesting equal amount of carbohydrate with fat or ingesting them separately on both TRL and CRL (Austin, 1990).

In real life, fat and carbohydrate are consumed together, thus it is important to understand how this co-ingestion influences postprandial metabolic responses. Manipulating dietary macronutrient content has been shown to improve blood lipid profiles even in the absence of weight loss. For example, high fat diet increased HDL concentrations and decrease TG concentrations (Shai et al., 2008). Another study that compared the effects of dietary macronutrient content, found that the high fat/low carbohydrate diet resulted in greater improvements in blood lipids and systemic inflammation when compared to the low fat/high carbohydrate, even though there were no detectable differences in body weight between the two diets (Ruth et al., 2013). On the other hand, high carbohydrate diets are linked to the elevation of fasting plasma TG concentrations (Parks et al., 1999, Roche, 1999), small but significant increases in total, LDL and HDL cholesterol (Wood et al., 2016, Mansoor et al., 2016a, Bueno et al., 2013, Hu et al., 2012), and higher postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations (Mohammed and Wolever, 2004). Ultimately, this may decrease insulin sensitivity (Wolever and Mehling, 2003), raising fasting triacylglycerol concentrations but also induced a shift toward smaller, denser LDL particles (Krauss, 2001).

Therefore, the aim of the second experimental Chapter 4) is to determine the influence of the ingestion of CHO with fat on lipoprotein metabolism which will provide the information about acute ingestion of fat and carbohydrate on lipoprotein metabolism.

1.6 Ethnicity, plasma lipids and postprandial response

Environmental, genetic and lifestyle factors are thought to affect the distribution, incidence and mortality of CVD and diabetes among racial and ethnic populations (Haga and Venter, 2003, Cooper, 1997a, McBean et al., 2004). Ethnicity play important roles in understanding disparities in health and health care (Karter, 2003a, Karter, 2003b). Ethnicity has been defined as "a complex multidimensional construct reflecting the confluence of biological factors and geographical origins, culture, economic, political and legal factors, as well as racism" (Williams, 1997).

1.6.1 Ethnicity and plasma lipids

As mentioned above there are ethnic differences in the incidence of CVD. This can be as a result of differences in lipid profile and/ or differences on CVD risk factors. Differences in the lipid and lipoprotein concentrations between African American (AA) and Caucasian (CA) populations have been reported to occur in children (Crawford et al., 2001, Williams et al., 1992, Berenson et al., 1981, Morrison et al., 1979, Donahue et al., 1989) and this continues till adulthood (Tyroler et al., 1975, Srinivasan et al., 1986, Tyroler et al., 1980). These differences include lower plasma TG and VLDL-cholesterol, as well as higher levels of HDL cholesterol in AA compared with CA women (Tyroler et al., 1975, Srinivasan et al., 1986, Tyroler et al., 1980). These differences in the plasma lipids and lipoprotein concentrations persist after adjustment for age, degree of obesity and adiposity, and the use of tobacco and alcohol (Tyroler et al., 1980, Glueck et al., 1984). This is also had been reported in black men when compared to White Europeans, Blacks generally have a favourable lipoprotein-lipid profile including low fasting TG and apoB levels and higher HDL-C concentration (Després et al., 2000, Lovejoy et al., 1996, Albu et al., 1997, Howard et al., 2003, Kuller, 2004, Chaturvedi et al., 1994). Similarly, Japanese have higher HDL-C and TG levels than Whites (Wolfe et al., 2002). Afro- Caribbean men have lower levels of LDL-C, total cholesterol, TG, large and small VLDL, sdLDL, as well as lower VLDL particle size, than either African American or White men (Miljkovic-Gacic, 2006). On the other hand, South Asians have high incidence of CHD and more than double risk of developing T2D

than Whites, Hispanics and Blacks. This might be related to increased frequency of IR and diabetes, elevated TG and low HDL-C in Asians (Anand et al., 2003, McKeigue et al., 1991, Chandalia et al., 2007). Middle Eastern (ME) adults seem to have mean plasma cholesterol levels of ~5.2 mmol.l⁻¹ (Al-Nozha et al., 2008, Al-Lawati et al., 2003, Zindah et al., 2008), which is near to the average European level 5.0 mmol.l⁻¹ (WHO, 2014a).

A possible explanation of these variations is low birth weight, In a retrospective study of adult men and women living in South India, the prevalence of CHD was related to their size at birth, low birthweight, short birth length and small head circumference at birth and these were all associated with a raised prevalence of CHD later in life (Stein et al., 1996)=. In Jamaican schoolchildren age between 6-12 years, indices of small size at birth were associated with higher systolic BP, glycated haemoglobin and serum cholesterol levels (Forrester et al., 1996).

Another possible explanation for differences are alterations in the metabolic factors that regulate lipoprotein levels. For example, the activity of LPL in subcutaneous adipose tissue of lean black African males residing in the Quebec City area no more than 3 years is higher than lean Caucasian males (Ama et al., 1985). Also it has been found that the rate of clearance of TG from circulation was higher in the AA men. Accompanying this increased clearance was an elevation in post-heparin plasma LPL activity (Friday et al., 1999). Other alterations in metabolism are seen in hyperinsulinaemic South Asians where there is, raised TG and lower HDL cholesterol levels, central adiposity with a high waist to hip ratio (McKeigue, 1991, McKeigue et al., 1992, Cruickshank et al., 1991). Moreover, Black subjects both men and women, have significantly higher post heparin hepatic lipase activity but lower hepatic lipase activity than White subjects (Albu et al., 1997). The low hepatic lipase activities in Blacks may have a genetic basis and contribute to their higher plasma HDL-C concentrations when compared to Whites (Vega et al., 1998).

1.6.2 Ethnicity, obesity and adipose tissue

The distribution of overweight and obesity in this population is known to vary considerably by ethnic group (Saxena et al., 2004). For the same BMI as

Caucasians, the body fat percentage in Asians would be 5-7% higher in Indian men (Forouhi et al., 1999, Nair et al., 2008, Chandalia et al., 2007) 8% in Indian women(Rush et al., 2009, Rush et al., 2007, Kamath et al., 1999)1-4% in Japanese women (Gallagher et al., 2000), 5% and 7% for Indonesian men and women from Malay ancestry respectively (Gurrici et al., 1999), and 1.3% and 1.7% for Indonesian Chinese men and women respectively (Gurrici et al., 1999). Interestingly, there was a tendency that the difference in body fat percentage became smaller with increasing BMI and age (Gallagher et al., 2000). In Asians, it was predicted that with increasing age, the body fat percentage increased to a lesser degree than in Caucasians (Chung et al., 2005, Rush et al., 2009). Among Asians, Indians have the highest body fat percentage followed by Malays and Chinese. The suggested BMI cut-off points for obesity are 26 kg.m⁻² for Indians, 27 kg.m⁻² for Malays and 27.5 kg.m⁻² for Chinese, as compared to 30 kg.m⁻² for Caucasians (Deurenberg-Yap et al., 2001). It can be concluded that the difference in body fat percentage between Asians and Caucasians is dependent on the region/ethnicity. It is most pronounced in South (Indians), than Southeast (Malay) and than East Asian (Chinese/Japanese). Ethnic differences in the relationship between BMI and body fat percentage may be explained by the difference in body build and frame size (Deurenberg et al., 1999), in part by differences in muscularity and bone mineral content (Rush et al., 2007) as well as fat distribution and relative leg length (Rush et al., 2009).

Ethnicity also influences adipose tissue distribution. For a similar level of total body fat, white subjects have been shown to have more intra-abdominal adipose tissue than Blacks (Despres, 2000, Hoffman et al., 2005). It has been suggested that Asian, Hispanic and Caucasian are particularly prone to intra-abdominal fat and associated health risks. Interestingly, besides having less intra-abdominal adipose tissue accumulation, Black women are more likely to develop IR. This finding holds up even after matching them with White women for age, degree of obesity, and waist-to-hip ratio (Lovejoy et al., 1996). However, it was suggested that Black individuals are less likely to have intra-abdominal fat deposition and therefore have a more favourable metabolic profile than White individuals (Despres, 2000, Albu, 1999). Similarly, in Nurses' Health Study, the increases in weight over 20 years were more harmful in Asians than other ethnic groups. For

every 11 pounds weight gained during adulthood, Asians had 84% increased risk of T2D. The risk for diabetes with weight gain also increased for Hispanics and Blacks but to a much lesser degree than Asians (Deurenberg-Yap et al., 2000, Wen et al., 2009, Pan et al., 2004). The possible explanation for this could be amount of body fat.

Interestingly, Far-East Asians and South Asian are different from Caucasians and each other in BMI and body fat percent relationship (Pan et al., 2004, Deurenberg-Yap et al., 2000). Despite lower BMI indices, Asian populations have an increased tendency to accumulate Intra-abdominal Fat (IAF) and are more likely to develop T2D and CVD (Abate et al., 2001, Ramachandran et al., 2006, Chandalia et al., 2007). South Asians, in particular, have high levels of body fat and are more prone to develop abdominal obesity, which may account for very high risk of T2D and CVD (Misra and Khurana, 2009, Misra and Vikram, 2004). Additionally, several studies have shown that Japanese Americans have a greater amount of intraabdominal adipose tissue and higher prevalence of T2D (Boyko et al., 1995, Fujimoto et al., 1999). A 32% of adults in the Middle East are having a BMI \geq 30 kg.m⁻² (WHO, 2014b). Unfortunately, there is no available data of fat distribution among the Middle Eastern.

Obesity, particularly visceral adiposity, is associated with IR and often assumed to be causative. According to the "lipid supply" hypothesis, higher concentrations of FA resulting from higher fat intake or higher visceral or intramuscular fat, inhibit carbohydrate oxidation and thereby produce IR (Kraegen and Cooney, 1999). However, the Arabic Caucasian subjects had the highest measure of abdominal fat (using WHR) but were among the most insulin sensitive (Dickinson et al., 2002). Furthermore, the Arabic Caucasian group reported the greatest fat intake (36% of energy vs. only 28% in the European Caucasian group), but the two groups were indistinguishable on the basis of HOMA-IR or postprandial responses to the bread meal. Hence differences in "lipid supply" do not account for differences in insulin sensitivity among these young adults (Dickinson et al., 2002).

1.6.3 Ethnicity and diabetes

The West Pacific region had the highest number of individuals (131.9 million) diagnosed with diabetes with a comparative prevalence rate of 8.3% The two countries in this region that had the highest prevalence rates were the Kiribati and Marshall Islands, with rates of 25.7% and 22.2%, respectively. Middle East and North Africa regions had the highest comparative prevalence rates of diabetes at 11.3%. Six countries in this region are among the world's top ten countries for highest diabetes prevalence rates, Kuwait (21.1%), Lebanon (20.2%), Qatar (20.2%), Saudi Arabia (20.0%), Bahrain (19.9%) and United Arabian Emirates (19.2%). The North America/Caribbean region had the second highest comparative prevalence rate of diabetes at 10.7%. South-Central America and South East Asia had similar diabetes prevalence rates of 9.2%, whereas Europe had a 6.7% comparative prevalence rate. Africa had the lowest comparative prevalence rate of diabetes (4.5%); however the Africa region has the highest proportion of undiagnosed diabetes, with at least 78% of affected individuals being undiagnosed (Cho et al., 2013, International Obesity Task Force 2012). Pima Indians and Asian Indians are more insulin resistant than European Caucasians of similar age and BMI (Chandalia et al., 1999, Lillioja et al., 1991). In most studies, however, the subjects have been middle-aged and/or overweight, with IR already well developed. Studies in young lean subjects are required to determine whether reduced insulin sensitivity and postprandial hyperglycemia/hyperinsulinemia can be present without overt signs of the metabolic syndrome.

Although the different explanations mentioned above there is a different in the metabolic response in different ethnic groups. The glycaemic response seems to favour White Europeans compared with South Asians (Mohan et al., 1986, Raji et al., 2001). Also, it has observed that higher insulin concentrations after glucose load were reported in both normal and diabetic Navajo Indians compared with Pennsylvania Amish of similar weight (Rimoin, 1969). It has been observed that stimulated plasma insulin concentrations in the Pima Indians were 2-3 times higher than in the White population (Aronoff et al., 1977). The Pima Indians of the Gila River Indian Community in Arizona, a population in whom insulin-dependent diabetes is unknown, have the world's highest reported incidence of NIDDM, which often occurs in early adulthood (Savage et al., 1979, Knowler et al., 1978). Afro-

Caribbean also, have a higher insulin response compared with Whites (Chaturvedi et al., 1994). It has been reported, in lean, young adults of Thai, Vietnamese and Chinese origin displayed marked postprandial hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia compared with matched Caucasian subjects. This corresponded to reduced insulin sensitivity as determined by HOMA, although the level of insulin sensitivity was still within the normal range for healthy individuals. The differences among ethnic groups were evident despite similarities in age (mean 20-22 y), BMI (20-23 kg.m-²), waist circumference (72-82 cm), birth weight (3.2-3.5 kg) and diet (Liew et al., 2003). After a high fat meal consist of (52% of energy as fat, 40% as carbohydrate and 8% as protein), the postprandial lipaemia is not affected in young South Asians compared to Northern Europeans although glucose intolerance is detectable (Cruz et al., 2001a). Consuming a carbohydrate meal that's provides 75 g of available carbohydrate, it has been found that SE Asians had the highest postprandial glycaemia and lowest insulin sensitivity, whereas European and Arabic Caucasian subjects were the most insulin sensitive and carbohydrate tolerant (Dickinson et al., 2002). Also, the lipaemic response after a high liquid fatty meal (86.5% of calories from fat), The increase in TG levels at 2 and 4 hours postprandially, tended to be lower in the AA than the CA (Bower et al., 2002).

1.6.4 Ethnicity and other CVD risk factors

Another possible cause of the variability of CVD among different ethnic groups could be due to the prevalence of risk factors such as hypertension. It has been observed that in both genders in Black population tend to have higher prevalence of hypertension than Whites (Greenlund et al., 1998). In addition, family history of hypertension was also greater among Blacks than Whites within sites. Alvis et al reported significantly higher age adjusted CVD mortality rates among Black men with hypertension (65.1 per 10,000 person/years) compared to Whites (55.8 per 10,000 person/years) (Thomas et al., 2005). Other factors can influence ethnic differences such as environmental factors with respect to access to healthy food sources, places to exercise or crime related safety (Golden et al., 2012). Lack of healthy food stores, lack of places to exercise and increased psychosocial stressors related to crime or limited social cohesion have been linked to poor health outcomes (Casagrande et al., 2009). Evidence from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis found that better neighbourhoods were associated with improved

insulin sensitivity and decreased risk of type 2 diabetes (Auchincloss et al., 2009). Neighbourhoods have also been associated with increased smoking, physical inactivity and poorer control of blood pressure, which can contribute to development of diabetes and its complications (Gary et al., 2008). For instance, Mexican American women had the highest prevalence of no leisure-time physical activity compared to Black and White women (Winkleby et al., 1998). American Indian an Alaska Natives (AIANs) (Denny et al., 2005) and Blacks (Appel et al., 2002) also had higher prevalence of no leisure-time physical activity compared to Whites. Management of chronic diseases can also be more difficult in low socioeconomic areas (Brown et al., 2007). A study conducted in the GCC countries revealed that only 40% of men and 27% of women reported that they were physically active for at least 150 min per week (Mabry et al., 2010).

Smoking also vary between ethnic groups, non-Hispanic Black (NHB) and non-Hispanic White (NHW) have been reported to have similar smoking rates whereas Native Americans and Alaska Natives have higher smoking rates compared to NHB and NHW. Mexican Americans have the lowest smoking rates (Kurian and Cardarelli, 2007). In the Asian population there is great variability in the rates of smoking with the highest rates among Korean men and the lowest among the Asian Indian men (Venkat Narayan et al., 2010). Higher smoking rates among Native Americans may explain the higher prevalence of diabetes and peripheral arterial disease in this population. The rates of cigarette smoking in the GCC ranged from 13.4% to 37.4% in males and from 0.5% to 20.7% in females. Furthermore, the prevalence of smoking fluctuated from age group to age group. It was more common in males at younger ages (18-25 years); however some studies reported a high prevalence in the older age group (40-59 years). In females, the highest rates of smoking were in the older age group (40-49 years) (Bassiony, 2009, Hajat et al., 2012, Memon et al., 2000, Hamadeh and Musaiger, 2000).

1.6.5 Middle East and North Africa

The most frequent comparisons of ethnic groups have been between Caucasian vs. Asian and Caucasian vs. African American. This is because most of the studies were carried out in the UK and US where these are the dominant ethnic groups. Other countries are now undertaking similar investigations therefore other populations are increasingly subject to study.

For example, in the last 10 years, there have been reports of high prevalence of haemoglobin disorders, neurogenetic disorders, birth defects and inherited metabolic diseases in Middle Eastern and North African populations (Teebi, 2010, Al-Gazali et al., 2006, Christianson et al., 2006). For example, as mentioned in previous sections there has been an increase in the prevalence of non-communicable diseases such as, heart disease by around 44%, stroke 35%, and diabetes 87% (International Diabetes Federation, 2014, WHO, 2014a).

The populations of The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) belong to a unique genetic pool because of the high historical rates of horizontal mixing between ethnicities, the high rate of consanguineous marriages within subpopulations, and the broad geography of the states making up the region. Nevertheless, wide prospective population studies on the effects of polymorphisms on such disorders of metabolism in the MENA are still lacking (Farhud and Yeganeh, 2010). It will be helpful to understand the metabolic response for this population. Therefore, it is timely to investigate the impact of ethnicity on the postprandial metabolism on lipoproteins, glucose and insulin.

Therefore, the aim of the third experimental chapter (Chapter 5) is to illustrate the differences in lipid metabolism, glucose and insulin after ingesting a combined meal, between European and Middle Eastern men.

1.7 Aim of the thesis

The aims of this thesis are:

1) Determine the effect of moderate exercise on the affinity of triglyceride rich lipoproteins to lipoprotein lipase

2) Examine the effect of the co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate on lipoprotein metabolism.

3) Compare the postprandial response of middle-aged European men and Middle Eastern men.

2 General methods

2.1 Subject Recruitment and Screening

Subjects were recruited from the population in the Glasgow area via local advertising. All subjects were required to attend a screening visit at the university prior to participation to ensure they met with the inclusion criteria of each study. They were provided with an information sheet describing the aim of the study, the experimental procedures involved and any potential risk or discomfort associated with these procedures. Written, informed consent was recorded for each subject (Appendix A1 for the study in Chapter 4 and A2 for study in Chapter 5). Questionnaires detailing the subject's past and present health status and family history of disease were completed (Appendix B). Resting blood pressure was measured at screening using an automated sphygmomanometer (Omron Healthcare, Inc., Illinois, USA) and fasting finger-prick blood samples were taken to determine glucose using Accu-Chek Aviva Blood Glucose[®] instrument and Accu-Chek Aviva[®] Test reagent strips. Once the analysis finished, each participants received a feedback sheet (appendix D).

Exclusion criteria common to all studies were:

- A history of known CVD (*e.g* myocardial infarction, stroke, coronary artery bypass graft surgery), acute illness, or active, chronic systemic disease.
- Anaemia (Hb<12g.dl⁻¹).
- Diabetes (fasting blood glucose $\geq 7 \text{ mmol.l}^{-1}$).
- Abnormal renal, liver or thyroid function tests.
- Participation in a recent research study within last three months.

2.1.1 Anthropometric Measurements

Standing Height

Stretch stature method was used to measure the height using a stadiometer (Seca, Hamburg, Germany). Stature is the maximum distance from the floor to the highest point of the skull when the head is held in the Frankfort plane position (Ross and Marfell-Jones, 1991).

Height was recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm.

Body Mass

Subjects were asked to wear light and minimal clothing and to remove their shoes. Weight was measured using a balanced beam scale to the nearest 0.01 kg. BMI was then calculated as body mass in kilograms divided by the square of height in metres.

Waist and hip circumference Measurement

Waist and hip circumference were measured using a flexible, steel tape measure (Supralip®160, West Germany) in direct contact with the skin. Waist circumference was taken with subjects standing with feet shoulder-width apart and arms on the side and landmarked as the narrowest part of the torso, mid-way between the inferior margin of lowest rib and the iliac crest with the abdominal muscles relaxed. Hip circumference was taken with the subjects standing with feet together and arms at the side and landmarked as the maximum circumference over the trochanters (buttocks) (Lean et al., 1995). The tape was placed horizontally directly on the skin with respect to both landmarks. All measurements were taken at the end of a normal expiration, with repeat measurements. Two measurements were made and the average was taken. If the measurements differed by more than 0.5 cm, a third measurement was made.
2.1.2 Skinfold Measurement

A skinfold thickness is defined as the measure of the double thickness of the epidermis, underlying fascia and subcutaneous adipose tissue on different standard anatomical sites around the body. The following four sites were used according to Durnin and Womersley (1974) who validated the sum of four skinfold thickness against densitometry and devised sex- and age-dependent population-based linear regression equations to estimate total body density (Durnin and Womersley, 1974):

1) Biceps: vertical skinfold raised on the anterior aspect of the biceps;

2) Triceps: vertical skinfold raised on the posterior aspect of the triceps, mid-way between the olecranon process and the acromion process (shoulder) when the hand is supinated;

3) Subscapular: oblique skinfold raised 1 cm below the under most tip of the inferior angle of the scapula at approximately 45° to the horizontal plane following the natural cleavage lines of the skin;

4) Suprailiac: diagonal fold raised immediately superior the crest of the ilium on a vertical line from the mid-axillary line.

Skinfold sites were landmarked on the body prior to measurement so that repeat measures could be taken at the same place. The skin at each respective site was pinched up firmly between thumb and forefinger to raise a double layer of skin and the underlying adipose tissue, excluding the muscle tissue. The calipers were then applied to the fold with 1 cm between the edge of fingers and the nearest edge of the calliper and a reading in millimetres (mm) was recorded. All skinfold measures were taken on the right side of the body with skinfold calliper (Holtain Ltd., Crymych, UK). Measurements were recorded in duplicate for each site, not taken consecutively but by running through all sites once and back again as to allow the skin to regroup between measurements. If the readings for each site were more than 5% apart, a third measurement would then be taken, and the two closest measurements were

taken for calculation. The sum of the four skinfolds ($\Sigma 4SF$ = biceps + triceps + subscapular + suprailliac) was calculated. Relative fat mass was derived from the formula of Durnin and Womersley (1974) of linear regression equations for the estimation of body density x 103 (kg.m⁻³) (Durnin and Womersley, 1974) in combination with Siri's equation for estimating body fat percentage (Siri, 1961):

Body density (BD) $(g.cm^3) = c - [m \times (\Sigma 4 \text{ SF } (mm))]$

Where:

C and M = standard age and sex-specific coefficients (Table2.1).

Table 2.1; s	tandard age and	sex-specific	coefficients	(Durnin and	Womersley,	1974).
· ,				`		

	Age (yrs)	17-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50 +
Mala	С	1.1620	1.1631	1.1422	1.1620	1.1715
Male	m	0.0630	0.0632	0.0544	0.0700	0.0779
Fomalo	с	1.1549	1.1599	1.1423	1.1333	1.1339
Female	m	0.0678	0.0717	0.0632	0.0612	0.0645

 Σ 4SF = sum of all four-site skinfolds (mm)

Once the density was calculated, the Siri equation was used to estimate body fat

Percentage:

Body fat percentage (%) = $[(4.95/d) - 4.5] \times 100$

Where:

d= density, 4.95 and 4.5 = constants.

2.2 Expired air measurements

Oxygen uptake (VO₂) and carbon dioxide (CO₂) production was determined at rest, before and during exercise. Samples of expired air were collected into 100 or 150 L Douglas bags. While wearing a nose clip, subjects breathed through a mouthpiece fitted to a lightweight, large 2-way respiratory valve (2700 series, Hans Rudolph Inc. USA), which in turn was connected to a lightweight tube. The tubing was terminated at a two-way valve which opened and closed the Douglas bag. (All equipment was supplied by Cranlea & Co. Birmingham, England).

An aliquot of expired air (measured using a flow meter) was removed from each Douglas bag to determine the fraction of O_2 and CO_2 using a gas analyser (Servomex 4100, Servomex Group Ltd., East Sussex, England). The analyser was calibrated before each use with certified reference gases (BOC Ltd, Surrey, UK) and the reference gases were calibrated against a 'gold standard' reference gas to ensure consistency of results.

The remaining volume of expired air in each Douglas bag was measured by evacuation through a dry gas meter (Harvard apparatus, supplied by Cranlea & Co. Birmingham, England). The temperature of air in the Douglas bag was measured during evacuation using the same dry gas meter.

Barometric pressure was measured using a barometer and the measured expired gas volumes were corrected to standard temperature and pressure (STPD) for a dry gas using the universal gas equation. Inspired gas volumes were derived using the Haldane transformation (Consolazio et al., 1963) and O_2 uptake, CO_2 production, minute ventilation, respiratory exchange ratio and the ventilatory equivalent for oxygen were calculated. Rates of substrate utilization were calculated via indirect calorimetry using the equations described by Frayn (Frayn, 1983) and energy expenditure was determined by multiplying the mass of substrates used by their respective energy densities.

2.3 Monitoring of Heart Rate

The subject's heart rate was monitored continuously during exercise and the recovery period by short range telemetry (Polar S610i, Polar Electro, Finland).

2.4 Submaximal Exercise Test

Submaximal exercise test was performed to predict maximum oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}) for each subject prior to commencing main trials. The test was designed to exercise subjects through a range of intensities from moderate to vigorous but not maximum. The test consisted of four, continuous 5-min stages of walking on a treadmill to determine the relationship between gradient and oxygen consumption at self-selected walking speed of about 5 - 6 km.h⁻¹ (see Figure 2.1). The first stage of the test was performed on a level treadmill and gradient was increased by 2.5-3.0% at the end of every stage depending on subject's heart rate response in the previous stage: if heart rate exceeded 100 beats per minute in the first stage, a 2.5% increment was used for subsequent stages. Each stage lasted five minutes with expired air being collected into Douglas bags during the last two minutes for the determination of VO₂ and VCO₂ by using the Douglas bag method. Five-minute stages were performed to ensure subjects were in steady state during expired air collection periods. Heart rate was recorded continuously during the test and the Borg scale was used to assess subject's perceived exertion simultaneously with the expired air collections at the end of every stage. The test was terminated if subject's heart rate reached 85% of his predicted maximum heart rate. At the end of the test, the oxygen uptake at each stage was plotted against the heart rate and gradient to estimate the gradient and speed necessary to elicit an intensity corresponding to 50% VO_{2max} during the main trials.



Figure 2.1. A schematic diagram of a 4-stage submaximal incremental test (black boxes represent expired air collection and heart rate measurements).

2.5 Test meals

Subjects were provided test meals as described in each of the three experimental chapters on completion of all fasting measurements. These were consumed within 10 minutes. The compositions of the meals were as follows:

2.5.1 Fat Loading Test (FLT)using high fat mixed meal (HFM)

The composition of the meal provided in **Chapter 4** and to a subset of participants in **Chapter 6** is shown in **Table 2.2**. The meal provided 1278 kcal of energy, of which 27% was carbohydrate, 65% was fat and the remaining 8% as protein. The ComplanTM formula was mixed thoroughly with whole milk and double cream to form a milkshake type drink. The croissant was lightly toasted, and spread with LurpackTM spreadable butter.

Table 2.2; Composition of the high fat mixed meal.

					٦	Fotal carbohydra	te
	Portion Size	Energy (Kcal)	Protein (g)	Total fat (g)	Starch (g)	Sugar (g)	Total CHO (g)
Croissant (g)	100	430.0	9.2	25.3	34.8	5.8	40.6
Lurpack spreadable butter (g)	20	144.8	0.1	16.0	0.0	0.1	0.1
Complan (powder in g)	57	250.2	8.7	8.4	8.3	26.7	35.0
Whole milk (mls)	180	118.8	5.8	7.0	0.0	8.6	8.6
Double cream (mls)	75	333.8	1.3	35.6	0.0	2.0	2.0
Total	-	1277.6	25.1	92.4	43.1	43.2	86.3

-

2.5.2 Oral glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)

This was provided to subjects in **chapter 5**. The drink prepared by dissolving 75 g of glucose in 275 ml of water and adding 25 ml of concentrated lemon juice. This provided 75 g of carbohydrate 0 g fat, 0 g protein and 300 kcal energy.

2.5.3 Oral fat Tolerance Test (OFTT)

This was provided to subjects in **Chapter 5**. This comprised 150 ml double cream, with 0.5 ml of sugar-free raspberry flavouring. This provided 2.4 g of carbohydrate 75 g fat, 2.3 g protein and 700 kcal energy (see **Table 2.3**).

Tesco [™] double cream portions								
Portion Size (ml)	150							
Energy (Kcal)	700							
Protein (g)	2.3							
Carbohydrate (g)	2.4							
Fat (g)	75							

Table 2.3; Composition of the OFTT.

2.5.4 Combined test (COMB)

This comprised the OGTT drink and the OFTT drinks described above and provided 77.4 g of carbohydrate 75 g fat, 2.3 g protein and 1000 kcal energy. This was provided to subjects in **Chapter 5** and a subset of participants in **Chapter 6**.

2.6 Blood sampling and processing

Venous blood was obtained via a cannula (Biovalve, 18G/1.2 mm, Vygon, France) placed in an antecubital vein. The cannula was kept patent by flushing with saline

solution (0.9% NaCl). Blood samples were collected directly in 10 ml tubes containing EDTA as an anticoagulant (Chapter 4) (BD Vacutainer Systems, Plymouth, UK) or in 6 ml SST[™] serum tubes (Chapters 5 and 6) (BD Vacutainer Systems, Plymouth, UK). When EDTA tubes were used, they were placed immediately in ice, the cold temperatures $(4^{\circ}C)$ inhibit glycolysis. The samples were centrifuged (GS-6KR, Beckman Instruments, Inc, California, US) within 15-30 min of collection for 15 minutes at 3000 rpm and 4°C (WHO, 2006, Gambino et al., 2009). When serum tubes were used, samples were left in room temperature for 60 minutes and then centrifuged (GS-6KR, Beckman Instruments, Inc, California, US) for 15 minutes at 3000 rpm and 4°C. EDTA plasma was pipetted into aliquots of 500 µl in 0.5 ml Apex tubes (0.5 ml, Alpha Laboratory Ltd, UK) and 2 x 350 µl in Apex tubes and frozen immediately at -70 °C, for subsequent analysis of insulin. Another 350 µl was placed in the fridge at 4 °C, for NEFA, glucose and lipid profile analysis within 24 hours. The remaining EDTA plasma (Chapter 4) or serum plasma (Chapters 5 and 6) was used for lipoprotein separation. This was started on the same day of blood collection.

Justification of using EDTA tube to measure glucose

The commonly used glycolysis inhibitors are unable to prevent short-term glycolysis. Glycolysis can be attenuated by inhibiting enolase with sodium fluoride (2.5 mg/mL of blood) or, less commonly, lithium iodoacetate (0.5 mg/mL of blood). These reagents can be used alone or, more commonly, with such anticoagulants as potassium oxalate, EDTA, citrate, or lithium heparin. Unfortunately, although fluoride helps to maintain long-term glucose stability, the rates of decline in the glucose concentration in the first hour after sample collection are virtually identical for tubes with and without fluoride, and glycolysis continues for up to 4 h in samples containing fluoride (Chan et al., 1989). After 4 h, the concentration of glucose in whole blood in the presence of fluoride remains stable for 72 h at room temperature (Chan et al., 1989) (leukocytosis will increase glycolysis even in the presence of fluoride if the leukocyte count is very high).

Few effective and practical methods are available for prompt stabilization of glucose in whole-blood samples. Loss of glucose can be minimized in two classic ways: 1) immediate separation of plasma from blood cells after blood collection [the glucose concentration is stable for 8 h at 25°C and 72 h at 4°C in separated, nonhemolyzed, sterile serum without fluoride (Burtis et al., 2012); and 2) placing the blood tube in an ice-water slurry immediately after blood collection and separating the plasma from the cells within 30 min (WHO, 2006, Gambino et al., 2009).

2.6.1 Plasma Analysis

Plasma glucose, insulin, TG, NEFA, total and HDL cholesterol and small dense LDL (**Chapter 4, 5** and **6**) and 3-hydroxybutyrate (**Chapter 4**) concentrations were analysed in the fasted state. In postprandial state TG, NEFA, glucose, insulin, sdLDL (**Chapter 4, 5** and **6**) and 3-hydroxybutyrate (**Chapter 4**) concentrations were analysed at all-time points. LDL cholesterol was calculated in the fasted state using the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972),(**Appendix C**). All tests listed above were carried out by **Mrs. Josephine Cooney**, in the Vascular Biochemistry Department of McGregor building, University of Glasgow (**Appendix C**).

2.6.2 Lipoprotein separation

Principle

Flotation of lipoprotein particles through a gradient formed by layering solutions of decreasing density (generated using specific concentrations of NaCl, NaBr or KBr) above a sample of plasma adjusted to high density. (Lindgren et al., 1972).

Sequential preparation of chylomicrons ($S_f > 400$) by Ultracentrifugation

To separate the chylomicron fraction ($S_f > 400$), two ml of plasma were overlayered with 4 ml of 1.006 g.ml⁻¹ density solution in Ultra-Clear centrifuge tubes and spun at 10K rpm and 15°C for 30 min (Lindgren et al., 1972) using the Beckman L8-60M

Ultracentrifuge and Beckman 50.4 rotor (Beckman Instruments Inc., UK). The top 2 ml containing chylomicron particles (d <1.006 g.ml⁻¹) were removed (termed CM-1) and TG concentrations were measured using commercially available kits as described in **Appendix C.** This top fraction was used in the experiment mentioned in **chapter 3.** TG concentrations were also measured in the middle 1.5 ml fraction (CM-2) to verify complete collection of the CM fraction. The final chylomicron-TG concentration was calculated as the addition of these two fractions [CM-1 + (CM-2 × 1.5/2)] (**chapter 4** and **chapter 5**). The final 0.5 ml of the density solution overlay was discarded and the remaining 2 ml of chylomicron-free plasma was used for separation of VLDL₁ and VLDL₂. The CV for the chylomicron-TG separation using triplicate samples from the same participant was 4.9%.

Isolation of VLDL₁ (S_f 60-400), VLDL₂ (S_f 20-60), IDL (S_f 12-20) and LDL (S_f 0-12) Fraction by Swing-Out Ultracentrifugation

Two ml of the chylomicron-free plasma from the previous step was adjusted a density of d 1.118 g.ml⁻¹ by the addition of 0.341 g NaCl. This was gently layered over a cushion of 0.5 ml d 1.182 g.ml⁻¹ solution in an Ultra-Clear Beckman SW 50 ultracentrifugation tube (Beckman Instruments Inc., UK) which had been coated with polyvinyl alcohol (Holmquist, 1982); this allowed the solutions to be introduced down the side of the tubes smoothly without disturbing the formation of the gradient. A discontinuous gradient was formed by over-layering sequentially d 1.0988 g.ml⁻¹ (1 ml), d 1.0860 g.ml⁻¹ (1 ml), d 1.0790 g.ml⁻¹ (2 ml), d 1.0722 g.ml⁻¹ (2 ml), d 1.0641 g.ml⁻¹ (2 ml) and finally d 1.0588 g.ml⁻¹ (2 ml) (see **Table 2.4** below).

		Volume in r	nl
	Density g.ml ⁻¹		
-	1.182	0.5	bottom
Plasma	1.118	2	
1	1.0988	1	
2	1.0860	1	
3	1.0790	2	
4	1.0722	2	
5	1.0641	2	
6	1.0588	2	top

Centrifugation was carried out using a Beckman SW 40 rotor (Beckman Instruments Inc., UK) in Beckman L8-60M ultracentrifuge for 1.38 h at 39K rpm and 23 °C for separation of the VLDL₁ fraction. The rotor was decelerated without braking and by using a finely drawn glass Pasteur pipette the VLDL₁ fraction was removed in the top 1 ml. This volume was replaced by 1 ml of d 1.0588 g.ml⁻¹ and tubes were recapped and place back in the centrifuge overnight for separation of VLDL₂, for practical reasons, the times and speeds were calculated using g X minutes by applying a formula for conversion. The relationship between RPM and RCF is as follows:

RCF= 1.118 X R X (RPM X 1000)²

Where RPM is rotational speed (revolution per minute), RCF is relative centrifugal force, r is the radius of rotation measured in millimetres. R is constant here. Different speeds used for VLDL2 separation are shown in **Table 2.5**.

At the end of the run, 0.5 ml of $VLDL_2$ fraction was removed using a finely drawn glass Pasteur pipette.

Tubes were recapped and place back in the centrifuge for 2.35 h at 39K for separation of IDL. IDL was removed from the top of the tube as a 0.5 ml aliquot was withdrawn into Apex tubes and placed in the fridge for composition analysis. The tubes were recapped and placed into the rotor again and centrifuged overnight for separation of LDL, different speed and time could be applied (See **Table 2.5**). All lipoprotein subfractions have been stored in fridge at 4 °C to be analysed next day for composition.

Lipoprotein composition analysis

Lipoprotein fraction TG, phospholipid (PL), total cholesterol, free cholesterol (FC), cholesteryl ester (CE), (**Chapter 4** and **5**) were analysed by **Mrs. Josephine Cooney**, in the Vascular Biochemistry Department of McGregor building, University of Glasgow (**Appendix C**).

chylomicron		VLDL ₁		VLDL	VLDL ₂		IDL		LDL	
Time (h)	RPM	Time (h)	RPM	Time (h)	RPM	Time (h)	RPM	Time (h)	RPM	
00.30	10K	1.31	39K	14.41	18.5K	2.35	39K	21.10	30K	
				12.03	21.1K	3.12	35K	17.30	33K	
Alternative conditions	onditions			17.31	17.5K	3.24	34K	16.29	34K	
				18.08	17.2K	3.50	32K	18.36	32К	
				14.52	19K			18.02	32.5K	

2.6.3 Insulin Analysis

Principle

Mercodia Insulin ELISA is a solid phase two-site enzyme immunoassay. It is based on the direct sandwich technique in which two monoclonal antibodies are directed against separate antigenic determinants on the insulin molecule. During incubation insulin in the sample reacts with peroxidase-conjugated anti-insulin antibodies and anti-insulin antibodies bound to wells on microtitration plates. A washing step removes unbound enzyme labelled antibody. The bound conjugate is detected by reaction with 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB). The reaction is stopped by adding acid to give a colorimetric endpoint that is read spectrophotometrically (Lequin, 2005).

Procedure

Plasma samples (25 μ l) were pipetted into the assay wells. 100 μ l of freshly prepared enzyme conjugate solution was then added to each well. Plates were incubated on a plate shaker for 1 hour at room temperature. During this incubation period, insulin in the samples reacted with peroxidase-conjugated anti-insulin antibodies and anti-insulin antibodies bound to plate wells. After incubation, the plates were washed and dried 5 times by an automatic washer to remove any unbound enzyme labelled antibody using the provided wash buffer solution. Bound conjugates which remained in the wells were detected by adding 200 µl of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB). The plates were then incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature to allow reaction between substrate TMB and bound conjugates. After incubation, 50 µl of the Stop solution containing 0.5 M sulphuric acid were added to each well to stop the reaction. A yellowish-tint colour developed according to the concentration of conjugate-substrate complex. The optical density of each well was read at 450 nm using a spectrophotometer. All samples were run in duplicate together with the standards ranging from 0 to 200 mU.l⁻¹. A standard curve was obtained using cubic spine regression. The concentration of insulin in the samples was then determined by comparing the optical density of the samples to that of the standard curve for each respective plate. All reagents and samples were brought to room temperature before use. Coefficients of variation between assays were <5%.

2.6.4 Insulin resistance estimated the homeostasis model

The homeostasis model assessment-estimated insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), developed by Matthews et al. (Matthews et al., 1985) has been widely used for the estimation of insulin resistance. Due to the simplicity of its determination and calculation, HOMA-IR has been the most frequently employed technique both in clinical practice and in epidemiological studies. HOMA-IR was calculated in **Chapter 6** using this formula (fasting plasma insulin in mU.l⁻¹ X fasting plasma glucose in mmol.l⁻¹)/22.5 (Wallace et al., 2004). Low HOMA-IR values indicate high insulin sensitivity, whereas high HOMA-IR values indicate low insulin sensitivity (insulin resistance)(Matthews et al., 1985).

2.7 Lowry assay

Principle

Protein is measured by the addition of Biuret Reagent and Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, which produces a colour change to blue. The colour intensity, which is proportional to the concentration of the protein present, is measured by optical density (OD) at 750 nm using a spectrophotometer. The protein concentration is calculated using a standard curve of known concentrations. The following method is a modification from the original. All volumes have been halved (Lowry et al., 1951).

Procedure

Total protein was measured by adding 1 ml of Biuret Reagent and Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, [100 ml of 2% Na₂CO₃ in 0.1 M NaOH (w/v), 1 ml of 2% NaK Tartrate (w/v), 1 ml of 1% CuSO4 (w/v), and 1 ml of 10% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)] to a total volume of 200 μ l of sample (100 μ l VLDL₁ + 100 μ l of distilled water or 50 μ l VLDL₂ + 150 μ l distilled water). One hundred microlitre of 1:1 Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd., Irvine, Scotland) was then added and mixed immediately. After incubation at room temperature for 30-60 min, the developed colour intensity was measured at an optical density of 750 nm using a Beckman DU 70 Spectrophotometer. The protein concentration was calculated using a

standard curve of known concentrations. Inter-assay precision was checked using 2 levels (100 μ l and 200 μ l) of human and bovine quality control (QC) materials (Lowry et al., 1951). The coefficients of variation (CVs) for the low QC were (human: 1.8%, bovine: 1.3%) and high QC were (human: 1.0%, bovine: 1.4%).

2.8 LPL assay

Principle

Triglycerides are hydrolysed by lipoproteinlipase to produce glycerol and free fatty acids. In order to apply this reaction a medium should be prepared to run the experiment.

Procedure

Tris-HCL buffer Preparation

Tris-HCl buffer was prepared by mixing; 24.22 g.l⁻¹ Tris-HCl (200 mmol.l⁻¹) (Sigma-Co NO. T3253), 366.24 mg.l⁻¹ of CaCl₂ (3.3 mmol.l⁻¹) (Sigma-Co NO. C4901), 7597.59 mg.l⁻¹ of NaCl (130 mmol.l⁻¹) (VWR C-S9888) and 66.7 mg.l⁻¹ of sodium-heparin (0.010 mmol.l⁻¹) (Sigma-Co NO. H3393) to stabilized LPL and this inhibit the release of the attached LPL from VLDL, in a pH level of 8.2. To reach the required pH level HCl, or NaOH were used (Zambon et al., 1996, Saheki et al., 1991). Different concentrations of LPL were prepared by diluting the stock solution in Tris-HCl buffer.

2.9 Statistical analysis

2.9.1 Power calculations

An *a priori* power calculation, on the basis of our data for intra-subject reproducibility of postprandial TG responses in men (between-day coefficient of variation 10.1%) indicated that 10 participants would enable detection exercise-induced changes of ~10 % in the TG response with 80 % power (Gill et al., 2005). Significance was accepted at the p < 0.05 level. Data are presented as means \pm SEM unless otherwise stated.

2.9.2 Calculation of summary postprandial responses

Time-averaged postprandial concentrations, calculated as the trapezium rulederived areas under concentration versus time curve, divided by the duration of the postprandial observation period, were used as summary measures of the postprandial responses.

2.9.3 Normality of data

The normality tests are supplementary to the graphical assessment of normality (Elliott and Woodward, 2007). There are many tests to assist normality (Elhan and Tuccar, 2006, Peat and Barton, 2008). In **chapter 4,5** and **6** normality of data was tested using Anderson-Darling test (Elhan and Tuccar, 2006).

If a variable did not fit a normal distribution or had greatly different standard deviations in different groups, data transformation was applied (Tu and Xia, 2008, Chou et al., 1998). Where data did not approximate a normal distribution, these were log-transformed prior to analysis and data are expressed as geometric means with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

2.9.4 Significant testing

Data was analysed using Statistica (version 10, StatSoft Inc.) and Minitab (version 17, Minitab Ltd).

Comparisons between interventions were made using paired *t*-tests, where a single pair of means was compared. The validity the test based on normality of the data, the sample is a simple random sample from its population and data is continuous of the data.

When comparisons were made between groups or across multiple time-points as in **Chapter 4** or in different trials as in **chapter 5** and **6** a two-way repeated measures ANOVA, with *post hoc* Fisher tests, were used. The validity of the test based on, homogeneity of variance, independency of the sample and normality of the data.

2.9.5 Cohen's *d*, effect size

In comparing different intervals, it is useful to express the size of the effect in standardized way. One common way is to report Cohen's d effect size, which is relating the effect size to the variance. Statistical significance depends on the sample size and the precision of the data. When a large set of data analysed, very small effects may reach statistical significance. Therefore, it is useful to determine effect size to describe, if effects have a relevant magnitude and to describe the strength of a phenomenon. The most popular effect size measure is Cohen's d (Cohen, 2013). Effect size is a standard measure that can be calculated from any number of statistical outputs (Cohen, 2013).

Cohen's 'd', expresses the mean difference between two groups in standard deviation units. Typically, this is reported as Cohen's d, or simply referred to as "d." Though the values calculated for effect size are generally low, they share the same range as standard deviation (-3.0 to 3.0), so can be quite large. Interpretation depends on the research question. The meaning of effect size varies by context, but the standard interpretation offered by Cohen (1988) is:

- 0.8 = large (8/10 of a standard deviation unit)
- 0.5 = moderate (1/2 of a standard deviation)
- 0.2 = small (1/5 of a standard deviation)

Reporting effect size helps to: understand the importance of an effect (Kirk, 1996), comparing the effect size within or between studies, and secondary analysis such as power calculations or meta-analysis (Reiser and Faraggi, 1999).

The effect size of the interventions was calculated in **Chapter 4 and 5**. The effect size was calculated differently in **chapter 6**. The mean difference was calculated for each individual then divided by the SD of both groups (Cohen, 2013).

3 Development of a Method to Determine the Susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for Hydrolysis

Lipoprotein lipase is the major enzyme which hydrolyses triglycerides (TG) present in the circulation to release free fatty acids (FFA). It is the rate-limiting enzyme controlling plasma TG clearance. Hydrolysis of TG is essential for energy storage and utilization (Goldberg and Merkel, 2001, Wang and Eckel, 2009). Elevated postprandial TG concentrations are independently associated with risk of cardiovascular events and atherosclerotic disease process (Chapman et al., 2011, Goldberg IJ, 2011, Bansal et al., 2007). Considerable attention over the last decades has been focused on the effect of exercise on postprandial metabolism and its potential role in the reduction of fasted and postprandial TG. Exercise is considered an effective method to lower postprandial TG concentrations by about 20-25% (Farah and Gill, 2012, Gill et al., 2004a). The mechanism(s) by which exercise induces triglyceride lowering is currently not clear. It has been hypothesised that exercise may cause compositional changes to the VLDL₁ particles, which are the major determinants of plasma TG concentrations (Austin, 1990, Patsch et al., 1992, Deckelbaum et al., 1984), thereby increasing their clearance by LPL (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). Therefore, in order to test this hypothesis, it was essential to develop a method to test the susceptibility of chylomicron and VLDL₁ to TG hydrolysis in standardised assay (described in Chapter 4 as "affinity of TRL for LPL"). In this chapter, the development and optimisation of this assay, based a method previously described by (van Barlingen et al., 1996).

3.1 Elements of standardised lipolysis assay

The ultimate aim of this study is to develop a method to determine how exercise influences the susceptibility of TRL to lipolysis. This requires development of a standardised assay to determine the rate of TG hydrolysis when the concentrations of substrate TRL and enzyme are fixed.

To generate an appropriate working method, a number of factors need to be considered (see Figure 3.1). These include:

1) Determining of optimal indicator of lipolysis (i.e., TG decrease or NEFA / glycerol rise).

- 2) Standardizing the concentration of lipoprotein particles.
- 3) Determining optimal concentration of LPL.
- 4) Determining the optimal assay conditions including:
- a) Duration of the assay.
- b) Optimizing the inhibitor of the reaction.
- c) Albumin interference.



Figure 3.1. Conditions that been addressed in lipolysis assay include, standardizing TRL, LPL concentration and optimal assay conditions.

3.1.1 Choice of indicator of rate of lipolysis

The principle based on the hydrolysis of TG by the action of LPL producing three NEFA and glycerol (Fahy et al., 2009):



There is no gold standard or universal method for LPL measurement. To measure LPL activity in a closed system, any of the following products can be assessed in principle:

(a) the rate of degradation of the TG

(b) the rate of production of fatty acids or glycerol (Smeltzer et al., 1992) (See Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. The products of TRL hydrolysis, panel [A] shows the rise in NEFA, panel [B] shows the degradation of TG; both can be used as a parameter of the reaction. NEFA concentration will rise as triple as TG will fall. The higher TG will breakdown the higher NEFA will be released. The rate of the reaction will increase when a higher activity enzyme is used.

Thus, by incubating TRL with LPL for over a range of time intervals, it is possible to calculate the rate of LPL activity.

The assay was initiated in a medium contains Tris-HCl with a pH of 8.2. The initial volume of the reaction was; 250 μ l lipoprotein incubated with 125 μ l of albumin and 125 μ l of Tris-HCl buffer at 37 °C for 10 min to climate the tube. A 125 μ l of LPL were added in each tube except the control, and incubated for different time points 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 60, and 90 mins. Each tube was quenched by 500 μ l of pre-cooled NaCl (1 Ml) (**Table 3.1**). Then assay the products of the reaction (TG, glycerol and NEFA) to assess TG hydrolysis rate.

	Time (min)										
All in µl	Control										
	0	0	0	5	10	15	20	30	60	90	
Tris-HCl	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	
1.006 g.ml ⁻¹	250	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
LPL	0-	250	0	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	
Albumin	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	
lipoprotein	0	0	250	250	250	250	250	250	250	250	
NaCl	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	
Total volume	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	

Table 3.1; initial assay mixture.

3.1.2 Triglyceride measurements

Method

Initially, two hydrolysis assays were carried out using constant concentration of VLDL₁ (0.10 mmol.l⁻¹) as substrate 100 units of LPL during 30 minutes interval. Followed by another assay, using higher doses of VLDL 0.25 mmol.l⁻¹ of and 400 units of LPL during 30 minutes interval.

Result

As shown in Figure 3.3, Panel [A] and [B], the rate of NEFA was increasing with time. Figure 3.3, Panel [B], shows that with increasing the TRL and LPL concentrations, more NEFA were released. However, TG concentration remained constant in both trials.



Figure 3.3. Release of NEFA and degradation of TG from VLDL¹ **during 30-minutes observation**, Panel [A] shows the release of NEFA and degradation of TG from (0.10 mmol.l⁻¹) of VLDL₁ and 100 units of LPL, Panel [B] shows release of NEFA and degradation of TG from (0.25 mmol.l⁻¹) VLDL₁ and 400 units of LPL.

3 Development of a Method to Determine the susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for hydrolysis

TG concentration was constant because the assay that was used to detect TG in ILab-600 based on hydrolysing TG into glycerol and this result in measuring all the glycerol in the mixture. The principle of the reaction is as the following:

Principle:

The principle for this reaction is based on lipase hydrolysis of TG to glycerol followed by oxidation to dihydroxyacetone phosphate and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide produced then reacts with 4-aminophenazone and 4-chlorophenol under the catalytic action of peroxidase to form a red dyestuff which was measured spectrophotometrically using the IL600 analyser at 550 nm. The equation is shown below:



(GK: Glycerol kinase; GPO: Glycerol phosphate oxidase; POD: Peroxidase; DHAP: dihydroxyacetote phosphate). The CV for the assay was 3.8%.

Moreover, it has been reported that a single action of LPL would not release glycerol, it would release monoglyceride and diglycerides (Gilham and Lehner, 2005). Therefore, glycerol was measured later on and the TG concentrations were corrected by subtracting glycerol.

3.1.3 Glycerol measurements

Method

Hydrolysis assay was carried out using different concentrations of VLDL₁ and constant amount of LPL. VLDL₁ at a concentration of 0.5 mmol.l⁻¹ was incubated with 0.1 unit of LPL.

Result

As shown in **Figure 3.4**, TG concentrations did not decrease during the 30 minutes interval; however, the glycerol and NEFA concentrations were not increasing as desired. Moreover, it has been observed that, glycerol measurement appeared not to be reproducible. Therefore, we measured the inter-assay CV of free glycerol kit used on the ILab-600.



Time (min) Figure 3.4. Release of NEFA and glycerol and degradation of TG from 0.5 mmol.l⁻¹ VLDL₁ and 0.1 units of LPL concentrations during 30-minutes observation.

3.1.4 I-Lab reproducibility

The glycerol measurement was fluctuating, thus we tested the reproducibility of ILab-600 by running 10 times repeated measure using aliquots of same participants. The Initial results from the measurement of glycerol concentrations using the automated ILab-600 analyser in whole plasma, chylomicrons, VLDL₁, and VLDL₂, revealed are shown in **Table 3.2**. It was clear that the CV for glycerol at the required concentrations was very high, an order of magnitude higher than that for TG or NEFA, but CVs for TG and NEFA were also higher than expected. This prompted servicing of the analyser, where a new lamp and pump were fitted, with a system wide clean of the analyser. Additionally, measurements for NEFA, TG, and glycerol were being taken simultaneously within each sample, however further examination found that the reagents for ensuring TG and glycerol were having a carryover of NEFA. Therefore, NEFA, glycerol, and TG were measured separately and in that order thereafter. However, based on these data, it was felt that the rise in NEFA concentration provided the best signal for LPL hydrolysis. Table 3.2; reducibility of glycerol measurements in ILab-600.

	Glycerol	CV%	TG	CV%	NEFA	CV%
Plasma	0.06 ± 0.01	1.6 %	1.42 ± 0.01	0.81%	0.39 ± 0.09	1.2%
1:5 diluted plasma	0.02 ± 0.001	75%	0.33 ± <0.01	1.2%	0.14 ± 0.07	5%
1:10 diluted Plasma	0.009 ± 0.008	85%	0.20 ± <0.01	5%	0.09 ± 0.02	10%
Chylomicrons	0.02 ± 0.004	17%	0.14 ± 0.01	3.5%	0.16 ± <0.01	16%

3.1.5 Albumin Interference

As it has been reported above, the NEFA values were at the lower borderline of ILab detection limit. This has been reported previously. A number of studies have shown that serum albumin caused a decrease in NEFA detection when using the same reaction (Duncombe, 1963, Duncombe, 1964, Matsubara et al., 1983). The albumin complexes with NEFA preventing it from binding to the active site of ACS, thus preventing it from joining with CoA to form Acyl-CoA, and hindering the detection reaction (Matsubara et al., 1983).

3 Development of a Method to Determine the susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for hydrolysis

The enzymatic reaction used to quantify the concentration of NEFA by the Waco kit is based on the Dole method (Dole, 1956), which involves the covalent binding of NEFA with Coenzyme A (CoA) to form Acyl-CoA. This reaction is catalysed by the enzyme Acyl-CoA synthetize (ACS).



ATP = adenosine triphosphate; ACS = acyl-CoA synthetase; AMP = adenosine monophosphate; PPi = pyrophosphate; ACOD = acyl-CoA oxidase; MEHA = 3¬methyl¬N¬ethyl¬N¬(B-hydroxyethyl)¬aniline; POD = peroxida

Therefore, we ran an assay using different concentrations of albumin to investigate previous assays 5% of albumin was added to each sample to sequester excess-background NEFA, which in high concentrations has been shown to inhibit LPL activity (Bengtsson and Olivecrona, 1980). Therefore, we opted to compare the concentration of NEFA detected in an assay without, and with 2%, and 5% albumin.

Result

Figure 3.5, Panel [A], shows that after a 30 minute of incubation of chylomicron with 0.1 unit of LPL and without albumin, there was 14% more NEFA released than with albumin. For VLDL₁ when incubated without albumin, there was an over 2-fold increase in detected NEFA concentration over its albumin containing counterpart (**Figure 3.5, panel [B]**). Without albumin, there was a steady increase in NEFA concentration over the 20 minute period, however, with albumin the NEFA concentration appeared to be levelling off after 10 minutes, but more data points are needed for both conditions to tell conclusively. Based on these data, albumin was removed from the LPL assay and the volume deficit has been replaced with Tris-HCl buffer. A final step of a sonication of each sample for 2 minutes before analysis to remove interference from bubbles was also included.



Figure 3.5. The effect of adding albumin to the hydrolysis assay during 30m interval. Panel [A] shows the release of NEFA from chylomicron when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [B], shows the degradation of TG in chylomicron when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [C], shows the release of NEFA from VLDL₁ when different albumin concentrations were added to the degradation of TG in Chylomicron when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture, panel [C], shows the release of NEFA from VLDL₁ when different albumin concentrations were added to the assay mixture.

3.1.6 Conclusion

The increase in NEFA concentration, rather than the degradation of TG and rise of glycerol as final products of the reaction was used an indicator of TRL hydrolysis. In addition, it was decided TG and NEFA were measured separately in the ILab-600 to avoid any interference might affect the readings. The removal of albumin helped in better detection of NEFA. These modifications allowed us to reach a CV% of <1% for NEFA at concentration of 0.18 mmol.l⁻¹ and 2.1% at concentration of 0.15 mmol.l⁻¹ for TG when measured in ILab-600.

3.2 Standardisation of TRL concentration

3.2.1 Aim

To accurately and precisely determine TRL susceptibility to TG hydrolysis it is necessary to ensure that TRL concentration in the assay is standardised. The aim here was to optimise a process to concentrate TRL particles to enable easy dilution to a single standardised concentration for all TRL (chylomicrons, VLDL₁ and VLDL₂) in all individuals under all conditions (fasted and postprandial, control and exercise). This would also enable the use of a concentration high enough to be read accurately and precisely by the ILab-600.

3.2.2 Method

Subjects were fasted for >12 h before a high fat meal was given (see Section 2.5.1). Fifty ml of fasting and postprandial (4 hours after meal ingestion) blood was collected from rested subjects in EDTA tubes and was placed immediately on ice. Plasma was separated within 15 minutes of collections as previously mentioned in Section 2.6.

Concentration of chylomicrons

Chylomicron particles were separated from postprandial plasma samples a described in **section 2.6.2.** Chylomicrons were then concentrated in this sample using washed 10000 MWCO Centrifugal Filter Units (Fisher scientific, UK). The Centrifugal Filter Units were washed with distilled water 4-5 times at 2400 rpm for 13-23 minutes to remove any traces of glycerol.

Each subfraction was then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 90 minutes until a constant volume was produced, giving a 2-10X concentrated sample. Concentrated chylomicron was stored at 4 °C (**Figure 3.6**).



Figure 3.6. Chylomicron were concentrated using filtered tubes at 3000 rpm at 4°C for 90 minutes.

VLDL particles

It was thought that $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ particles may not be stable once they were separated from plasma; therefore, we assessed the stability for both particles, by, measuring concentrations of TG in samples stored for 0, 24 and 48 hours. Both subfractions were stable for 48 h in the fridge at 4 °C.

After the removal of chylomicron particles as detailed in Section 2.6.2, plasma was adjusted to a density of 1.25 g.ml⁻¹ by the addition of 0.3517 g.ml⁻¹ potassium bromide (KBr; BDH: 101954F), 15 ml of 1.25 g.ml⁻¹ density solution (1.006 g.ml⁻¹ density Solution + 0.3517 g.ml⁻¹ of KBr) was overlaid on 10 ml 1.25 g.ml⁻¹ plasma in Ultra-Clear centrifuge tubes (Figure 3.7), which was then ultracentrifuged at 39 k rpm for 46 hours at 15°C using the Beckman L8-60M Ultracentrifuge and Ti 70 fixed angle rotor (Beckman Instruments Inc., 337922, UK). The samples were left for 5-10 minutes after centrifugation to settle, before the top 2 ml was aspirated and reserved for VLDL separation as it mentioned in section 2.6.2. This resulted in a 5-fold concentration of TRL. The ultracentrifugation process to separate VLDL leads to a further doubling of the VLDL₁ concentration (as 2 ml of the initial solution is collected in 0.5 ml). Thus this process leads to a 10-fold increase in concentration of VLDL₁ and 20-fold increase in concentration of VLDL₁.



Figure 3.7. 70 Ti rotor and tubes, used to concentrate VLDL particles.

3.2.3 Result

After concentration of TRL, typical concentrations achieved were 1.0 mmol.l⁻¹ for chylomicrons, 5.0 mmol.l⁻¹ for VLDL₁ and 3.0 mmol.l⁻¹ for VLDL₂. Thus, to ensure that a reproducible concentration of TRL could be achieved in all participants in all conditions (including following exercise, where concentrations could be reduced by up to 40%), it was decided to standardise TRL concentrations in the assay at 0.6 mmol.l⁻¹.
3.3 Optimising lipase amount

3.3.1 Aim

To determine suitable concentration of LPL to hydrolyse TRL to release NEFA. This includes testing the concentration of LPL and the volume of TRL in the assay. Further questions were addressed included whether the enzyme needed an activator and the incubation period. A previously described assay was used as the starting point (van Barlingen et al., 1996).

3.3.2 Methods

Serial assays wereconducted using different LPL concentrations from Burkholderia sp. The above separated VLDL₁ particles were incubated with LPL in Tris-HCl buffer and then quenched with different NaCl concentrations. A number of adjustments were applied to reach the optimal assay conditions as following;

LPL concentrations and reaction duration

A range of LPL concentrations were used (100, 200, 400 and 800 units) for a range of incubation periods with TRL up to 90 minutes.

As shown **in Figure 3.8** the release of NEFA increased by increasing LPL concentrations. Also, it observed that most of the reaction occurred in the first 5-10 minutes and saturation was generally seen within the first 10 minutes.



Figure 3.8. Values for NEFA release over 90-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₁ using different LPL concentrations; 100, 200, 400 and 800 units.

The reactions were fast and reached the saturation point quickly. In addition, concentrations of NEFA were low, which providing challenges for accurate and precise measurement using the iLab 600 analyser. This was not optimal; to measure the affinity of LPL after exercise a slower reaction was needed to be able to observe the change. Thus much lower concentrations of LPL were used in a second set of assays as described below. In addition, the volume of the reaction mixture was reduced by reducing the volume of buffer to increase final NEFA concentrations.

3.3.3 Final enzyme concentrations

In order to achieve a slower action of the reaction, a decision was made to reduce the concentrations of LPL substantially and to try LPL from different sources. Thus, experiments using 0.1 unit of LPL from Pseudomonas sp. and Burkholderia sp. were performed. In addition, the volume of the mixture was adjusted from 500 µlto 140 µl as seen in **Table 3.3**, to increase the final concentration of NEFA in the reaction mixture $VLDL_1$ was incubated with 0.1 units of LPL from both sources (**Figure 3.9**).

With 0.1 units of LPL from Pseudomonas sp. and a reaction mixture volume of 140 μ l, the rate of NEFA released over the incubation period was linear until 20 minutes with NEFA concentrations within a range which enabled accurate and precise detection by the ILab-600 analyser. In contrast NEFA release using LPL from Burkholderia sp. was negligible over the incubation period (**Figure 3.9**).



Figure 3.9. Release of NEFA over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₁ using 0.1 unit of LPL from different sources, Burkholderia sp. and Pseudomonas sp.

3.3.4 Conclusion

The combination of using 0.1 units of LPL from Pseudomonas sp. and reducing the final volume of the reaction mixture to 140 μ l led to an acceptable rate of NEFA release in the TG-hydrolysis assay. It was decided to use these conditions for the assay going forward.

3.4 Assay conditions

3.4.1 Stopping the reaction

There are many enzyme inhibitors had been used to inhibit LPL action in different studies. Use of L- paraxon has been reported (Saheki et al., 1991), however its high toxicity meant that it was not considered for use here. Tetrahydrolipstatin (THL) has been used as an inhibitor of mammalian lipases, including pancreatic lipase, LPL, and HL (Hadvary et al., 1991, Lookene et al., 1994, Zambon et al., 1996). However, the THL solution is not completely clear, small particles may remain floating, which make it impractical to be used in the current assay. In addition, ethanol:chloroform:heptane (1.00.90.7, v/v) was used in a study by Shirai and Jackson to inhibit LPL activity (Shirai and Jackson, 1982, Gómez-Coronado et al., 1993). Again, chloroform is poisonous liquid. Sodium chloride has also been used as an inhibitor of LPL previously (van Barlingen et al., 1996, Fielding and Fielding, 1976). In current study NaCl was used as the inhibitor, because it is practical and not poisonous. Based on the original paper by (van Barlingen et al., 1996) an initial concentration of NaCl of 2 M was chosen. To test whether this concentration was sufficient, a higher concentration of 5 M was also tested.

Results

Figure 3.10, Panel [A] shows NEFA concentrations when the reaction was quenched with 2 M and 5 M NaCl, with NEFA concentrations measured immediately after the assay was completed (i.e. at 30 minutes). **Figure 3.10**, Panel [B] shows the same data when NEFA concentrations were re-measured an hour later. There are two clear observations here. First, NEFA concentrations were higher at the

3 Development of a Method to Determine the susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for hydrolysis

early time-points of the reaction when quenched with 2 M NaCl than with 5 M NaCl, suggesting that 2 M NaCl was not sufficient to quench the reaction and TG-hydrolysis was continuing until the NEFA measurement. Secondly, when the NEFA was re-measured one hour later, concentrations were higher compared with immediate NEFA measurement when the reaction was quenched with 2M NaCl, but not 5 M NaCl, which reinforces the initial observation that 2 M NaCl was not sufficient to fully quench the reaction, and demonstrates that 5 M NaCl was sufficient. Thus, a decision was made to use 5 M NaCl to quench the reaction.



Figure 3.10. Stopping the reaction by using two concentrations of NaCl. Panle [A] shows the effect of adding 2 and 5 M of NaCl to stop the reaction, Panel [B] shows the repeated measurement for the same reaction after one hour.

3.5 Discussion

The purpose of the present study was to develop a method to measure lipolytic capacity of TRL, based on a previously published approach by (van Barlingen et al., 1996). Although, there are many methods to measure the lipolytic capacity for LPL, this assay is relatively easy to perform and meaningful in that it provides a good measure for the lipolytic rate in a given sample. There was some modification needed to reach to the optimal assay. Concentrating TRL helped to overcome any error from low concentrations measurements of NEFA. The modification of assay mixture and volume to avoid any dilutions related low concentrations. The LPL assay has been improved after the changes that had been made. The beginning was with ILab-600, but after exploring alternatives, and ILab-600 maintenance, automatic sample analysis using the ILab-600 presented the best option. Albumin removal enhanced the action of LPL to hydrolyse TG, with a more than 2 fold increase in detected NEFA, which is in line with a number of observations showing reduced NEFA recovery when albumin is present, using the same detection method (Duncombe, 1963, Duncombe, 1964, Matsubara et al., 1983). Moreover, the detection of TG concentration without albumin was better than with albumin, but these results were based on data from only one experiment. Repeats confirmed this observation. The final concentration of LPL was 0.1 units as it gives a linear increase of NEFA release during 30 minutes of interval. Before making all these modifications in the assay, a quality control was carried out thought out all the equipment that involved in the assay.

The final assay mixture ended up by using the following; 70 μ l lipoprotein (0.6 mmol.l⁻¹) incubated with 35 μ l of Tris-HCl buffer at 37 °C for 10 min to climate the tube. A 35 μ l of LPL were added in each tube except the control, and incubated

3 Development of a Method to Determine the susceptibility of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins for hydrolysis

for different time points 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 mins. Each tube was quenched by 35 µl of pre-cooled NaCl (5 Ml). NEFA was measured, in triplicate, at different time point using enzymatic colorimetric methods. The final reaction conditions are shown in **Table 3.3**. The protocol of the assay is illustrated in **Figure3.11**. One limitation of this assay is that bacterial, rather than human, LPL was used, thus the absolute rates of TRL TG-hydrolysis are likely to differ from values obtained if human LPL was used. However, the purpose of the assay was to compare relative differences between susceptibility of TRL species to TG-hydrolysis under different experimental conditions and as the same type of LPL will be used under all conditions, the outcomes should be largely independent of the LPL species used. In conclusion, by concentrating TRL, removing albumin from the assay and lowering the assay volume, the measurements of both TG and NEFA become consistent and enabled this assay to be used in the study described in experimental **Chapter 4**.

	Time (min)							
-		Control						
All in µl	0	0	0	5	10	15	20	30
Buffer	35	70	35	35	35	35	35	35
Albumin	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
LPL	0	35	0	35	35	35	35	35
lipoprotein	0	0	70	70	70	70	70	70
Density sol.	70	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total Vol.	140	140	140	140	140	140	140	140
NaCl	93	93	93	93	93	93	93	93

Table 3.3; Final assay mixture.



Figure 3.11. Schematic diagram of LPL assay protocol.

4 Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase

4.1 Introduction

Postprandial triglyceride concentrations are independently associated with risk of cardiovascular events (Bansal et al., 2007, Mora et al., 2008, Nordestgaard et al., 2007) and chylomicrons and their remnants are implicated in the atherosclerotic disease process (Goldberg IJ, 2011, Chapman et al., 2011). Recent Mendelian randomisation studies reasserted the likely causal role of TG-mediated pathways in CVD (Jørgensen et al., 2012, Consortium and Collaboration, 2010, Cohorts, 2014, Jørgensen et al., 2014). Moderate intensity exercise lowers postprandial TG concentrations by about 15-25% in a range of population groups at increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Farah and Gill, 2012, Gill et al., 2004a, Gill and Hardman, 2000) and is recommended as a TG-lowering intervention for patients at high CVD risk (Chapman et al., 2011). However, the mechanism(s) by which exercise lowers TG have not been fully elucidated. The exercise-induced reduction in postprandial TG concentration is quantitatively greater in VLDL than in chylomicrons (Gill et al., 2006, Gill et al., 2001b), with large VLDL particles (VLDL₁, S_f 60- 400) being the lipoprotein subclass most affected (Gill et al., 2006). Kinetic studies have shown that exerciseinduced VLDL-TG reductions are due to increased clearance from the circulation, rather than reduced hepatic production (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). While exercise has also been shown to increase clearance of chylomicron-like particles (Al-Shayji et al., 2012, Sady et al., 1986, Annuzzi et al., 1987), the magnitude of this change is smaller than the increase in clearance of $VLDL_1$ -TG (Al-Shayji et al., 2012), and the effect has not been consistently observed (Gill et al., 2001a). Furthermore, although exercise-induced reductions in postprandial TG concentrations are sometimes accompanied by an increase in post-heparin plasma or skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity, post-exercise TG reductions are also commonly observed in the absence of increased LPL activity (Harrison et al., 2012, Herd et al., 2001). The affinity of chylomicrons/chylomicron-like particles for LPL clearance is many fold greater than that of VLDL particles (Bjorkegren et al., 1996); thus the observation

Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase that exercise increases $VLDL_1$ -TG clearance to a greater extent than chylomicron-like particles (Al-Shayji et al., 2012), taken together with the inconsistent changes to LPL activity in response to exercise (Malkova et al., 2000), suggest that mechanisms other than increased LPL activity are likely to contribute to the exercise-induced increase in VLDL₁-TG removal. There is evidence that circulating VLDL₁ particles are larger and more TG enriched following exercise (Al-Shayji et al., 2012, Gill et al., 2006) changes that might be expected to increase the susceptibility (affinity) of these particles for LPL-mediated hydrolysis (Fisher et al., 1995) and we have recently demonstrated that these exercise-induced changes to the size and TG enrichment of circulating $VLDL_1$ particles explain about half of the variance in the exercise-induced increase in VLDL₁ particle clearance in correlational analyses (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). This observation is consistent with exercise-induced changes to VLDL₁ particles increasing their affinity for LPL-mediated clearance (Magkos, 2009, Al-Shayji et al., 2012): this data interpretation would also explain how exercise could increase clearance of VLDL₁-TG without necessarily increasing LPL activity, and why the exercise-induced increase in VLDL₁-TG clearance is quantitatively larger than that observed in chylomicron-like particles. However, the hypothesis that exercise increases the affinity of VLDL₁ as a substrate for LPL has not been directly tested. The purpose of this study was therefore to determine the effects of exercise on the affinity of TG-rich lipoprotein species (chylomicrons, VLDL₁, and VLDL₂ (S_f 20-60)) for LPL- mediated TG hydrolysis.

4.2 Participants and Methods

4.2.1 Participants

Fifteen overweight/obese men were initially recruited to this study. Three were excluded at the outset for not being normoglycaemic. A further two withdrew without completing the experimental period for undisclosed personal reasons. Characterizations of the remaining 10 are listed in **Table 4.1**. All subjects were apparently healthy, normotensive, normoglycaemic and nonsmokers. None was taking any drugs known to affect lipid or carbohydrate metabolism. The study was

4 Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase conducted with the approval of University of Glasgow Ethics Committee, and subjects gave written informed consent prior to participation

Age (years)	36.44 ± 0.77
Weight (kg)	95.85 ± 24.39
Height (m)	1.76 ± 0.09
BMI (kg.m- ²)	30.46 ± 6.27
Waist (cm)	101.85 ± 15.40
Percentage fat (%)	26.66 ± 5.84
Sum of skinfolds* (mm)	56.27 ± 42.61
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	127.09 ± 17.03
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	81.27 ± 10.62

Table 4.1; Physical characteristics

N=10 Values are means ± SD

*triceps, biceps, subscapular and superiliac

4.2.2 Study design

Participants attended the laboratory for two oral fat loading test (FLTin a random order, with an interval of 7-14 days. On the day before one of the OFTTs, participants walked on a treadmill for 90-min at an intensity of 50% VO2max (Exercise trial). For the other FLT, subjects performed no exercise on the day preceding the oral fat tolerance test (Control trial). Subjects were asked to weigh and record their dietary intake and refrain from alcohol for the 2 days prior to the first FLT and replicated this prior to the second fat tolerance test. During the 3 days prior each FLT subjects were instructed to perform no exercise, other than the treadmill walk in the exercise trial (see Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1. Study Design. A day prior the OFTT participants performed either exercise for 90 minutes or rest. A base line blood sample was acquired, then a test meal was provided, further blood samples were obtained at 30, 60, 90, 120 and 240 minutes after meal consumption.



Exercise tests

One week prior the first FLT a preliminary sub-maximal incremental treadmill test was performed to estimate VO_{2max} (Armstrong, 2006) and determine the walking speed and gradient required to elicit 50% VO_{2max} as mentioned in section 2.4. In the exercise trial, the treadmill walk was performed on the afternoon preceding the oral fat tolerance test about 16-18 h before the FLT. During the walk, O_2 uptake and CO_2 production were measured as mentioned in section 2.2, heart rate was measured by short range telemetry (Polar Electroky, Kempele, Finland) as mention in section 2.3 and ratings of perceived exertion (Borg, 1973) were obtained at 15-minute intervals.

Fat loading test

Subjects reported to the lab in the morning after an overnight fast for \geq 12h. A cannula was placed in an antecubital vein and, after a 10-min interval, a fasted state blood sample was withdrawn. A high fat mixed meal (HFM) as mentioned above in **section 2.5.1** was provided. Further blood samples were obtained at 30, 60, 90, 120 and 240 minutes after meal consumption. Subjects rested and consumed only water during this time.

4.2.3 Lipoprotein separation

Plasma samples (2 ml) at 0, 2 and 4 h were centrifuged to isolate lipoprotein subfractions as previously described in **section 2.6.2** VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ fractions were assayed to determine concentrations and composition for TG, free cholesterol (FC) and phospholipids (PL), apoB, apoE and apoC as mention in **Appendix C.** Cholesteryl ester (CE) was determined by using the equation mentioned in **Appendix C.** Chylomicron fractions were assayed for TG concentration. In the VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ fractions, total protein was measured using a modified Lowry assay (see **section 2.7**).

At the 4 h time point, chylomicrons were separated from 30 ml plasma by centrifugation. The chylomicron fraction was then concentrated 8-10 fold by centrifugation as mentioned in **section 3.2**. The chylomicron-free plasma at the 4 h time-point, and 10 ml of plasma collected at 0 hours was then concentrated

~10-fold by centrifugation (see **section 3.2**) before lipoprotein separation to obtain concentrated VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ fractions. Chylomicron concentrations were adjusted to 0.6 mmol.l⁻¹ of triglyceride, and VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ concentrations were adjusted to 0.6 and 2.0 mmol.l⁻¹, by the addition of a d 1.006 g.ml⁻¹ density solution.

4.2.4 LPL affinity assay

Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined using a modified version a method described previously as mention in **Chapter 3**.

4.2.5 Plasma assays

Plasma glucose, TG, NEFA, and 3-hydroxybutyrate concentrations were analysed at all time points as previously mentioned in **Appendix C**. Total, HDL cholesterol concentrations were measured in the fasted state as mentioned in **Appendix C**. Small dense LDL was measured in the fasted state and 4 h postprandially as mention in **Appendix C**, LDL cholesterol was calculated in the fasted state using the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972). Insulin was measured in EDTA plasma as described in **section 2.6.4**.

4.2.6 Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica (version 10, StatSoft Inc.) and Minitab (version 17, Minitab Ltd). All data were tested for normality using the Anderson-Darling test. Where data did not approximate a normal distribution, these were log-transformed prior to analysis and data are expressed as geometric means with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI)(Bland and Altman, 1996a, Bland and Altman, 1996b). Time-averaged postprandial concentrations, calculated as the trapezium rule-derived areas under concentration versus time curve, divided by the duration of the postprandial observation period (240 minutes), were used as summary measures of the postprandial responses. Comparisons between trials were made using paired *t*-tests where a single pair of means was compared, or by two-way repeated measures ANOVA, with *post hoc* Fisher tests, when comparisons were made across multiple time-points. Differences in lipoprotein affinity for LPL were expressed in terms of absolute changes and in terms of relative (fold)

4 Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase

changes. Relationships between variables were assessed using Pearson productmoment correlations. Cohen's effect size was calculated to measure the magnitude of the exercise effect (Cohen, 2013) **see section 2.9.5**. Statistical significance was accepted at p < 0.05. Please see **Appendix E** for **Dr.Farag Al-Shuweihdi** statistical report.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Plasma concentrations in the fasted and postprandial states

Plasma TG concentrations in the fasted and postprandial states for the group are shown in **Figure 4.2** and **Tables 4.2** and **4.3**. Individual values are shown in **Figure 4.3**. Exercise reduced fasting TG concentrations in 8, and postprandial TG in 7, of the 10 participants (**Figure 4.3**, **panels A** and **B**). TG concentrations were not normally distributed in either the fasted or postprandial states, largely due to one participant having substantially raised TG concentrations (> twice the mean) (see **Figure 4.3**, **panels A** and **B**) and thus statistical analysis was performed on log transformed data. Log transformed values approximated a normal distribution (**Figure 4.3**, **panels C** and **D**). Fasting TG concentrations were reduced by 18% (-0.18 (-0.20 to -0.04) mmol.l⁻¹ (mean difference (95% confidence interval)); p=0.04) by exercise, to give a Cohen's d effect size for the exercise effect of 0.77. Time-averaged postprandial TG concentrations were reduced by 13% (-0.33 (-0.63 to -0.04) mmol.l⁻¹; p=0.04), to give a Cohen's d effect size of 0.70. Exercise had a statistically significant, moderate-sized effect on TG concentrations in both the fasted and postprandial states (Cohen, 2013).

Group data for insulin are shown in **Figure 4.4**, panel **B** and **Tables 4.2** and **4.3**. Like TG, fasting and postprandial insulin concentrations were not normally distributed due to one individual with substantially elevated concentrations (see **Figure 4.5, panels B and D**), so values were log transformed prior to analysis. Although exercise reduced mean fasting insulin concentrations by -25% and postprandial insulin concentrations by almost 60%, there was substantial individual variability in the exercise response (6 out of 10 lower with exercise in both fasted and postprandial states), leading to non-significant effects of exercise on both fasting (mean (95%CI) difference: -0.29 (-0.34 to +0.26) mU.l⁻¹) and postprandial (-0.15 (-0.19 to +0.24) mU.l⁻¹) insulin concentrations. Also, 3-hydroxybutyrate values were not normally distributed due to one individual with substantially elevated concentrations (see **Figure 4.7, panel C** and panel D) therefore, values were log transformed prior to analysis. Fasted 3-hydroxybutyrate values were higher in the exercise trial by 77% +0.37 (+0.34 to +0.62) mmol.l⁻¹; p=0.02) but

there was no significant different between the two trials in the postprandial state (-0.08 (-0.12 to +0.36) mmol.l⁻¹; p=0.74). The Cohen's d effect size was 0.89 and 0.11 respectively.

Figures 4.7, panels A and **C**, **Figure 4.8, panels A** and **C** and **Tables 4.2** and **4.3** show fasting and postprandial concentrations for glucose and NEFA control and exercise trials. NEFA did not significantly changed by exercise, although there was a trend for fasting values for NEFA (+0.07 (-0.01 to +0.15) mmol.l⁻¹) to be higher in the exercise trial.

Exercise did not significantly affect total, LDL or HDL cholesterol concentrations in the fasted state (**Table 4.2**), but fasted small dense LDL concentrations were significantly lower by 16% (-0.23(-0.31 to -0.16) mmol.l⁻¹ (mean difference (95% confidence interval); p=0.0002) following exercise, to give a Cohen's d effect size for the exercise effect of 1.89. Time-averaged postprandial sdLDL concentrations were reduced by 11% (+0.17 (-0.13 to +0.47)) mmol.l⁻¹; p=0.0006), to give a Cohen's d effect size of 0.35. (see **Figure 4.8, panel A** and **panel B** and **Table 4.2** and **4.3**).

Table 4.2; Fasting plasma concentrations.

	Fasting concentration					
	Control	Exercise	Mean difference and 95% CI	Cohn's <i>d</i> effect size	p-value	
Plasma TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	0.45 ± 0.14	0.27 ± 0.15	-0.18 (-0.20 to -0.04)	0.77	0.04	
Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	5.50 ± 0.22	5.47 ± 0.23	-0.04 (-0.31 to +0.24)	0.08	0.81	
Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)*	2.50 ± 0.35	2.21 ± 0.20	-0.29 (-0.34 to +0.26)	0.33	0.33	
NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.66 ± 0.06	0.73 ± 0.05	+0.07 (-0.01 to +0.15)	0.57	0.11	
3-hydroxybutyrate (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	2.45 ± 0.25	2.82 ± 0.21	+0.37 (+0.34 to +0.62)	0.89	0.02	
Plasma Small dense LDL (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.40 ± 0.20	1.17 ± 0.17	-0.23 (-0.31 to -0.16)	1.89	0.0002	
Total cholesterol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	5.44 ± 0.33	5.49 ± 0.36	+0.05 (-0.19 to +0.28)	0.13	0.69	
HDL cholesterol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.06 ± 0.09	1.09 ± 0.10	-0.03 (-0.09 to +0.03)	0.29	0.38	
LDL cholesterol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	3.68 ± 0.28	3.83 ± 0.33	+0.15 (-0.06 to +0.35)	0.45	0.19	

Values are mean ± SEM, n = 10. Statistical analysis performed using paired t-test. *log-transformed values.

Table 4.3; Time-averaged postprandial plasma concentrations.

	Postprandial concentration						
	Control	Exercise	Mean difference and 95% CI	Cohen's <i>d</i> effect size	p-value		
Plasma TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)	2.72 ± 0.40	2.36 ± 0.31	-0.33 (-0.63 to -0.04)	0.70	0.03		
Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	6.39 ± 0.46	6.35 ± 0.36	-0.04 (-0.34 to +0.33)	0.08	0.81		
Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)*	4.24 ± 0.27	4.09 ± 0.25	-0.15 (-0.19 to +0.24)	0.24	0.33		
NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.65 ± 0.06	0.64 ± 0.06	-0.01 (-0.09 to +0.07)	0.005	0.11		
3- hydroxybutyrate (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.08 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.03	-0.02 (-0.09 to +0.04)	0.24	0.74		
Plasma Small dense LDL (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.31 ± 0.16	1.14 ± 0.14	+0.17 (-0.13 to +0.47)	0.35	0.0002		

Values are mean ± SEM, n = 10. Statistical analysis performed using paired t-test. *log-transformed values. Statistical analysis performed using paired t-test



Time	0 min	30 min	60 min	90 min	120 min	240 min
Mean difference	0.32*± 0.16	0.29*± 0.15	0.31*± 0.13	0.37*± 0.14	0.26* ±0.19	0.57* ± 0.19

Figure 4.2. Time-averaged postprandial plasma TG concentrations in Control and Exercise trial. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.1 and 4.2. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population.

The table below, shows the mean \pm SEM differences between the two trials at each time point.* significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).

<u>Note.</u>Error bars are calculated on the between subjects data, but the test is of the within subjects data.



Figure 4.3. Individual values for TG in the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting TG concentrations; panel [B] shows raw values for time-averaged postprandial TG concentrations; panel [C] shows log transformed values for fasting TG concentration; panel [D] shows log-transformed values for time-averaged postprandial TG concentrations. Black symbols show individual values; red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3.



[B] Time-averaged postprandial Insulin

Figure 4.4. Time-averaged postprandial concentrations in Control and Exercise trial, panel [A] shows time-averaged postprandial glucose concentrations and panel [B] shows time-averaged postprandial insulin concentrations. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 and 4.2 N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).

Note. Error bars are calculated on the between subjects data, but the test is of the within subjects data.

[A] Mean time-averaged postprandial glucose



Exercise

Figure 4.5. Individual values for glucose and insulin in the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting glucose concentrations; panel [B] shows fasting insulin concentrations; panel [C] shows time-averaged glucose concentration; panel [D] shows time-averaged postprandial insulin concentrations. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3.

Insulin (mU.l⁻¹)

150

100

50

0

Control

10

Glucose (mmol.l⁻¹) 4 9 8

6

4

2

0

250

200 (1-1.1120) 100

50

0

Control

Exercise



Figure 4.6. Time-averaged postprandial concentrations in Control and Exercise trial, panel [A] shows time-averaged postprandial NEFA concentrations and panel [B] shows time-averaged postprandial 3-Hydroxybutyrate concentrations. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 and 4.2 N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).



Figure 4.7. Individual values for NEFA and 3-Hydroxybutyratein the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows raw values for fasting NEFA concentrations; panel [B] shows fasting 3-Hydroxybutyrate concentrations; panel [C] shows time-averaged NEFA concentration; panel [D] shows time-averaged postprandial 3-Hydroxybutyrateconcentrations. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3.



Figure 4.8. Individual values for sdLDL the Control and Exercise trials. Panel [A] shows fasting sdLDL concentrations; panel [B] shows time-averaged sdLDL concentration. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3.

4.3.2 Lipoprotein concentrations and composition in the fasted and postprandial states

Fasting and postprandial chylomicron-TG, VLDL₁-TG and VLDL₂-TG concentrations in the fasted and postprandial states for the group are shown in **Figure 4.9**, panel A, Figure 4.10, panel A and Figure 4.11, panel A and Tables 4.4 and 4.5. Individual values are shown in Figure 4.9, panel B, Figure 4.10, panel B and panel C and Figure 4.11, panel B and panel C. Chylomicron-TG concentrations in the fasted state were negligible in both trials, $(-0.01 (-0.02 \text{ to } +0.01) \text{ mmol}.l^{-1}$ (mean difference (95%) confidence interval); p=0.25) by exercise. Whereas, exercise reduced postprandial chylomicron-TG concentrations by 31% (-0.12 (-0.13 to +0.02); p=0.08). The reduction of chylomicron TG observed in 7 out of the 10 participants. The effect of exercise on chylomicron time averaged TG concentrations in postprandial state gave a Cohen's d effect size of 0.73 (see Figure 4.9, panel B). Exercise reduced fasting and postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations in 7 out of the 10 participants in both trials (Figure 4.10, panel B and C). Fasting VLDL₁-TG concentrations were reduced by 25% $(-10.63 (- 21.26 \text{ to } +0.00) \text{ mg.dl}^{-1} \text{ (mean difference } (95\% \text{ confidence interval});$ p=0.056)) by exercise, to give a Cohen's d for the exercise effect of 0.69. Timeaveraged postprandial VLDL₁ TG concentrations were reduced by 18% (-14.62 (-27.40 to -1.84) mg.dl⁻¹; p=0.01), to give a Cohen's d effect size of 0.96. Thus, exercise had a statistically significant, moderate to large-sized effect on TG concentrations in both the fasted and postprandial. Exercise did not significantly affect fasted and timeaveraged postprandial VLDL₂-TG concentration did not differ significantly between trials (-3.21(-8 .84 to +2.42); p=0.22) and (+0.44 (-3.98 to +4.86); p=0.10) mg.dl⁻¹ respectively. (see Figure 4.11, panel B and C and Table 4.6 and 4.7).

Table 4.4, Table 4.5, Table 4.6 and Table 4.7 show total lipoprotein particle concentration and concentration of constituent lipoprotein molecules for VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ in the fasted state and 240 minutes postprandially. Exercise reduced fasting and postprandial total VLDL₁ mass concentrations in 8 out of the 10 participants in both fasted and postprandial state. Fasting total lipoprotein mass for VLDL₁ was lower in the fasted state by 24% (-20.43 mg/dl (-39.34 to -1.51); p = 0.04) by exercise, to give a Cohen's d for the exercise effect of 0.79 and lower at 240 minutes postprandially by 17% (-23.34mg/dl (-45.83 to -0.86); p = 0.049), by exercise, to give a Cohen's d for the exercise effect of 0.69.

VLDL₁ apoB concentrations were significantly lower in the exercise than the control trial in the fasted state, but not 240 minutes postprandially. Concentrations of VLDL₁ TG, cholesteryl ester and free cholesterol were lower in the exercise than the control trial in both the fasted state and 240 minutes postprandially (**Table 4.4 and 4.5**). In the fasted state the VLDL₁ TG/apoB ratio tended to be 39% higher (6942 (-1097 to +14982); p=0.09) by exercise, to give a Cohen's d for the exercise effect of 0.60. At the 240 minute postprandial time-point VLDL₁ TG/apoB ratio tended to be 26% lower -0.06 (- 0.15 to +0.03) (p=0.16). At the 240 minute postprandial time-postprandial time-point VLDL₁ terratio tended to be 26% lower -0.06 (- 0.15 to +0.03) (p=0.16). At the 240 minute postprandial time-point to the findings for VLDL₁, no differences in VLDL₂ concentration or composition were observed between the control and exercise.

145

Table 4.4; Concentration and composition of VLDL₁ in the fasted states.

	Fasti	ng (0 minutes)			
-	Control	Exercise	Mean difference and 95 % CI	Cohen's <i>d</i> effect size	p-value
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	84.1 ± 17.4	63.7 ± 13.0	-20.43 (-39.34 to -1.51)	0.75	0.04
ApoB (mg.dl ⁻¹)	1.98 ± 0.36	1.05 ± 0.21	-0.93 (-0.33 to -1.52)	1.08	0.01
Triglyceride (mg.dl ⁻¹)	51.7 ± 11.1	41.0 ± 8.9	-10.63 (- 21.26 to +0.00)	0.69	0.056
Cholesteryl ester (mg.dl ⁻¹)	7.7 ± 1.2	4.8 ± 3.0	-2.89 (-5.30 to -0.47)	0.83	0.03
Free cholesterol (mg.dl ⁻¹)	4.0 ± 0.9	2.6 ± 0.6	-1.45 (-2.51 to -0.39)	0.95	0.02
Phospholipid (mg.dl ⁻¹)	12.8 ± 3.0	9.2 ± 1.9	-3.55 (-7.48 to -0.38)	0.63	0.08
Protein (mg.dl ⁻¹)	8.0 ± 1.6	6.1 ± 1.1	-1.91 (-4.37 to -0.55)	0.54	0.12
TG/apoB ratio (mol:mol)	17751 ± 2507	24693 ± 4238	6942 (-1097 to +14982)	0.60	0.09
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.23 ±0.03	0.17 ± 0.02	-0.06 (-0.15 to +0.03)	0.48	0.16

Values are mean \pm SEM, n = 10.

()

	Postprandial (240 minutes)					
	Control	Exercise	Different between trials and 95 % Cl	Cohen's <i>d</i> effect	p-value	
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	137.9 ± 22.1	114.6 ± 18.0	-23.34 (-45.83 to -0.86)	0.72	0.049	
ApoB (mg.dl ⁻¹)	2.22 ± 0.34	2.01 ± 0.31	-0.22 (-0.68 to -0.24)	0.33	0.33	
Triglyceride (mg.dl ⁻¹)	88.5 ± 14.0	73.9 ± 12.3	-14.62 (-27.40 to -1.84)	0.79	0.03	
Cholesteryl ester (mg.dl ⁻¹)	11.6 ± 2.0	8.3 ± 1.2	-1.33 (-2.59 to -0.07)	0.73	0.048	
Free cholesterol (mg.dl ⁻¹)	5.9 ± 1.1	4.6 ± 0.8	-0.04 (-0.07 to -0.01)	0.92	0.045	
Phospholipid (mg.dl ⁻¹)	21.1 ± 3.7	17.6 ± 8.7	+6.84 (0.28 to +9.77)	0.73	0.13	
Protein (mg.dl ⁻¹)	10.8 ± 2.2	10.2 ± 1.2	-0.57 (-4.01 to +2.88)	0.11	0.73	
TG/apoB ratio (mol:mol)	25103 ± 2304	23072 ± 2561	-2031 (-7969 to +3846)	0.24	0.47	
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.18 ± 0.02	0.16 ± 0.01	-0.02 (-0.07 to +0.03)	0.28	0.40	

Values are mean ± SEM, n = 10.



Figure 4.9. Values for chylomicron-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for time-averaged postprandial chylomicron-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for time-averaged postprandial chylomicron-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). The table below, shows the mean \pm SEM differences between the two trials at each time point.* significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).



Figure 4.10. Values for VLDL₁-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for time-averaged postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for fasted VLDL₁-TG concentrations. [C] shows individual values for time-averaged postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. * significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). The table below, shows the mean \pm SEM differences between the two trials at each time point.* significant difference between trials at this time-point within subject (p < 0.005).

Khloud Jamíl Ghafourí ® 2017

Table 4.6; Concentration and composition of $VLDL_2$ in the fasted state.

	Fa	asting (0 minutes	;)		
	Control	Exercise	Mean difference and 95% Cl	Cohen's <i>d</i> effect size	p-value
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	49.5 ± 3.6	39.4 ± 2.2	-10.08 (-24.20 to +4.04)	0.49	0.15
ApoB (mg.dl ⁻¹)	4.00 ± 0.57	3.39 ± 0.17	-0.61 (- 2.52 to +1.30)	0.22	0.50
Triglyceride (mg.dl ⁻¹)	18.2 ± 3.2	15.0 ± 2.5	-3.21 (-8 .84 to +2.42)	0.35	0.29
Cholesteryl ester (mg.dl ⁻¹)	11.3 ± 3.0	9.1 ± 1.5	-2.16 (-7.43 to +3.12)	0.28	0.39
Free cholesterol (mg.dl ⁻¹)	4.0 ± 0.8	3.3 ± 0.5	0.38 (-1.18 to +1.93)	0.17	0.22
Phospholipid (mg.dl ⁻¹)	9.8 ± 0.9	8.3 ± 0.5	1.55 (-5.06 to +1.96)	0.31	0.36
Protein (mg.dl ⁻¹)	6.1 ± 0.4	3.7 ± 0.3	-2.43 (-5.11 to +0.26)	0.63	0.08
TG/apoB ratio (mol:mol)	3679 ± 567	3051 ± 400	-628 (-1600 to +343)	0.45	0.19
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.59 ± 0.10	0.62 ± 0.06	0.03 (-0.24 to +0.30)	0.09	0.79

Values are mean ± SEM, n = 10. *Statistical analysis performed on log-transformed data, and values are geometric mean (95% confidence interval).

	Postprandial (240 minutes)					
	Control	Exercise	Different between trials and 95 % Cl	Cohen's <i>d</i> effect size	p-value	
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	38.2 ± 1.6	40.0 ± 2.8	+1.80 (-5.35 to +8.93)	0.38	0.59	
ApoB (mg.dl ⁻¹)	2.43 ± 0.17	2.53 ± 0.15	+0.10 (-0.32 to +0.53)	0.37	0.60	
Triglyceride (mg.dl ⁻¹)	15.8 ± 2.2	16.2 ± 2.3	+0.44 (-3.98 to +4.86)	0.07	0.83	
Cholesteryl ester (mg.dl ⁻¹)	7.2 ± 1.5	6.7 ± 1.2	-0.44 (-1.63 to +0.76)	0.43	0.44	
Free cholesterol (mg.dl ⁻¹)	3.0 ± 0.5	2.9 ± 0.4	-0.12 (-0.54 to 0.30)	0.57	0.56	
Phospholipid (mg.dl ⁻¹)	7.3 ± 0.5	7.6 ± 0.6	+0.33 (-1.48 to +2.14)	0.13	0.70	
Protein (mg.dl ⁻¹)	5.0 ± 0.2	6.6 ± 0.7	+1.59 (-1.07 to +4.24)	0.17	0.22	
TG/apoB ratio (mol:mol)	5416 ± 993	4169 ± 540	900592 (-609330 to +790513)	0.09	0.20	
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.45 ± 0.08	0.43 ± 0.04	-28.34 (-89.91 to +33.22)	0.32	0.78	

Table 4.7; Concentration and composition of $VLDL_2$ in the postprandial state.

Values are mean ± SEM, n = 10. *Statistical analysis performed on log-transformed data, and values are geometric mean (95% confidence interval).


[A] Mean Time-averaged postprandial mean for VLDL₂- TG concentrations

Figure 4.11. Values for VLDL₂-TG in the Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean values for timeaveraged postprandial VLDL₂-TG concentrations, panel [B] shows individual values for fasted VLDL₂-TG concentrations [C] shows individual values for time-averaged postprandial VLDL₁-TG concentrations. Statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.4 and 4.5. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. Black symbols show individual values, red symbols show the mean values. Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005).

4.3.3 Lipoprotein affinity for LPL

Figure 4.12, panel A, Figure 4.13, panel A, and Figure 4.14, panel A show mean $(\pm$ SEM) NEFA release over the 30 minute incubation period in the LPL-affinity assay for $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ in the fasted state and 240 minutes postprandially, and for chylomicrons 240 minutes postprandially in the control and exercise trials. Affinity of chylomicrons, $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ for LPL was calculated from the gradient of the linear portion (before a plateau was achieved) of the individual NEFA release versus time plots. Table 4.8 shows VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ affinity for LPL in the fasted state and 240 minutes postprandially and for chylomicrons 240 minutes postprandially, expressed as mmol of NEFA release, per mmol lipoprotein-TG, per unit LPL activity, per minute. Exercise did not affect the affinity of postprandial chylomicron, there was substantial individual variability in the exercise effect (6 out of 10 increased with exercise in postprandial state), leading to non-significant effects of exercise on both fasting (mean (95%CI) difference: (0.20 (-0.39 to 0.78) mmol of NEFA release, per mmol lipoprotein TG, per unit LPL activity, per minute (Figure 4.12, panel B). The Cohen's d effect sizes at 0.21, for the change in chylomicron affinity with exercise were smaller than the effect of exercise on $VLDL_1$ affinity. The exercise significantly increased the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL in 8 out of 10 and 9 out of 10 (Figure 4.13, panel C and D) in both fasted and postprandial states, (0.98 (0.55 to1.41); p=0.01) and (1.16 (0.63 to 1.70); p0.001), respectively, with a large Cohen's d effect size of 1.58 and 1.35 respectively. Exercise did not affect neither fasted nor postprandial VLDL₂ affinity for LPL, with mean difference of (0.01 (-0.17 to 1.64); p=0.60) and (0.25 (0.12 to 1.45); p=0.34) (Figure 4.14 panel C and D). The Cohen effect size was small in both fasted and postprandial states 0.13 and 0.34 respectively.

Exercise increased affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL by 2.2 (1.3 to 3.7) fold (geometric mean (95% CI)) in the fasted state (p= 0.02 for fold increase; p value for absolute increase shown in **Table 4.8**) and by 2.6 (1.8 to 3.8) fold in the postprandial state (p=0.001 for fold increase; p value for absolute increase shown in **Table 4.8**). However, there was no significant change in affinity of chylomicrons for LPL in either fold (1.2, (0.6, to, 2.3), fold; p=0.59)or absolute units (see Table 4.8). Affinity of $VLDL_2$ for LPL was negligible, ~50-100-fold lower than chylomicrons and zero in many instances, and did not change in response to exercise. In the control trial, the affinity of chylomicrons for LPL was 11.3 (6.0 to 21.6) fold greater (p=0.0001) than the affinity of VLDL₁ in the postprandial state, whereas in the exercise trial affinity of chylomicrons for LPL was 6.0 (3.0 to 12.0) greater (p=0.0007) than the affinity of $VLDL_1$ in the postprandial state. Thus, the affinity of postprandial VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated TG-hydrolysis relative to the affinity of chylomicrons was 2.6 (1.3 to 5.4) fold greater in the exercise compared to the control trial (p=0.03). There was no significant difference in affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL between the fasted and postprandial states in either the control (postprandial VLDL₁ LPL affinity 0.7 (0.4 to 1.1) fold compared with fasting VLDL₁ LPL affinity, p=0.18) or the exercise (postprandial VLDL₁ LPL affinity 0.8 (0.6 to 1.1) fold compared with fasting VLDL₁ LPL affinity, p= 0.28) trials.

		NEFA release (mmol.min ⁻¹ per mmol lipoprotein-TG per unit LPL activity)					
	_	Control	Exercise	Cohen d effect size	p-value		
Fasting (0 minutes)		0.16	0.35	4.50	0.010*		
	VLDL ₁	(0.09 to 0.29)	(0.24 to 0.52)	1.58	0.018*		
		0.013	0.018	0.42	0.40		
	VLDL ₂	(0.004 to 0.044)	(0.007 to 0.049)	0.13	0.60		
	CM**	1.25 (0.94 to 1.66)	1.52 (0.98 to 2.34)	0.21	0.53*		
		0.08	0.25				
Postprandial (240 minutes)	VLDL ₁	(0.03 to 0.19)	(0.15 to 0.42)	1.35	0.002*		
		0.021	0.013	0.24	0.24		
	VLDL ₂	(0.006 to 0.070)	(0.004 to 0.048)	0.34	0.34		

Values are geometric mean (95% confidence interval), n = 10. *Statistical analysis and mean differences performed on log-transformed data.**(CM) chylomicron.



[A] Mean values for NEFA release from chylomicron in

[B] Individual values for NEFA release from chylomicron

Figure 4.12. Values for NEFA release over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in chylomicron in postprandial state Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from chylomicron, panel [B] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30minutes from chylomicron. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined by the rate of NEFA release over the linear portion of the 30-minute incubation period before a plateau was achieved for each individual participant. Values for lipoprotein affinity for LPL and statistical analyses are shown in Table 4.8. Significant values from the other group * (p = 0.005) and ** (p< 0.05).



Figure 4.13. Values for NEFA release over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₁ in fasted and postprandial state in Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state, panel [B] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in postprandial state, panel [C] shows the Individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state, panel [D] shows the Individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state, panel [D] shows the Individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₁ in fasted state. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined by the rate of NEFA release over the linear portion of the 30-minute incubation period before a plateau was achieved for each individual participant. Values for lipoprotein affinity for LPL and statistical analyses are shown in Table 4.8 Significant values from the other group * (p = 0.005) and ** (p < 0.05)



Figure 4.14. Values for NEFA release over 30-minutes in LPL-affinity assay in VLDL₂ in fasted and postprandial state in Control and Exercise trials, panel [A] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel [B] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in postprandial state, panel [C] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel [B] shows mean value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state, panel [D] shows the individual value of NEFA release over 30-minutes from VLDL₂ in fasted state. N = 10, Values are mean \pm SEM. The SEM shows the variability among the whole population. Affinity of lipoproteins for LPL was determined by the rate of NEFA release over the linear portion of the 30-minute incubation period before a plateau was achieved for each individual participant. Values for lipoprotein affinity for LPL and statistical analyses are shown in Table 4.8. Significant values from the other group * (p = 0.005) and ** (p< 0.05).

4.4 Discussion

Elevated postprandial TG concentrations are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events (Bansal et al., 2007, Nordestgaard and Nielsen, 1994, Mora et al., 2008), and there is evidence that this relationship is likely to be causal (Goldberg IJ, 2011, Chapman et al., 2011, Jørgensen et al., 2012, Consortium and Collaboration, 2010, Cohorts, 2014, Jørgensen et al., 2014). Prior exercise has consistently been shown to lower postprandial TG concentrations, but the mechanisms responsible have been unclear (Gill and Hardman, 2000, Gill et al., 2004a, Farah and Gill, 2012). Previous studies have shown that TG reductions in large VLDL₁ make the largest quantitative contribution to the overall TG-lowering effect of exercise (Gill et al., 2006); that exercise lowers VLDL₁-TG concentrations by increasing clearance of these lipoproteins from the circulation, rather than reducing their production (Al-Shayji et al., 2012); but that exercise-induced TGlowering is often observed in the absence of an elevation in post-heparin plasma or skeletal muscle LPL activity (Malkova and Gill, 2006, Harrison et al., 2012). The main novel finding of the present study is that prior exercise increased the affinity of large VLDL₁ - but not of chylomicrons or VLDL₂ - for clearance by LPL. This provides an important advance in our understanding of the mechanism by exercise lowers TG concentrations; an effect which is likely to contribute to exercise's overall cardioprotective benefit.

The present findings put previous observations about the effects of exercise TGrich lipoprotein metabolism into context. Earlier work demonstrated that exercise often lowered TG concentrations without a substantial increase in post-heparin plasma or skeletal muscle LPL activity (Harrison et al., 2012, Malkova and Gill, 2006, Gill et al., 2006, Herd et al., 2001); that the TG reductions induced by exercise are typically larger in VLDL than chylomicrons (Malkova and Gill, 2006, Gill and Hardman, 2000, Gill et al., 2006); and that exercise increased clearance of VLDL from the circulation but did not reduce hepatic VLDL production (Tsekouras et al., 2007, Magkos et al., 2006).

However, these observations could not explain how this increased VLDL clearance could occur without a concomitant increase in LPL activity. More recently, we demonstrated that the exercise-induced increase in clearance of VLDL₁-TG was twice as large as the exercise-induced increase in clearance of TG from

chylomicron-like particles (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). This suggested that exercise upregulated clearance of VLDL₁ to a greater extent than chylomicrons, which led to the hypothesis that exercise increased the affinity of VLDL₁ for TG-hydrolysis by LPL. This hypothesis was confirmed by the findings of the present study. Exercise increased the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL clearance by 2.2-fold in the fasted state (p = 0.02) and 2.6-fold in the postprandial state (p = 0.001), but did not significantly alter the affinity of chylomicrons for LPL-mediated TG-hydrolysis Accordingly the affinity of VLDL₁ relative to chylomicrons for LPL-mediated clearance in the postprandial state was 2.6-fold greater in the exercise compared with the control trial (p = 0.03). Data shown there was a numerical increase in chylomicron affinity for LPL of 1.2 fold. However there was a large amount of individual variability in this effect - six of the 10 had an increase in chylomicron affinity for LPL in response to exercise, the other four subjects experienced a decrease, which meant that the 95% confidence interval around this point was large (0.6-2.3 fold) and the p-value for the fold change was 0.59 (p=0.53 for absolute change in affinity). The Cohen's d for the effect of exercise on chylomicron affinity for LPL was 0.21, which is considered a small effect size, whereas the effect size for the effect of exercise on VLDL₁ affinity for LPL was 1.58 in the fasted state and 1.35 in the postprandial state, which are both considered to be large effect sizes (Cohen, 2013). This magnitude of this change in relative VLDL₁ affinity for LPL-mediated TG-hydrolysis is consistent our earlier observation that the exercise-induced increase in VLDL₁-TG clearance was twice as great as the exercise-induced increase in chylomicron-like particles (Al-Shayji et al., 2012).

It is not clear from the present findings how exercise increases the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis. We previously demonstrated that following exercise, VLDL₁ particles were larger (higher TG/apoB ratio) and more TG-enriched (lower CE/TG ratio) and that exercise-induced increases the fractional catabolic rate of VLDL₁ particles were correlated with the increases in TG-enrichment and size of the VLDL₁ particle (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). As larger, more TG-enriched lipoprotein particles have greater affinity for LPL (Saheki et al., 1991, Fisher et al., 1995), we hypothesised that this compositional change was a potential mediator of increased affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL post-exercise(Al-Shayji et al., 2012). In the Al-Shayji study, VLDL₁ composition was only measured in the fasted state, and in the present study we observed changes of similar magnitude

in the TG/apoB ratio (39% increase with exercise in present study vs 26% increase in Al-Shayji et al and CE/TG ratio (26% decrease with exercise in present study vs 29% decrease in Al-Shayji et al in fasting VLDL₁ composition, although these compositional changes did not quite achieve statistical significance in the present study (Al-Shayji et al., 2012).

This would be consistent with this compositional change contributing to the enhanced affinity for LPL-mediated clearance. However, in the postprandial state the VLDL₁ TG/apoB ratio and CE/TG ratio were similar in the exercise and control, despite the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis in response to exercise increasing to a similar extent in the postprandial state to that observed in the fasted state. The similar postprandial VLDL₁ CE/TG ratio observed in the control and exercise trials also contrasts with an earlier observation that the VLDL1 CE/TG ratio was lower following exercise postprandially (Gill et al., 2006). This may indicate that the increase in VLDL₁ affinity for LPL in response to exercise was mediated by factors other than changes in size and TG-enrichment of the VLDL₁ particle. However, there are two other aspects worth consideration when interpreting these findings. First, it is important to recognise that all circulating VLDL₁ particles are essentially remnant particles to some extent, in that they will have had a degree of LPL-mediated hydrolysis of their TG-core by the time the blood sample was taken. Post-exercise VLDL₁ particles with greater affinity for LPL would have been exposed to proportionately greater TG hydrolysis by the time a blood sample was taken. Thus, relative to newly secreted VLDL₁ particles, circulating post-exercise VLDL₁ particles may have had their size and TGenrichment reduced to a greater extent than VLDL₁ particles in the control trial. Thus, it is possible that following exercise, the liver produced larger, more TGenriched VLDL₁ particles and that this contributed to their increased affinity for VLDL₁, but this effect was not fully reflected in the composition of the measured circulating VLDL₁ particle. However, in Al-Shayji *et al*, ratio of VLDL₁-TG production to VLDL₁-apoB production was similar in control and exercise trials, suggesting that the average size of the secreted VLDL₁ particle was not influenced by exercise (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). However, it is also important to recognise that VLDL₁ particles are heterogeneous, occupying a greater than three-fold range in size and density, and thus considering only 'average' lipoprotein size and composition in the VLDL₁ range may not reveal the whole story. Interestingly, AlShayji *et al* reported a larger increase in the VLDL₁-apoB fractional catabolic rate than the VLDL₁-TG fractional catabolic rate with exercise (146% vs 82% increase) (Al-Shayji et al., 2012), which would suggest that exercise was having a proportionately larger effect on clearance of smaller, less TG-rich VLDL₁ particles (which have a lower TG/apoB ratio), either via direct particle removal or by TGremoval taking them out of the $VLDL_1$ and into the $VLDL_2$ density range. This interpretation would suggest that the observation that circulating VLDL₁ particles post-exercise are larger and more TG-enriched reflects the fact that exercise disproportionately increased clearance of smaller, less TG-enriched particles at the lower end of the Sf 60-400 range, leaving proportionally more larger VLDL₁ in the circulation. Accordingly, it is possible that the strong correlations between change in VLDL₁ apoB fractional catabolic rate and change in VLDL₁ TG/apoB and CE/TG ratio observed in that study (Al-Shayji et al., 2012) reflects greater clearance of smaller VLDL₁ particles following exercise, which would have the net effect of increasing the average TG/apoB and CE/TG ratio of the remaining circulating lipoprotein particles across the VLDL₁ density range. This interpretation is supported by a recent study by Harrison and colleagues who used nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy to quantify 24 different VLDL subfractions in the fasted state following exercise (Harrison et al., 2012). This report found that in response to exercise, there was a proportionally larger TG reduction in 'medium VLDL' (size range 43-55 nm, approximately corresponding to Sf 100-200 (Redgrave, 2004), i.e. smaller VLDL₁) than in 'large VLDL' (size (55-260 nm, approximately corresponding to Sf >200 (Redgrave, 2004), i.e. larger VLDL₁), with VLDL particles over 120 nm in size being virtually unaffected by exercise (Harrison et al., 2012). The authors proposed that their findings were suggestive of independent metabolic regulation of different VLDL pools within the VLDL₁ range (Harrison et al., 2012). This is an attractive proposition which is consistent with our present and earlier (Al-Shayji et al., 2012) observations on the effects of exercise on VLDL₁ metabolism. Thus, further study is needed to both examine the effects of exercise on the affinity of smaller and larger VLDL₁ particles for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis and to understand the effects of exercise on TG and apoB kinetics of smaller and larger VLDL₁ particles.

While the present findings clearly show that exercise increased the affinity of VLDL₁ particles for clearance by LPL, this effect is unlikely to be solely responsible

for the observed TG lowering effect of exercise. We observed a significant reduction in chylomicron-TG concentration following exercise, without a corresponding increase in the affinity for chylomicrons for LPL-mediated clearance. This chylomicron-TG reduction is consistent with earlier observations (Gill et al., 2006, Gill and Hardman, 2000) and is likely to reflect increased LPLmediated chylomicron TG clearance, in line with our recent report that Intralipid-TG fractional catabolic rate was increased by prior exercise (Al-Shayji et al., 2012). We did not measure LPL activity in the present study, so it is unclear whether this is the consequence of increased LPL activity or exercise-induced changes in blood perfusion to LPL-rich tissues leading to increased interactions between chylomicron particles and LPL, or a combination of the two. It has previously been reported that postprandial blood flow to the leg was almost 40% higher on the day following 2 hours of walking (Malkova et al., 2000), so it is conceivable that the reduction in chylomicron-TG observed in the present study could have occurred without a marked increase in LPL activity, which would be consistent with precious studies which have generally reported that LPL activity is not substantially elevated in response to exercise of the nature undertaken here (Harrison et al., 2012, Malkova and Gill, 2006, Herd et al., 2001). It is a limitation to the study that we did not measure LPL activity. This information would have provided a more complete assessment of the relative importance of increased VLDL₁ affinity for LPL vs increased LPL activity in mediating the overall TGlowering effect of exercise. However, the invasive muscle biopsies required to determine skeletal muscle LPL activity were not feasible, and because heparin injection distorts lipoprotein metabolism, it would not have been possible to obtain fasting and postprandial post-heparin plasma LPL activity assessments in parallel with other measurements made in the study. Nevertheless, it would be helpful if future studies investigating the effects of exercise on kinetics and affinity for LPL of VLDL sub-populations, could also directly measure LPL activity.

A further observation was that exercise substantially reduced fasting sdLDL cholesterol concentrations. There is accumulating evidence that sdLDL have particularly high atherogenicity (Hirayama and Miida, 2012, Diffenderfer and Schaefer, 2014), thus, exercise-induced reductions are likely to have clinically relevant implications for CVD risk. Elevated concentrations of TG-rich lipoproteins facilitate the development of sdLDL by accelerating CETP-mediated neutral lipid

exchange, between TG-rich lipoproteins and LDL, leading to TG-enriched LDL particles, which are then acted on by hepatic lipase to produce sdLDL particles (Hirayama and Miida, 2012, Diffenderfer and Schaefer, 2014). Thus, by lowering TG-rich lipoprotein concentrations, exercise is likely to have inhibited the neutral lipid exchange process leading to sdLDL formation.

It is interesting TG-lowering effect of exercise occurs in absence of significant change of insulin and glucose concentrations. It was established that insulin resistance is an important determinant of TGR lipoproteins metabolism. However, in this instant TG-lowering effect may be independent of insulin sensitivity; this is consistent with earlier reports that TG-lowering effect is independent from insulin (Gill et al., 2002).

In conclusion, this study's main finding that exercise increases the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated TG-hydrolysis provides an important piece in the jigsaw of understanding the effects of exercise on the metabolism of TG-rich lipoproteins. These data provide clarity to the interpretation of the findings of many studies into the effects of exercise on postprandial lipoprotein undertaken over the past 15-20 years, explaining why exercise often affects VLDL₁-TG concentrations to a greater extent than chylomicron concentrations, and why a TG-lowering effect of exercise is often seen without an increase in LPL activity. However, it is still unclear how exercise increases the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated clearance and further study is now needed to understand the effects of exercise of sub-populations of VLDL₁.

5 Effect of co-ingesting fat with carbohydrate on lipid and glucose response

5.1 Introduction

In response to meal ingestion, there are a number of perturbations to metabolism which are likely to impair insulin sensitivity and possibly contribute to atherosclerotic progression. As humans spend most of their time in the postprandial state, these metabolic changes have possible relevance in the development of the metabolic syndrome and T2D, and also increase CVD risk. There are a number of plausible mechanisms by which this can occur. Ingestion of fat leads to increases in postprandial chylomicron and VLDL concentrations. The magnitude of these changes is associated with the amount (Schwab et al., 2014) and type (saturated, monounsaturated, polyunsaturated) of fat consumed. These postprandial lipoproteins and their remnants may deposit into arterial walls accelerating the development of atheromatous plaques (Zilversmit, 1979). In addition, high concentrations of these triglyceride-rich lipoproteins facilitate neutral lipid exchange with HDL and LDL, mediated by CETP, contributing to the generation of an atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype (Zhong et al., 1996, Cohen et al., 1994).

Ingestion of carbohydrate induces a rise in blood glucose concentrations which triggers the release of insulin from the pancreas (Scheen, 2004, Del Prato and Tiengo, 2001, Wallum et al., 1992, Brand-Miller, 2004). There is evidence that these postprandial increases in glucose and insulin may have adverse effects on insulin sensitivity, diabetes risk and obesity (Giovannucci, 1995, Daly, 2003) and thus, minimising the extent of these postprandial perturbations may be beneficial. For example, it has been shown that consuming foods with a low glycaemic index can reduce insulin demand, improve blood glucose control, and reduce blood lipid levels, all factors that may play important roles in the prevention or management of these postprandial changes is related to the amount of carbohydrate consumed

(Blaak, 2016, Wolever and Bolognesi, 1996b, Wolever and Mehling, 2003, Sheard et al., 2004), but the type of carohydrate ingested also plays a key role (Sheard et al., 2004, Salmerón et al., 1997). The glycaemic index (GI) guantifies the postprandial glucose rise for a given food, relative to that for glucose. Foods with lower GIs lead to lower glucose and insulin responses (Jenkins et al., 2008). In epidemiological studies low GI diets are associated with reduced risk of CVD and diabetes (Barclay et al., 2008, Qi and Hu, 2007, Livesey et al., 2008), lower plasma TG by around 15% and cholesterol by 8% (Brand-Miller et al., 2003, Pelkman, 2001). There are benefits of using low-GI diets in the management of diabetes (Brand-Miller et al., 2003, Livesev et al., 2008, Rahelić et al., 2011) and interventions with low GI diets (LGI) have shown a reduction in fasting plasma glucose and postprandial plasma glucose and insulin in type-2 diabetic by around 30% (Jenkins et al., 1988). The diets are reported to reduce the level of HbA1_c by absolute amounts varying from 3% (Calle-Pascual et al., 1987) to 19% (Jenkins et al., 1988, Augustin et al., 2002, Jenkins et al., 2008). Another study (Rizkalla et al., 2004) found that also, a low GI diet was able to improve glycaemic control, glucose utilization, some lipid profiles, and the capacity for fibrinolysis in type 2 diabetes (Rizkalla et al., 2004). In addition, a low-GI diet has been shown to improve the lipid profile (Thomas et al., 2007, Wolever et al., 1992). High GI diets, on the other hand, are associated with insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, dyslipidaemia and prostate, breast and colon cancer (Blaak, 2016, Pi-Sunyer, 2002, McKeown-Eyssen, 1994, Giovannucci, 1999, Giovannucci, 1995).

In free-living conditions, humans generally co-ingest fat and carbohydrate, so it is important to consider the effect consuming fat with carbohydrate on postprandial glucose, insulin and NEFA responses compared with ingestion of carbohydrate alone, as it is possible that this may slow glucose release into the circulation, thereby lowering the meal's GI (Järvi et al., 1999, Wolever et al., 1999, Wolever et al., 1994, Moghaddam et al., 2006). Conversely, the addition of carbohydrate to fat ingestion will induce a larger insulin response (Moghaddam et al., 2006, Mohammed and Wolever, 2004), which would be expected to induce greater suppression of NEFA release from adipose tissue, a larger upregulation of adipose tissue LPL activity (Knuth et al., 2008, Knuth et al., 2007), and a greater suppression of hepatic VLDL production (Schneeman et al., 1993), which might be expected to attenuate the postprandial TG response (Jeppesen et al., 1995). However, the effects of such coingestion on the concentration and composition different lipoprotein species in the postprandial state are not known.

Therefore, the aim of this experimental chapter is to investigate the acute effects of consuming fat alone, carbohydrate alone and co-ingestion of fat and carbohydrate on postprandial metabolic responses, particularly on the concentration and composition of postprandial lipoprotein species.

5.2 Participants and Methods

5.2.1 Participants

Thirteen participants were initially recruited but three withdrew before completion of the experimental period for undisclosed personal reasons. Thus 10 apparently healthy men not taking any drugs thought to affect lipid or carbohydrate metabolism took part in the study. Their demographic information is given in **Table 5.1** below.

Age (years)	30.0 ± 3.9
Weight (kg)	87.4 ± 10.9
Height (m)	182.6 ± 6.9
BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	26.3 ± 4.1
Waist/ hip ratio	0.86 ± 0.07
Percentage fat (%)	20.6 ± 6.9

Table 5.1; Demographic data.

5.2.2 Study design

A cross-over study design was used with participants undertaking three postprandial assessments: an OFTT (75 g of fat), an OGTT (75 g of Glucose) and combination of both (COMB) (75 g of fat and 75 g of glucose) in a randomised order with an interval of 7-14 days between tests. In each test, blood samples were collected in the fasted state and over 8 hours postprandially. **Figure 5.1** shows the experimental design, which is described in detail below.

Oral Fat Tolerance Test (OFTT)

Participants reported to the lab in the morning after a 12-hour overnight fast. A cannula was inserted into an antecubital or forearm vein to acquire blood samples.

After a blood sample was taken in the fasted state, a high fat meal comprising 150 ml cream, containing 75 g of fat, was ingested and further blood samples were collected at 30, 60, 90, 120, 240, 360 and 480 minutes after the meal. Participants were free to sit, read, relax, or watch TV during this time and were able to consume water ad libitum (see **section 2.5.3**).

Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)

This trial was identical to the OFTT except participants ingested a drink containing 75 g of glucose, instead of the fat (see **section 2.5.2**).

OFTT and OGTT mixed meal

In this trial the participant consumed a mixture of 75g fat and 75g glucose (see section 2.5.4).



Figure 5.1. Study design. Participants reported to the lab after 12 h fasting. A base line blood sample was taken, then a meal containing either 75 g of fat or 75 g of glucose or combination of both was provided and serial blood samples were taken.

5.2.3 Plasma assays

Serum, TG and NEFA and plasma glucose concentrations were analysed at all time points as previously mentioned in **Appendix C.** Total, HDL cholesterol and small dense LDL concentrations were measured in the fasted state as mentioned in **Appendix C**. LDL cholesterol was calculated in the fasted state using the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972). Insulin was measured in EDTA plasma, as described in **section 2.6.4**.

5.2.4 Lipoprotein separation

Plasma and serum samples (2 ml) at 0, 1, 2, 4, 6 and 8 h were centrifuged using the techniques to isolate chylomicrons and lipoprotein subfractions as described in **section 2.6.2**.

Chylomicron, VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ IDL and LDL fractions were assayed to determine concentrations and composition for TG, FC and PL using commercially available enzymatic and turbidimetric kits as described in **Appendix C**. Chylomicron fractions were assayed for TG concentration. Total protein was measured in all lipoprotein subfractions using a modified Lowry assay as described in **section 2.7**.

5.2.5 Calculations and statistical analysis

The rise in postprandial concentration was calculated by taking the incremental area under the curve (IAUC) and dividing by total time. Percentages of TG and CE were relative to lipoprotein total mass. TG to CE ratio was calculated as TG/CE.

Statistical analysis was carried out, Statistica (version 12.0) and Microsoft Excel (version 14.0.6112.500). When displayed graphically SEMs were used as error bars. Repeated measures ANOVAs were used to calculate differences in the means for time average concentrations, rise in time average concentrations, time to peak, the peak concentration and the maximal rise in concentration of plasma glucose, insulin, NEFA, TG and CM TG concentration and lipoprotein composition. Statistical significance was

5 Effect of co- ingesting fat with carbohydrate on lipid and glucose response

set at p<0.05 at which point a Fisher *post hoc* test was carried out to establish which groups the statistical significance lay. Cohen's d effect size was calculated to measure the magnitude of the co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate (Cohen, 2013) (see section 2.9.5).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Plasma measurements

Table 2.5 and **Figure 5.2** show IAUC (\pm SEM) for plasma glucose over 480 minutes. The ingestion of carbohydrate alone and/or carbohydrate with fat increased the IAUC plasma glucose level when compare with ingesting fat only, in particular in the first 120 minutes. Glucose AUC and IAUC were significantly lower in OFTT compared with OGTT and COMB (all p<0.05).

During the first 120 minutes observation, the consumption of fat with carbohydrate lowered both IAUC and AUC of the glycaemic response. Incremental glucose concentration in the first 2 hours was significantly higher in OGTT than in COMB by 49% (mean (95%CI) difference: +0.55 (+0.04 to +1.06) mmol.l⁻¹, p=0.01) and a moderate Cohen's effect size of 0.76 and in the AUC OGTT glucose concentrations were higher in OGTT then COMB by 12% with a mean (95%CI) difference: +0.17 (+0.03 to +0.30) mmol.l⁻¹, p=0.03). We observed a lower glycaemic response in COMB trial when compared with OGTT at 30 and 60 minutes. Glucose concentrations were lower by 52% (p<0.01) and a moderate Cohen effect size of 0.74 at 30 minutes and by 65% (p< 0.01) and a large Cohen's effect size of 2.77.

Insulin response was not influenced by the addition of fat with carbohydrate compared to carbohydrate by itself (**Table 2.5**). Ingesting fat alone had a significantly lower effect on insulin secretion compared with the ingestion COMB test meal or OGTT test meal alone (all p<0.05) (**Figure 5.3**).

The co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate seems to have a suppressing effect on NEFA release. The IAUC is shown in **Table 5.2** and **Figure 5.4**, at the first 30 minutes there greater reduction in NEFA concentration in the OGTT trial comparing with OFTT trial by 72% (p<0.01) and in comparison with the COMB trial by 58% (p<0.03). After an hour of ingestion, the reduction of NEFA continued to be lower in OGTT by 87% and 65% compared with both OFTT and COMB (all p<0.01). At 90 minutes there was significant different between the three trials, as NEFA concentration continued to fall in OGTT

by 92% and 64% from both OFTT and COMB respectively (all p<0.01) and the OFTT was lower by 85% compared with COMB (p<0.01). After 2 hour of food ingestion NEFA concentration was lower in OGTT by 77% than OFTT and by 80% versus COMB (mean (95%CI) difference: (-0.32 (-0.48 to -0.17)) giving a Cohen's d effect size of 1.27 and (-0.23 (-0.40 to -0.17)) giving a Cohen's d effect size of 0.86 (all p<0.01).

Plasma TG concentrations for incremental postprandial states for the group are shown in **Figure 5.5** and **Tables 5.2**. The co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate did not have any significant effect on plasma TG concentrations. As expected OGTT trial was significantly different from both OFTT trial and COMB trial. The OGTT trial was different from OFTT trial by mean of (95%CI) difference:-0.38 (-0.54 to -0.22), and a large Cohen's d effect size of 1.47; and from COMB trial (-0.39 (-0.54 to -0.24) and a large Cohen's d effect size of 1.61 (all p<0.005).



Figure 5.2. Change in glucose response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay. ^aSignificantly different from OGTT trial, ^bsignificantly different from OFTT trial, ^csignificantly different from COMB trial, all (p<0.001).



Time (min) Figure 5.3. Change in insulin response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).



Figure 5.4. Change in NEFA response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean ± SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, b significantly different from fat trial, c significantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).



Figure 5.5. Change in TG response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analyses was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, b significantly different from fat trial, c significantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).

Table 5.2; Change in plasma values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COME	trials.
---	---------

	Mean Value			Mean difference				Effect Size		
	OGTT	OFTT	СОМВ	OGTT vs OFTT	OGTT vs COMB	OFTT vs COMB	OGTT vs OFTT	OGTT vs COMB	OFTT vs COMB	
TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)	-0.01 ± 0.05	0.37 ± 0.08	0.38 ± 0.08	-0.38 (-0.54 to -0.22)	-0.39 (-0.54 to -0.24)	+0.01 (-0.13 to +0.16)	1.47**	1.61**	0.06	
NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.02 ± 0.12	0.18 ± 0.06	0.17 ± 0.05	-0.17 (-0.36 to +0.03	-0.15 (-0.37 to +0.07)	-0.02 (-0.10 to +0.07)	0.52	0.41	0.12	
Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	-0.10 ± 0.08	-0.35 ± 0.15	-0.19 ± 0.12	+0.26 (+0.02 to +0.49)	+0.09 (-0.18 to +0.36)	+0.17 (-0.22 to +0.56)	0.68**	0.21*	0.26	
First h glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.11 ± 0.18	-0.29 ± 0.15	0.56 ± 0.21	+1.38 (+1.03 to +1.7)	+0.54 (+0.01 to +1.05)	+0.58 (+0.34 to +1.35)	2.47**	0.64*	1.04**	
Insulin (mU.I.¹)	1.84 ± 2.47	-0.48 ± 0.67	2.28 ± 4.22	+2.32 (-3.36 to +8.00)	-0.45 (-6.31 to +5.41)	+2.76 (-5.70 to +11.2)	0.25	0.05	0.20	
First h insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)	17.84 ± 5.76	2.34 ± 1.16	18.05 ± 8.69	+15.52 (+3.60 to +27.42)	-0.19 (-11.06 to +10.62)	+15.71 (-1.21 to +32.62)	0.81**	0.01	0.58**	

Values are the mean ± SEM, n=10; data were analysed using repeated measure ANOVA.* significant from the other group p<0.05, **p<0.005

5.3.2 Lipoprotein composition

Triglyceride rich lipoprotein

Table 5.3 shows the AUC (\pm SEM) values of TG concentration in chylomicron particles in the three trials. The pattern of TG IAUC in chylomicron was similar to TG IAUC in plasma (Figure 5.7). There was a significant difference between the three trials and the time points in each trial and the pattern of the change (all p<0.001). After food ingestion, within an hour the TG concentration started to rise similarly in both OFTT and COMB trials. The mean IAUC values of chylomicron-TG were significantly lower in OGTT (mean (95%CI) difference: -0.19 (-0.24 to -0.13, p<0.005)) compared with OFTT, giving a large Chen's d effect size of 1.84, and in OGTT compared with COMB (mean (95%CI) difference: -0.13 (-0.05 to + 0.04, p<0.005)). However, there was no significant different between IAUC chylomicron-TG concentration in OFTT and COMB trials.

The ingestion of carbohydrate alone and the co-ingestion of carbohydrate seem to increase the TG percentage in VLDL₁ particles (**Figure 5.7 panel A and Table 5.3**). Whereas, if fat was ingested alone TG concentrations were significantly lower than OGTT and COMB trials respectively by 21% (+10.14 (0.04 to +20.33) giving a moderate Cohen's effect size of 0.62 and by 21% (+10.23 (-0.63 to +21.09) giving a moderate Cohen's effect size 0.58 (all p=0.03).

The percentage of phospholipid was higher in OFTT trial when compared with OGTT and COMB trials. Phospholipid in OFTT trial was significantly higher by 19% from OGTT trial, giving a moderate Cohen's d effect size of 0.55 (p=0.056) and 18% comparing OFTT with COMB trial, giving a moderate Cohen's d effect size of 0.56 (p=0.06).

VLDL₁ particles incremental concentration seemed to increase by approximately double when fat alone was ingested (**Figure 5.8 panel A**). The co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate and/ or ingestion of carbohydrate alone, reduced VLDL₁ concentrations by 45%, giving a large Cohen's d effect size of 0.82 and 59%, giving a small Cohen's d effect size of 0.42 respectively when compared with ingesting fat alone (**Table 5.3**). However, at 8 hours of meal ingestion, the concentration of VLDL₁

in COMB trial decreased dramatically when compared with OGTT mass by 158% (p<0.05).

There was no any significant difference in the percentage of FC, CE, protein and CE/TG ratio between the three meal types (see **Table 5.3**).

The co-ingestion of fat with carbohydrate had a small influence on VLDL₂ composition. There was no significant different in the percentage TG, CE, FC, PL and protein between the three trials (see **Table 5.4**).

There was a trend of reduction in $VLDL_2$ concentration when fat alone ingested. In OFTT trial $VLDL_2$ concentration was higher than OGTT trial by 67%, giving a moderate Cohen's d effect size 0.43 and COMB trial by 69%, respectively.

The CE/TG ratio was double in OFTT significantly comparing with OGTT and COMB and giving a small Cohen's d effect size of 0.55 and 0.61 respectively (all p=0.05) (see Table 5.4 and Figure 5.8, panel B and Figure 5.10).



Figure 5.6. Change in chylomicron-TG response over the 480 minute observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, N = 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysiss was used to identify where significant main effect lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.001).



Figure 5.7. Change in lipoprotein-TG response over the 480 minute observation period, panel [A] shows the change in VLDL₁-TG and panel [B] the change in VLDL₂-TG in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05).



Figure 5.8. Change in lipoprotein concentration response over the 480 minute observation period, panel [A] shows the change in VLDL₁ concentration and panels [B] the change in VLDL₂ concentration in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05).

Table 5.3; Time-averaged areas under the curve for chylomicron concentration and VLDL₁ composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.

	Mean Value			Mean difference				Effect size		
	OGTT	OFTT	СОМВ	OGTT vs OFTT	OGTT vs COMB	OFTT vs COMB	OGT T vs OFTT	OGTT vs COMB	OFTT vs COMB	
Chylomicron TG (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.03 ± 0.01	0.22 ± 0.03	0.22 ± 0.03	-0.19 (-0.24 to -0.13)	-0.19 (-0.05 to +0.04)	0.00 (+2.50 to +9.22)	2.15* *	2.30**	0.04	
IAUC total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻ 1)	5.94 ± 4.11	13.65 ± 4.18	6.18 ± 4.82	-7.71 (-8.29 to -1.91)	-0.24 (-1.38 to +11.20)	-7.47 (-8.58 to +3.58)	0.82	0.01	0.42	
Triglyceride (%)	58.56 ± 1.27	48.42 ± 4.97	58.65 ± 2.10	+10.14 (+0.04 to +20.33)	+0.24 (-2.62 to +3.11)	+10.23 (-0.63 to +21.09)	0.62*	0.05	0.58*	
Free cholesterol (%)	4.67 ± 0.67	5.41 ± 0.85	5.43 ± 0.28	-0.74 (-2.56 to +1.07)	-0.76 (-1.77 to +0.25)	+0.02 (-1.40 to +1.44)	0.25*	0.47	0.01	
Cholesteryl ester (%)	11.11 ± 1.71	15.21 ± 4.11	10.96 ± 1.77	-4.11 (-13.03 to +4.81)	+0.15 (-1.67 to +1.96)	-4.26 (-13.94 to +5.42)	0.29	0.05	0.27	
Phospholipid (%)	15.11 ± 0.80	18.34 ± 1.78	15.43 ± 0.61	-3.23 (-6.84 to +0.38)	-0.23 (-1.69 to +1.04)	-2.91 (-6.16 to +0.34)	0.55	0.15	0.56*	
Protein (%)	10.55 ± 0.84	12.62 ± 2.72	9.53 ± 1.11	-2.06 (-7.22 to +3.10	+1.03 (-1.96 to +4.01)	-3.09 (-7.15 to +0.98)	0.25	0.21	0.47	
CE/TG (mol:mol)	0.26 ± 0.04	0.67 ± 0.34	0.28 ± 0.06	-0.41 (-0.47 to +0.27)	-0.04 (-0.02 to +0.04)	+0.39 (+0.32 to+1.10)	0.37	0.17	0.34	

Values for lipoprotein concentration is mean IAUC \pm SEM, rest of the values are the mean \pm SEM, n=10; data were analysed using repeated measure ANOVA.* significant from the other group p<0.05, **p<0.005.

Table 5.4; Time-averaged areas under the curve for VLDL₂ composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.

	Mean Value			Mean different			Effect Size		
	OGTT	OFTT	СОМВ	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB
IAUC total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	1.20 ± 2.55	5.03 ± 1.55	1.40 ± 3.46	-3.83 (-4.38 to +1.64)	-0.20 (-0.98 to +7.55)	-3.63 (-4.32 to +3.26)	0.43	0.02	0.33
Triglyceride (%)	39.44 ± 2.80	33.24 ± 2.98	34.70 ± 3.54	+6.20 (-2.76 to +15.16)	+4.74 (+0.45 to +9.04)	+1.46 (-7.63 to +10.55)	0.43	0.68	0.10
Free cholesterol (%)	7.72 ± 0.87	8.40 ± 0.49	8.75 ± 0.62	-0.68 (-2.31 to +0.95)	-1.03 (-2.16 to +0.09)	+0.36 (-0.88 to +1.59)	0.26	0.57	0.18
Cholesteryl ester (%)	18.01 ± 1.60	17.31± 1.89	19.35 ± 2.14	+0.69 (-2.20 to +3.59)	-1.34 (-5.08 to +2.39)	+2.04 (-2.61 to +6.68)	0.15	0.22	0.27
Phospholipid (%)	17.79 ± 1.63	20.45 ± 1.40	19.16 ± 1.07	-2.65 (-6.45 to +1.15)	-1.37 (-3.24 to +0.50)	-1.29 (-3.78 to +1.21)	0.43	0.45	0.32
Protein (%)	17.03 ± 2.28	20.60 ± 5.93	18.04 ± 2.91	-3.57 (-15.49 to +8.35)	-1.00 (-4.32 to +2.32)	-2.57 (-13.02 to +7.89)	0.19	0.19	0.15
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.48 ± 0.07	1.11 ± 0.37	0.67 ± 0.11	-0.63 (-0.70 to +0.08)	-0.19 (-0.21 to -0.01)	+0.44 (-0.37 to +1.20)	0.55*	0.61*	0.36

Values for lipoprotein concentration is mean IAUC \pm SEM, rest of the values are the mean \pm SEM, n=10; data were analysed using repeated measure ANOVA.* significant from the other group p<0.05, **p<0.005.

Cholesterol-rich lipoproteins

Table 5.5 shows the AUC (±SEM) values of shows mean AUC (±SEM) of IDL percentage composition. The Carbohydrate ingestion led to enrich the particle with TG when compared to the two trials. However, the ratio of CE/TG did not differ significantly. Fat ingestion; lead the particle to have more phospholipids. There was no significant different in, CE, FC, protein and total lipoprotein mass (Figure 5.9, panel A and Figure 5.10).

Table 5.6 shows mean AUC (\pm SEM) of LDL percentage composition. Ingesting carbohydrate alone increased TG concentration and reduced phospholipid concentration in LDL particles when compared with ingesting fat alone and/or co-ingesting fat with carbohydrate. As shown in **Table 5.6** TG concentration in OGTT trial was higher by 52% comparing with ingesting fat alone and/or the co-ingestion of both by 49% (all p=0.05).

On the other hand, phospholipid was lower in OGTT trial by 12% and 9% comparing with both OFTT and COMB trials respectively, giving a moderate Cohen's d effect size of 0.57 and 0.54 (p=0.3 and p=0.05) respectively. There was a trend of lower CE/TG ratio by 29% when carbohydrate alone was ingested comparing to ingesting fat alone, giving a moderate Cohen's d effect size of 0.71. There was no significant different in, CE, FC, protein and total lipoprotein mass (**Figure 5.9, panel B and Figure 5.10**). The summary of lipoproteins result is shown in **Figure 5.10**, when carbohydrate was ingested alone or co-ingested with fat, both follow similar pattern on lipoprotein composition during 480 minutes of observation. Number of particles seem lower, however, they become more TG enrich.


Figure 5.9. Change in lipoprotein concentration response over the 480 minute observation period, panel [A] shows the change in IDL concentration and panel [B] shows the change in LDL concentration in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials. Values are mean \pm SEM, n= 10; data were analysed using two ways ANOVA. Least significant differences post-hoc analysis was used to identify where significant main effect lay a Significantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, all (p<0.05).

Table 5.5; Time-averaged areas under the curve for IDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.

	Mean value				Mean different	Effect size			
	OGTT	OFTT	СОМВ	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	1.11 ± 2.30	1.74 ± 2.72	-2.64 ± 1.90	-0.63 (-5.64 to +4.39)	+3.75 (-2.53 to +10.03)	-4.38 (-10.98 to +2.22)	0.08	0.37	0.41
Triglyceride (%)	14.64 ± 2.66	10.42 ± 0.71	9.78 ± 0.97	+4.22 (-0.20 to +8.63)	+4.86 (-0.09 to +9.81)	-0.64 (-2.80 to +1.52)	0.59*	0.61*	0.18
Free cholesterol (%)	13.31 ± 1.73	12.65 ± 0.67	12.31 ± 0.78	+0.65 (-2.51 to +3.18)	+1.00 (-2.53 to +4.52)	0.34 (-1.95 to +1.27)	0.13	0.18	0.13
Cholesteryl ester (%)	32.13 ± 3.07	35.83 ± 2.46	36.92 ± 1.57	-3.70 (-9.45 to +2.05)	-4.79 (-11.86 to +2.27)	+1.09 (-5.22 to +7.40)	0.40	0.42	0.11
Phospholipid (%)	21.81 ± 1.67	25.09 ± 0.60	22.87 ±0.69	-3.27 (-7.22 to +0.67)	-1.05 (-4.46 to +2.35)	-2.22 (-3.95 to -0.49)	0.51*	0.19	0.80*
Protein (%)	18.15 ± 2.13	16.06 ± 1.86	18.12 ± 2.34	+2.09 (-1.43 to +5.61)	+0.04 (-5.53 to +5.60)	+2.05 (-3.48 to +7.58)	0.37	0.00	0.23
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	4.21 ± 0.87	5.05 ± 0.67	5.77 ± 0.78	-0.84 (-0.98 to +0.56)	-1.56 (-1.78 to +0.68)	-0.72 (-0.90 to +1.11)	0.37	0.43	0.24

Values for lipoprotein concentration is mean IAUC \pm SEM, rest of the values are the mean \pm SEM, n=10; data were analysed using repeated measure ANOVA.* significant from the other group p<0.05, **p<0.005.

Table 5.6; Time-averaged areas under the curve for LDL composition and concentration values over the 480-minute postprandial observation period in the OGTT, OFTT and COMB trials.

	Mean value			Mean different				Effect size		
	OGTT	OFTT	СОМВ	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB	OGTT vs. OFTT	OGTT vs. COMB	OFTT vs. COMB	
Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	9.73 ± 9.22	9.31 ±7.70	8.21 ± 4.44	+0.41 (-26.72 to +27.55)	+1.52 (-20.40 to +21.05)	-1.10 (-19.01 to +16.80)	0.02	0.01	0.04	
Triglyceride (%)	8.29 ± 2.11	4.65 ± 0.32	4.83 ± 0.37	+3.73 (+0.10 to +7.36)	+3.46 (+0.41 to +7.32)	+0.27 (-0.40 to +0.95)	0.64*	0.55*	0.40	
Free cholesteryl (%)	10.64 ± 2.28	10.72 ± 0.63	11.08 ± 0.55	-0.08 (-4.40 to +4.24)	-0.44 (-4.99 to +4.12)	+0.35 (-1.13 to +1.84)	0.01	0.0.06	0.15	
Cholesterol ester (%)	35.74 ± 1.81	37.19 ± 1.22	37.62 ±1.39	-1.45 (-5.48 to +2.59)	-1.88 (-6.20 to +2.44)	+0.44 (-2.93 to +3.80)	0.22	0.27	0.08	
Phospholipid (%)	19.23 ± 0.93	21.59 ± 0.69	20.99 ± 0.36	-2.36 (-4.94 to +0.23)	-1.76 (-3.77 to +0.26)	-0.60 (-1.87 to +0.67)	0.57*	0.54*	0.29	
Protein (%)	26.09 ± 1.43	25.94 ± 1.77	25.47 ± 1.48	+0.15 (-3.22 το +3.52)	+0.62 (-3,20 το 4.43)	-0.47 (-3.86 to +2.93)	0.03	0.10	0.08	
CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	9.12 ± 1.56	11.81 ± 11.02	11.31 ± 1.07	-2.69 (-2.92 to -0.33)	-2.19 (-2.49 to +0.85)	+0.50 (+0.31 to +2.45)	0.71	0.45	0.16	

Values for lipoprotein concentration is mean IAUC \pm SEM, rest of the values are the mean \pm SEM, n=10; data were analysed using repeated measure ANOVA.* significant from the other group p<0.05, **p<0.005.

OFTT OGTT COMB TG CE Coat FC 10% 10% 13% PL Protein 15% a,c 18% Ь 49 Ь VLDL₁ FC TG 59% 59% CE 11% 11% فلي 17% 18% 21% 33% 35% 39% VLDL₂ 18% 9% 21% **a** 10% a 10% 15% 16% 18% 18% b,c IDL b a,c b 37% 25% 36% 22% 23% 329 FC 12% 13% 13% b,c 89 26% 25% 26% 37% 38% LDL 369 b,c a a 22% 19% 21% 11% 11% 11%

5 Effect of co- ingesting fat with carbohydrate on lipid and glucose response

Figure 5.10. Differences between lipoprotein compositions in the three trials, lay ^aSignificantly different from glucose trial, ^bsignificantly different from fat trial, ^csignificantly different from combination trial, p<0.005. Protein, phospholipid (PL) and free-cholesterol (FC) comprise the outer coat of the lipoprotein; triglyceride (TG) and cholesteryl-ester (CE) comprise the lipoprotein core.

5.4 Discussion

The goal of this study was to address the effect of ingesting fat and carbohydrate separately and in combination on postprandial responses. The results of the experiments appear are in line with existing literature (Wilson et al., 1985, Pedersen et al., 1999, Knuth et al., 2008, Collier and O'Dea, 1983).

Glycaemic Response

It is well established that glucose intake increases plasma insulin (Elrick et al., 1964, Stumvoll et al., 2000). The finding of the current study with glucose ingestion is in line with this finding. Hyperglycaemia is a major contributor to endothelial damage providing a link between CVD and T2D (Ceriello, 2004). In contrast OFTT meal led to a low glycaemic and insulinemic response, in line with previously observations (Riccardi et al., 2004, Havel, 1957a).

In the current study, adding equal amounts of fat and carbohydrate (75 grams each) reduced the glycaemic response compared to carbohydrate ingestion alone. However, this response will be influenced by the amounts of fat and / or carbohydrate consumed, for example, in studies in which 8-24 g fat was fed in mixed meals containing 38-104 g carbohydrate, the added fat had little effect on the glycaemic response (Wolever and Bolognesi, 1996a). It has been observed that an intake of 15 g of fat has no influence on postprandial lipaemia and lipoproteins in healthy adults (Dubois et al., 1998). The current data shows that the COMB meal significantly reduced the glucose response, compared to carbohydrate ingestion alone, particularly during the first hour after meal ingestion. This is as has observed previously (Collier et al., 1984, Collier and O'Dea, 1983, Collier et al., 1988). The most likely explanation for these results is that fat slows gastric emptying (Thomas, 1957, Gentilcore et al., 2006, Heddle et al., 1989, Phillips et al., 2015) Gastric emptying is an important determinant of rate of glucose appearance and blood glucose homeostasis in healthy and diabetic populations (Horowitz et al., 1993). This is mediated by gut hormones such as gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) (Rocca and Brubaker, 1995, Herrmann et al., 1995, Feltrin et al.,

2004). The reduction of the rate of glucose absorption after the consumption of the mixture of carbohydrate with fat will attenuate glycaemic and insulinaemic responses (Gannon et al., 1988, Pi-Sunyer, 2002) and reduce the postprandial rise in some hormones such as incretins, and insulin (Jenkins et al., 2002, Ludwig, 2002). The prolonged absorption of carbohydrate seen over time will maintain suppression of the free fatty acids and the counter regulatory responses, resulting in slower carbohydrate entry into the small intestine, while at the same time achieving lower blood glucose concentrations (Jenkins et al., 1990, Jenkins et al., 1988, Wolever et al., 1988, Ludwig et al., 1999). However, COMB meal did not lower the insulin AUC significantly and this has been observed previously (Collier et al., 1984, Collier and O'Dea, 1983, Collier et al., 1988). This is might be due to the type of dietary fat in particular saturated fatty acid which also affects insulin sensitivity, independently of its effects on body weight (Jenkins et al., 1978, Mayer et al., 1993), while monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids improve it through modifications in the composition of cell membranes (Chen et al., 1988, Swinburn et al., 1991, Lovejoy et al., 1998, Parillo et al., 1992, Bhaswant et al., 2015). In addition, we used glucose as a source of carbohydrate and it is well established that type of carbohydrate influences insulin levels (Augustin et al., 2002, Jenkins et al., 2008). Although we cannot exclude the possibility that fat ingestion may alter the hepatic extraction of insulin, the simplest explanation would invoke the potentiation of insulin secretion by the co-ingestion of fat (Collier et al., 1984, Estrich et al., 1967). Generally, the impact of carbohydrates on blood glucose is affected by the type of carbohydrate, the food form, type and amount of dietary fibre (Guillon and Champ, 2000, Eastwood and Morris, 1992, Granfeldt et al., 2008), the presence of other nutrients.

Lipaemic response

Despite the insulin response being similar in the glucose and combined trials, effects on NEFA suppression differed markedly. There was a substantial initial suppression of NEFA in the glucose trial which was markedly attenuated when glucose and fat were co-ingested. As it has been well established that the ingestion of carbohydrate stimulates insulin release, which suppresses the release of NEFA from adipose tissue and stimulates fat storage (Sadur and Eckel, 1982, Coppack et al., 1990). However, TG concentrations did not change when OGTT meal was consumed. As carbohydrate has no influence on plasma TG concentrations.

In the OFTT meal, there was a significant postprandial increase in TG concentrations, in line with previous research which has shown that fat content influences plasma TG concentrations (Cohen and Berger, 1990, van Tol et al., 1998). The amount of fat required to significantly elevate plasma TG concentration is in the order of 30-50 g. Some studies have been performed with increasing doses of dietary fat (Cohen et al., 1988, Dubois et al., 1994, Murphy et al., 1995, Dubois et al., 1998). In these studies a very low dose (5 g) or low dose (15 g) of dietary fat does not significantly increase TG concentration postprandially; moderate doses (30-50 g) dose-dependently increase postprandial triglyceridemia; and finally, very high doses (80 g and above) exaggerate postprandial triglyceridemia.

The co-ingestion of carbohydrate with fat did not influence the postprandial plasma TG response in the present study. Many studies reported that the addition of carbohydrate to a fat meal did not influence the lipaemic response after meal ingestion (Cohen et al., 1988, Nicholls and Cohen, 1985, van Oostrom et al., 2004) but this finding is not universal. On the other hand, other studies report that the addition of carbohydrate to a fat meal reduces the post-prandial TG response to the ingested fat compared with a fat meal alone (Albrink et al., 1958, Cohen and Berger, 1990, Westphal et al., 2002, Westphal et al., 2004). This has been linked to effect of carbohydrate in the delay the appearance of ingested lipid as a result of a change in gastric osmolarity (Cohen and Berger, 1990, Hunt, 1961, Westphal et al., 2002, Vist and Maughan, 1995, Jenkins et al., 1984). It has been found that the rate of gastric empting is reduced roughly 50% when carbohydrate is added to a fat meal (Westphal et al., 2002). However, our findings disagree with this result. This is might be due to the hepatic VLDL and chylomicron remnants accumulation due to altered lipoprotein secretion and/or clearance (Parks et al., 1999, Abbasi et al., 2000). As the current data show, chylomicron-TG concentrations were similar when fat ingested alone and/or when it was combined with carbohydrate. And as we mentioned above, insulin

response did not differ when fat was added to carbohydrate which affected LPL secretion and activity. Insulin has a role in the activity of adipose tissue LPL (Nilsson-Ehle et al., 1975, Sadur and Eckel, 1982, Sadur et al., 1984).

It is been observed that postprandial lipaemia is influenced by the amount and type of dietary fat present in the meal, as well as other dietary components including fibre, glucose, starch, and alcohol (Cohen and Berger, 1990, van Tol et al., 1998). It has been reported that the intake of long-chain omega(n) - 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) (predominantly fish oil), results in lower TG levels and attenuates postprandial lipaemia (Tinker et al., 1999).

Lipoproteins

TG concentration was mostly constant over the course of the OGTT trial and this might be because there was no competition between chylomicron and VLDL₁ particles to be cleared by the action of LPL (Karpe et al., 1992). This also is similar to the pattern of plasma TG and agrees with the findings of others (Lewis et al., 1993b, Lewis et al., 1993a, Vogelberg et al., 1980).

In OFTT and COMB meal the response of chylomicron and VLDL TG paralleled that of total TG; maximum increases occurred 4 h after intake of the meals, a finding that was also observed by others (Karpe et al., 1995, Cohen et al., 1988). The addition of carbohydrate to fat did influence the composition of VLDL₁ (Figure 5.10). When carbohydrate ingested with fat or when it was ingested alone, VLDL₁ concentrations were lower than when fat was ingested alone, and this might be due the accumulation of VLDL₁ particles and increase in the clearance of very rich TG-chylomicrons. Alternatively, it might be due to low insulin concentration and high circulating NEFA concentration which stimulate the production of VLDL particles (Lewis et al., 1994, Lewis et al., 1995). Also, it has been suggested that the increase in the influx of exogenous origin, whereas an increase in the secretion of TRL of endogenous origin will inhibit the removal from plasma of newly absorbed TRL of exogenous origin (Schneeman et al., 1993). However, TG concentrations were higher in both trials

significantly when compared with fat ingestion alone. A trend of lower protein content in VLDL₁ was observed. This would be linked to the number of particles and suggest that consuming carbohydrate with fat contributes to lower particle number, but more TG-rich particles. Lipolysis of VLDL₁ has been shown to give rise to LDL particles in the density range that have a prolonged residence time (approx. 5 days), compared with LDL derived from smaller VLDL or intermediate-density lipoprotein precursors (which has a residence time of approx. 2 days) (Packard, 2003, Julius et al., 2007, Gazi et al., 2005). The newly formed LDL particles have sufficient time to be remodelled by the action of CETP, LDL will lose CE and gain TG. When this remodelling of LDL particles occurs to a significant degree, then it is postulated that the next exposure of the triacylglycerol-enriched LDL to HL will lead to the removal of enough TG to promote a shift in particle size into the small, dense range (Packard, 2003, Julius et al., 2007, Gazi et al., 2005). This sdLDL are the most readily oxidized subfraction among lipoprotein classes (Tribble et al., 1994, Julius et al., 2007) which increase its atherogenic potential.

In contrast, $VLDL_2$ particles seem not to respond to any factors neither diet nor exercise as shown in this study and the study in **Chapter 4**. However, there was a trend of higher concentration of $VLDL_2$ when fat alone was ingested, following the same pattern of $VLDL_1$ particles. This mean more $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ were accumulated in the circulation when fat alone was ingested.

When consuming carbohydrate alone, IDL tended to have more TG and less phospholipids when compared to co-ingestion or fat ingestion and this is similar to $VLDL_1$ pattern during the trials.

In the COMB trial IDL concentrations on the plasma were reduced, consistent with the lower concentrations of VLDL₁ particles recorded in this trial. Also, this suggests a faster catabolism of VLDL₁ particles due to the insulin-induced LPL activity (Nilsson-Ehle et al., 1975, Sadur et al., 1984, Sadur and Eckel, 1982).

Concentration of LDL particles did not differ between the three trials. However, compositions differed. Ingesting carbohydrate alone increased the percentage of TG and lowered the percentage CE in LDL particles when compared to ingesting fat alone and/ or the co-ingestion of both. This might be an adverse consequence as smaller more cholesterol rich LDL particle sizes are statistically correlated with other risk factors for coronary artery disease (Rosenson et al., 2002, Lamarche et al., 2008). Because LDL particle size is inversely related to plasma TG concentration, it is important to address if whether elevations in plasma TG induced by adding carbohydrate to fat is associated with reductions in LDL particle size (Dreon et al., 1994, Dreon et al., 1999). Also, its influence, the prevalence of LDL subclass pattern B, a categorical marker for atherogenic dyslipidemia defined by the predominance of sdLDL, has been linearly and positively associated with increasing concentrations of dietary CHOs in randomized controlled clinical trials (RCTs) (Schwingshackl and Hoffmann, 2013, Bueno et al., 2013, Krauss et al., 2006).

However, one of the limitations in the study is that, it was not possible to determine rates of production and removal of lipoprotein particles; this would require a kinetic study. We didn't measure CETP in plasma, which promotes the triacylglycerol enrichment of HDL with concomitant cholesteryl ester accumulation in VLDLs (Dullaart et al., 1989, Mann et al., 1991). We also did not measure the activity of LPL. Moreover, the types of ingested fatty acid have a different influence on lipoprotein composition. It has been shown that, the long term of ingesting specific fatty acids classes can affect serum total, LDL, and HDL cholesterol concentrations and TG concentrations (Mensink and Katan, 1992, Mensink et al., 2003). The type of fatty acid that ingested in the current study was principally saturated and further study is needed evaluate the effects of co-ingestion of different types of fatty acids with carbohydrate.

The meal we provide contained 2.3 g of protein, which is a low amount. The existence of protein in diet might influence plasma lipid postprandially. High protein diets appear to have beneficial effects on weight loss, body composition, and certain blood lipids, at least in the short term (Hession et al., 2009). Satiating effects of dietary protein, a reduced choice of foods, and an aversion against dietary fat in the absence

of carbohydrates have all been attributed to better weight loss with high protein diets (Weickert et al., 2005). However, there is limited data on the amount of protein that can influence postprandial response (Lopez-Miranda et al., 2007). Previous studies suggest that adding fat and protein to carbohydrate reduces glycaemic responses nonlinearly, with the glycaemic impact reaching a plateau as more and more protein and fat are added (Owen and Wolever, 2003, Moghaddam et al., 2006, Spiller et al., 1987). It has been observed that ingesting 47 g of soya protein led to lower cholesterol in plasma and LDL particles and plasma TG (Anderson et al., 1995). Another study found that consuming 20 g of soya protein for 3 weeks rescued plasma remnant like (Higashi et al., 2001). Further investigation should be focused on the effect of ingesting protein alone or with other macronutrients on postprandial metabolism.

The challenges that accompany scientific research in this area result in an inability to conclusively determine the most effective macronutrient compositions required for the reduction of CVD risk. The co-ingestion of both carbohydrate and fat seems to reduce glycaemic response, however, ingesting fat contributes to weight gain in the long term (Lissner and Heitmann, 1995, McMorrow et al., 2016, Hall et al., 2015, Purnell et al., 1999, Visscher and Seidell, 2001, Seidell, 1998, Bray and Popkin, 1998).

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin

6.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, and its incidence is increasing in developing countries, including those in the Middle East, such as Afghanistan, Turkey, Iran, Iraq, Lebanon, Gulf countries, and Palestine (Bovet et al., 2006). Indeed, approximately 80% of the CVD mortality worldwide occurs in developing countries (Sibai et al., 2010) These numbers are expected to continue to rise over coming years and CVD is also more likely to occur in younger ages in developing countries (Bovet et al., 2006). On the other hand, in the Western countries where the disease first had its epidemic, there is now a decline in CVD because of major public health efforts (Mensah et al., 2017, Mendis, 2017).

The pattern of increasing disease burden in the developing countries is not only the case for CVD, but other risk factors and metabolic diseases. For example, in Middle East, overall prevalence of diabetes amongst adults aged 18-80 years is 22% in men and 19% in women (Shara, 2010), and over the last 3 decades obesity in some regions of the Middle East has tripled (Shara, 2010). The Middle East is now facing an epidemic of diabetes and obesity, with prevalence of type 2 diabetes amongst the highest in the world.

Changes in lifestyle factors, including changes to eating habits to more closely resemble Western societies, smoking, urbanization and technological advances and reduced physical activity during work and leisure are likely to contribute to the increases in cardio-metabolic disease in the Middle East (Al-Kandari, 2006). While modifiable lifestyle-related factors are likely to underpin these disease increases (Jamrozik et al., 2001), it is possible that the extent to which these factors influence

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin disease risk is influenced by unmodifiable risk factors such as age, sex and ethnic background.

There is evidence of ethnic differences in postprandial responses to meal ingestion which could potentially contribute to the observed ethnic differences in cardiometabolic disease risk (Mohan et al., 1986, Raji et al., 2001). For example, young adults of Vietnamese, south Asian and Chinese origin displayed marked postprandial hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinemia compared with age-matched Caucasian subjects (Dickinson et al., 2002). Furthermore, in South Asians, the glycaemic response was greater than in Northern Europeans and Latin Americans, although there were no differences in postprandial TG concentrations or in insulin sensitivity as assessed with the insulin tolerance test (Cruz et al., 2001a, McKeigue et al., 1991). Remnant-like particle cholesterol levels in Japanese subjects have consistently been reported to be lower than those in Caucasians (Twickler et al., 2004). Black populations, are more insulin resistant than white Europeans and have higher glucose and insulin responses to glucose ingestion (Healy et al., 2015, Ziemer et al., 2010, Osei et al., 1992).

However, there are limited data on the metabolic responses of Middle Eastern populations, who are a group with high population burden of cardio-metabolic disease. Therefore, this experimental chapter is a pilot study to examine the differences in postprandial metabolic responses between Middle Eastern and European adults.

6.2 Participants and Methods

6.2.1 Participants

The data of 16 men (8 Middle Eastern and 8 Europeans) were collected from the previous experimental **Chapter 4** and **5**, their characterizations are listed in **Table 6.1**. All subjects were apparently healthy, normotensive, normoglycaemic (fasting

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin glucose ≤ 6 mmol.l⁻¹), nonsmokers. None was taking any drugs known to affect lipid or carbohydrate metabolism. The study was conducted with the approval of University of Glasgow Ethics Committee, and subjects gave written informed consent prior to participation.

6.2.2 Test meals

Seven participants had the high fat mixed meal (HFM) meal (containing 75 g fat and 77.4 g carbohydrate) described in **section 2.5.1** and 9 participants had the COMB meal (containing 92.4 g fat and 86.3 g carbohydrate) described in **section 2.5.4 (see table 6.1).** Test meal was included as a co-variate in statistical analyses and shown not to have a significant effect on any of the postprandial responses.

6.2.3 Blood sampling

Subjects reported to the lab on the morning after fasting for at least 12h. A cannula was placed in an antecubital vein and, after a 10-min interval, a fasted state blood sample was withdrawn. A test meal, as described above in **Section 6.2.2.**, was provided. Further blood samples were obtained at 30, 60, 90, 120 and 240 minutes after meal consumption. Subjects rested and consumed only water during this time.

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin Table 6.1; Physical characteristics

	Meal	AGE (years)	Height (M)	Body Mass (Kg)	BMI (kg.m ⁻²)	Waist (cm)	Hip (cm)	WHR	% body fat
	HFM	37.00	1.91	101.90	27.93	102.00	107.00	0.95	23.31
	HFM	24.00	1.68	77.20	27.29	85.00	95.10	0.89	16.79
	HFM	34.00	1.69	75.40	26.28	94.05	99.45	0.95	26.27
Furanasa	HFM	49.00	1.71	81.00	27.67	101.00	103.00	0.98	25.55
European	COMB	32.00	1.85	86.35	25.07	88.81	102.10	0.87	24.74
	COMB	31.00	1.75	83.00	27.10	79.85	98.45	0.81	25.93
	COMB	25.00	1.84	83.10	24.52	95.00	102.00	0.93	15.09
	COMB	35.00	1.85	86.00	25.13	81.15	102.70	0.79	21.57
Mean		33.38	1.79	84.24	26.37	90.86	101.23	0.90	22.41
SD		7.80	0.09	8.11	1.32	8.52	3.55	0.07	4.30
	HFM	55.0	1.8	89.60	28.83	101.60	103.50	0.98	33.00
	HFM	31.0	1.7	81.00	27.38	102.00	98.00	1.04	27.00
	HFM	35.0	1.8	83.00	27.10	95.50	102.00	0.94	25.93
Middle Castorn	COMB	32.0	1.7	101.30	33.54	102.00	111.00	0.94	28.48
MIQUIE Eastern	COMB	35.0	2.0	90.00	22.96	74.00	98.00	0.76	10.56
	COMB	29.0	1.8	104.00	32.82	109.50	119.30	0.92	26.46
	COMB	29.0	1.9	94.00	27.47	95.50	100.00	0.96	27.00
	COMB	25.0	1.8	82.00	24.49	78.00	98.00	0.80	11.35
Mean		33.88	1.80	90.61	28.07	94.76	103.73	0.91	23.73
SD		9.16	0.08	8.71	3.66	12.44	7.66	0.09	8.16
p-value (EU vs	5 ME)	0.91	0.74	0.15	0.24	0.48	0.42	0.71	0.69

Values are means (SD), EU = European, ME = Middle Eastern. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern.

6.2.4 Plasma assays

Serum, TG and NEFA and plasma glucose concentrations were analysed at all-time points as previously mentioned in **Appendix C.** Total, HDL cholesterol and sdLDL concentrations were measured in the fasted state as mentioned in **Appendix C.** LDL cholesterol was calculated in the fasted state using the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972). Insulin was measured in EDTA plasma, as described in **section 2.6.3**, HOMA-IR was calculated as described in section **2.6.4**.

6.2.5 Lipoprotein separation

Plasma samples (2 ml) at 0, 1, 2 and 4 hours were centrifuged using ultracentrifugation technique to isolate lipoprotein subfractions as previously described in section 2.6.2. VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ fractions were assayed to determine concentrations and composition for TG, free cholesterol (FC) and phospholipids, as mention in Appendix C Cholesterol Easter was determined as described in section. Chylomicron fractions were assayed for TG concentration. In the VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ fractions, total protein was measured using a modified Lowry assay (see section 2.7).

6.2.6 Calculations and statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica (version 10, StatSoft Inc.) and Minitab (version 17, Minitab Ltd). All data were tested for normality using the Anderson-Darling test. Where data did not approximate a normal distribution, these were log-transformed prior to analysis. Time-averaged postprandial concentrations, calculated as the trapezium rule-derived areas under concentration versus time 6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin curve, divided by the duration of the postprandial observation period (240 minutes), were used as summary measures of the postprandial responses. Postprandial concentrations at individual timepoints between the two ethnic groups were compared by repeated measures ANOVA, with adjustment for BMI, age and test meal (HFM vs COMB). Post hoc Fisher tests were carried out to establish where differences lay. When displayed graphically SEMs were used as error bars. Unpaired T-tests were used to calculate differences in the area under the curve and the incremental area under the curve for postprandial responses. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. Cohen's d effect size was calculated by dividing the mean difference between the two groups by the stander deviation pool of both groups. Percentages of TG and CE were relative to total mass.TG to CE ratio in lipoprotein fractions was calculated as: TG/CE.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Fasting plasma concentration

Table 6.2. shows fasting plasma concentrations for both groups. European had higher fasting TG concentration than Middle Eastern by 40% (p = 0.05), with a large Cohen's *d* effect size for this difference of 0.96. There were no significant differences in total cholesterol, HDL, sdLDL, NEFA, glucose or insulin concentrations. However, although the differences did not achieve statistical significant fasting insulin concentrations and HOMA-IR were both ~4 fold higher in the Middle Eastern compared with the European adults, with medium Cohen's *d* effect sizes of 0.71 and 0.68 respectively. Table 6.2; Fasting Plasma Values.

	European (n = 8)	Middle Eastern (n = 8)	Mean difference	Effect size	P- value
Total cholesterol (mmol.l ⁻¹)	5.13 ± 0.36	4.91 ± 0.36	+0.23	0.23	0.66
HDL (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.20 ± 0.09	1.35 ± 0.17	-0.15	0.39	0.46
SdLDL (mg.dl ⁻¹)	35.56 ± 6.58	28.50 ± 5.03	+7.06	0.43	0.41
Triglyceride (mmol.l ⁻¹)	1.32 ± 0.17	0.88 ± 0.12	+0.44	0.96	0.05
NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.75 ± 0.06	0.79 ± 0.08	-0.04	0.22	0.68
Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	5.00 ± 0.19	5.11 ± 0.18	-0.10	0.20	0.70
Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)	5.81 ± 0.76	22.16 ± 11.07	-16.36	0.71	0.16
Log-Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)*	1.70 ± 0.14	2.39 ± 0.44	-0.69	0.72	0.16
HOMA-IR (units)⁺	1.30 ± 0.20	5.07 ± 2.70	-3.77	0.68	0.19

Values are means ± SEM, *log transformed values, ⁺Homeostasis Model Assessment. . Statistical analysis performed using unpaired t-test.

6.3.2 Postprandial concentrations

Table 6.3 shows the summary postprandial responses for the two ethnic groups. Europeans had higher TG AUC by 42%; this had borderline statistical significance (p=0.057) and a large Cohen's d effect size. Figure 6.1 shows these responses graphically; TG concentrations were significantly higher in Europeans at both the 2 and 4 hour postprandial timepoints. A similar pattern was observed when considering the IAUC and postprandial rises in TG concentration (i.e. adjusting for the difference in the fasting TG concentration). The TG IAUC was 62% higher in the Europeans, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.13), but the Cohen's d effect size, at 0.77 was moderate to large. The rise in postprandial TG concentration above fasting was significantly higher in the Europeans than the Middle Eastern participants at 2 and 4 hour postprandial timepoints (see Figure 6.1). The different between the two groups is clear at 2 and 4 hours postprandially. At 2 and 4 hours postprandially TG concentrations differ between the two groups significantly, as European shows higher TG response by 42% and a large Cohn d effect size 0.92 (p=0.01) and 50% with a large Cohen d effect size of 0.94 from Middle Eastern (p=0.001) respectively. The same trend was observed in the incremental area under the curve at 2 and 4 hours, European TG was 46% higher (p=0.03) to give a medium Cohen's d effect size 0.76 at 2 hours postprandially and 60% higher at 4 hours postprandially (p=0.005) and an effect size of 0.82 (Figure 6.1 panel B).

There was no significant different in AUC and IAUC for log-transformed glucose, logtransformed insulin or NEFA (Table 6.3, Figure 6.2 panel A and B, Figure 6.3 panel A and B and Figure 6.4 panel A and B). However, both glucose and insulin 6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin concentrations were different significantly in single time points between the two groups. Plasma glucose values at 60 and 90 minutes after meal ingestion were lower in European by 24% giving a large effect size of 0.90 (p=0.001) and 29% with a large effect size of 0.85 (p=0.05) respectively when compared with Middle Eastern. Also, incremental plasma glucose values at 60 and 90 minutes after meal ingestion were lower in European by 188% (p=0.005) and 27% (p=0.05) and to give a large Cohen's *d* effect size of 0.91 and 0.94 respectively comparing with Middle Eastern (**Figure 6.2 panel B**).

Similarly insulin values were significantly lower in European compared with Middle Eastern, at 90 and 120 minutes was higher by 128% and 88% respectively compared with European (p=0.02,p=0.05) giving a Cohen's d effect size of 0.94 and 0.66 respectively. IAUC was higher in Middle Eastern at 90 minutes by 129% compared with European (p=0.005) with a large Cohen's *d* effect size 0.88 (see Figure 6.3 panel B).

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin Table 6.3; Time-Averaged and incremental postprandial plasma Concentration.

		European (n= 8)	Middle eastern (n=8)	Mean difference	Effect size	P-value
	Triglyceride (mmol.l ⁻¹)	2.07 ± 0.27	1.35 ± 0.22	+0.73	0.94	0.057
AUC	NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.80 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.08	-0.01	0.05	0.92
	Log-Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	1.59 ± 0.04	1.71 ± 0.06	-0.12	0.83	0.10
	Log-Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)*	2.98 ± 0.15	3.54 ± 0.42	-0.56	0.61	0.24
	Triglyceride (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.76 ± 0.14	0.47 ± 0.11	+0.29	0.77	0.13
IAUC	NEFA (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.05 ± 0.05	0.04 ± 0.07	+0.01	0.05	0.92
	Glucose (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.06 ± 0.14	0.51 ± 0.25	-0.57	0.90	0.07
	Insulin (mU.l ⁻¹)	15.69 ± 3.84	37.83 ± 16.58	-22.14	0.64	0.21

Values are mean time-averaged postprandial concentration ± SEM, and mean incremental rise in postprandial state ± SEM, N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern.*log-transformed data. Statistical analysis performed using unpaired t-test.



[B] Incremental time-averaged plasma TG



Figure 6.1. Plasma-TG concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for TG concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma TG, N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005), ** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3.

[A] Mean postprandial plasma glucose

[B] Incremental time-averaged plasma glucose



Figure 6.2.Plasma-glucose concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for glucose concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma glucose. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3.



Figure 6.3. Plasma-insulin concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for insulin concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma insulin. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3.



Figure 6.4. Plasma-NEFA concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for NEFA concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for plasma NEFA. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p = 0.005). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.3.

6.3.3 Lipoprotein subfractions

Fasted Lipoprotein concentrations

Fasted VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ composition show in **Table 6.4**. VLDL₁ concentrations were significantly higher in European by 72% when compared with Middle Eastern (p<0.005), giving a large Cohen's d effect size of 0.96 for this difference (**Figure 6.5 panel A**). There were no other significant differences in VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ percentage of TG, FC, EC, PL, protein or the ratio of TG/CE.

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin Table 6.4; Fasted values for VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ composition.

		European (n=8)	Middle eastern (n=8)	- Mean difference	Effect size	p-value
VLDL₁	Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	72.04 ± 15.80	33.55 ± 8.47	+38.49	0.96	0.05
	Triglyceride (%)	60.03 ± 1.84	58.99 ± 2.77	+1.04	0.16	0.76
	Free cholesteryl (%)	7.03 ± 1.17	5.51 ± 0.82	+1.52	0.53	0.31
	Cholesterol ester (%)	9.03 ± 2.08	9.28 ± 1.55	-0.25	0.05	0.92
	Phospholipid (%)	15.12 ± 1.07	14.47 ± 1.30	+0.56	0.20	0.71
	Protein (%)	8.78 ± 1.29	11.73 ± 2.65	-2.95	0.50	0.33
	CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.21 ± 0.05	0.23 ± 0.06	-0.02	0.12	0.82
VLDL ₂	Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	41.20 ± 8.39	32.33 ± 9.42	+8.87	0.33	0.52
	Triglyceride (%)	34.32 ± 3.82	33.23 ± 4.27	+1.09	0.10	0.85
	Free cholesteryl (%)	9.66 ± 0.71	8.79 ± 0.70	+0.87	0.44	0.40
	Cholesterol ester (%)	22.33 ± 2.18	22.45 ± 2.95	-0.12	0.02	0.97
	Phospholipid (%)	19.99 ± 1.35	18.83 ± 1.82	+1.15	0.26	0.62
	Protein (%)	13.70 ± 2.77	16.70 ± 3.43	-2.99	0.35	0.51
	CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	1.42 ± 0.36	1.45 ± 0.30	-0.02	0.03	0.96

Values are mean ± SEM.

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin Postprandial lipoprotein concentrations

Table 6.5 shows chylomicron, $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ concentration in the postprandial state.

There was no significant different in the postprandial chylomicron-TG concentration (Table 6.5 and Figure 6.5).

VLDL₁ concentration AUC tends to be higher in Europeans when compared with Middle Eastern by 52% (p=0.09), giving a large effect size of 0.84. The concentration of VLDL₁ at 2 and 4 hours postprandially rose significantly among European by 58% and giving a large effect size of 0.93 and 42% giving a medium effect size of 0.66, (p<0.005 for both) respectively. (**Figure 6.5 panel A**). There was no significant different in VLDL₁ concentration IAUC (**Figure 6.5 panel B**).

 $VLDL_2$ concentration at 2 hours postprandially was significantly higher among European by 43% and giving a medium effect size of 0.75 (p<0.005). (Figure 6.7, panel A and B).

There were no significant differences between the two groups in the postprandial AUC or IAUC for both $VLDL_1$ and $VLDL_2$ percentage of TG, FC, EC, PL, protein or the ratio of TG/CE. (Table 6.5).

		European (n=8)	Middle eastern (n=8)	Mean difference	Effect size	p-value
Chlyomicron	Triglyceride (mmol.l ⁻¹)*	1.17 ± 0.27	1.53 ± 0.20	+0.36	0.54	0.30
VLDL ₁	Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	90.42 ± 16.15	53.00 ± 13.20	+37.43	0.84	0.09
	Triglyceride (%)	61.18 ± 1.52	60.92 ± 1.85	+0.25	0.05	0.92
	Free cholesteryl (%)	5.74 ± 0.43	5.09 ± 0.52	+0.56	0.49	0.35
	Cholesterol ester (%)	9.43 ± 0.91	9.60 ± 1.67	-0.17	0.04	0.93
	Phospholipid (%)	15.42 ± 1.02	15.33 ± 1.03	+0.09	0.03	0.95
	Protein (%)	8.23 ± 1.07	9.06 ± 1.18	-0.83	0.41	0.61
	CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	0.22 ± 0.03	0.27 ± 0.09	-0.05	0.31	0.55
VLDL ₂	Total lipoprotein concentration (mg.dl ⁻¹)	42.25 ± 7.24	28.97 ± 5.95	+13.28	0.69	0.18
-	Triglyceride (%)	37.23 ± 4.05	33.19 ± 3.41	+4.04	0.39	0.46
	Free cholesteryl (%)	8.35 ± 0.48	8.59 ± 0.55	-0.24	0.17	0.75
	Cholesterol ester (%)	21.05 ± 2.49	21.70 ± 2.72	-0.65	0.09	0.86
	Phospholipid (%)	19.22 ± 1.38	18.95 ± 1.78	+0.27	0.06	0.91
	Protein (%)	14.14 ± 2.73	17.56 ± 2.87	-3.42	0.43	0.40
	CE/TG ratio (mol:mol)	1.41 ± 0.58	1.15 ± 0.32	+0.25	0.20	0.71

6 A pilot study to determine the effect of ethnicity on postprandial metabolism: a comparison between men of European and Middle-Eastern origin Table 6.5; Time-averaged area under the curve for VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ composition.

Values are AUC mean ± SEM, CM=chylomicron. *log-transformed data.



[A] Mean postprandial chylomicron concentration

[B] Incremental time-averaged chylomicron concentration

Figure 6.5. Chylomicron concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for chylomicron concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for chylomicron concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. * significant values from the other group (p< 0.005). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.5.



[B] Incremental time-averaged VLDL₁ concentration

Figure 6.6. VLDL₁ concentrations during 4 h observation period in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for VLDL₁ concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for VLDL₁ concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. *significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p≤0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.5.

[A] Mean postprandial VLDL₁ concentration



[B] Incremental time-averaged VLDL₂ concentration

Figure 6.7. VLDL₂ concentrations during 4 h observation period in o in both groups; European and Middle Eastern. Panel [A] shows the mean values for VLDL₂ concentrations; panel [B] shows the incremental time-averaged area under the curve for VLDL₂ concentrations. N= 8 European and 8 Middle eastern, Values are mean \pm SEM. *significant values from the other group (p< 0.005),** (p<0.05). Values and statistical analysis of these data is shown in Table 6.5.

Time (min)

6.4 Discussion

The main objective of the present study was to verify whether differences in the postprandial response to a fat challenge between Middle Eastern and European. To provide enough subjects in this exploratory analysis two test meals were included, COMB from **Chapter 5** and the high fat meal from **Chapter 4**. Both contained approximately the same amount of fat although this was presented in a different format. The nature of the test meal was included as a potentially confounding variable in the statistical analysis.

The main findings of this study were that in matched age and BMI over weight European and Middle Eastern men, consuming a mixed test meal the Europeans had higher TG response whereas the Middle Eastern men had the higher insulin response. This profile of the Middle Eastern postprandial response seems to be broadly comparable to what has been observed when comparing Black with White adults (Osei and Schuster, 1994, Kodama et al., 2013). Black adults also have lower TG responses and higher insulin responses than White Europeans (Sumner and Cowie, 2008, Ford et al., 2002). This is interesting because the higher TG levels in plasma are usually thought to be indicative of insulin resistance (Axelsen et al., 1999, Grundy, 1999, HÖlzl et al., 1998, Lovejoy et al., 1996, Albu et al., 1997, Schmidt et al., 1996). A cursory comparison of CVD risk factors in the UK shows striking similarities between African Caribbeans and South Asians, with an increased risk of glucose intolerance and diabetes, and raised fasting and postload insulin, indicating a greater degree of insulin resistance (Chaturvedi et al., 1993). However, VLDL, small dense LDL, and triglyceride concentrations are substantially lower in African Caribbeans than in Europeans, and the latter does not increase to the same extent in the presence of glucose intolerance (Chaturvedi et al., 1994). In contrast South Asian who have an increased risks of heart disease compared to Europeans, probably because of increased levels of insulin resistance and associated factors such as inflammation and endothelial dysfunction (Chaturvedi, 2003).

In the current study fasted TG concentrations were different and therefore, the postprandial response would be expected to follow the same pattern. It is well

established that, fasting levels of plasma TG tend to be correlated with the magnitude of postprandial lipaemic response (Cohn et al., 1988b). This can be observed in the current study, the lower fasted TG in Middle Eastern men probably led to a lower postprandial response. However, the chylomicron concentrations postprandially shows that there was no significant different between the two groups and the exact difference is specific to endogenous TG. It has been observed that lean African American women have lower TG response after ingesting high fat meal, comparing with lean Caucasian women this is may be partly due to enhanced expression, activity, and intravascular availability of LPL (Bower et al., 2002). However, the ethnic differences in expression and function of LPL are attenuated with obesity (Bower et al., 2002). Friday and colleagues studied the postprandial response of black and white young men and they found that the black men have lower TG response comparing with whites and this is due to the higher LPL activity (Friday et al., 1999). In the Caucasian population, there is considerable variability in insulin resistance at given levels of body fat content. This variability might be because they tend to secrete a relatively large proportion of their VLDL as small, triglyceride-poor particles, levels of which are not augmented in response to loss of insulin action (Godsland et al., 2007). Another possible mechanism might be due to an increase of the capacity of TG clearance from circulation that is most likely due to a higher LPL activity and LPL mass in adipose tissue, which has been observed previously in Caucasian women compared with African American (Bower et al., 2002). This more efficient lipid-clearing system may help to maintain a more favourable lipid profile and lipoprotein subpopulation distribution. Also, it has been found that, the favourable lipid profile of black compared to white South African women is associated with polymorphisms in lipid metabolism genes, specifically the LPL and CETP genes (Ellman et al., 2015).

Ethnic differences in postprandial glycaemia have been reported previously between Chinese and Europeans (Dickinson et al., 2002), Caucasians and non-Caucasians (Wolever et al., 2009), and Europeans compared with a group of Asians of mixed origin (Schmidt et al., 1996).

Despite there were no significant differences between the two groups in fasted and postprandial insulin and glucose concentrations, there was a trend of higher insulin and glucose concentrations and HOMA-IR (the Cohen's d effect size was

mostly medium) and this is due to the lack of power of the study. The findings suggest that reduced insulin sensitivity and impaired carbohydrate tolerance might lead to the development of some metabolic syndrome. Chronic postprandial hyperglycemia and/or hyperinsulinemia may therefore be the only phenotypic evidence of reduced insulin sensitivity for many years. Abnormalities in fat deposition and blood lipids characteristic of the IR syndrome may develop as a consequence of postprandial hyperglycaemia or hyperinsulinemia. Excessive glycaemia and/or insulin demand on a chronic basis may eventually affect insulin secretory capacity and precipitate T2D. Obesity, particularly visceral adiposity, is associated with insulin resistance and often assumed to be causative. The higher concentrations of fatty acids resulting from higher fat intake or higher visceral or intramuscular fat, inhibit carbohydrate oxidation and thereby produce insulin resistance the present study, however, there was no significant different between the two groups neither in the fat percentage, waist/hip ratio nor BMI. There was no evidence to suggest that there were differences in body fat that might explain our findings. BMI, waist circumference and WHR, did not differ among groups. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that a more precise measurement of body fat using dual X-ray absorptiometry or nuclear magnetic resonance may have shown differences among the ethnic groups.

Regarding the cholesterol measurements, there was no significant different between the two groups in the fasting plasma total, LDL and HDL cholesterol, which is in agreement clinical data showing that Middle Eastern adults tend to have fasting plasma cholesterol level ~5.2 mmo.l⁻¹ - comparable with values in the White UK population. However, the age range in those studies was different then the age range in the current study and there is limited data about the participant BMI (Al-Nozha et al., 2008, Al-Lawati et al., 2003, Zindah et al., 2008).

However, the similar pattern of Middle Eastern to black ethnic group, the Middle Eastern seems to have higher incidence of CVD as 45% of early deaths in the Gulf countries are caused by CVD, whereas black have lower CVD incidence comparing with white ethnic groups (Manolio et al., 1995, Keil et al., 1993). This high incidence of CVD in the Middle Eastern population may be due to the high prevalence of obesity (13% for men and 24.5% for women), diabetes mellitus (11.3%), and smoking (48.04% among men and 13.8% among women) (International

Obesity Task Force 2012, Khattab et al., 2012) in this region. Currently, CVD has emerged as one of the leading causes of death in this population (Tailakh et al., 2014). With one of the highest rates of obesity in the world, the Gulf region is facing an epidemic of cardiovascular diseases. At least 50% of the population is below the age of 25 and the high prevalence of risk factors signal a massive onslaught of cardiovascular diseases in the next 10-15 years. As obesity, unhealthy diet, and high blood pressure have caused increases in the burden of CVD in the Middle East and North Africa (Zubaid et al., 2011). Cardiovascular diseases cause 45% of early deaths in the Gulf region. Around 30% of men and 44% of women in Saudi Arabia are obese and one-quarter of adults have diabetes (Zubaid et al., 2011, Alhyas et al., 2011). Although CVD and its risk factors are among the leading cause of death in many Middle East and East Mediterranean countries, very little is known about inter-ethnic differences in prevalence of risk factors, treatment response and survival. Ethno-cultural differences are known to be associated with cultural practices as well with lifestyles changes that might be related to different patterns of morbidity and mortality. The regions are home to various ethnic groups such as Arabs, Persians, Bedowins South Asian and European.

The limitations of our study must be considered. The number of subjects studied is small and this means they may not be representative of the general population. Also this limited statistical power to detect significant differences between groups, although using Cohen's d effect sizes helps to provide a handle on whether non-significant differences (due to lack of power) are likely to be physiologically relevant. In addition, it will be useful if we were able to measure post heparin LPL to detect any ethnic differences among the two groups.

Despite these limitations, few studies have documented a difference in the glycaemic response, and this might help to explain the high prevalence of diabetes in the Middle East and North Africa (Whiting et al., 2011).

In summary, results of the present study indicate that the more favourable lipoprotein profile found in over weight individuals Middle Eastern men and a trend of higher insulin response. Further studies are needed to explore these ethnic differences in more detail.
7 General Discussion

7.1 Summary

CVD is a major cause of death (WHO, 2014a). Alterations in lipid metabolism underlie atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (Stegemann et al., 2014). Plasma TG concentrations consider as an independent risk factor in fasted (Hokanson and Austin, 1996) and postprandial state (Stampfer et al., 1996, Karpe, 1999). Hypertriglyceridemia is a prevalent risk factor for CVD and increasingly important in the setting of current obesity and insulin resistance epidemics. Recent data add confidence to the conclusion that TG levels appear to provide unique information as a biomarker of CVD risk because of their association with atherogenic lipoproteins and apolipoproteins, especially apo C-III (Luo and Peng, 2016). Accumulating evidence suggests that non-HDL-C, which combines the cholesterol levels found in LDL-C and TG-rich lipoproteins are an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis. Very low-density lipoprotein is the most atherogenic TRL particles, and the measurement of VLDL-C is relatively straightforward and captures distinct aspects of the TRL and plasma TG (Jialal and Devaraj, 2002). A large cross-sectional study (Penn Diabetes Heart Study (PDHS)) found that higher VLDL-C levels were associated with increasing coronary artery calcification after adjusting for numerous traditional CV risk factors in patients with type 2 diabetes (Prenner et al., 2014). Elevated TRL levels are associated with increased risks of CVD. VLDLs are the major component and atherogenic particles of TRL in the circulation (Takeichi et al., 1999, Kugiyama et al., 1999). A PDHS study that examined VLDL-C as an alternative marker of TRL demonstrated that VLDL-C levels are positively associated with increased coronary artery calcification in patients with type 2 diabetes even after adjusting for traditional risk factors (Prenner et al., 2014). Also, it has been reported that higher VLDL-C levels are associated with an increased risk of CVD in diabetic patients (Laakso et al., 1994). Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain why VLDL may be causally related to progression of atherosclerosis and CVD. VLDL is synthesized in the liver and serves as a vehicle that is responsible for the redistribution of triglycerides from liver to the peripheral tissues. Each VLDL particle contains a single molecule of apolipoprotein B100 and has a hydrophobic core that consists primarily of triglycerides and a small amount of cholesterol esters (Niu and Evans, 2011,

McEneny et al., 2000). The sizes of the VLDL particles vary depending on the quantity of triglycerides carried in the particle. Large VLDL particles are secreted from patients with hypertriglyceridemia and may contain 5 to 20 times more cholesterol than LDL. Unlike LDL, VLDL remnants rapidly penetrate the arterial wall, increase endothelial inflammation and facilitate the infiltration of monocytes, which results in foam cell formation and atherosclerosis (Nakamura et al., 2005, Nakajima et al., 2006). Hepatic VLDL overproduction has been reported to be related to insulin resistance (Sparks et al., 2012). It has been observed that in patients with metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes, insulin-resistant states and the loss of insulin-mediated suppression of apoB100 secretion lead to increased production of large VLDL₁ particles, which contain more cholesterol, results in higher levels of remnant particles and small dense LDLs and lower levels of HDL that may contribute to the progression of vascular endothelial injury and atherosclerosis (Chen et al., 2012, Gianturco and Bradley, 1999).

To avoid the atherogenic cascade, TRL remnants must be cleared from plasma and metabolized by the liver before endothelial accumulation occurs. However, hypertriglyceridaemic states are associated with increased VLDL production and delayed VLDL clearance from circulation (Ooi et al., 2008, Zheng et al., 2010). In addition, delayed clearance of all apo-B lipoproteins, including VLDL, has been attributed to different mechanisms such as apo C-III-mediated inhibition of apoE and apoB-100 binding to hepatic receptors and proteoglycan; reduced activity of LPL, hepatic TG lipase; and finally, reduced apoE and apo E to C-III ratio reflecting reduced ability of the lipoproteins to be taken up by the liver. Similarly, CMs are taken up by the liver via LDL receptors or LDL receptor-related proteins and unless their TG core is removed they are not considered atherogenic due to their very large size, which slows entry into the arterial intima. It is the resulting CM remnants that are atherogenic, presumably because they are sufficiently small to pass through the endothelial cell barrier to the arterial intima (Gianturco et al., 1998). Hepatic lipase also plays a role in remnant removal (Cooper, 1997b) and its deficiency is associated with reduced TRL remnant clearance.

Lowering TRL has clearly been associated with benefit (Panel, 2002). Aside from lifestyle changes, further treatment with lipid-lowering drugs, such as statins, fibrates, nicotinic acid, or omega-3 fatty acids, may be warranted and should be considered to help achieve TRL targets in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. The

efficacies of pharmacologic interventions on TG level reduction vary depending on the agent used and the pre-treatment TG levels. Most cardiovascular diseases risks can be prevented by addressing behavioural risk factors such as tobacco use, unhealthy diet and obesity, physical inactivity. **Table 7.1.** shows the influence of behavioural changes on plasma TG. Treating obesity which is always linked to hypertriglyceridemia, could led to around 20% reductions on plasma TG, this reduction would be grater if individuals become physically active.

Diet modification also lowers plasma TG by 10-15%. The quality of fatty acids enhances plasma TG to a greater extends (Talayero and Sacks, 2011).

Therapeutic intervention	% TG reduction
Behavioural Risks	
Weight loss (5% to 10% total body weight)	20%
Diet	10-15%
Aerobic exercise (dependent on baseline TG levels)	15-20%
TG level > 1.69 mmol.l ^{.1}	
Coupled with weight loss	20-30%
Omega-3 PUFAs (dose dependent)	
Per every 1-g PUFA	5-10%
High-dose PUFA (3-4 g/d)	25-30%

Table 7.1; Effects of lifestyle practices and lipid-lowering therapies on TG level reduction (Talayero and Sacks, 2011).

In over this thesis we examined the effect of two behavioural change; diet and exercise and ethnicity on postprandial metabolism.

Studies observed a reduction of TG concentration prior exercise by ~ 20-25% (Gill, 2004, Gill et al., 2003, Malkova and Gill, 2006) and this reduction seems due to the increased clearance from the circulation of $VLDL_1$ (Al-Shayji et al., 2012).

The exact mechanism behind the increase of the clearance rate of VLDL $_1$ was not clear.

Thus, after developing a method to measure the affinity of TRL for LPL-mediated hydrolysis in **Chapter 3**, in **Chapter 4** the effects exercise on the affinity of TRL for LPL-mediated hydrolysis was assessed in 10 overweight/obese men. The results indicated that 90 minutes of prior moderate exercise increased the affinity of VLDL₁ for TG hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase by 2.2-fold in the fasted state (p = 0.02) and 2.6-fold in the postprandial state (p = 0.001), but did not significantly

alter the affinity of chylomicrons or $VLDL_2$, this give an insight of a possible mechanism by which exercise can lower TG concentrations, and helps explain the observation that exercise appears to have a larger effect in lowering TG concentrations in $VLDL_1$ than in chylomicrons and $VLDL_2$ (Gill et al., 2006).

Co-ingestion of fat and carbohydrate reduced the postprandial glucose response significantly by 20%, but not the insulin. Also, it has been observed a substantial initial suppression of NEFA in the glucose trial with was markedly attenuated when glucose and fat were co-ingested. These changes might be due to genetic differences as the participants in all the studies were from different background. Also, we found the co-ingestions of carbohydrate with fat significantly decrease on VLDL1 by 13% (p = 0.05). This can explain some of the possible mechanism behind the long-term changes happened from the ingestion of different diet component.

In **Chapter 6** the metabolic responses to consumption of a mixed meal was assessed in eight white European men and eight men of Middle-Eastern origin. Postprandial insulin responses were higher in the Middle-Eastern men but, in contrast, postprandial TG concentrations were higher in the European men. Thus, the Middle Eastern metabolic response pattern is similar to the metabolic response of Black ethnic groups (Osei and Schuster, 1994). This knowledge can potentially help inform future strategies to mitigate metabolic disease risk in Middle Eastern populations by potentially considering interventions which have been effective in populations of Black ethnic origin and further research is needed to establish whether Middle Eastern groups share other metabolic risk characteristics with Black populations.

In all studies, Cohen's d effect sizes were used to provide additional insight into the likely physiological relevance of any differences observed which provides insights beyond whether an observation differs significantly between conditions (Cohen, 2013). While a *P* value can inform about the probability of a difference of the magnitude observed occurring in the absence of a true difference in the underlying population, it provides no information about the size of the effect. With a large enough study clinically trivial differences could be statistically significant. Conversely, for variables with large variability, it is possible to miss potentially clinically relevant findings, which may have been statistically significant with a larger sample size, by simply considering statistical significance at the conventional threshold of p < 0.05. This was particularly relevant in **Chapter 5**, where some variables did not differ significantly between the two ethnic groups, but large effect sizes were seen.

7.2 Limitation of the studies

As with any scientific study there were limitations to the research undertaken in this thesis and it is important to acknowledge these. One of the limitations of the method we used to measure the affinity of TRL for LPL (Chapter 4) is the large amount of blood we were using which was an obstruction to take postprandial blood samples beyond 4 hours. It is possible that some individuals experienced peak TG concentrations after 4 hours, so this would have been missed in the experimental design. However, concentrations of TG were substantially higher at 4 hours postprandially compared with the fasted state and chylomicron concentrations were high at this point. Importantly, the effects of exercise on the affinity of VLDL₁ for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis were similar in the fasted and postprandial states, so it does seem likely that this may not have been a major concern. The trial was time consuming; sample processing and analysis required a full week of laboratory work after each study day with participants. This, and other logistic factors, limited the scope to undertake further measurements which may have helped to provide an even more complete picture of the effects of exercise on postprandial lipoprotein metabolism. For logistic reasons including the large amount of blood was withdrawn it was not possible to undertake a kinetic study in parallel to also determine the rate of production and clearance of TRL species. This would have enabled correlation of the extent to which change in affinity of lipoprotein particles for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis paralleled any differences in rates of lipoprotein clearance. It was also not possible to measure the post-heparin LPL activity for two main reasons. The first was the need for clinical cover during heparin injections which was not available for these studies. The second was that injection of heparin disturbs lipoprotein metabolism, thus to obtain a picture of the effects of exercise on LPL activity in the fasted as well as postprandial states, it would have been necessary for each participant to undertake the overall protocol twice - once with fasting measurements of LPL activity made in the presence and absence to exercise and a second time with LPL activity measurements made in the postprandial state. It was felt that this would

have induced too much burden of participants who were already undertaking a challenging research protocol. Again, this limited the potential to understand the extent to which any difference in TG clearance may have been mediated by altered lipoprotein affinity for LPL vs an increase in LPL activity. We also did not evaluate the effects of exercise on meals with different compositions of fatty acids which could conceivably influence the affinity of chylomicrons for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis.

For the experiment in **Chapter 5**, the aim was to determine in principle the effects of fat and carbohydrate consumed separately or together on postprandial metabolism. To maximise the potential effects the meals used were extreme ones, with a very large fat intake (75g) and the carbohydrate consumed being all glucose. Thus does not fully reflect the actual meals that are consumed in the daily life. Thus the postprandial responses to meal ingestion in real life setting are likely to be less pronounced than the ones observed here. In addition, only one composition of fatty acids (high in SFA) was considered, and responses to different fatty acid compositions may be different. In terms of sample analysis, we didn't measure apoB concentrations in lipoprotein particles and total, HDL and sdLDL in postprandial state.

A key limitation in the study in **Chapter 6** was that the small sample size may have limited our ability to detect more robust associations between ethnicity and differences in postprandial response. Larger studies are needed to confirm the findings that were observed. In addition, we did not ask the participant to follow unified controlled diet during the three days prior the trial, so differences between the two ethnic groups in habitual diet may have influenced the findings. However, there is no simple solution here as providing all participants with the same preceding diet may reflect a dietary intervention if this diet differs substantially from what participants usually eat. Some might argue the differences between the two groups in the baseline measurements lead to the different postprandial responses between the two groups. However, any difference in fasting measure would also reflect an ethnic difference and attempting to control for this may not be helpful. Participants were matched for age and BMI, thus also attempting to match for baseline metabolic characteristics may result in participants who are atypical for their given ethnicity. This has been shown in many studies comparing ethnic groups, measuring factors such as mineral ion

handling (Gutiérrez et al., 2010), glycaemic response (Venn et al., 2010, Likhari and Gama, 2009) and lipaemic response (Punyadeera et al., 2001, Sharrett et al., 2001). For the postprandial response one of the factors might led to different response between the two groups is that two different meals consumed (however, there was no significant statistical differences between the different meals for any of the responses measured).

For all studies, we hoped to measure many different metabolites using a nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) platform - a novel technology which enables simultaneous detections of over 200 metabolites within a single small amount of blood (Ala-Korpela et al., 2012). This technique would have yielded further insights into the effects of exercise, dietary intake and ethnicity on postprandial responses, but unfortunately, these methods were not up and running in Glasgow within the timeframe needed for inclusion in this thesis.

7.3 Future experiments

Taken together, these studies provide new insights in the role of dietary intake, exercise and ethnicity on postprandial responses. This will increase our understanding in the changes that occur in the postprandial state. Going forward there are a number of factors we can consider with respect to study of exercise and lipoprotein metabolism; one factor that can be taken into consideration is evaluating the competition of the affinity between VLDL₁ and chylomicron by incubating both particles in vivo assay. It is well established that chylomicron affinity for LPL-mediated hydrolysis is greater than VLDL₁ affinity, which is in turn greater than VLDL₂ affinity (Fisher et al., 1995). This can done by radiolabelling VLDL₁ particles taken from exercise and non-exercised conditions co-incubating with chylomicrons and assessing their affinity for LPL-mediated TG hydrolysis under this competitive situation which more closely reflects in vivo physiology. Also, it would be helpful to perform a kinetic study in which VLDL is subdivided into more than the two standard subfractions to provide a clearer insight into how exercise may be influencing affinity of VLDL₁ for clearance - for example by altering the size distribution of particles within the VLDL₁ range. Although an increase of LPL activity does not always accompany the exercise-induced reductions in postprandial TG (Malkova et al., 1999, Herd et al., 2001, Miyashita and Tokuyama, 2008), past literature did report such changes in some cases while

not in other cases (Herd et al., 2001), it would be helpful to measure lipoprotein lipase activity in this same study to reach to a final conclusion. Also, investigating the lipaemic response to differing types of exercise in individuals who have or are at risk for developing metabolic disease, including female participants and individuals who are under the age of 18 years or over the age of 40 years, will broaden the understanding of exercise and the postprandial lipaemic response.

It would be helpful to examine the effects of ingesting different ratios of fat and carbohyrate, and different qualities of fat and carbohyrate, with respect to fatty acid composition and glycaemic index on posptrandial metaboic responses. Here examining NMR metabolomic responses will provide a step-change in the ability to characterise the metabolic responses to fat and carbohydrate ingestion and the time-based nature of postprandial interactions between metabolites. Future research should aim to gain further understanding of exercise-nutrition interactions, such as peri-exercise carbohydrate availability which may help to refine interventions and future public health guidelines.

Future research should focus on large enough samples to be able to evaluate genetic-lifestyle effects (Crook and Taylor, 2003), although this may be difficult to do with large enough samples, given the labour-intensive nature of these investigations.

Comparison studies similar ethnic groups in different environments provide powerful epidemiological tools and thus further study could include studying individuals of Middle Eastern descent living in the Middle East and in the UK.

More detailed measurements of lipoprotein metabolism as descirbed above (i.e. kinetic studies, LPL measurement, NMR metabolomic measuresments) will help provide further insights into differences between the Middle Eastern and European men, and of course, it is important to replicate these studies in women. Moreover, it will be interesting to determine the effect of exercise and dietary interventions on metabolic responses among this population. Giving what has been observed on experimental **Chapter 6**, it would be great to match the participants for their fasteing TG level and investgate the influnce of the ingestion of high fat meal on postprandial TG responses and TG-rich lipoprotein metabolism.

7.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, this thesis has provided novel insights into understanding to lipid and carbohydrate metabolism in response to different factors. The first study showed that the affinity of VLDL1 increased to LPL post-exercise, which may explain, at least in enzvme part, the mechanism by which exercise reduces plasma TG. In addition fasting and sdLDL concentrating significantly postprandial was lowered postexercise. The second study aimed to investigate the metabolic responses to three different meal compositions (fat only, carbohydrate only and combination of equal amount of both). Although, the plasma TG concentrations were unexpectedly similar in fat and combination meal, significantly lower when fat the glycaemic response was and carbohydrate were ingested together. Finally the third study was a pilot differences between which investigated the ethnic recruited study Middle Eastern and recruited European in their metabolic response to a mixed meal. This study revealed potential differences in TG and glucose metabolism between the two ethnic groups, where fasting and postprandial TG were significantly higher European (almost double) than that of Middle Eastern. Although, there was no significant different in fasting glucose concentrations between the two ethnic groups, the postprandial response tented to be slightly higher in the Middle Eastern group. Interestingly, the insulin concentration was 3 and 4 times higher in fasted and postprandial states in Middle Eastern compared to European, although this it did not reach statistical significance, likely due to the relatively small sample size. Thus, taken together, the results of this thesis add to the basic science understanding of the effect of exercise, dietary intake and ethnicity on postprandial metabolism.

232

8 References

- ABATE, N. I., MANSOUR, Y. H., TUNCEL, M., ARBIQUE, D., CHAVOSHAN, B., KIZILBASH, A., HOWELL-STAMPLEY, T., VONGPATANASIN, W. & VICTOR, R.
 G. 2001. Overweight and sympathetic overactivity in black Americans. *Hypertension*, 38, 379-383.
- ABBASI, F., MCLAUGHLIN, T., LAMENDOLA, C., KIM, H. S., TANAKA, A., WANG, T., NAKAJIMA, K. & REAVEN, G. M. 2000. High carbohydrate diets, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, and coronary heart disease risk. Am J Cardiol, 85, 45-8.
- ABBEY, M., BELLING, G. B., NOAKES, M., HIRATA, F. & NESTEL, P. J. 1993. Oxidation of low-density lipoproteins: intraindividual variability and the effect of dietary linoleate supplementation. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 57, 391-398.
- ABEL, E. D., LITWIN, S. E. & SWEENEY, G. 2008. Cardiac remodeling in obesity. *Physiological reviews*, 88, 389-419.
- ADIELS, M., TASKINEN, M. R., PACKARD, C., CASLAKE, M. J., SORO-PAAVONEN, A., WESTERBACKA, J., VEHKAVAARA, S., HAKKINEN, A., OLOFSSON, S. O., YKI-JARVINEN, H. & BOREN, J. 2006. Overproduction of large VLDL particles is driven by increased liver fat content in man. *Diabetologia*, 49, 755-765.
- AHRENS JR, E. H., HIRSCH, J., OETTE, K., FARQUHAR, J. W. & STEIN, Y. 1961. Carbohydrate-induced and fat-induced lipemia. *Transactions of the Association of American Physicians*, 74, 134.
- AL-GAZALI, L., HAMAMY, H. & AL-ARRAYAD, S. 2006. Genetic disorders in the Arab world. *Bmj*, 333, 831-834.
- AL-LAWATI, J. A., MOHAMMED, A. J., AL-HINAI, H. Q. & JOUSILAHTI, P. 2003. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among Omani adults. *Diabetes care*, 26, 1781-1785.
- AL-NOZHA, M. M., ARAFAH, M. R., AL-MAATOUQ, M. A., KHALIL, M. Z., KHAN, N. B., AL-MARZOUKI, K., AL-MAZROU, Y. Y., ABDULLAH, M., AL-KHADRA, A. & AL-HARTHI, S. S. 2008. Hyperlipidemia in Saudi Arabia. Saudi medical journal, 29, 282-287.
- AL-SHAYJI, I. A., CASLAKE, M. J. & GILL, J. M. 2012. Effects of moderate exercise on VLDL1 and Intralipid kinetics in overweight/obese middleaged men. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism, 302, E349-E355.

- AL-KANDARI, Y. 2006. Prevalence of obesity in Kuwait and its relation to sociocultural variables. *Obesity reviews*, 7, 147-154.
- ALA-KORPELA, M., KANGAS, A. J. & SOININEN, P. 2012. Quantitative highthroughput metabolomics: a new era in epidemiology and genetics. *Genome Med*, 4, 36.
- ALAN, R. 1993. Plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein. J lipid Res, 34, 1255.
- ALBRINK, M., FITZGERALD, J. & MAN, E. 1958. Reduction of alimentary lipemia by glucose. *Metabolism*, 7, 162-171.
- ALBU, J. B. 1999. Systemic resistance to the antilipolytic effect of insulin in black and white women with visceral obesity. *Am J Physiol*, 277, E551-E560.
- ALBU, J. B., MURPHY, L., FRAGER, D. H., JOHNSON, J. A. & PI-SUNYER, F. X. 1997. Visceral fat and race-dependent health risks in obese nondiabetic premenopausal women. *Diabetes*, 46, 456-462.
- ALCALA-DIAZ, J. F., DELGADO-LISTA, J., PEREZ-MARTINEZ, P., GARCIA-RIOS, A., MARIN, C., QUINTANA-NAVARRO, G. M., GOMEZ-LUNA, P., CAMARGO, A., ALMADEN, Y. & CABALLERO, J. 2014. Hypertriglyceridemia influences the degree of postprandial lipemic response in patients with metabolic syndrome and coronary artery disease: from the CORDIOPREV study. *PloS* one, 9, e96297.
- ALHYAS, L., MCKAY, A., BALASANTHIRAN, A. & MAJEED, A. 2011. Prevalences of overweight, obesity, hyperglycaemia, hypertension and dyslipidaemia in the Gulf: systematic review. *JRSM short reports*, 2, 55.
- ALWAN, A. 2011. *Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010*, World Health Organization.
- AMA, P., POEHLMAN, E., SIMONEAU, J., BOULAY, M., THERIAULT, G., TREMBLAY, A. & BOUCHARD, C. 1985. Fat distribution and adipose tissue metabolism in non-obese male black African and Caucasian subjects. *International journal of obesity*, 10, 503-510.
- AMEER, F., SCANDIUZZI, L., HASNAIN, S., KALBACHER, H. & ZAIDI, N. 2014. De novo lipogenesis in health and disease. *Metabolism*, 63, 895-902.

AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION. 2011. Understand your risk of heart attack [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/HeartAttack/UnderstandYo</u> <u>urRiskofHeartAttack/Understand-Your-Risk-of-Heart-</u> <u>Attack_UCM_002040_Article.jsp</u> [Accessed 08/04 2015].

- AMINE, E., BABA, N., BELHADJ, M., DEURENBERY-YAP, M., DJAZAYERY, A., FORRESTER, T., GALUSKA, D., HERMAN, S., JAMES, W. & MBUYAMBA, J. 2002. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases: report of a Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation, World Health Organization.
- ANAND, S. S., YI, Q., GERSTEIN, H., LONN, E., JACOBS, R., VUKSAN, V., TEO, K., DAVIS, B., MONTAGUE, P. & YUSUF, S. 2003. Relationship of metabolic syndrome and fibrinolytic dysfunction to cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, 108, 420-425.
- ANDERSEN, R. E., CRESPO, C. J., BARTLETT, S. J., CHESKIN, L. J. & PRATT, M.
 1998. Relationship of physical activity and television watching with body weight and level of fatness among children: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Jama, 279, 938-942.
- ANDERSON, J. W., JOHNSTONE, B. M. & COOK-NEWELL, M. E. 1995. Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids. New England Journal of Medicine, 333, 276-282.
- ANNUZZI, G., JANSSON, E., KAIJSER, L., HOLMQUIST, L. & CARLSON, L. 1987. Increased removal rate of exogenous triglycerides after prolonged exercise in man: time course and effect of exercise duration. *Metabolism*, 36, 438-443.
- APPEL, S. J., HARRELL, J. S. & DENG, S. 2002. Racial and socioeconomic differences in risk factors for cardiovascular disease among Southern rural women. Nursing research, 51, 140-147.
- ARAB HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORT. 2009. Approaching health through human security a road not taken [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.arab-hdr.org/publications/contents/2009/ch7-e.pdf</u> [Accessed 4 2015].
- ARKADIANOS, I., VALDES, A. M., MARINOS, E., FLOROU, A., GILL, R. D. & GRIMALDI, K. A. 2007. Improved weight management using genetic information to personalize a calorie controlled diet. *Nutrition Journal*, 6, 1.
- ARMSTRONG, L. 2006. ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription/American College of, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia.
- ARONOFF, S. L., BENNETT, P. H., GORDEN, P., RUSHFORTH, N. & MILLER, M. 1977. Unexplained hyperinsulinemia in normal and "prediabetic" Pima Indians compared with normal Caucasians: an example of racial differences in insulin secretion. *Diabetes*, 26, 827-840.
- ATKINSON, M. A. & MACLAREN, N. K. 1994. The pathogenesis of insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 331, 1428-1436.

- AUCHINCLOSS, A. H., ROUX, A. V. D., MUJAHID, M. S., SHEN, M., BERTONI, A. G. & CARNETHON, M. R. 2009. Neighborhood resources for physical activity and healthy foods and incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the Multi-Ethnic study of Atherosclerosis. *Archives of internal medicine*, 169, 1698-1704.
- AUGUSTIN, L., FRANCESCHI, S., JENKINS, D., KENDALL, C. & LA VECCHIA, C. 2002. Glycemic index in chronic disease: a review. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56, 1049-1071.
- AURIGEMMA, G. P., DE SIMONE, G. & FITZGIBBONS, T. P. 2013. Cardiac remodeling in obesity. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging*, 6, 142-152.
- AUSTIN, M., HOKANSON, J. & EDWARDS, K. 1996. Plasma triglyceride is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a metaanalysis of population-based prospective studies. *J Cardiovasc Risk*, 3, 213-219.
- AUSTIN, M. A. 1990. Atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. A proposed genetic marker for coronary heart disease risk. *Circulation*, 82, 495-506.
- AUSTIN, M. A., BRESLOW, J. L., HENNEKENS, C. H., BURING, J. E., WILLETT, W. C. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1988. Low-density lipoprotein subclass patterns and risk of myocardial infarction. *Jama*, 260, 1917-1921.
- AUSTIN, M. A., HOKANSON, J. E. & EDWARDS, K. L. 1998. Hypertriglyceridemia as a cardiovascular risk factor. *The American journal of cardiology*, 81, 7B-12B.
- AXELSEN, M., ELIASSON, B., JOHEIM, E., LENNER, R., TASKINEN, M. R. & SMITH, U. 1995. Lipid intolerance in smokers. *Journal of internal medicine*, 237, 449-455.
- AXELSEN, M., SMITH, U., ERIKSSON, J. W., TASKINEN, M.-R. & JANSSON, P.-A. 1999. Postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance in normoglycemic first-degree relatives of patients with type 2 diabetes. Annals of internal medicine, 131, 27-31.
- AXEN, K. V. & AXEN, K. 2010. Longitudinal Adaptations to Very Low-carbohydrate Weight-reduction Diet in Obese Rats: Body Composition and Glucose Tolerance. *Obesity*, 18, 1538-1544.
- BABRAJ, J. A., VOLLAARD, N. B. J., KEAST, C., GUPPY, F. M., COTTRELL, G. & TIMMONS, J. A. 2009. Extremely short duration high intensity interval training substantially improves insulin action in young healthy males. BMC Endocr Disord, 9, 3-3.

- BAEKKESKOV, S., NIELSEN, J. H., MARNER, B., BILDE, T., LUDVIGSSON, J. & LERNMARK, A. 1982. Autoantibodies in newly diagnosed diabetic children immunoprecipitate human pancreatic islet cell proteins.
- BALARAJAN, R. 1991. Ethnic differences in mortality from ischaemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease in England and Wales. *Bmj*, 302, 560-564.
- BAMBA, V. & RADER, D. J. 2007. Obesity and atherogenic dyslipidemia. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 2181-2190.
- BANG, K. M. & KIM, J. H. 2001. Prevalence of cigarette smoking by occupation and industry in the United States. *American journal of industrial medicine*, 40, 233-239.
- BANSAL, S., BURING, J. E., RIFAI, N., MORA, S., SACKS, F. M. & RIDKER, P. M. 2007. Fasting compared with nonfasting triglycerides and risk of cardiovascular events in women. Jama, 298, 309-316.
- BARBEAU, E. M., KRIEGER, N. & SOOBADER, M.-J. 2004a. Working class matters: socioeconomic disadvantage, race/ethnicity, gender, and smoking in NHIS 2000. American journal of public health, 94, 269-278.
- BARBEAU, E. M., LEAVY-SPEROUNIS, A. & BALBACH, E. 2004b. Smoking, social class, and gender: what can public health learn from the tobacco industry about disparities in smoking? *Tobacco control*, 13, 115-120.
- BARCLAY, A. W., PETOCZ, P., MCMILLAN-PRICE, J., FLOOD, V. M., PRVAN, T., MITCHELL, P. & BRAND-MILLER, J. C. 2008. Glycemic index, glycemic load, and chronic disease risk—a meta-analysis of observational studies. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 87, 627-637.
- BARROWS, B. R. & PARKS, E. J. 2006. Contributions of different fatty acid sources to very low-density lipoprotein-triacylglycerol in the fasted and fed states. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 91, 1446-1452.
- BARTER, P. J., BREWER, H. B., CHAPMAN, M. J., HENNEKENS, C. H., RADER, D. J. & TALL, A. R. 2003. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Arteriosclerosis*, *thrombosis*, and vascular biology, 23, 160-167.
- BASSIONY, M. M. 2009. Smoking in Saudi Arabia. Saudi medical journal, 30, 876-881.
- BAUCHNER, H., FONTANAROSA, P. B. & GOLUB, R. M. 2014. Updated guidelines for management of high blood pressure: recommendations, review, and responsibility. *JAMA*, 311, 477-478.

- BAUDOUIN-LEGROS, M. & MEYER, P. 1990. Hypertension and atherosclerosis. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 15, S1-S6.
- BEISIEGEL, U., WEBER, W. & BENGTSSON-OLIVECRONA, G. 1991. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 8342-6.
- BENGTSSON, G. & OLIVECRONA, T. 1980. Lipoprotein lipase. European Journal of Biochemistry, 106, 557-562.
- BENOWITZ, N. L. 2003. Cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology and implications for treatment. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases*, 46, 91-111.
- BERENSON, G. S., SRINIVASAN, S. R., CRESANTA, J. L., FOSTER, T. A. & WEBBER, L. S. 1981. Dynamic changes of serum lipoproteins in children during adolescence and sexual maturation. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 113, 157-170.
- BHASWANT, M., POUDYAL, H. & BROWN, L. 2015. Mechanisms of enhanced insulin secretion and sensitivity with n-3 unsaturated fatty acids. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 26, 571-584.
- BHATNAGAR, P., WICKRAMASINGHE, K., WILLIAMS, J., RAYNER, M. & TOWNSEND, N. 2015. The epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in the UK 2014. *Heart*, 101, 1182-1189.
- BIGAARD, J., TJØNNELAND, A., THOMSEN, B. L., OVERVAD, K., HEITMANN, B. L.
 & SØRENSEN, T. I. 2003. Waist Circumference, BMI, Smoking, and Mortality in Middle-Aged Men and Women. *Obesity*, 11, 895-903.
- BITTON, A. & GAZIANO, T. 2010. The Framingham Heart Study's impact on global risk assessment. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases*, 53, 68-78.
- BJORKEGREN, J., HAMSTEN, A., MILNE, R. W. & KARPE, F. 1997. Alterations of VLDL composition during alimentary lipemia. *J Lipid Res*, 38, 301-314.
- BJÖRKEGREN, J., HAMSTEN, A., MILNE, R. W. & KARPE, F. 1997. Alterations of VLDL composition during alimentary lipemia. *Journal of lipid research*, 38, 301-314.
- BJORKEGREN, J., PACKARD, C., HAMSTEN, A., BEDFORD, D., CASLAKE, M., FOSTER, L., SHEPHERD, J., STEWART, P. & KARPE, F. 1996. Accumulation of large very low density lipoprotein in plasma during intravenous infusion of a chylomicron-like triglyceride emulsion reflects competition for a common lipolytic pathway. *Journal of lipid research*, 37, 76-86.
- BJÖRNTORP, P. 1991. Metabolic implications of body fat distribution. *Diabetes care*, 14, 1132-1143.

- BLAAK, E. E. 2016. Carbohydrate quantity and quality and cardio-metabolic risk. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care*.
- BLAND, J. M. & ALTMAN, D. G. 1996a. Statistics notes. Logarithms. BMJ: British Medical Journal, 312, 700.
- BLAND, J. M. & ALTMAN, D. G. 1996b. Statistics notes: Transforming data. *BMJ*, 312, 770.
- BLOOMGARDEN, Z. T. 2007. Insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Care*, 30, 2164-2170.
- BLUM, C. B., LEVY, R. I., EISENBERG, S., HALL III, M., GOEBEL, R. H. & BERMAN, M. 1977. High density lipoprotein metabolism in man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 60, 795.
- BODEN, G. 2011. 450besity, insulin resistance and free fatty acids. *Current* opinion in endocrinology, diabetes, and obesity, 18, 139.
- BOMBELLI, M., FACCHETTI, R., SEGA, R., CARUGO, S., FODRI, D., BRAMBILLA, G., GIANNATTASIO, C., GRASSI, G. & MANCIA, G. 2011. Impact of body mass index and waist circumference on the long-term risk of diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and cardiac organ damage. *Hypertension*, 58, 1029-1035.
- BONANOME, A., VISONA, A., LUSIANI, L., BELTRAMELLO, G., CONFORTIN, L., BIFFANTI, S., SORGATO, F., COSTA, F. & PAGNAN, A. 1991. Carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: effects of a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet vs a diet high in monounsaturated fatty acids. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 54, 586-590.
- BORG, G. 1973. Perceived exertion: a note on" history" and methods. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.*, 5, 90-93.
- BORGHOUTS, L. & KEIZER, H. 2000. Exercise and insulin sensitivity: a review. International journal of sports medicine, 21, 1-12.
- BORNFELDT, K. E. & TABAS, I. 2011. Insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, and atherosclerosis. *Cell metabolism*, 14, 575-585.
- BOSELLO, O. & ZAMBONI, M. 2000. Visceral obesity and metabolic syndrome. Obesity reviews, 1, 47-56.
- BOUILLON, K., SINGH-MANOUX, A., JOKELA, M., SHIPLEY, M. J., BATTY, G. D., BRUNNER, E. J., SABIA, S., TABÁK, A. G., AKBARALY, T. & FERRIE, J. E. 2011. Decline in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration: lipidlowering drugs, diet, or physical activity? Evidence from the Whitehall II study. *Heart*, 97, 923-930.

- BOUTAYEB, A. 2006. The double burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases in developing countries. *Transactions of the Royal society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 100, 191-199.
- BOVET, P., SHAMLAYE, C., GABRIEL, A., RIESEN, W. & PACCAUD, F. 2006. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in a middle-income country and estimated cost of a treatment strategy. *BMC Public health*, 6, 1.
- BOWER, J. F., DESHAIES, Y., PFEIFER, M., TANENBERG, R. J. & BARAKAT, H. A. 2002. Ethnic differences in postprandial triglyceride response to a fatty meal and lipoprotein lipase in lean and obese African American and Caucasian women. *Metabolism*, 51, 211-217.
- BOYKO, E. J., LEONETTI, D. L., BERGSTROM, R. W., NEWELL-MORRIS, L. & FUJIMOTO, W. Y. 1995. Visceral adiposity, fasting plasma insulin, and blood pressure in Japanese-Americans. *Diabetes Care*, 18, 174-181.
- BRAND-MILLER, J., HAYNE, S., PETOCZ, P. & COLAGIURI, S. 2003. Low-Glycemic Index Diets in the Management of Diabetes A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes care*, 26, 2261-2267.
- BRAND-MILLER, J. C. 2004. Postprandial glycemia, glycemic index, and the prevention of type 2 diabetes. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 80, 243-244.
- BRAY, G. A. 1987. Obesity-A Disease of Nutrient or Energy Balance? *Nutrition Reviews*, 45, 33-43.
- BRAY, G. A. 1997. Progress in understanding the genetics of obesity. *The Journal* of nutrition, 127, 940S-942S.
- BRAY, G. A. & POPKIN, B. M. 1998. Dietary fat intake does affect obesity! The American journal of clinical nutrition, 68, 1157-1173.
- BRECKENRIDGE, W., LITTLE, J., ALAUPOVIC, P., WANG, C., KUKSIS, A., KAKIS, G., LINDGREN, F. & GARDINER, G. 1982. Lipoprotein abnormalities associated with a familial deficiency of hepatic lipase. *Atherosclerosis*, 45, 161-179.
- BREZINA, V. & PADMOS, I. 1994. Coronary heart disease risk factors in women. European heart journal, 15, 1571-1584.
- BRITISH HEART FOUNDATION, B. 2012. European Cardiovascular disease statistics [Online]. Available: <u>www.bhf.org.uk/publications/view-</u> <u>publication.aspx?ps=1002098</u> [Accessed 08/04 2015].
- BRITISH HYPERTENSION SOCEITY. 2015. Statistical Information on Cardiovascular Disease in the UK [Online]. Available:

http://www.bhsoc.org/resources/statistical-information-oncardiovascular/ [Accessed].

- BRITTON, A. & MCKEE, M. 2000. The relation between alcohol and cardiovascular disease in Eastern Europe: explaining the paradox. *Journal of Epidemiology and community Health*, 54, 328-332.
- BROWN, A. F., ANG, A. & PEBLEY, A. R. 2007. The relationship between neighborhood characteristics and self-rated health for adults with chronic conditions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97, 926-932.
- BROWN, L., ROSNER, B., WILLETT, W. W. & SACKS, F. M. 1999. Cholesterollowering effects of dietary fiber: a meta-analysis. *The American journal* of clinical nutrition, 69, 30-42.
- BROWN, R., WHISNANT, J. P., SICKS, J., O'FALLON, W. M. & WIEBERS, D. O. 1996. Stroke incidence, prevalence, and survival: secular trends in Rochester, Minnesota, through 1989. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation, 27, 373-380.
- BRUNZELL, J. D. 1973. Evidence for a common, saturable, triglyceride removal mechanism for chylomicrons and very low density lipoproteins in man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 52, 1578.
- BUCALA, R., MAKITA, Z., KOSCHINSKY, T., CERAMI, A. & VLASSARA, H. 1993. Lipid advanced glycosylation: pathway for lipid oxidation in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90, 6434-6438.
- BUCHER, H. C., HENGSTLER, P., SCHINDLER, C. & MEIER, G. 2002. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *The American journal of medicine*, 112, 298-304.
- BUENO, N. B., DE MELO, I. S. V., DE OLIVEIRA, S. L. & DA ROCHA ATAIDE, T. 2013. Very-low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet v. low-fat diet for long-term weight loss: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 110, 1178-1187.
- BURTIS, C. A., ASHWOOD, E. R. & BRUNS, D. E. 2012. *Tietz textbook of clinical chemistry and molecular diagnostics-e-book*, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- BURTON, F., MALKOVA, D., CASLAKE, M. & GILL, J. 2007. Energy replacement attenuates the effects of prior moderate exercise on postprandial metabolism in overweight/obese men. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32, 481-489.
- CALDER, P. C. 2004. n-3 Fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: evidence explained and mechanisms explored. *Clinical science*, 107, 1-11.

- CALDER, P. C. 2006. n- 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83, S1505-1519S.
- CALLE-PASCUAL, A., GOMEZ, V., LEON, E. & BORDIU, E. 1987. Foods with a low glycemic index do not improve glycemic control of both type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients after one month of therapy. *Diabete & metabolisme*, 14, 629-633.
- CALLE, E., THUN, M., PETRELLI, J., RODRIGUEZ, C. & HEATH, C. 2000. Body Mass Index and Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of US Adults. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 20, 131.
- CALLOW, J., SUMMERS, L. K., BRADSHAW, H. & FRAYN, K. N. 2002. Changes in LDL particle composition after the consumption of meals containing different amounts and types of fat. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 76, 345-350.
- CAMPOS, H., GENEST, J. J., BLIJLEVENS, E., MCNAMARA, J. R., JENNER, J. L., ORDOVAS, J. M., WILSON, P. W. & SCHAEFER, E. J. 1992. Low density lipoprotein particle size and coronary artery disease. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 12, 187-195.
- CAMPS, L., REINA, M., LLOBERA, M., VILARO, S. & OLIVECRONA, T. 1990. Lipoprotein lipase: cellular origin and functional distribution. *Am J Physiol*, 258, 673-681.
- CAPPUCCIO, F. P. 1997. Ethnicity and cardiovascular risk: variations in people of African ancestry and South Asian origin. *Journal of human hypertension*, 11, 571-576.
- CAPPUCCIO, F. P., COOK, D. G., ATKINSON, R. W. & STRAZZULLO, P. 1997. Prevalence, detection, and management of cardiovascular risk factors in different ethnic groups in south London. *Heart*, 78, 555-563.
- CARMENA, R., DURIEZ, P. & FRUCHART, J.-C. 2004. Atherogenic lipoprotein particles in atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 109, III-2-III-7.
- CARNEY, R. M. & FREEDLAND, K. E. 2016. Depression and coronary heart disease. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*.
- CASAGRANDE, S. S., WHITT-GLOVER, M. C., LANCASTER, K. J., ODOMS-YOUNG, A. M. & GARY, T. L. 2009. Built environment and health behaviors among African Americans: a systematic review. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 36, 174-181.
- CASTELLI, W. P., ANDERSON, K., WILSON, P. W. & LEVY, D. 1992. Lipids and risk of coronary heart disease The Framingham Study. *Annals of epidemiology*, 2, 23-28.

- CASTELLI, W. P., GARRISON, R. J., WILSON, P. W., ABBOTT, R. D., KALOUSDIAN, S. & KANNEL, W. B. 1986. Incidence of coronary heart disease and lipoprotein cholesterol levels: the Framingham Study. *Jama*, 256, 2835-2838.
- CATALANO, K. J., MADDUX, B. A., SZARY, J., YOUNGREN, J. F., GOLDFINE, I. D. & SCHAUFELE, F. 2014. Insulin resistance induced by hyperinsulinemia coincides with a persistent alteration at the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase domain. *PloS one*, 9, e108693.
- CAVELAARS, A. E., KUNST, A. E., GEURTS, J. J., CRIALESI, R., GRÖTVEDT, L., HELMERT, U., LAHELMA, E., LUNDBERG, O., MATHESON, J. & MIELCK, A. 2000. Educational differences in smoking: international comparison. *Bmj*, 320, 1102-1107.
- CELERMAJER, D. S. 1997. Endothelial dysfunction: does it matter? Is it reversible? Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 30, 325-333.
- CERIELLO, A. 2004. Impaired glucose tolerance and cardiovascular disease: the possible role of post-prandial hyperglycemia. *American heart journal*, 147, 803-807.
- CHAHIL, T. J. & GINSBERG, H. N. 2006. Diabetic dyslipidemia. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America, 35, 491-510.
- CHAJEK-SHAUL, T., FRIEDMAN, G., BENGTSSON-OLIVECRONA, G., VLODAVSKY, I. & BAR-SHAVIT, R. 1990. Interaction of lipoprotein lipase with subendothelial extracellular matrix. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 1042, 168-175.
- CHAN, A., SWAMINATHAN, R. & COCKRAM, C. 1989. Effectiveness of sodium fluoride as a preservative of glucose in blood. *Clinical Chemistry*, 35, 315-317.
- CHAN, D. C. & WATTS, G. F. 2011. Dyslipidaemia in the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: pathogenesis, priorities, pharmacotherapies. *Expert* opinion on pharmacotherapy, 12, 13-30.
- CHANCHARME, L., THÉROND, P., NIGON, F., LEPAGE, S., COUTURIER, M. & CHAPMAN, M. J. 1999. Cholesteryl ester hydroperoxide lability is a key feature of the oxidative susceptibility of small, dense LDL. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 19, 810-820.
- CHANDALIA, M., ABATE, N., GARG, A., STRAY-GUNDERSEN, J. & GRUNDY, S. M. 1999. Relationship between Generalized and Upper Body Obesity to Insulin Resistance in Asian Indian Men 1. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 84, 2329-2335.

- CHANDALIA, M., LIN, P., SEENIVASAN, T., LIVINGSTON, E. H., SNELL, P. G., GRUNDY, S. M. & ABATE, N. 2007. Insulin resistance and body fat distribution in South Asian men compared to Caucasian men. *PloS one*, 2, e812.
- CHAPMAN, M. J., GINSBERG, H. N., AMARENCO, P., ANDREOTTI, F., BORÉN, J., CATAPANO, A. L., DESCAMPS, O. S., FISHER, E., KOVANEN, P. T. & KUIVENHOVEN, J. A. 2011. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease: evidence and guidance for management. *European heart journal*, ehr112.
- CHATURVEDI, N. 1993. Resting and ambulatory blood pressure differences in Afro-Caribbeans and Europeans. *Hypertension*, 22, 90-96.
- CHATURVEDI, N. 1994. Relationship of glucose intolerance to coronary risk in Afro-Caribbeans compared with Europeans. *Diabetologia*, 37, 765-772.
- CHATURVEDI, N. 2003. Ethnic differences in cardiovascular disease. *Heart*, 89, 681-686.
- CHATURVEDI, N., MCKEIGUE, P. M. & MARMOT, M. 1994. Relationship of glucose intolerance to coronary risk in Afro-Caribbeans compared with Europeans. *Diabetologia*, 37, 765-772.
- CHATURVEDI, N., MCKEIGUE, P. M. & MARMOT, M. G. 1993. Resting and ambulatory blood pressure differences in Afro-Caribbeans and Europeans. *Hypertension*, 22, 90-96.
- CHAVEZ, J. A. & SUMMERS, S. A. 2010. Lipid oversupply, selective insulin resistance, and lipotoxicity: molecular mechanisms. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1801, 252-265.
- CHEN, C.-H., LU, J., CHEN, S.-H., HUANG, R. Y., YILMAZ, H. R., DONG, J., ELAYDA, M. A., DIXON, R. A. & YANG, C.-Y. 2012. Effects of electronegative VLDL on endothelium damage in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes care*, 35, 648-653.
- CHEN, M., BERGMAN, R. & PORTE JR, D. 1988. Insulin Resistance and B-Cell Dysfunction in Aging: The Importance of Dietary Carbohydrate*. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 67, 951-957.
- CHEN, M., BRESLOW, J., LI, W. & LEFF, T. 1994. Transcriptional regulation of the apoC-III gene by insulin in diabetic mice: correlation with changes in plasma triglyceride levels. *Journal of lipid research*, 35, 1918-1924.
- CHEN, Y.-D., SKOWRONSKI, R., COULSTON, A., PIETARINEN, J., HOLLENBECK, C. & REAVEN, G. M. 1992. Effect of acute variations in dietary fat and carbohydrate intake on retinyl ester content of intestinally derived

lipoproteins. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 74, 28-32.

- CHEN, Y. D. I. & REAVEN, G. M. 1991. Intestinally-derived lipoproteins: Metabolism and clinical significance. *Diabetes/metabolism reviews*, 7, 191-208.
- CHIOLERO, A., FAEH, D., PACCAUD, F. & CORNUZ, J. 2008. Consequences of smoking for body weight, body fat distribution, and insulin resistance. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 87, 801-809.
- CHO, N. H., WHITING, D., GUARIGUATA, L., MONTOYA, P. A., FOROUHI, N., HAMBLETON, I., LI, R., MAJEED, A., MBANYA, J. & MOTALA, A. 2013. IDF diabetes atlas. *Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation*.
- CHOU, Y.-M., POLANSKY, A. M. & MASON, R. L. 1998. Transforming non-normal data to normality in statistical process control. *Journal of Quality Technology*, 30, 133.
- CHRISTIANSON, A. L., HOWSON, C. P. & MODELL, B. 2006. *Global report on birth defects: the hidden toll of dying and disabled children, March of Dimes Birth Defects Foundation.*
- CHUNG, S., SONG, M.-Y., SHIN, H.-D., KIM, D.-Y., HE, Q., HESHKA, S., WANG, J., THORNTON, J., LAFERRÈRE, B. & PI-SUNYER, F. X. 2005. Korean and Caucasian overweight premenopausal women have different relationship of body mass index to percent body fat with age. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 99, 103-107.
- CLARK, A. M., DESMEULES, M., LUO, W., DUNCAN, A. S. & WIELGOSZ, A. 2009. Socioeconomic status and cardiovascular disease: risks and implications for care. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 6, 712-722.
- CLEEMAN, J., GRUNDY, S., BECKER, D. & CLARK, L. 2001. Expert panel on detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults. Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Adult Treatment Panel (ATP III). Jama, 285, 2486-2497.
- CLEOPHAS, T. 1999. Wine, beer and spirits and the risk of myocardial infarction: a systematic review. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy*, 53, 417-423.
- COHEN, J. 2013. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, Academic press.
- COHEN, J., NOAKES, T. & BENADE, A. 1988. Serum triglyceride responses to fatty meals: effects of meal fat content. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 47, 825-827.

- COHEN, J., WANG, Z., GRUNDY, S., STOESZ, M. & GUERRA, R. 1994. Variation at the hepatic lipase and apolipoprotein AI/CIII/AIV loci is a major cause of genetically determined variation in plasma HDL cholesterol levels. *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 94, 2377.
- COHEN, J. C. & BERGER, G. 1990. Effects of glucose ingestion on postprandial lipemia and triglyceride clearance in humans. *Journal of lipid research*, 31, 597-602.
- COHN, J., MCNAMARA, J. R., COHN, S., ORDOVAS, J. & SCHAEFER, E. 1988a. Plasma apolipoprotein changes in the triglyceride-rich lipoprotein fraction of human subjects fed a fat-rich meal. *Journal of lipid research*, 29, 925-936.
- COHN, J. S., JOHNSON, E. J., MILLAR, J. S., COHN, S. D., MILNE, R. W., MARCEL, Y., RUSSELL, R. & SCHAEFER, E. 1993. Contribution of apoB-48 and apoB-100 triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL) to postprandial increases in the plasma concentration of TRL triglycerides and retinyl esters. *Journal of lipid research*, 34, 2033-2040.
- COHN, J. S., MCNAMARA, J., COHN, S., ORDOVAS, J. & SCHAEFER, E. 1988b. Postprandial plasma lipoprotein changes in human subjects of different ages. *Journal of lipid research*, 29, 469-479.
- COHORTS, D. 2014. Loss-of-function mutations in APOC3, triglycerides, and coronary disease.
- COLLABORATION, A. P. C. S. 2004. Body mass index and cardiovascular disease in the Asia-Pacific Region: an overview of 33 cohorts involving 310 000 participants. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 33, 751-758.
- COLLIER, G., MCLEAN, A. & O'DEA, K. 1984. Effect of co-ingestion of fat on the metabolic responses to slowly and rapidly absorbed carbohydrates. *Diabetologia*, 26, 50-54.
- COLLIER, G. & O'DEA, K. 1983. The effect of coingestion of fat on the glucose, insulin, and gastric inhibitory polypeptide responses to carbohydrate and protein. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 37, 941-944.
- COLLIER, G. R., GREENBERG, G. R., WOLVER, T. M. & JENKINS, D. J. 1988. The acute effect of fat on insulin secretion. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 66, 323-326.
- COLLINS, R., PETO, R. & ARMITAGE, J. 2002. The MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study: preliminary results. *International journal of clinical practice*, 56, 53-56.
- CONSOLAZIO, C. F., JOHNSON, R. E. & PECORA, L. J. 1963. Physiological measurements of metabolic functions in man.

- CONSORTIUM, T. C. D. G. & COLLABORATION, E. R. F. 2010. Triglyceridemediated pathways and coronary disease: collaborative analysis of 101 studies. *Lancet*, 375, 1634.
- CONTACOS, C., BARTER, P. J., VRGA, L. & SULLIVAN, D. R. 1998. Cholesteryl ester transfer in hypercholesterolaemia: fasting and postprandial studies with and without pravastatin. *Atherosclerosis*, 141, 87-98.
- CONTROL, C. F. D. & PREVENTION 2002. Cigarette smoking among adults--United States, 2000. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 51, 642.
- COOPER, A. D. 1997a. Hepatic uptake of chylomicron remnants. *J Lipid Res*, 38, 2173-2192.
- COOPER, A. D. 1997b. Hepatic uptake of chylomicron remnants. *Journal of lipid research*, 38, 2173-2192.
- COOPER, R., ROTIMI, C., ATAMAN, S., MCGEE, D., OSOTIMEHIN, B., KADIRI, S., MUNA, W., KINGUE, S., FRASER, H. & FORRESTER, T. 1997. The prevalence of hypertension in seven populations of west African origin. *American journal of public health*, 87, 160-168.
- COPPACK, S., FISHER, R., GIBBONS, G., HUMPHREYS, S., MCDONOUGH, M., POTTS, J. & FRAYN, K. 1990. Postprandial substrate deposition in human forearm and adipose tissues in vivo. *Clin Sci*, 79, 339-348.
- CORELLA, D. & ORDOVAS, J. M. 2005. Single nucleotide polymorphisms that influence lipid metabolism: interaction with dietary factors. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.*, 25, 341-390.
- CORESH, J., KWITEROVICH, P., SMITH, H. & BACHORIK, P. 1993. Association of plasma triglyceride concentration and LDL particle diameter, density, and chemical composition with premature coronary artery disease in men and women. *Journal of lipid research*, 34, 1687-1697.
- CORESH, J. & KWITEROVICH, P. O. 1996. Small, dense low-density lipoprotein particles and coronary heart disease risk: a clear association with uncertain implications. *Jama*, 276, 914-915.
- CORRAO, G., BAGNARDI, V., ZAMBON, A. & LA VECCHIA, C. 2004. A meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and the risk of 15 diseases. *Preventive medicine*, 38, 613-619.
- CORRAO, G., RUBBIATI, L., BAGNARDI, V., ZAMBON, A. & POIKOLAINEN, K. 2000. Alcohol and coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *Addiction*, 95, 1505-1523.
- CORRAO, J. M., BECKER, R. C., OCKENE, I. S. & HAMILTON, G. A. 1990. Coronary heart disease risk factors in women. *Cardiology*, 77, 8-24.

- COUILLARD, C., BERGERON, N., PRUD'HOMME, D., BERGERON, J., TREMBLAY, A., BOUCHARD, C., MAURIEGE, P. & DESPRES, J. 1998. Postprandial triglyceride response in visceral obesity in men. *Diabetes*, 47, 953-960.
- COX, R. & GARCIA-PALMIERI, M. 1990. Cholesterol, triglycerides, and associated lipoproteins.
- CRAWFORD, P. B., STORY, M., WANG, M. C., RITCHIE, L. D. & SABRY, Z. 2001. Ethnic issues in the epidemiology of childhood obesity. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 48, 855-878.
- CRITCHLEY, J. A. & CAPEWELL, S. 2003. Mortality risk reduction associated with smoking cessation in patients with coronary heart disease: a systematic review. *Jama*, 290, 86-97.
- CROFT, J. B., FREEDMAN, D. S., CRESANTA, J. L., SRINIVASAN, S. R., BURKE, G. L., HUNTER, S. M., WEBBER, L. S., SMOAK, C. G. & BERENSON, G. S. 1987. Adverse influences of alcohol, tobacco, and oral contraceptive use on cardiovascular risk factors during transition to adulthood. *American journal of epidemiology*, 126, 202-213.
- CROOK, E. D. & TAYLOR, H. 2003. Traditional and nontraditional risk factors for cardiovascular and renal disease in African Americans (Part 2): a project of the Jackson Heart Study investigators. The American journal of the medical sciences, 325, 305-306.
- CRUICKSHANK, J. K., MACDUFF, J., DRUBRA, U., COOPER, J. & BURNETT, M. 1991. Ethnic differences in fasting plasma C-peptide and insulin in relation to glucose tolerance and blood pressure. *The Lancet*, 338, 842-847.
- CRUZ, M. L., EVANS, K. & FRAYN, K. N. 2001a. Postprandial lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity in young Northern Europeans, South Asians and Latin Americans in the UK. *Atherosclerosis*, 159, 441-449.
- CRUZ, W. S., KWON, G., MARSHALL, C. A., MCDANIEL, M. L. & SEMENKOVICH, C. F. 2001b. Glucose and insulin stimulate heparin-releasable lipoprotein lipase activity in mouse islets and INS-1 cells. A potential link between insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction. J Biol Chem, 276, 12162-12168.
- CURTIN, A., DEEGAN, P., OWENS, D., COLLINS, P., JOHNSON, A. & TOMKIN, G. H. 1996. Elevated triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in diabetes. A study of apolipoprotein B-48. *Acta Diabetol*, 33, 205-10.
- CUTLER, J. 1996. High blood pressure and end-organ damage. *Journal of hypertension. Supplement: official journal of the International Society of Hypertension*, 14, S3-6.

- D'AGOSTINO SR, R. B., GRUNDY, S., SULLIVAN, L. M. & WILSON, P. 2001. Validation of the Framingham coronary heart disease prediction scores: results of a multiple ethnic groups investigation. *JAMA*, 286, 180-187.
- DALY, M. 2003. Sugars, insulin sensitivity, and the postprandial state. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 78, 865S-872S.
- DANE-STEWART, C. A., WATTS, G. F., BARRETT, P. H. R., STUCKEY, B. G. A., MAMO, J. C. L., MARTINS, I. J. & REDGRAVE, T. G. 2003. Chylomicron remnant metabolism studied with a new breath test in postmenopausal women with and without type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 58, 415-420.
- DAYTON, S., PEARCE, M. L., HASHIMOTO, S., DIXON, W. J. & TOMIYASU, U. 1969. A controlled clinical trial of a diet high in unsaturated fat in preventing complications of atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 40, II-1II-63.
- DE CATERINA, R. 2011. n-3 fatty acids in cardiovascular disease. New England Journal of Medicine, 364, 2439-2450.
- DE GRAAF, J., HAK-LEMMERS, H. L., HECTORS, M. P., DEMACKER, P. N., HENDRIKS, J. C. & STALENHOEF, A. F. 1991. Enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation of the dense low density lipoprotein subfraction in healthy subjects. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 11, 298-306.
- DE GRAAF, J., HENDRIKS, J. C., DEMACKER, P. N. & STALENHOEF, A. F. 1993. Identification of multiple dense LDL subfractions with enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation among hypertriglyceridemic subjects. Normalization after clofibrate treatment. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 13, 712-719.
- DE LORENZO, A., SOLDATI, L., SARLO, F., CALVANI, M., DI LORENZO, N. & DI RENZO, L. 2016. New obesity classification criteria as a tool for bariatric surgery indication. *World journal of gastroenterology*, 22, 681.
- DE LORGERIL, M., SALEN, P., MARTIN, J.-L., MONJAUD, I., DELAYE, J. & MAMELLE, N. 1999. Mediterranean diet, traditional risk factors, and the rate of cardiovascular complications after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, 99, 779-785.
- DE MAN, F., CASTRO CABEZAS, M., VAN BARLINGEN, H., ERKELENS, D. & DE BRUIN, T. 1996. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: post-prandial metabolism and relation to premature atherosclerosis. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 26, 89-108.
- DEATON, C., FROELICHER, E. S., WU, L. H., HO, C., SHISHANI, K. & JAARSMA, T. 2011. The global burden of cardiovascular disease. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 10, S5-S13.

- DECKELBAUM, R. J., GRANOT, E., OSCHRY, Y., ROSE, L. & EISENBERG, S. 1984. Plasma triglyceride determines structure-composition in low and high density lipoproteins. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 4, 225-231.
- DEL PRATO, S. & TIENGO, A. 2001. The importance of first-phase insulin secretion: implications for the therapy of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews*, 17, 164-174.
- DENNY, C. H., HOLTZMAN, D., GOINS, R. T. & CROFT, J. B. 2005. Disparities in chronic disease risk factors and health status between American Indian/Alaska Native and White elders: findings from a telephone survey, 2001 and 2002. American journal of public health, 95, 825-827.
- DESPRÉS, J.-P., COUILLARD, C., GAGNON, J., BERGERON, J., LEON, A. S., RAO, D., SKINNER, J. S., WILMORE, J. H. & BOUCHARD, C. 2000. Race, visceral adipose tissue, plasma lipids, and lipoprotein lipase activity in men and women the Health, Risk Factors, Exercise Training, and Genetics (HERITAGE) Family Study. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 20, 1932-1938.
- DESPRES, J.-P., FERLAND, M., MOORJANI, S., NADEAU, A., TREMBLAY, A., LUPIEN, P. J., THERIAULT, G. & BOUCHARD, C. 1989. Role of hepatictriglyceride lipase activity in the association between intra-abdominal fat and plasma HDL cholesterol in obese women. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis*, and Vascular Biology, 9, 485-492.
- DESPRÉS, J.-P. & LAMARCHE, B. 1993. Effects of diet and physical activity on adiposity and body fat distribution: Implications for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 6, 137-159.
- DESPRES, J.-P., MOORJANI, S., LUPIEN, P. J., TREMBLAY, A., NADEAU, A. & BOUCHARD, C. 1990. Regional distribution of body fat, plasma lipoproteins, and cardiovascular disease. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, 10, 497-511.
- DESPRES, J. P. 2000. Race, visceral adipose tissue, plasma lipids and lipoprotein lipase activity in men and women. The HERITAGE family study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 20, 1932-1938.
- DESPRÉS, J. P. & LAMARCHE, B. 1994. Low-intensity endurance exercise training, plasma lipoproteins and the risk of coronary heart disease. *Journal of internal medicine*, 236, 7-22.
- DEURENBERG-YAP, M., SCHMIDT, G., VAN STAVEREN, W. A. & DEURENBERG, P. 2000. The paradox of low body mass index and high body fat percentage among Chinese, Malays and Indians in Singapore. *International journal of obesity*, 1011-7.

- DEURENBERG-YAP, M., SCHMIDT, G., VAN STAVEREN, W. A., HAUTVAST, J. G. & DEURENBERG, P. 2001. Body fat measurement among Singaporean Chinese, Malays and Indians: a comparative study using a fourcompartment model and different two-compartment models. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 85, 491-498.
- DEURENBERG, P., DEURENBERG YAP, M., WANG, J., LIN, F. & SCHMIDT, G. 1999. The impact of body build on the relationship between body mass index and percent body fat. *International Journal of Obesity*, 23, 537-542.
- DI ANGELANTONIO E, SARWAR N, PERRY P, KAPTOGE S, KK., R. & A., T. 2009. Major lipids, apolipoproteins, and risk of vascular disease. *Jama*, 302, 1993-2000.
- DI CASTELNUOVO, A., ROTONDO, S., IACOVIELLO, L., DONATI, M. B. & DE GAETANO, G. 2002. Meta-analysis of wine and beer consumption in relation to vascular risk. *Circulation*, 105, 2836-2844.
- DICKINSON, S., COLAGIURI, S., FARAMUS, E., PETOCZ, P. & BRAND-MILLER, J. 2002. Postprandial hyperglycemia and insulin sensitivity differ among lean young adults of different ethnicities. *The Journal of nutrition*, 132, 2574-2579.
- DIFFENDERFER, M. R. & SCHAEFER, E. J. 2014. The composition and metabolism of large and small LDL. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 25, 221-226.
- DILIS, V., KATSOULIS, M., LAGIOU, P., TRICHOPOULOS, D., NASKA, A. & TRICHOPOULOU, A. 2012. Mediterranean diet and CHD: the Greek European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition cohort. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 108, 699-709.
- DIMITRIADIS, G., MITROU, P., LAMBADIARI, V., MARATOU, E. & RAPTIS, S. A. 2011. Insulin effects in muscle and adipose tissue. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 93 Suppl 1, S52-9.
- DOKKEN, B. B. 2008. The pathophysiology of cardiovascular disease and diabetes: beyond blood pressure and lipids. *Diabetes Spectrum*, 21, 160-165.
- DOLE, V. P. 1956. A relation between non-esterified fatty acids in plasma and the metabolism of glucose. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 35, 150.
- DONAHUE, R. P., JACOBS, D. R., SIDNEY, S., WAGENKNECHT, L. E., ALBERS, J. J. & HULLEY, S. B. 1989. Distribution of lipoproteins and apolipoproteins in young adults The CARDIA Study. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 9, 656-664.

- DONNELLY, R., EMSLIE-SMITH, A. M., GARDNER, I. D. & MORRIS, A. D. 2000. Vascular complications of diabetes. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 320, 1062.
- DREON, D., FERNSTROM, H., MILLER, B. & KRAUSS, R. 1994. Low-density lipoprotein subclass patterns and lipoprotein response to a reduced-fat diet in men. *The FASEB journal*, 8, 121-126.
- DREON, D. M., FERNSTROM, H. A., WILLIAMS, P. T. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1999. A very-low-fat diet is not associated with improved lipoprotein profiles in men with a predominance of large, low-density lipoproteins. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 69, 411-418.
- DUBOIS, C., ARMAND, M., AZAIS-BRAESCO, V., PORTUGAL, H., PAULI, A.-M., BERNARD, P., LATGE, C., LAFONT, H., BOREL, P. & LAIRON, D. 1994. Effects of moderate amounts of emulsified dietary fat on postprandial lipemia and lipoproteins in normolipidemic adults. *The American journal* of clinical nutrition, 60, 374-382.
- DUBOIS, C., BEAUMIER, G., JUHEL, C., ARMAND, M., PORTUGAL, H., PAULI, A.-M., BOREL, P., LATGÉ, C. & LAIRON, D. 1998. Effects of graded amounts (0-50 g) of dietary fat on postprandial lipemia and lipoproteins in normolipidemic adults. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 67, 31-38.
- DUELL, P. B., ORAM, J. F. & BIERMAN, E. L. 1991. Nonenzymatic Glycosylation of HDL and Impaired HDL-Receptor-Mediated Cholesterol Efflux. *Diabetes*, 40, 377-384.
- DULLAART, R. P., GROENER, J. E., VAN WIJK, H., SLUITER, W. J. & ERKELENS, D.
 W. 1989. Alimentary lipemia-induced redistribution of cholesteryl ester between lipoproteins. Studies in normolipidemic, combined hyperlipidemic, and hypercholesterolemic men. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 9, 614-622.
- DUNCAN, J. J., GORDON, N. F. & SCOTT, C. B. 1991. Women walking for health and fitness: how much is enough? *Jama*, 266, 3295-3299.
- DUNCOMBE, W. 1963. The colorimetric micro-determination of long-chain fatty acids. *Biochemical Journal*, 88, 7.
- DUNCOMBE, W. 1964. The colorimetric micro-determination of non-esterified fatty acids in plasma. *Clinica chimica acta*, 9, 122-125.
- DURNIN, J. & WOMERSLEY, J. 1974. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 32, 77-97.

- DURRINGTON, P. N. 1990. Biological variation in serum lipid concentrations. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 50, 86-91.
- DYERBERG, J., BANG, H. & HJORNE, N. 1975. Fatty acid composition of the plasma lipids in Greenland Eskimos. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 28, 958-966.
- EASTWOOD, M. A. & MORRIS, E. R. 1992. Physical properties of dietary fiber that influence physiological function: a model for polymers along the gastrointestinal tract. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 55, 436-442.
- ELDERS, M. J. 1997. Preventing tobacco use among young people: A report of the Surgeon General, DIANE Publishing.
- ELHAN, A. H. & TUCCAR, E. 2006. Investigation of four different normality tests in terms of type 1 error rate and power under different distributions.
- ELIASSON, B., ATTVALL, S., TASKINEN, M.-R. & SMITH, U. 1994. The insulin resistance syndrome in smokers is related to smoking habits. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 14, 1946-1950.
- ELLIOTT, A. C. & WOODWARD, W. A. 2007. Statistical analysis quick reference guidebook: With SPSS examples, Sage.
- ELLISON, R. C., ZHANG, Y., QURESHI, M. M., KNOX, S., ARNETT, D. K. & PROVINCE, M. A. 2004. Lifestyle determinants of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: The national heart, lung, and blood institute family heart study. *American heart journal*, 147, 529-535.
- ELLMAN, N., KESWELL, D., COLLINS, M., TOOTLA, M. & GOEDECKE, J. H. 2015. Ethnic differences in the association between lipid metabolism genes and lipid levels in black and white South African women. *Atherosclerosis*.
- ELRICK, H., STIMMLER, L., HLAD JR, C. & ARAI, Y. 1964. Plasma Insulin Response to Oral and Intravenous Glucose Administration 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 24, 1076-1082.
- EMBERSON, J. R., WHINCUP, P. H., MORRIS, R. W. & WALKER, M. 2003. Reassessing the contribution of serum total cholesterol, blood pressure and cigarette smoking to the aetiology of coronary heart disease: impact of regression dilution bias. *European Heart Journal*, 24, 1719-1726.
- ERKKILÄ, A. T. & LICHTENSTEIN, A. H. 2006. Fiber and cardiovascular disease risk: how strong is the evidence? *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 21, 3-8.
- ESHAK, E. S., ISO, H., DATE, C., KIKUCHI, S., WATANABE, Y., WADA, Y., WAKAI, K., TAMAKOSHI, A. & GROUP, J. S. 2010. Dietary fiber intake is associated

with reduced risk of mortality from cardiovascular disease among Japanese men and women. *The Journal of nutrition*, jn. 110.122358.

- ESTRICH, D., RAVNIK, A., SCHLIERF, G., FUKAYAMA, G. & KINSELL, L. 1967. Effects of co-ingestion of fat and protein upon carbohydrate-induced hyperglycemia. *Diabetes*, 16, 232-237.
- EXPERT PANEL ON DETECTION, E. 2001. Executive summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Jama, 285, 2486.
- EZZATI, M., LOPEZ, A. D., RODGERS, A., VANDER HOORN, S. & MURRAY, C. J. 2002. Selected major risk factors and global and regional burden of disease. *The Lancet*, 360, 1347-1360.
- FACCHINI, F. S., HOLLENBECK, C. B., JEPPESEN, J., CHEN, Y.-D. I. & REAVEN, G. 1992. Insulin resistance and cigarette smoking. *The Lancet*, 339, 1128-1130.
- FAGHIHNIA, N., TSIMIKAS, S., MILLER, E. R., WITZTUM, J. L. & KRAUSS, R. M. 2010. Changes in lipoprotein (a), oxidized phospholipids, and LDL subclasses with a low-fat high-carbohydrate diet. *Journal of lipid* research, 51, 3324-3330.
- FAHY, E., SUBRAMANIAM, S., MURPHY, R. C., NISHIJIMA, M., RAETZ, C. R., SHIMIZU, T., SPENER, F., VAN MEER, G., WAKELAM, M. J. & DENNIS, E. A. 2009. Update of the LIPID MAPS comprehensive classification system for lipids. *Journal of lipid research*, 50, S9-S14.
- FAIN, J. N., MADAN, A. K., HILER, M. L., CHEEMA, P. & BAHOUTH, S. W. 2004. Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissues of obese humans. *Endocrinology*, 145, 2273-2282.
- FALCIGLIA, M. 2007. Causes and consequences of hyperglycemia in critical illness. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care*, 10, 498-503.
- FALKO, J. M., SCHONFELD, G., WITZTUM, J., KOLAR, J. B., WEIDMAN, S. W. & STEELMAN, R. 1980a. Effects of diet on apoprotein E levels and on the apoprotein E subspecies in human plasma lipoproteins. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 50, 521-528.
- FALKO, J. M., SCHONFELD, G., WITZTUM, J. L., KOLAR, J. B. & SALMON, P. 1980b. Effects of short-term high carbohydrate, fat-free diet on plasma levels of apo C-II and apo C-III and on the apo C subspecies in human plasma lipoproteins. *Metabolism*, 29, 654-661.

- FARAH, N. M. & GILL, J. M. 2012. Effects of exercise before or after meal ingestion on fat balance and postprandial metabolism in overweight men. British Journal of Nutrition, 1, 1-11.
- FARHUD, D. & YEGANEH, M. Z. 2010. Nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics. Iranian journal of public health, 39, 1.
- FEINGOLD, K. R. & GRUNFELD, C. 2015. Introduction to lipids and lipoproteins.
- FELTRIN, K. L., LITTLE, T. J., MEYER, J. H., HOROWITZ, M., SMOUT, A. J., WISHART, J., PILICHIEWICZ, A. N., RADES, T., CHAPMAN, I. M. & FEINLE-BISSET, C. 2004. Effects of intraduodenal fatty acids on appetite, antropyloroduodenal motility, and plasma CCK and GLP-1 in humans vary with their chain length. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 287, R524-R533.
- FERRIE, J. E., SINGH-MANOUX, A., KIVIMÄKI, M., MINDELL, J., BREEZE, E., SMITH,
 G. D. & SHIPLEY, M. J. 2009. Cardiorespiratory risk factors as predictors of 40-year mortality in women and men. *Heart*, 95, 1250-1257.
- FIELDING, B. A., GRADY, G. R. M., HUMPHREYS, S. M., EVANS, K. & FRAYN, K. N. 2000. Ethanol with a mixed meal increases postprandial triacylglycerol but decreases postprandial non-esterified fatty acid concentrations. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 83, 597-604.
- FIELDING, C. & FIELDING, P. 1976. Mechanism of salt-mediated inhibition of lipoprotein lipase. *Journal of lipid research*, 17, 248-256.
- FILLMORE, K. M., STOCKWELL, T., CHIKRITZHS, T., BOSTROM, A. & KERR, W. 2007. Moderate alcohol use and reduced mortality risk: systematic error in prospective studies and new hypotheses. *Annals of epidemiology*, 17, S16-S23.
- FINEGOLD, J. A., ASARIA, P. & FRANCIS, D. P. 2013. Mortality from ischaemic heart disease by country, region, and age: Statistics from World Health Organisation and United Nations. *International journal of cardiology*, 168, 934-945.
- FISHER, R. M., COPPACK, S. W., HUMPHREYS, S. M., GIBBONS, G. F. & FRAYN, K. N. 1995. Human triacylglycerol-rich lipoprotein subfractions as substrates for lipoprotein lipase. *Clinica chimica acta*, 236, 7-17.
- FISHER, W. R. 1983. Heterogeneity of plasma low density lipoproteins manifestations of the physiologic phenomenon in man. *Metabolism*, 32, 283-291.
- FLATHER, M. 2010. Efficacy and safety of more intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol: a meta-analysis of data from 170 000 participants in 26 randomised trials. *The Lancet*, 376, 1670-1681.

- FLATT, J. 1995. McCollum Award Lecture, 1995: diet, lifestyle, and weight maintenance. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 62, 820-836.
- FLINT, A. J. & RIMM, E. B. 2006. Commentary: Obesity and cardiovascular disease risk among the young and old—is BMI the wrong benchmark? *International journal of epidemiology*, 35, 187-189.
- FOPPA, M., FUCHS, F. D., PREISSLER, L., ANDRIGHETTO, A., ROSITO, G. A. & DUNCAN, B. B. 2002. Red wine with the noon meal lowers post-meal blood pressure: a randomized trial in centrally obese, hypertensive patients. *Journal of studies on alcohol*, 63, 247-251.
- FORD, E. S., GILES, W. H. & DIETZ, W. H. 2002. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Jama*, 287, 356-359.
- FORMAN, M. & HERNANDEZ, L. 2010. Dietary fiber intake and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: the National Institutes of Health-AARP Diet and Health Study: Park Y, Brinton LA, Subar AF, et al (Natl Cancer Inst, Bethesda, MD; et al) Am J Clin Nutr 90: 664-671, 2009 §. Breast Diseases: A Year Book Quarterly, 21, 122-123.
- FOROUHI, N., JENKINSON, G., THOMAS, E. L., MULLICK, S., MIERISOVA, S., BHONSLE, U., MCKEIGUE, P. & BELL, J. 1999. Relation of triglyceride stores in skeletal muscle cells to central obesity and insulin sensitivity in European and South Asian men. *Diabetologia*, 42, 932-935.
- FORRESTER, T. E., WILKS, R. J., BENNETT, F. I., SIMEON, D., OSMOND, C., ALLEN, M., CHUNG, A. P. & SCOTT, P. 1996. Fetal growth and cardiovascular risk factors in Jamaican schoolchildren. *Bmj*, 312, 156.
- FRAYN, K. 1983. Calculation of substrate oxidation rates in vivo from gaseous exchange. J Appl physiol, 55, 628-634.
- FRAYN, K. N. 2009. *Metabolic regulation: a human perspective*, John Wiley & Sons.
- FRAYN, K. N., SHADID, S., HAMLANI, R., HUMPHREYS, S., CLARK, M., FIELDING, B. A., BOLAND, O. & COPPACK, S. W. 1994. Regulation of fatty acid movement in human adipose tissue in the postabsorptive-to-postprandial transition. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism, 266, E308-E317.
- FREIS, E. D. 1969. Hypertension and atherosclerosis. *The American journal of medicine*, 46, 735-740.
- FRIDAY, K. E., SRINIVASAN, S. R., ELKASABANY, A., DONG, C., WATTIGNEY, W. A., DALFERES, E. & BERENSON, G. S. 1999. Black-white differences in

postprandial triglyceride response and postheparin lipoprotein lipase and hepatic triglyceride lipase among young men. *Metabolism*, 48, 749-754.

- FRIEDEWALD, W. T., LEVY, R. I. & FREDRICKSON, D. S. 1972. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clinical chemistry*, 18, 499-502.
- FRIEDMAN, J. M. & HALAAS, J. L. 1998. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*, 395, 763-770.
- FUJIMOTO, W. Y., BERGSTROM, R. W., BOYKO, E. J., CHEN, K., LEONETTI, D. L., NEWELL-MORRIS, L., SHOFER, J. B. & WAHL, P. W. 1999. Visceral adiposity and incident coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men. The 10-year follow-up results of the Seattle Japanese-American Community Diabetes Study. *Diabetes care*, 22, 1808-1812.
- FUNG, T. T., RIMM, E. B., SPIEGELMAN, D., RIFAI, N., TOFLER, G. H., WILLETT, W. C. & HU, F. B. 2001. Association between dietary patterns and plasma biomarkers of obesity and cardiovascular disease risk. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 73, 61-67.
- G NORDESTGAARD, B. & J FREIBERG, J. 2011. Clinical relevance of non-fasting and postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and remnant cholesterol. *Current* vascular pharmacology, 9, 281-286.
- GALEANO, N. F., MILNE, R., MARCEL, Y. L., WALSH, M. T., LEVY, E., NGU'YEN, T.-D., GLEESON, A., ARAD, Y., WITTE, L. & AL-HAIDERI, M. 1994.
 Apoprotein B structure and receptor recognition of triglyceride-rich low density lipoprotein (LDL) is modified in small LDL but not in triglyceriderich LDL of normal size. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 511-519.
- GALLAGHER, D., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., HEO, M., JEBB, S. A., MURGATROYD, P. R. & SAKAMOTO, Y. 2000. Healthy percentage body fat ranges: an approach for developing guidelines based on body mass index. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 72, 694-701.
- GAMBINO, R., PISCITELLI, J., ACKATTUPATHIL, T. A., THERIAULT, J. L., ANDRIN, R. D., SANFILIPPO, M. L. & ETIENNE, M. 2009. Acidification of blood is superior to sodium fluoride alone as an inhibitor of glycolysis. *Clinical chemistry*, 55, 1019-1021.
- GANNON, M. C., NUTTALL, F. Q., NEIL, B. J. & WESTPHAL, S. A. 1988. The insulin and glucose responses to meals of glucose plus various proteins in type II diabetic subjects. *Metabolism*, 37, 1081-1088.
- GARDENER, H., WRIGHT, C. B., GU, Y., DEMMER, R. T., BODEN-ALBALA, B., ELKIND, M. S., SACCO, R. L. & SCARMEAS, N. 2011. Mediterranean-style diet and risk of ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction, and vascular death: the Northern Manhattan Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 94, 1458-1464.

- GARG, A., BANTLE, J. P., HENRY, R. R., COULSTON, A. M., GRIVER, K. A., RAATZ, S. K., BRINKLEY, L., CHEN, Y. I., GRUNDY, S. M. & HUET, B. A. 1994. Effects of varying carbohydrate content of diet in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Jama*, 271, 1421-1428.
- GARVEY, W. T. & HERMAYER, K. L. 1998. Clinical implications of the insulin resistance syndrome. *Clinical cornerstone*, 1, 13-28.
- GARY, T. L., SAFFORD, M. M., GERZOFF, R. B., ETTNER, S. L., KARTER, A. J., BECKLES, G. L. & BROWN, A. F. 2008. Perception of neighborhood problems, health behaviors, and diabetes outcomes among adults with diabetes in managed care. *Diabetes Care*, 31, 273-278.
- GAVRILOVA, O., MARCUS-SAMUELS, B., GRAHAM, D., KIM, J. K., SHULMAN, G. I., CASTLE, A. L., VINSON, C., ECKHAUS, M. & REITMAN, M. L. 2000. Surgical implantation of adipose tissue reverses diabetes in lipoatrophic mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 105, 271.
- GAZI, I., LOURIDA, E. S., FILIPPATOS, T., TSIMIHODIMOS, V., ELISAF, M. & TSELEPIS, A. D. 2005. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 activity is a marker of small, dense LDL particles in human plasma. *Clinical chemistry*, 51, 2264-2273.
- GELEIJNSE, J. M., GILTAY, E. J., GROBBEE, D. E., DONDERS, A. R. & KOK, F. J. 2002. Blood pressure response to fish oil supplementation: metaregression analysis of randomized trials. LWW.
- GELLERT, C., SCHÖTTKER, B., MÜLLER, H., HOLLECZEK, B. & BRENNER, H. 2013. Impact of smoking and quitting on cardiovascular outcomes and risk advancement periods among older adults. *European journal of epidemiology*, 28, 649-658.
- GENTILCORE, D., CHAIKOMIN, R., JONES, K. L., RUSSO, A., FEINLE-BISSET, C., WISHART, J. M., RAYNER, C. K. & HOROWITZ, M. 2006. Effects of fat on gastric emptying of and the glycemic, insulin, and incretin responses to a carbohydrate meal in type 2 diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 91, 2062-2067.
- GIANTURCO, S. H. & BRADLEY, W. A. 1999. Pathophysiology of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in atherothrombosis: Cellular aspects. *Clinical cardiology*, 22.
- GIANTURCO, S. H., RAMPRASAD, M., SONG, R., LI, R., BROWN, M. L. & BRADLEY, W. A. 1998. Apolipoprotein B-48 or its apolipoprotein B-100 equivalent mediates the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to their unique human monocyte-macrophage receptor. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and* vascular biology, 18, 968-976.
- GILHAM, D. & LEHNER, R. 2005. Techniques to measure lipase and esterase activity in vitro. *Methods*, 36, 139-147.

- GILL, J., MALKOVA, D. & HARDMAN, A. 2005. Reproducibility of an oral fat tolerance test is influenced by phase of menstrual cycle. *Hormone and metabolic research*, 37, 336-341.
- GILL, J., MEES, G., FRAYN, K. & HARDMAN, A. 2001a. Moderate exercise, postprandial lipaemia and triacylglycerol clearance. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 31, 201-207.
- GILL, J. M. 2004. Exercise and postprandial lipid metabolism-an analysis of the current evidence. *European journal of lipid science and technology*, 106, 110-121.
- GILL, J. M., AL-MAMARI, A., FERRELL, W. R., CLELAND, S. J., PACKARD, C. J., SATTAR, N., PETRIE, J. R. & CASLAKE, M. J. 2004a. Effects of prior moderate exercise on postprandial metabolism and vascular function in lean and centrally obese men. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 44, 2375-2382.
- GILL, J. M., AL-MAMARI, A., FERRELL, W. R., CLELAND, S. J., SATTAR, N., PACKARD, C. J., PETRIE, J. R. & CASLAKE, M. J. 2006. Effects of a moderate exercise session on postprandial lipoproteins, apolipoproteins and lipoprotein remnants in middle-aged men. *Atherosclerosis*, 185, 87-96.
- GILL, J. M., BROWN, J. C., BEDFORD, D., WRIGHT, D. M., COONEY, J., HUGHES, D. A., PACKARD, C. J. & CASLAKE, M. J. 2004b. Hepatic production of VLDL< sub> 1</sub> but not VLDL< sub> 2</sub> is related to insulin resistance in normoglycaemic middle-aged subjects. *Atherosclerosis*, 176, 49-56.
- GILL, J. M., FRAYN, K. N., WOOTTON, S. A., MILLER, G. J. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2001b. Effects of prior moderate exercise on exogenous and endogenous lipid metabolism and plasma factor VII activity. *Clinical Science*, 100, 517-527.
- GILL, J. M. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2000. Postprandial lipemia: effects of exercise and restriction of energy intake compared. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 71, 465-471.
- GILL, J. M., HERD, S. L. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2002. Moderate exercise and postprandial metabolism: issues of dose-response. *Journal of sports sciences*, 20, 961-967.
- GILL, J. M., HERD, S. L., VORA, V. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2003. Effects of a brisk walk on lipoprotein lipase activity and plasma triglyceride concentrations in the fasted and postprandial states. *European journal of applied physiology*, 89, 184-190.
- GINSBERG, H. N. 2002. New perspectives on atherogenesis role of abnormal triglyceride-rich lipoprotein metabolism. *Circulation*, 106, 2137-2142.
- GINSBERG, H. N., LE, N.-A., MELISH, J., STEINBERG, D. & BROWN, W. V. 1981. Effect of a high carbohydrate diet on apoprotein-B catabolism in man. *Metabolism*, 30, 347-353.
- GINSBERG, H. N., ZHANG, Y.-L. & HERNANDEZ-ONO, A. 2005. Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. *Arch Med Res*, 36, 232-240.
- GIOVANNUCCI, E. 1995. Insulin and colon cancer. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 6, 164-179.
- GIOVANNUCCI, E. 1999. Insulin-like growth factor-I and binding protein-3 and risk of cancer. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 51, 34-41.
- GLUECK, C. J., GARTSIDE, P., LASKARZEWSKI, P. M., KHOURY, P. & TYROLER, H. A. 1984. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol in blacks and whites: potential ramifications for coronary heart disease. *American heart journal*, 108, 815-826.
- GO, A. S., MOZAFFARIAN, D., ROGER, V. L., BENJAMIN, E. J., BERRY, J. D., BLAHA, M. J., DAI, S., FORD, E. S., FOX, C. S. & FRANCO, S. 2014. Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 129, 399.
- GODSLAND, I. F., JOHNSTON, D. G. & CHATURVEDI, N. 2007. Mechanisms of disease: lessons from ethnicity in the role of triglyceride metabolism in ischemic heart disease. *Nature Clinical Practice Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 3, 530-538.
- GOFF, L., COWLAND, D., HOOPER, L. & FROST, G. 2013. Low glycaemic index diets and blood lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 23, 1-10.
- GOFMAN, J. 1953. others: Index of coronary artery atherogenesis. *Mod. Med*, 21, 119.
- GOLDBERG IJ, E. R., MCPHERSON R. 2011. Triglycerides and heart disease: still a hypothesis? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 31.
- GOLDBERG, I. J. & MERKEL, M. 2001. Lipoprotein lipase: physiology, biochemistry, and molecular biology. *Front Biosci*, 6, 388-405.
- GOLDEN, S. H., BROWN, A., CAULEY, J. A., CHIN, M. H., GARY-WEBB, T. L., KIM, C., SOSA, J. A., SUMNER, A. E. & ANTON, B. 2012. Health disparities in endocrine disorders: biological, clinical, and nonclinical factors—an Endocrine Society scientific statement. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 97, E1579-E1639.

- GÓMEZ-CORONADO, D., SÁEZ, G. T., LASUNCIÓN, M. A. & HERRERA, E. 1993. Different hydrolytic efficiencies of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase on very-low-density lipoprotein subfractions separated by heparin-Sepharose chromatography. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 1167, 70-78.
- GONEN, B., PATSCH, W., KUISK, I. & SCHONFELD, G. 1981. The effect of shortterm feeding of a high carbohydrate diet on HDL subclasses in normal subjects. *Metabolism*, 30, 1125-1129.
- GOODFELLOW, J., BELLAMY, M. F., RAMSEY, M. W., JONES, C. J. & LEWIS, M. J. 2000. Dietary supplementation with marine omega-3 fatty acids improve systemic large artery endothelial function in subjects with hypercholesterolemia. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 35, 265-270.
- GORDON, D. J., PROBSTFIELD, J. L., GARRISON, R. J., NEATON, J. D., CASTELLI,
 W. P., KNOKE, J. D., JACOBS, D., BANGDIWALA, S. & TYROLER, H. 1989a.
 High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four
 prospective American studies. *Circulation*, 79, 8-15.
- GORDON, D. J., PROBSTFIELD, J. L., GARRISON, R. J., NEATON, J. D., CASTELLI,
 W. P., KNOKE, J. D., JACOBS, D. R., BANGDIWALA, S. & TYROLER, H. A.
 1989b. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease.
 Four prospective American studies. *Circulation*, 79, 8-15.
- GORDON, T., FISHER, M. & RIFKIND, B. M. 1984. Some difficulties inherent in the interpretation of dietary data from free-living populations. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 39, 152-156.
- GORELICK, P. B., SACCO, R. L., SMITH, D. B., ALBERTS, M., MUSTONE-ALEXANDER, L., RADER, D., ROSS, J. L., RAPS, E., OZER, M. N. & BRASS, L. M. 1999. Prevention of a first stroke: a review of guidelines and a multidisciplinary consensus statement from the National Stroke Association. Jama, 281, 1112-1120.
- GOTTO JR, A., BIERMAN, E., CONNOR, W., FORD, C., FRANTZ JR, I., GLUECK, C., GRUNDY, S. & LITTLE, J. 1984. Recommendations for treatment of hyperlipidemia in adults. A joint statement of the Nutrition Committee and the Council on Arteriocslerosis.
- GRAHAM, T. E. 2004. Exercise, postprandial triacylglyceridemia, and cardiovascular disease risk. *Canadian journal of applied physiology*, 29, 781-799.
- GRANFELDT, Y., NYBERG, L. & BJÖRCK, I. 2008. Muesli with 4 g oat B-glucans lowers glucose and insulin responses after a bread meal in healthy subjects. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 62, 600-607.

- GRAY, S. & KIM, J. K. 2011. New insights into insulin resistance in the diabetic heart. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 22, 394-403.
- GREENFIELD, J. R. & CAMPBELL, L. V. 2004. Insulin resistance and obesity. *Clin Dermatol*, 22, 289-95.
- GREENLUND, K. J., KIEFE, C. I., GIDDING, S. S., LEWIS, C. E., SRINIVASAN, S. R., WILLIAMS, O. D. & BERENSON, G. S. 1998. Differences in cardiovascular disease risk factors in black and white young adults: comparisons among five communities of the CARDIA and the Bogalusa Heart Studies. Annals of epidemiology, 8, 22-30.
- GRIFFIN, B. A. 1999. Lipoprotein atherogenicity: an overview of current mechanisms. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 58, 163-169.
- GROOT, V. S., KRAUSS, JANSEN, VAN TOL A, VAN RAMSHORST E, CHIN-ON S, HOFMAN A, CRESSWELL SR, HAVEKES L. 1991. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism in normolipidemic men with and without coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb* 11, 11.
- GRUNDY, S. M. 1999. Hypertriglyceridemia, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome. *The American journal of cardiology*, 83, 25-29.
- GRUNDY, S. M., NIX, D., WHELAN, M. F. & FRANKLIN, L. 1986. Comparison of three cholesterol-lowering diets in normolipidemic men. *Jama*, 256, 2351-2355.
- GUAY, V., LAMARCHE, B., CHAREST, A., TREMBLAY, A. J. & COUTURE, P. 2012. Effect of short-term low-and high-fat diets on low-density lipoprotein particle size in normolipidemic subjects. *Metabolism*, 61, 76-83.
- GUERIN, M., EGGER, P., SOUDANT, C., LE GOFF, W., VAN TOL, A., DUPUIS, R. & CHAPMAN, M. J. 2002. Cholesteryl ester flux from HDL to VLDL-1 is preferentially enhanced in type IIB hyperlipidemia in the postprandial state. *Journal of lipid research*, 43, 1652-1660.
- GUÉRIN, M., LE GOFF, W., LASSEL, T. S., VAN TOL, A., STEINER, G. & CHAPMAN, M. J. 2001. Proatherogenic Role of Elevated CE Transfer From HDL to VLDL1 and Dense LDL in Type 2 Diabetes Impact of the Degree of Triglyceridemia. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 21, 282-288.
- GUILLON, F. & CHAMP, M. 2000. Structural and physical properties of dietary fibres, and consequences of processing on human physiology. *Food Research International*, 33, 233-245.
- GULATI, S., MISRA, A. & PANDEY, R. M. 2017. Effects of 3 g of soluble fiber from oats on lipid levels of Asian Indians-a randomized controlled, parallel arm study. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 16, 71.

GURR, M. I., HARWOOD, J. L. & FRAYN, K. N. 2002. Lipid biochemistry, Springer.

- GURRICI, S., HARTRIYANTI, Y., HAUTVAST, J. & DEURENBERG, P. 1999. Differences in the relationship between body fat and body mass index between two different Indonesian ethnic groups: the effect of body build. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 53, 468-472.
- GUTIÉRREZ, O. M., ISAKOVA, T., SMITH, K., EPSTEIN, M., PATEL, N. & WOLF, M. 2010. Racial differences in postprandial mineral ion handling in health and in chronic kidney disease. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 25, 3970-3977.
- H., J. M. A. W. 2005. Social patterning of individual health behaviours: the case of cigarette smoking *Social Determinants of Health*.: Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Full text not available from this repository. .
- HADVARY, P., SIDLER, W., MEISTER, W., VETTER, W. & WOLFER, H. 1991. The lipase inhibitor tetrahydrolipstatin binds covalently to the putative active site serine of pancreatic lipase. *Journal of Biological chemistry*, 266, 2021-2027.
- HAFFNER, S. M. 2006. Relationship of metabolic risk factors and development of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. *Obesity*, 14, 121S-127S.
- HAFFNER, S. M., LEHTO, S., RÖNNEMAA, T., PYÖRÄLÄ, K. & LAAKSO, M. 1998. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. New England journal of medicine, 339, 229-234.
- HAFFNER, S. M., MYKKÄNEN, L., FESTA, A., BURKE, J. P. & STERN, M. P. 2000. Insulin-resistant prediabetic subjects have more atherogenic risk factors than insulin-sensitive prediabetic subjects implications for preventing coronary heart disease during the prediabetic state. *Circulation*, 101, 975-980.
- HAFFNER, S. M., VALDEZ, R. A., HAZUDA, H. P., MITCHELL, B. D., MORALES, P. A. & STERN, M. P. 1992. Prospective analysis of the insulin-resistance syndrome (syndrome X). *Diabetes*, 41, 715-722.
- HAGA, S. B. & VENTER, J. C. 2003. FDA races in wrong direction. Science, 301, 466-466.
- HAJAT, C., HARRISON, O. & AL SIKSEK, Z. 2012. Weqaya: a population-wide cardiovascular screening program in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. *American journal of public health*, 102, 909-914.
- HALDER, I., KIP, K. E., MULUKUTLA, S. R., AIYER, A. N., MARROQUIN, O. C., HUGGINS, G. S. & REIS, S. E. 2012. Biogeographic ancestry, self-identified

race, and admixture-phenotype associations in the Heart SCORE Study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 176, 146-155.

- HALL, K. D., BEMIS, T., BRYCHTA, R., CHEN, K. Y., COURVILLE, A., CRAYNER, E. J., GOODWIN, S., GUO, J., HOWARD, L. & KNUTH, N. D. 2015. Calorie for calorie, dietary fat restriction results in more body fat loss than carbohydrate restriction in people with obesity. *Cell metabolism*, 22, 427-436.
- HALVERSTADT, A., PHARES, D. A., WILUND, K. R., GOLDBERG, A. P. & HAGBERG, J. M. 2007. Endurance exercise training raises high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and lowers small low-density lipoprotein and very low-density lipoprotein independent of body fat phenotypes in older men and women. *Metabolism*, 56, 444-450.
- HAMADEH, R. R. & MUSAIGER, A. O. 2000. Lifestyle patterns in smokers and nonsmokers in the state of Bahrain. *Nicotine & tobacco research*, 2, 65-69.
- HAMOSH, M. & HAMOSH, P. 1975. Lipoprotein lipase in rat lung. The effect of fasting. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 380, 132-140.
- HAN, T., VAN LEER, E., SEIDELL, J. & LEAN, M. 1995. Waist circumference action levels in the identification of cardiovascular risk factors: prevalence study in a random sample. *Bmj*, 311, 1401-1405.
- HARRIS, W. S. 1997. n-3 fatty acids and serum lipoproteins: human studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 65, 1645S-1654S.
- HARRISON, M., MOYNA, N. M., ZDERIC, T. W., O'GORMAN, D. J., MCCAFFREY, N., CARSON, B. P. & HAMILTON, M. T. 2012. Lipoprotein particle distribution and skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity after acute exercise. *Lipids* in health and disease, 11, 64.
- HASLAM, D. 2007. Obesity: a medical history. *Obesity reviews*, 8, 31-36.
- HASLAM, D. W. & JAMES, W. P. T. 2006. Obesity. The Lancet, 366, 1197-1209.
- HAVEL, R. J. 1957a. Early effects of fasting and of carbohydrate ingestion on lipids and lipoproteins of serum in man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 36, 855.
- HAVEL, R. J. 1957b. Early Effects of Fat Ingestion on Lipids and Lipo-Proteins of Serum in Man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 36, 848.
- HAVEL, R. J. 1982. Approach to the patient with hyperlipidemia. *Medical Clinics* of North America, 66, 319-333.
- HAVEL, R. J. 1994. Postprandial hyperlipidemia and remnant lipoproteins. *Curr Opin Lipidol*, 5, 102-109.

- HAVEL, R. J. 2000. Remnant lipoproteins as therapeutic targets. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 11, 615-620.
- HAYASHI, H., FUJIMOTO, K., CARDELLI, J. A., NUTTING, D. F., BERGSTEDT, S. & TSO, P. 1990. Fat feeding increases size, but not number, of chylomicrons produced by small intestine. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 259, G709-G719.
- HAYEK, T., AZROLAN, N., VERDERY, R. B., WALSH, A., CHAJEK-SHAUL, T., AGELLON, L. B., TALL, A. R. & BRESLOW, J. L. 1993. Hypertriglyceridemia and cholesteryl ester transfer protein interact to dramatically alter high density lipoprotein levels, particle sizes, and metabolism. Studies in transgenic mice. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 92, 1143.
- HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INFORMATION CENTRE, H. 2014. Health Survey for England 2013, Trend tables. [Online]. [Accessed 30/01/2017].
- HEALY, S. J., OSEI, K. & GAILLARD, T. 2015. Comparative study of glucose homeostasis, lipids and lipoproteins, HDL functionality, and cardiometabolic parameters in modestly severely obese African Americans and white Americans with prediabetes: implications for the metabolic paradoxes. *Diabetes care*, 38, 228-235.
- HEDDLE, R., COLLINS, P., DENT, J., HOROWITZ, M., READ, N., CHATTERTON, B. & HOUGHTON, L. A. 1989. Motor mechanisms associated with slowing of the gastric emptying of a solid meal by an intraduodenal lipid infusion. *Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology*, 4, 437-447.
- HEGSTED, D., GOTSIS, A., STARE, F. J. & WORCESTER, J. 1959. Interrelations between the kind and amount of dietary fat and dietary cholesterol in experimental hypercholesterolemia. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 7, 5-12.
- HELLERSTEIN, M. 1999. De novo lipogenesis in humans: metabolic and regulatory aspects. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 53, S53-S65.
- HERD, S. L., KIENS, B., BOOBIS, L. H. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2001. Moderate exercise, postprandial lipemia, and skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity. *Metabolism*, 50, 756-762.
- HERRMANN, C., GÖKE, R., RICHTER, G., FEHMANN, H.-C., ARNOLD, R. & GÖKE,
 B. 1995. Glucagon-like peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulin-releasing polypeptide plasma levels in response to nutrients. *Digestion*, 56, 117-126.
- HESSION, M., ROLLAND, C., KULKARNI, U., WISE, A. & BROOM, J. 2009. Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of low-carbohydrate vs. low-fat/low-calorie diets in the management of obesity and its comorbidities. *Obesity reviews*, 10, 36-50.

- HIGASHI, K., TABATA, S., IWAMOTO, N., OGURA, M., YAMASHITA, T., ISHIKAWA, T., OHSUZU, F. & NAKAMURA, H. 2001. Effects of soy protein on levels of remnant-like particles cholesterol and vitamin E in healthy men. *Journal* of nutritional science and vitaminology, 47, 283-288.
- HILL, J. O. & MELANSON, E. L. 1999. Overview of the determinants of overweight and obesity: current evidence and research issues. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 31, S515-21.
- HILLBORN, M. 1998. Alcohol consumption and stroke: benefits and risks. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 22, 352s-358s.
- HIRAFUJI, M., MACHIDA, T., HAMAUE, N. & MINAMI, M. 2003. Cardiovascular protective effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids with special emphasis on docosahexaenoic acid. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*, 92, 308-316.
- HIRAYAMA, S. & MIIDA, T. 2012. Small dense LDL: an emerging risk factor for cardiovascular disease. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 414, 215-224.
- HODSON, L., SKEAFF, C. & CHISHOLM, W. H. 2001. The effect of replacing dietary saturated fat with polyunsaturated or monounsaturated fat on plasma lipids in free-living young adults. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 55, 908.
- HOFFMAN, D. J., WANG, Z., GALLAGHER, D. & HEYMSFIELD, S. B. 2005. Comparison of visceral adipose tissue mass in adult African Americans and whites. *Obesity research*, 13, 66-74.
- HOGUE, J.-C., LAMARCHE, B., TREMBLAY, A. J., BERGERON, J., GAGNÉ, C. & COUTURE, P. 2007. Evidence of increased secretion of apolipoprotein B-48-containing lipoproteins in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48, 1336-1342.
- HOKANSON, J. E. & AUSTIN, M. A. 1996. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a metaanalysis of population-based prospective studies. *Journal of cardiovascular risk*, 3, 213-219.
- HOLMQUIST, L. 1982. Surface modification of Beckman Ultra-Clear centrifuge tubes for density gradient centrifugation of lipoproteins. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 23, 1249-1250.
- HÖLZL, PAULWEBER, SANDHOFER & PATSCH 1998. Hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 243, 79-82.
- HOOGEWERF, A. J., CISAR, L., EVANS, D. & BENSADOUN, A. 1991. Effect of chlorate on the sulfation of lipoprotein lipase and heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Sulfation of heparan sulfate proteoglycans affects

lipoprotein lipase degradation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266, 16564-16571.

- HOROWITZ, M., EDELBROEK, M. A., WISHART, J. & STRAATHOF, J. 1993. Relationship between oral glucose tolerance and gastric emptying in normal healthy subjects. *Diabetologia*, 36, 857-862.
- HORTON, J. D., GOLDSTEIN, J. L. & BROWN, M. S. 2002. SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. *J Clin Invest*, 109, 1125-31.
- HOSSEINPOUR-NIAZI, S., MIRMIRAN, P., SOHRAB, G., HOSSEINI-ESFAHANI, F. & AZIZI, F. 2011. Inverse association between fruit, legume, and cereal fiber and the risk of metabolic syndrome: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 94, 276-283.
- HOUSTON, T. K., PERSON, S. D., PLETCHER, M. J., LIU, K., IRIBARREN, C. & KIEFE, C. I. 2006. Active and passive smoking and development of glucose intolerance among young adults in a prospective cohort: CARDIA study. *Bmj*, 332, 1064-1069.
- HOWARD, B. V. 1999. Insulin resistance and lipid metabolism. *The American journal of cardiology*, 84, 28-32.
- HOWARD, B. V., CRIQUI, M. H., CURB, J. D., RODABOUGH, R., SAFFORD, M. M., SANTORO, N., WILSON, A. C. & WYLIE-ROSETT, J. 2003. Risk factor clustering in the insulin resistance syndrome and its relationship to cardiovascular disease in postmenopausal white, black, hispanic, and Asian/Pacific Islander women. *Metabolism*, 52, 362-371.
- HOWARD, B. V., VAN HORN, L., HSIA, J., MANSON, J. E., STEFANICK, M. L., WASSERTHEIL-SMOLLER, S., KULLER, L. H., LACROIX, A. Z., LANGER, R. D. & LASSER, N. L. 2006. Low-fat dietary pattern and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Dietary Modification Trial. Jama, 295, 655-666.
- HOWARD, B. V. & WYLIE-ROSETT, J. 2002. Sugar and Cardiovascular Disease A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Committee on Nutrition of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism of the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 106, 523-527.
- HOWELL, W. H., MCNAMARA, D. J., TOSCA, M. A., SMITH, B. T. & GAINES, J. A. 1997. Plasma lipid and lipoprotein responses to dietary fat and cholesterol: a meta-analysis. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 65, 1747-1764.
- HU, F. B., BRONNER, L., WILLETT, W. C., STAMPFER, M. J., REXRODE, K. M., ALBERT, C. M., HUNTER, D. & MANSON, J. E. 2002. Fish and omega-3 fatty acid intake and risk of coronary heart disease in women. *Jama*, 287, 1815-1821.

- HU, G. & GROUP, D. S. 2003. Gender difference in all-cause and cardiovascular mortality related to hyperglycaemia and newly-diagnosed diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 46, 608-617.
- HU, T., MILLS, K. T., YAO, L., DEMANELIS, K., ELOUSTAZ, M., YANCY, W. S., KELLY, T. N., HE, J. & BAZZANO, L. A. 2012. Effects of low-carbohydrate diets versus low-fat diets on metabolic risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. *American journal of epidemiology*, 176, S44-S54.
- HUBERT, H. B., FEINLEIB, M., MCNAMARA, P. M. & CASTELLI, W. P. 1983. Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: a 26-year followup of participants in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 67, 968-977.
- HUDGINS, L. C., SEIDMAN, C. E., DIAKUN, J. & HIRSCH, J. 1998. Human fatty acid synthesis is reduced after the substitution of dietary starch for sugar. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 67, 631-639.
- HUFF, M. W. & NESTEL, P. J. 1982. Metabolism of apolipoproteins CII, CIII1, CIII2 and VLDL-B in human subjects consuming high carbohydrate diets. *Metabolism*, 31, 493-498.
- HUNT, J. 1961. The osmotic control of gastric emptying. *Gastroenterology*, 41, 49.
- HUNT, S. C., WILLIAMS, R. R. & BARLOW, G. K. 1986. A comparison of positive family history definitions for defining risk of future disease. *Journal of chronic diseases*, 39, 809-821.
- HUNTER, J. E., ZHANG, J. & KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M. 2010. Cardiovascular disease risk of dietary stearic acid compared with trans, other saturated, and unsaturated fatty acids: a systematic review. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 91, 46-63.
- INTERNATIONAL DIABETES FEDERATION. 2014. *IDF diabetes Atlas* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas/update-2014</u> [Accessed 10 2015].
- INTERNATIONAL OBESITY TASK FORCE 2012. Global Prevalence of Adult Overweight & Obesity by Region [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.worldobesity.org/site_media/library/resource_images/Globa</u> <u>l_prevalence_of_Adult_Obesity_20th_February_2015_W0.pdf</u> [Accessed 13 2015].
- ISO, H., DATE, C., YAMAMOTO, A., TOYOSHIMA, H., WATANABE, Y., KIKUCHI, S., KOIZUMI, A., WADA, Y., KONDO, T. & INABA, Y. 2005. Smoking cessation and mortality from cardiovascular disease among Japanese men and women The JACC study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 161, 170-179.

- JACKSON, R. L., MORRISETT, J. D. & GOTTO JR, A. M. 1976. Lipoprotein structure and metabolism. *Physiol. Rev*, 56, 259-316.
- JAKICIC, J. M. 2002. The role of physical activity in prevention and treatment of body weight gain in adults. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 3829.
- JAMES, A. P., SLIVKOFF-CLARK, K. & MAMO, J. 2007. Prior exercise does not affect chylomicron particle number following a mixed meal of moderate fat content. *Lipids Health Dis*, 6.
- JAMES, W. P. T., JACKSON-LEACH, R., MHURCHU, C. N., KALAMARA, E., SHAYEGHI, M., RIGBY, N. J., NISHIDA, C. & RODGERS, A. 2004. Overweight and obesity (high body mass index). Comparative quantification of health risks: global and regional burden of disease attribution to selected major risk factors, 1, 497-596.
- JAMROZIK, K., DOBSON, A. J., HOBBS, M., MCELDUFF, P., RING, I., D'ESTE, K. & CROME, M. 2001. *Monitoring the incidence of cardiovascular disease in Australia*, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- JANI, B. & RAJKUMAR, C. 2006. Ageing and vascular ageing. *Postgraduate medical journal*, 82, 357-362.
- JANZON, L., BERNTORP, K., HANSON, M., LINDELL, S.-E. & TRELL, E. 1983. Glucose tolerance and smoking: a population study of oral and intravenous glucose tolerance tests in middle-aged men. *Diabetologia*, 25, 86-88.
- JÄRVI, A. E., KARLSTRÖM, B. E., GRANFELDT, Y. E., BJÖRCK, I. E., ASP, N. & VESSBY, B. 1999. Improved glycemic control and lipid profile and normalized fibrinolytic activity on a low-glycemic index diet in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*, 22, 10-18.
- JAYE, M., LYNCH, K. J., KRAWIEC, J., MARCHADIER, D., MAUGEAIS, C., DOAN, K., SOUTH, V., AMIN, D., PERRONE, M. & RADER, D. J. 1999. A novel endothelial-derived lipase that modulates HDL metabolism. *Nature* genetics, 21, 424-428.
- JELIC, K., LUZIO, S. D., DUNSEATH, G., COLDING-JORGSENSEN, M. & OWENS, D. R. 2007. A Cross-Sectional Analysis of NEFA Levels Following a Standard Mixed Meal in a Population of Persons with Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Across a Spectrum of Glycemic Control. Diabetes, 56.
- JENKINS, D., WOLEVER, T., BUCKLEY, G., LAM, K., GIUDICI, S., KALMUSKY, J., JENKINS, A., PATTEN, R., BIRD, J. & WONG, G. 1988. Low-glycemic-index starchy foods in the diabetic diet. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 48, 248-254.
- JENKINS, D., WOLEVER, T., LEEDS, A. R., GASSULL, M. A., HAISMAN, P., DILAWARI, J., GOFF, D. V., METZ, G. L. & ALBERTI, K. 1978. Dietary

fibres, fibre analogues, and glucose tolerance: importance of viscosity. *Br Med J*, 1, 1392-1394.

- JENKINS, D. A., JENKINS, A., WOLEVER, T. S., JOSSE, R. & WONG, G. 1984. The glycaemic response to carbohydrate foods. *The Lancet*, 324, 388-391.
- JENKINS, D. J., KENDALL, C. W., AUGUSTIN, L. S., FRANCESCHI, S., HAMIDI, M., MARCHIE, A., JENKINS, A. L. & AXELSEN, M. 2002. Glycemic index: overview of implications in health and disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 76, 266S-273S.
- JENKINS, D. J., KENDALL, C. W., AXELSEN, M., AUGUSTIN, L. S. & VUKSAN, V. 2000. Viscous and nonviscous fibres, nonabsorbable and low glycaemic index carbohydrates, blood lipids and coronary heart disease. *Current* opinion in lipidology, 11, 49-56.
- JENKINS, D. J., KENDALL, C. W., MCKEOWN-EYSSEN, G., JOSSE, R. G.,
 SILVERBERG, J., BOOTH, G. L., VIDGEN, E., JOSSE, A. R., NGUYEN, T. H.
 & CORRIGAN, S. 2008. Effect of a low-glycemic index or a high-cereal
 fiber diet on type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *Jama*, 300, 2742-2753.
- JENKINS, D. J., WOLEVER, T. M., OCANA, A. M., VUKSAN, V., CUNNANE, S. C., JENKINS, M., WONG, G. S., SINGER, W., BLOOM, S. R. & BLENDIS, L. M. 1990. Metabolic effects of reducing rate of glucose ingestion by single bolus versus continuous sipping. *Diabetes*, 39, 775-781.
- JEPPESEN, J., CHEN, Y.-D., ZHOU, M.-Y., WANG, T. & REAVEN, G. M. 1995. Effect of variations in oral fat and carbohydrate load on postprandial lipemia. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 62, 1201-1205.
- JEQUIER, E., ACHESON, K. & SCHUTZ, Y. 1987. Assessment of energy expenditure and fuel utilization in man. *Annual review of nutrition*, 7, 187-208.
- JIALAL, I. & DEVARAJ, S. 2002. Remnant lipoproteins: measurement and clinical significance. Clinical Chemistry.
- JIANG, X.-C., BRUCE, C., MAR, J., LIN, M., JI, Y., FRANCONE, O. L. & TALL, A. R. 1999. Targeted mutation of plasma phospholipid transfer protein gene markedly reduces high-density lipoprotein levels. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 103, 907-914.
- JOFFE, B., PANZ, V., WING, J., RAAL, F. & SEFTEL, H. 1992. Pathogenesis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in the black population of southern Africa. *The Lancet*, 340, 460-462.
- JONG, M. C., HOFKER, M. H. & HAVEKES, L. M. 1999. Role of ApoCs in lipoprotein metabolism functional differences between ApoC1, ApoC2, and ApoC3. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology,* 19, 472-484.

- JØRGENSEN, A. B., FRIKKE-SCHMIDT, R., NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A. 2014. Loss-of-function mutations in APOC3 and risk of ischemic vascular disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 371, 32-41.
- JØRGENSEN, A. B., FRIKKE-SCHMIDT, R., WEST, A. S., GRANDE, P., NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A. 2012. Genetically elevated non-fasting triglycerides and calculated remnant cholesterol as causal risk factors for myocardial infarction. *European heart journal*, ehs431.
- JOUSILAHTI, P., VARTIAINEN, E., TUOMILEHTO, J. & PUSKA, P. 1999. Sex, age, cardiovascular risk factors, and coronary heart disease A prospective follow-up study of 14 786 middle-aged men and women in Finland. *Circulation*, 99, 1165-1172.
- JULIUS, U., DITTRICH, M. & PIETZSCH, J. 2007. Factors influencing the formation of small dense low-density lipoprotein particles in dependence on the presence of the metabolic syndrome and on the degree of glucose intolerance. *International journal of clinical practice*, 61, 1798-1804.
- JUNG, H., TURNER, S., NEESE, R., YOUNG, S. & HELLERSTEIN, M. 1999. Metabolic adaptations to dietary fat malabsorption in chylomicron-deficient mice. *Biochem. J*, 343, 473-478.
- KAMATH, S. K., HUSSAIN, E. A., AMIN, D., MORTILLARO, E., WEST, B., PETERSON, C. T., ARYEE, F., MURILLO, G. & ALEKEL, D. L. 1999. Cardiovascular disease risk factors in 2 distinct ethnic groups: Indian and Pakistani compared with American premenopausal women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 69, 621-631.
- KANNEL, W. B., ABBOTT, R. D., SAVAGE, D. D. & MCNAMARA, P. M. 1982. Epidemiologic features of chronic atrial fibrillation: the Framingham study. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 306, 1018-1022.
- KANNEL, W. B., HJORTLAND, M. C., MCNAMARA, P. M. & GORDON, T. 1976. Menopause and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 85, 447-452.
- KAPLAN, G. A. & KEIL, J. E. 1993. Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. *Circulation*, 88, 1973-1998.
- KARPE, F. 1999. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. Journal of Internal Medicine, 246, 341-355.
- KARPE, F., BELL, M., BJÖRKEGREN, J. & HAMSTEN, A. 1995. Quantification of postprandial triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in healthy men by retinyl ester labeling and simultaneous measurement of apolipoproteins B-48 and B-100. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 15, 199-207.

- KARPE, F., DICKMANN, J. R. & FRAYN, K. N. 2011. Fatty acids, obesity, and insulin resistance: time for a reevaluation. *Diabetes*, 60, 2441-2449.
- KARPE, F., HELLÉNIUS, M.-L. & HAMSTEN, A. 1999. Differences in postprandial concentrations of very—low-density lipoprotein and chylomicron remnants between normotriglyceridemic and hypertriglyceridemic men with and without coronary heart disease. *Metabolism*, 48, 301-307.
- KARPE, F. & HULTIN, M. 1995. Endogenous triglyceride-rich lipoproteins accumulate in rat plasma when competing with a chylomicron-like triglyceride emulsion for a common lipolytic pathway. *Journal of lipid* research, 36, 1557-1566.
- KARPE, F., OLIVECRONA, T., WALLDIUS, G. & HAMSTEN, A. 1992. Lipoprotein lipase in plasma after an oral fat load: relation to free fatty acids. *Journal of lipid research*, 33, 975-984.
- KARPE, F., TORNVALL, P., OLIVECRONA, T., STEINER, G., CARLSON, L. A. & HAMSTEN, A. 1993. Composition of human low density lipoprotein: effects of postprandial triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, lipoprotein lipase, hepatic lipase and cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Atherosclerosis*, 98, 33-49.
- KARTER, A. J. 2003a. Commentary: Race, genetics, and disease—in search of a middle ground. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 32, 26-28.
- KARTER, A. J. 2003b. Race and ethnicity. *Diabetes Care*, 26, 2189-2193.
- KASHYAP, M., BARNHART, R., SRIVASTAVA, L., PERISUTTI, G., VINK, P., ALLEN,
 C., HOGG, E., BRADY, D., GLUECK, C. & JACKSON, R. 1982. Effects of
 dietary carbohydrate and fat on plasma lipoproteins and apolipoproteins
 C-II and C-III in healthy men. *Journal of lipid research*, 23, 877-886.
- KASUGA, M. 2006. Insulin resistance and pancreatic B cell failure. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 116, 1756-1760.
- KATAN, M. B., ZOCK, P. L. & MENSINK, R. P. 1994. Effects of fats and fatty acids on blood lipids in humans: an overview. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 60, 1017S-1022S.
- KATZ, D. L. 2001. A scientific review of the health benefits of oats. *The Quaker Oats Company. Obtenido el,* 15, 07.
- KEIL, J. E., SUTHERLAND, S. E., KNAPP, R. G., LACKLAND, D. T., GAZES, P. C. & TYROLER, H. A. 1993. Mortality rates and risk factors for coronary disease in black as compared with white men and women. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 329, 73-78.
- KELLEY, D. E., WILLIAMS, K. V., PRICE, J. C., MCKOLANIS, T. M., GOODPASTER, B. H. & THAETE, F. L. 2001. Plasma fatty acids, adiposity, and variance of

skeletal muscle insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 86, 5412-5419.

- KELLY-HAYES, M. 2010. Influence of age and health behaviors on stroke risk: lessons from longitudinal studies. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 58, S325-S328.
- KELLY, T., YANG, W., CHEN, C.-S., REYNOLDS, K. & HE, J. 2008. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. *International journal of obesity*, 32, 1431-1437.
- KENFIELD, S. A., WEI, E. K., ROSNER, B. A., GLYNN, R. J., STAMPFER, M. J. & COLDITZ, G. A. 2010. Burden of smoking on cause-specific mortality: application to the Nurses' Health Study. *Tobacco control*, 19, 248-254.
- KEYS, A., MICKELSEN, O., MILLER, E. & CHAPMAN, C. B. 1950. The relation in man between cholesterol levels in the diet and in the blood. *American Association for the Advancement of Science*. *Science*, 112, 79-81.
- KHATTAB, A., JAVAID, A., IRAQI, G., ALZAABI, A., KHEDER, A. B., KONISKI, M.-L., SHAHROUR, N., TARIGHT, S., IDREES, M. & POLATLI, M. 2012. Smoking habits in the Middle East and North Africa: results of the BREATHE study. *Respiratory medicine*, 106, S16-S24.
- KHETARPAL, S. A. & RADER, D. J. 2015. Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins and Coronary Artery Disease Risk. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 35, e3-e9.
- KING, D. E., EGAN, B. M. & GEESEY, M. E. 2003. Relation of dietary fat and fiber to elevation of C-reactive protein. *The American journal of cardiology*, 92, 1335-1339.
- KIRK, R. E. 1996. Practical significance: A concept whose time has come. Educational and psychological measurement, 56, 746-759.
- KNOPP, R. H., RETZLAFF, B., WALDEN, C., FISH, B., BUCK, B. & MCCANN, B. 2000. One-Year Effects of Increasingly Fat-Restricted, Carbohydrate-Enriched Diets on Lipoprotein Levels in Free-Living Subjects. *Proceedings* of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 225, 191-199.
- KNOWLER, W. C., BENNETT, P. H., HAMMAN, R. F. & MILLER, M. 1978. Diabetes incidence and prevalence in Pima Indians: a 19-fold greater incidence than in Rochester, Minnesota. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 108, 497-505.
- KNUTH, N. D., REMIAS, D. B. & HOROWITZ, J. F. 2007. Adding Carbohydrate to High-Fat Meal Blunts Postprandial Lipemia in Women and Reduces Bioavailability of Meal-Derived Fatty Acids in the Systemic Circulation. Diabetes, 56.

- KNUTH, N. D., REMIAS, D. B. & HOROWITZ, J. F. 2008. Adding carbohydrate to a high-fat meal blunts postprandial lipemia in women and reduces mealderived fatty acids in systemic circulation. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition,* and Metabolism, 33, 315-325.
- KOBAYASHI, J., NAKAJIMA, K., NOHARA, A., KAWASHIRI, M., YAGI, K., INAZU, A., KOIZUMI, J., YAMAGISHI, M. & MABUCHI, H. 2007. The relationship of serum lipoprotein lipase mass with fasting serum apolipoprotein B-48 and remnant-like particle triglycerides in type 2 diabetic patients. *Horm Metab Res*, 39, 612-6.
- KODAMA, K., TOJJAR, D., YAMADA, S., TODA, K., PATEL, C. J. & BUTTE, A. J. 2013. Ethnic differences in the relationship between insulin sensitivity and insulin response: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*, 36, 1789-96.
- KOJIMA, S., FUNAHASHI, T., MARUYOSHI, H., HONDA, O., SUGIYAMA, S.,
 KAWANO, H., SOEJIMA, H., MIYAMOTO, S., HOKAMAKI, J. & SAKAMOTO, T.
 2005. Levels of the adipocyte-derived plasma protein, adiponectin, have a close relationship with atheroma. *Thrombosis research*, 115, 483-490.
- KOKUBO, Y., ISO, H., SAITO, I., YAMAGISHI, K., ISHIHARA, J., INOUE, M. & TSUGANE, S. 2011. Dietary fiber intake and risk of cardiovascular disease in the Japanese population: the Japan Public Health Center-based study cohort. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 65, 1233-1241.
- KOLOVOU, V., KOLOVOU, G., MARVAKI, A., KARAKOSTA, A., VASILOPOULOS, G., KALOGIANI, A., DEGIANNIS, D., MARVAKI, C. & DEMOPOULOS, C. A. 2011.
 ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 gene polymorphisms and serum lipid levels in young Greek nurses. *Lipids in health and disease*, 10, 56.
- KOLSET, S. & SALMIVIRTA, M. 1999. Cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and lipoprotein metabolism. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 56, 857-870.
- KONDO, T., OSUGI, S., SHIMOKATA, K., HONJO, H., MORITA, Y., MAEDA, K., YAMASHITA, K., MURAMATSU, T., SHINTANI, S. & MATSUSHITA, K. 2011. Smoking and smoking cessation in relation to all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in 25,464 healthy male Japanese workers. *Circulation Journal*, 75, 2885-2892.
- KONTUSH, A. & CHAPMAN, M. J. 2006. Antiatherogenic small, dense HDL– guardian angel of the arterial wall? *Nature clinical practice Cardiovascular medicine*, 3, 144-153.
- KOOPMANS, H. S. 2003. Experimental studies on the control of food intake. Handbook of Obesity: Etiology and Pathophysiology, Second Edition. CRC Press.

- KORTELAINEN, M.-L. & SÄRKIOJA, T. 1999. Extent and composition of coronary lesions in relation to fat distribution in women younger than 50 years of age. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 19, 695-699.
- KRAEGEN, E. & COONEY, G. 1999. The role of free fatty acids in muscle insulin resistance. *Diabetes Annual*, 12, 141-160.
- KRAUS, W. E., HOUMARD, J. A., DUSCHA, B. D., KNETZGER, K. J., WHARTON, M. B., MCCARTNEY, J. S., BALES, C. W., HENES, S., SAMSA, G. P., OTVOS, J. D., KULKARNI, K. R. & SLENTZ, C. A. 2002. Effects of the amount and intensity of exercise on plasma lipoproteins. *N Engl J Med*, 347, 1483-1492.
- KRAUSS, R. M. 2001. Atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype and diet-gene interactions. *The Journal of nutrition*, 131, 340S-343S.
- KRAUSS, R. M., BLANCHE, P. J., RAWLINGS, R. S., FERNSTROM, H. S. & WILLIAMS, P. T. 2006. Separate effects of reduced carbohydrate intake and weight loss on atherogenic dyslipidemia. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83, 1025-1031.
- KREISBERG, R. A. & OBERMAN, A. 2003. Medical management of hyperlipidemia/dyslipidemia: Cardiovascular endocrinology: Special features. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, 88, 2445-2461.
- KRIKETOS, A. D., GREENFIELD, J. R., PEAKE, P. W., FURLER, S. M., DENYER, G. S., CHARLESWORTH, J. A. & CAMPBELL, L. V. 2004. Inflammation, insulin resistance, and adiposity: a study of first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 2033-40.
- KUGIYAMA, K., DOI, H., TAKAZOE, K., KAWANO, H., SOEJIMA, H., MIZUNO, Y., TSUNODA, R., SAKAMOTO, T., NAKANO, T. & NAKAJIMA, K. 1999. Remnant lipoprotein levels in fasting serum predict coronary events in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation*, 99, 2858-2860.
- KULLER, L. H. 2004. Ethnic differences in atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease and lipid metabolism. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 15, 109-113.
- KURIAN, A. K. & CARDARELLI, K. M. 2007. Racial and ethnic differences in cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review. *Ethnicity and Disease*, 17, 143.
- LA BELLE, M. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1990. Differences in carbohydrate content of low density lipoproteins associated with low density lipoprotein subclass patterns. *Journal of lipid research*, 31, 1577-1588.
- LAAKSO, M., LEHTO, S., PENTTILA, I. & PYORALA, K. 1994. Lipids and Lipoproteins Predicting Coronary Heart Disease Mortality and Morbidity in

Patients with Non-Insulin Dependent Diabetes. *The Endocrinologist*, 4, 153.

- LAGROST, L. & GAMBERT, P. 1991. HDL and reverse cholesterol transport. Role of cholesterol ester transfer protein. *Comptes rendus des seances de la Societe de biologie et de ses filiales*, 186, 405-413.
- LAMARCHE, B., LEMIEUX, I. & DESPRES, J. 2008. The small, dense LDL phenotype and the risk of coronary heart disease: epidemiology, patho-physiology and therapeutic aspects.
- LANGSTED, A., FREIBERG, J., TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A., SCHNOHR, P., JENSEN, G. B. & NORDESTGAARD, B. 2011. Nonfasting cholesterol and triglycerides and association with risk of myocardial infarction and total mortality: the Copenhagen City Heart Study with 31 years of follow-up. *Journal of internal medicine*, 270, 65-75.
- LANTING, L. C., JOUNG, I. M., MACKENBACH, J. P., LAMBERTS, S. W. & BOOTSMA, A. H. 2005. Ethnic differences in mortality, end-stage complications, and quality of care among diabetic patients. *Diabetes care*, 28, 2280-2288.
- LAPIDUS, L., BENGTSSON, C., LARSSON, B., PENNERT, K., RYBO, E. & SJÖSTRÖM,
 L. 1984. Distribution of adipose tissue and risk of cardiovascular disease and death: a 12 year follow up of participants in the population study of women in Gothenburg, Sweden. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed), 289, 1257-1261.
- LAROSA J. C., L. R. I., HERBERT P., LUX S. E. AND FREDRICKSON D. S. 1970. A specific apoprotein activator for lipoprotein lipas. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 41, 757-62.
- LARSSON, B., SVÄRDSUDD, K., WELIN, L., WILHELMSEN, L., BJÖRNTORP, P. & TIBBLIN, G. 1984. Abdominal adipose tissue distribution, obesity, and risk of cardiovascular disease and death: 13 year follow up of participants in the study of men born in 1913. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*, 288, 1401-1404.
- LASS, A., ZIMMERMANN, R., OBERER, M. & ZECHNER, R. 2011. Lipolysis-a highly regulated multi-enzyme complex mediates the catabolism of cellular fat stores. *Progress in lipid research*, 50, 14-27.
- LEAF, A., KANG, J. X., XIAO, Y.-F. & BILLMAN, G. E. 2003. Clinical prevention of sudden cardiac death by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and mechanism of prevention of arrhythmias by n-3 fish oils. *Circulation*, 107, 2646-2652.
- LEAN, J., BEER, J. & BRADLEY, R. 1995. Reconstruction of solar irradiance since 1610: Implications for climate change. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 22, 3195-3198.

- LECHEMINANT, J. D., SMITH, B. K., WESTMAN, E. C., VERNON, M. C. & DONNELLY, J. E. 2010. Comparison of a reduced carbohydrate and reduced fat diet for LDL, HDL, and VLDL subclasses during 9-months of weight maintenance subsequent to weight loss. *Lipids in health and disease*, 9, 54.
- LEE, S., PARK, Y., DELLSPERGER, K. C. & ZHANG, C. 2011. Exercise training improves endothelial function via adiponectin-dependent and independent pathways in type 2 diabetic mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 301, H306-H314.
- LEE, W.-Y., JUNG, C.-H., PARK, J.-S., RHEE, E.-J. & KIM, S.-W. 2005. Effects of smoking, alcohol, exercise, education, and family history on the metabolic syndrome as defined by the ATP III. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 67, 70-77.
- LEQUIN, R. M. 2005. Enzyme immunoassay (EIA)/enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). *Clinical chemistry*, 51, 2415-2418.
- LEWIS, G., UFFELMAN, K., SZETO, L. & STEINER, G. 1993a. Effect of Acute Hyperinsulinemia on VLDL Triglyceride and VLDL ApoB Production in Normal Weight and Obese Individuals. *The Endocrinologist*, 3, 376.
- LEWIS, G., ZINMAN, B., UFFELMAN, K., SZETO, L., WELLER, B. & STEINER, G. 1994. VLDL production is decreased to a similar extent by acute portal vs. peripheral venous insulin. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 267, E566-E572.
- LEWIS, G. F. 1995. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism in diabetes mellitus and obesity. *J Atheroscler Thromb*, 2 Suppl 1, S34-5.
- LEWIS, G. F., O'MEARA, N. M., SOLTYS, P. A., BLACKMAN, J. D., IVERIUS, P. H., PUGH, W. L., GETZ, G. S. & POLONSKY, K. S. 1991. Fasting hypertriglyceridemia in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is an important predictor of postprandial lipid and lipoprotein abnormalities. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 72, 934-44.
- LEWIS, G. F. & RADER, D. J. 2005. New insights into the regulation of HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. *Circulation research*, 96, 1221-1232.
- LEWIS, G. F., UFFELMAN, K. D., SZETO, L. W. & STEINER, G. 1993b. Effects of acute hyperinsulinemia on VLDL triglyceride and VLDL apoB production in normal weight and obese individuals. *Diabetes*, 42, 833-842.
- LEWIS, G. F., UFFELMAN, K. D., SZETO, L. W., WELLER, B. & STEINER, G. 1995. Interaction between free fatty acids and insulin in the acute control of very low density lipoprotein production in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 95, 158.

- LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., AUSMAN, L. M., CARRASCO, W., JENNER, J. L., ORDOVAS, J. M. & SCHAEFER, E. J. 1994. Short-term consumption of a low-fat diet beneficially affects plasma lipid concentrations only when accompanied by weight loss. Hypercholesterolemia, low-fat diet, and plasma lipids. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 14, 1751-1760.
- LICHTENSTEIN, A. H. & VAN HORN, L. 1998. Very low fat diets. *Circulation*, 98, 935-939.
- LIEW, C., SEAH, E., YEO, K., LEE, K. & WISE, S. 2003. Lean, nondiabetic Asian Indians have decreased insulin sensitivity and insulin clearance, and raised leptin compared to Caucasians and Chinese subjects. *International journal of obesity*, 27, 784-789.
- LIKHARI, T. & GAMA, R. 2009. Glycaemia-independent ethnic differences in HbA1c in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetic Medicine*, 26, 1068-1069.
- LILLIOJA, S., NYOMBA, B. L., SAAD, M. F., FERRARO, R., CASTILLO, C., BENNETT, P. H. & BOGARDUS, C. 1991. Exaggerated early insulin release and insulin resistance in a diabetes-prone population: a metabolic comparison of Pima Indians and Caucasians. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 73, 866-876.
- LINDEGAARD, M. L. S., OLIVECRONA, G., CHRISTOFFERSEN, C., KRATKY, D., HANNIBAL, J., PETERSEN, B. L., ZECHNER, R., DAMM, P. & NIELSEN, L. B. 2005. Endothelial and lipoprotein lipases in human and mouse placenta. *J Lipid Res*, 46, 2339-2346.
- LINDGREN, F., JENSEN, L. & HATCH, F. 1972. The isolation and quantitative analysis of serum lipoproteins. *Blood lipids and lipoproteins: quantitation, composition and metabolism*, 181-274.
- LISSNER, L. & HEITMANN, B. L. 1995. Dietary fat and obesity: evidence from epidemiology. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 49, 79-90.
- LIU, G., COULSTON, A., HOLLENBECK, C. & REAVEN, G. 1984. The effect of sucrose content in high and low carbohydrate diets on plasma glucose, insulin, and lipid responses in hypertriglyceridemic humans. *The Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 59, 636-642.
- LIU, S., BURING, J. E., SESSO, H. D., RIMM, E. B., WILLETT, W. C. & MANSON, J. E. 2002. A prospective study of dietary fiber intake and risk of cardiovascular disease among women. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 39, 49-56.
- LIU, Y., CHANG, Y. & FANG, F. 2007a. Liver X receptor: crucial mediator in lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. *Zhongguo yi xue ke xue yuan xue bao. Acta Academiae Medicinae Sinicae*, 29, 430-435.

- LIU, Y., CHANG, Y. S. & FANG, F. D. 2007b. [Liver X receptor: crucial mediator in lipid and carbohydrate metabolism]. *Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao*, 29, 430-5.
- LIVESEY, G., TAYLOR, R., HULSHOF, T. & HOWLETT, J. 2008. Glycemic response and health—a systematic review and meta-analysis: relations between dietary glycemic properties and health outcomes. *The American Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, 87, 258S-268S.
- LOOKENE, A., SKOTTOVA, N. & OLIVECRONA, G. 1994. Interactions of lipoprotein lipase with the active-site inhibitor tetrahydrolipstatin (Orlistat) R. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 222, 395-403.
- LOPASCHUK, G. D., BELKE, D. D., GAMBLE, J., TOSHIYUKI, I. & SCHÖNEKESS, B. O. 1994. Regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 1213, 263-276.
- LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J., WILLIAMS, C. & LAIRON, D. 2007. Dietary, physiological, genetic and pathological influences on postprandial lipid metabolism. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 98, 458-473.
- LOVEJOY, J. C., JACQUES, A., KLEMPERER, M. & TULLEY, R. 1996. Abdominal fat distribution and metabolic risk factors: effects of race. *Metabolism*, 45, 1119-1124.
- LOVEJOY, J. C., WINDHAUSER, M. M., ROOD, J. C. & JACQUES, A. 1998. Effect of a controlled high-fat versus low-fat diet on insulin sensitivity and leptin levels in African-American and Caucasian women. *Metabolism*, 47, 1520-1524.
- LOWRY, O., ROSEBROUGH, N., FARR, A. & RANDALL, R. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. biol. Chem, 193, 265.
- LTEIF, A. A., HAN, K. & MATHER, K. 2005. Obesity, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome determinants of endothelial dysfunction in Whites and Blacks. *Circulation*, 112, 32-38.
- LUDWIG, D. S. 2002. The glycemic index: physiological mechanisms relating to obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. *Jama*, 287, 2414-2423.
- LUDWIG, D. S., MAJZOUB, J. A., AL-ZAHRANI, A., DALLAL, G. E., BLANCO, I. & ROBERTS, S. B. 1999. High glycemic index foods, overeating, and obesity. *Pediatrics*, 103, e26-e26.
- LUO, M. & PENG, D. 2016. The emerging role of apolipoprotein C-III: beyond effects on triglyceride metabolism. *Lipids in health and disease*, 15, 184.

- MABRY, R., REEVES, M. M., EAKIN, E. G. & OWEN, N. 2010. Evidence of physical activity participation among men and women in the countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council: a review. *Obesity reviews*, 11, 457-464.
- MACKAY, J. & MENSAH, G. A. 2004. The atlas of heart disease and stroke, World Health Organization.
- MACLURE, M. 1993. Demonstration of deductive meta-analysis: ethanol intake and risk of myocardial infarction. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 15, 328-351.
- MAGKOS, F. 2009. Basal very low-density lipoprotein metabolism in response to exercise: mechanisms of hypotriacylglycerolemia. *Progress in lipid research*, 48, 171-190.
- MAGKOS, F., PATTERSON, B. W., MOHAMMED, B. S. & MITTENDORFER, B. 2007. A single 1-h bout of evening exercise increases basal FFA flux without affecting VLDL-triglyceride and VLDL-apolipoprotein B-100 kinetics in untrained lean men. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 292, E1568-E1574.
- MAGKOS, F., WRIGHT, D. C., PATTERSON, B. W., MOHAMMED, B. S. & MITTENDORFER, B. 2006. Lipid metabolism response to a single, prolonged bout of endurance exercise in healthy young men. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 290, E355-E362.
- MAHLEY, R. W. & JI, Z.-S. 1999. Remnant lipoprotein metabolism: key pathways involving cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and apolipoprotein E. *Journal of lipid research*, 40, 1-16.
- MALARCHER, A. M., GILES, W. H., CROFT, J. B., WOZNIAK, M. A., WITYK, R. J., STOLLEY, P. D., STERN, B. J., SLOAN, M. A., SHERWIN, R. & PRICE, T. R. 2001. Alcohol intake, type of beverage, and the risk of cerebral infarction in young women. Stroke, 32, 77-83.
- MALKOVA, D., EVANS, R., FRAYN, K., HUMPHREYS, S., JONES, P. & HARDMAN, A. 2000. Prior exercise and postprandial substrate extraction across the human leg. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism, 279, E1020-E1028.
- MALKOVA, D. & GILL, J. M. 2006. Effects of exercise on postprandial lipoprotein metabolism. *Future Lipidology*, 1, 743-755.
- MALKOVA, D., HARDMAN, A., BOWNESS, R. & MACDONALD, I. 1999. The reduction in postprandial lipemia after exercise is independent of the relative contributions of fat and carbohydrate to energy metabolism during exercise. *Metabolism*, 48, 245-251.
- MALMSTRÖM, R., PACKARD, C. J., WATSON, T. D., RANNIKKO, S., CASLAKE, M., BEDFORD, D., STEWART, P., YKI-JÄRVINEN, H., SHEPHERD, J. & TASKINEN,

M.-R. 1997. Metabolic basis of hypotriglyceridemic effects of insulin in normal men. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 17, 1454-1464.

- MAMPUTU, J.-C., LEVESQUE, L. & RENIER, G. 2000. Proliferative effect of lipoprotein lipase on human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology,* 20, 2212-2219.
- MAMPUTU, J. C., DESFAITS, A. C. & RENIER, G. 1997. Lipoprotein lipase enhances human monocyte adhesion to aortic endothelial cells. *J Lipid Res*, 38, 1722-1729.
- MANN, C. J., YEN, F. T., GRANT, A. M. & BIHAIN, B. E. 1991. Mechanism of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer in hypertriglyceridemia. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88, 2059.
- MANOLIO, T. A., BURKE, G. L., PSATY, B. M., NEWMAN, A. B., HAAN, M., POWE, N., TRACY, R. P., O'LEARY, D. H. & GROUP, C. C. R. 1995. Black-white differences in subclinical cardiovascular disease among older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 48, 1141-1152.
- MANSOOR, N., VINKNES, K. J., VEIERØD, M. B. & RETTERSTØL, K. 2016a. Effects of low-carbohydrate diets v. low-fat diets on body weight and cardiovascular risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 1-14.
- MANSOOR, N., VINKNES, K. J., VEIERØD, M. B. & RETTERSTØL, K. 2016b. Effects of low-carbohydrate diets v. low-fat diets on body weight and cardiovascular risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 115, 466-479.
- MARAKI, M., CHRISTODOULOU, N., AGGELOPOULOU, N., MAGKOS, F., SKENDERI,
 K. P., PANAGIOTAKOS, D., KAVOURAS, S. A. & SIDOSSIS, L. S. 2009.
 Exercise of low energy expenditure along with mild energy intake
 restriction acutely reduces fasting and postprandial triacylglycerolaemia
 in young women. Br J Nutr, 101, 408-416.
- MARMOT, M. 2010. Strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010: fair society healthy lives. *London, The Marmot Review*.
- MARTINS, I., MORTIMER, B.-C. & REDGRAVE, T. 1997. Effect of the ACAT inhibitor CL 277,082 on apolipoprotein B48 transport in mesenteric lymph and on plasma clearance of chylomicrons and remnants. *Arteriosclerosis*, *thrombosis*, and vascular biology, 17, 211-216.
- MARTINS, I., SAINSBURY, A., MAMO, J. C. & REDGRAVE, T. 1994. Lipid and apolipoprotein B48 transport in mesenteric lymph and the effect of hyperphagia on the clearance of chylomicron-like emulsions in insulindeficient rats. *Diabetologia*, 37, 238-246.

- MATSUBARA, C., NISHIKAWA, Y., YOSHIDA, Y. & TAKAMURA, K. 1983. A spectrophotometric method for the determination of free fatty acid in serum using acyl-coenzyme A synthetase and acyl-coenzyme A oxidase. *Analytical biochemistry*, 130, 128-133.
- MATTHAN, N. R., WELTY, F. K., BARRETT, P. H. R., HARAUSZ, C., DOLNIKOWSKI, G. G., PARKS, J. S., ECKEL, R. H., SCHAEFER, E. J. & LICHTENSTEIN, A. H. 2004. Dietary hydrogenated fat increases high-density lipoprotein apoA-I catabolism and decreases low-density lipoprotein apoB-100 catabolism in hypercholesterolemic women. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 24, 1092-1097.
- MATTHEWS, D., HOSKER, J., RUDENSKI, A., NAYLOR, B., TREACHER, D. & TURNER, R. 1985. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and B-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*, 28, 412-419.
- MAUGER, J.-F., LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., AUSMAN, L. M., JALBERT, S. M., JAUHIAINEN, M., EHNHOLM, C. & LAMARCHE, B. 2003. Effect of different forms of dietary hydrogenated fats on LDL particle size. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 78, 370-375.
- MAYER, E. J., NEWMAN, B., QUESENBERRY, C. P. & SELBY, J. V. 1993. Usual dietary fat intake and insulin concentrations in healthy women twins. *Diabetes care*, 16, 1459-1469.
- MCBEAN, A. M., LI, S., GILBERTSON, D. T. & COLLINS, A. J. 2004. Differences in diabetes prevalence, incidence, and mortality among the elderly of four racial/ethnic groups: whites, blacks, Hispanics, and Asians. *Diabetes care*, 27, 2317-2324.
- MCENENY, J., O'KANE, M., MOLES, K., MCMASTER, C., MCMASTER, D., MERCER, C., TRIMBLE, E. & YOUNG, I. 2000. Very low density lipoprotein subfractions in Type II diabetes mellitus: alterations in composition and susceptibility to oxidation. *Diabetologia*, 43, 485-493.
- MCGANDY, R. B., HEGSTED, D. M. & MYERS, M. 1970. Use of semisynthetic fats in determining effects of specific dietary fatty acids on serum lipids in man. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 23, 1288-1298.
- MCGEE, D. L. & COLLABORATION, D. P. 2005. Body mass index and mortality: a meta-analysis based on person-level data from twenty-six observational studies. *Annals of epidemiology*, 15, 87-97.
- MCKEE, M. & BRITTON, A. 1998. The positive relationship between alcohol and heart disease in eastern Europe: potential physiological mechanisms. *Journal of the Royal society of medicine*, 91, 402-407.

- MCKEIGUE, P., PIERPOINT, T., FERRIE, J. & MARMOT, M. 1992. Relationship of glucose intolerance and hyperinsulinaemia to body fat pattern in south Asians and Europeans. *Diabetologia*, 35, 785-791.
- MCKEIGUE, P., SHAH, B. & MARMOT, M. 1991. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. *The Lancet*, 337, 382-386.
- MCKEIGUE, P. M. 1991. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. *Lancet*, 337, 382-386.
- MCKEOWN-EYSSEN, G. 1994. Epidemiology of colorectal cancer revisited: are serum triglycerides and/or plasma glucose associated with risk? *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 3, 687-695.
- MCKEOWN, N. M., MEIGS, J. B., LIU, S., SALTZMAN, E., WILSON, P. W. & JACQUES, P. F. 2004. Carbohydrate nutrition, insulin resistance, and the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in the Framingham Offspring Cohort. *Diabetes care*, 27, 538-546.
- MCMORROW, A. M., O'REILLY, M., CONNAUGHTON, R. M., CAROLAN, E., O'SHEA, D., LITHANDER, F. E., MCGILLICUDDY, F. C. & ROCHE, H. M. 2016. Obesity and Dietary Fat Modulate HDL Function in Adolescents: Results From a Cross-sectional Analysis and a Randomized, Placebo-controlled, Crossover trial. *The FASEB Journal*, 30, 130.6-130.6.
- MCPHERSON, R., MANN, C. J., TALL, A. R., HOGUE, M., MARTIN, L., MILNE, R. W. & MARCEL, Y. L. 1991. Plasma concentrations of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in hyperlipoproteinemia. Relation to cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity and other lipoprotein variables. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis*, and Vascular Biology, 11, 797-804.
- MEAD, J. R., CRYER, A. & RAMJI, D. P. 1999. Lipoprotein lipase, a key role in atherosclerosis? *FEBS Lett*, 462, 1-6.
- MEAD, J. R., IRVINE, S. A. & RAMJI, D. P. 2002. Lipoprotein lipase: structure, function, regulation, and role in disease. J Mol Med (Berl), 80, 753-769.
- MEAD, J. R. & RAMJI, D. P. 2002. The pivotal role of lipoprotein lipase in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res*, 55, 261-269.
- MEENA, Y., YADAV, K., CAESER, S. & DESAI, N. 2014. Incidence of Hyperglycemia, Dyslipidemia and Hearing Impairment in Public Transport Employees.
- MEMON, A., MOODY, P. M., SUGATHAN, T. N., EL-GERGES, N., AL-BUSTAN, M., AL-SHATTI, A. & AL-JAZZAF, H. 2000. Epidemiology of smoking among

Kuwaiti adults: prevalence, characteristics, and attitudes. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 78, 1306-1315.

- MENDIS, S. 2017. Global progress in prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular diagnosis and therapy, 7, S32.
- MENG, M. S., GREGG, R. E., SCHAEFER, E. J., HOEG, J. M. & BREWER, H. B., JR. 1983. Presence of two forms of apolipoprotein B in patients with dyslipoproteinemia. J Lipid Res, 24, 803-9.
- MENSAH, G. A. & BROWN, D. W. 2007. An overview of cardiovascular disease burden in the United States. *Health affairs*, 26, 38-48.
- MENSAH, G. A., WEI, G. S., SORLIE, P. D., FINE, L. J., ROSENBERG, Y.,
 KAUFMANN, P. G., MUSSOLINO, M. E., HSU, L. L., ADDOU, E. & ENGELGAU,
 M. M. 2017. Decline in Cardiovascular Mortality. *Circulation research*, 120, 366-380.
- MENSINK, R. P. & KATAN, M. B. 1992. Effect of dietary fatty acids on serum lipids and lipoproteins. A meta-analysis of 27 trials. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis*, and Vascular Biology, 12, 911-919.
- MENSINK, R. P., ZOCK, P. L., KESTER, A. D. & KATAN, M. B. 2003. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 77, 1146-1155.
- MERCADO, M. M., MCLENITHAN, J. C., SILVER, K. D. & SHULDINER, A. R. 2002. Genetics of insulin resistance. *Current diabetes reports*, 2, 83-95.
- MERKEL, M., ECKEL, R. H. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 2002. Lipoprotein lipase genetics, lipid uptake, and regulation. *Journal of lipid research*, 43, 1997-2006.
- MERKEL, M., KAKO, Y., RADNER, H., CHO, I. S., RAMASAMY, R., BRUNZELL, J. D., GOLDBERG, I. J. & BRESLOW, J. L. 1998. Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 13841-13846.
- MERRILL, J. R., HOLLY, R. G., ANDERSON, R. L., RIFAI, N., KING, M. E. & DEMEERSMAN, R. 1989. Hyperlipemic response of young trained and untrained men after a high fat meal. *Arteriosclerosis*, 9, 217-223.
- MESTEK, M. L. 2009. Physical activity, blood lipids, and lipoproteins. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 3, 279-283.

- MEYER, K. A., KUSHI, L. H., JACOBS, D. R., SLAVIN, J., SELLERS, T. A. & FOLSOM, A. R. 2000. Carbohydrates, dietary fiber, and incident type 2 diabetes in older women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 71, 921-930.
- MIFFLIN, M. D., ST JEOR, S., HILL, L. A., SCOTT, B. J., DAUGHERTY, S. A. & KOH, Y. 1990. A new predictive equation for resting energy expenditure in healthy individuals. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 51, 241-247.
- MIKINES, K. J., SONNE, B., FARRELL, P. A., TRONIER, B. & GALBO, H. 1989. Effect of training on the dose-response relationship for insulin action in men. J Appl Physiol, 66, 695-703.
- MILJKOVIC-GACIC, I. 2006. Lipoprotein subclass and particle size differences in Afro-Caribbeans, African Americans, and white Americans: associations with hepatic lipase gene variation. *Metabolism*, 55, 96-102.
- MILLER, N. 1990. HDL metabolism and its role in lipid transport. *European heart journal*, 11, 1-3.
- MISRA, A. & KHURANA, L. 2009. The metabolic syndrome in South Asians: epidemiology, determinants, and prevention. *Metabolic syndrome and related disorders*, 7, 497-514.
- MISRA, A. & VIKRAM, N. K. 2004. Insulin resistance syndrome (metabolic syndrome) and obesity in Asian Indians: evidence and implications. *Nutrition*, 20, 482-491.
- MIYASHITA, M. 2008. Effects of continuous versus accumulated activity patterns on postprandial triacylglycerol concentrations in obese men. *International journal of obesity*, 32, 1271-1278.
- MIYASHITA, M. & TOKUYAMA, K. 2008. Moderate exercise reduces serum triacylglycerol concentrations but does not affect pre-heparin lipoprotein lipase concentrations after a moderate-fat meal in young men. Br J Nutr, 99, 1076-1082.
- MOGHADDAM, E., VOGT, J. A. & WOLEVER, T. M. 2006. The effects of fat and protein on glycemic responses in nondiabetic humans vary with waist circumference, fasting plasma insulin, and dietary fiber intake. *The Journal of nutrition*, 136, 2506-2511.
- MOHAMMED, N. H. & WOLEVER, T. M. 2004. Effect of carbohydrate source on post-prandial blood glucose in subjects with type 1 diabetes treated with insulin lispro. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 65, 29-35.
- MOHAN, V., SHARP, P., CLOKE, H., BURRIN, J., SCHUMER, B. & KOHNER, E. 1986. Serum immunoreactive insulin responses to a glucose load in Asian Indian

and European type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients and control subjects. *Diabetologia*, 29, 235-237.

- MÖLLER-LEIMKÜHLER, A. M. 2007. Gender differences in cardiovascular disease and comorbid depression. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*, 9, 71.
- MONS, U., MÜEZZINLER, A., GELLERT, C., SCHÖTTKER, B., ABNET, C. C., BOBAK, M., DE GROOT, L., FREEDMAN, N. D., JANSEN, E. & KEE, F. 2015. Impact of smoking and smoking cessation on cardiovascular events and mortality among older adults: meta-analysis of individual participant data from prospective cohort studies of the CHANCES consortium. *bmj*, 350, h1551.
- MOORE, K. J. & TABAS, I. 2011. Macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Cell*, 145, 341-355.
- MORA, S., RIFAI, N., BURING, J. E. & RIDKER, P. M. 2008. Fasting compared with nonfasting lipids and apolipoproteins for predicting incident cardiovascular events. *Circulation*, 118, 993-1001.
- MORENO, L. A., QUINTELA, I., FLETA, J., SARRIA, A., RODA, L., GINER, A. & BUENO, M. 2001. Postprandial triglyceridemia in obese and non-obese adolescents. Importance of body composition and fat distribution. *Journal* of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism, 14, 193-202.
- MORGAN, L., TREDGER, J., SHAVILA, Y., TRAVIS, J. & WRIGHT, J. 1993. The effect of non-starch polysaccharide supplementation on circulating bile acids, hormone and metabolite levels following a fat meal in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 70, 491-501.
- MORRISON, J. A., KELLY, K. A., MELLIES, M. J., KHOURY, P., LEWIS, D., LEWIS, A., FIORELLI, M., TYROLER, H. A., HEISS, G. & GLUECK, C. J. 1979. Blackwhite differences in plasma lipoproteins in Cincinnati schoolchildren (oneto-one pair matched by total plasma cholesterol, sex, and age). *Metabolism*, 28, 241-245.
- MOSCA, L., BANKA, C. L., BENJAMIN, E. J., BERRA, K., BUSHNELL, C., DOLOR, R. J., GANIATS, T. G., GOMES, A. S., GORNIK, H. L. & GRACIA, C. 2007. Evidence-based guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention in women: 2007 update. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 49, 1230-1250.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D., GOTTDIENER, J. S. & SISCOVICK, D. S. 2006. Intake of tuna or other broiled or baked fish versus fried fish and cardiac structure, function, and hemodynamics. *The American journal of cardiology*, 97, 216-222.
- MUHLESTEIN, J. B., ANDERSON, J. L., HORNE, B. D., LAVASANI, F., MAYCOCK, C.
 A. A., BAIR, T. L., PEARSON, R. R., CARLQUIST, J. F. & GROUP, I. H. C. S.
 I. 2003. Effect of fasting glucose levels on mortality rate in patients with and without diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease undergoing

percutaneous coronary intervention. *American heart journal*, 146, 351-358.

- MUNIYAPPA, R., IANTORNO, M. & QUON, M. J. 2008. An integrated view of insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America*, 37, 685-711.
- MURPHY, M., ISHERWOOD, S., SETHI, S., GOULD, B., WRIGHT, J., KNAPPER, J. & WILLIAMS, C. M. 1995. Postprandial lipid and hormone responses to meals of varying fat contents: modulatory role of lipoprotein lipase? *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 49, 578-588.
- NADANAKA, S. & KITAGAWA, H. 2008. Heparan sulphate biosynthesis and disease. Journal of biochemistry, 144, 7-14.
- NAIR, K. S., BIGELOW, M. L., ASMANN, Y. W., CHOW, L. S., COENEN-SCHIMKE, J. M., KLAUS, K. A., GUO, Z.-K., SREEKUMAR, R. & IRVING, B. A. 2008. Asian Indians have enhanced skeletal muscle mitochondrial capacity to produce ATP in association with severe insulin resistance. *Diabetes*, 57, 1166-1175.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKAJIMA, Y., TAKEICHI, S. & FUJITA, M. Q. 2008. Plasma remnant-like lipoprotein particles or LDL-C as major pathologic factors in sudden cardiac death cases. *Atherosclerosis*, 198, 237-246.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T., MOON, H. D., NAGAMINE, T., STANHOPE, K. L., HAVEL, P. J. & WARNICK, G. R. 2009. The correlation between TG vs remnant lipoproteins in the fasting and postprandial plasma of 23 volunteers. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 404, 124-127.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T. & TANAKA, A. 2006. The oxidative modification hypothesis of atherosclerosis: the comparison of atherogenic effects on oxidized LDL and remnant lipoproteins in plasma. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 367, 36-47.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T., TOKITA, Y., NAGAMINE, T., INAZU, A., KOBAYASHI, J., MABUCHI, H., STANHOPE, K. L., HAVEL, P. J. & OKAZAKI, M. 2011a. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism: VLDL vs chylomicrons. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 412, 1306-1318.
- NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T., TOKITA, Y., NAGAMINE, T., INAZU, A., KOBAYASHI, J., MABUCHI, H., STANHOPE, K. L., HAVEL, P. J., OKAZAKI, M., AI, M. & TANAKA, A. 2011b. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism: VLDL vs chylomicrons. *Clin Chim Acta*, 412, 1306-1318.
- NAKAMURA, T., TAKANO, H., UMETANI, K., KAWABATA, K.-I., OBATA, J.-E., KITTA, Y., KODAMA, Y., MENDE, A., ICHIGI, Y. & FUJIOKA, D. 2005. Remnant lipoproteinemia is a risk factor for endothelial vasomotor dysfunction and coronary artery disease in metabolic syndrome. *Atherosclerosis*, 181, 321-327.

- NAPOLI, C., TRIGGIANI, M., PALUMBO, G., CONDORELLI, M., CHIARIELLO, M. & AMBROSIO, G. 1997. Glycosylation enhances oxygen radical-induced modifications and decreases acetylhydrolase activity of human low density lipoprotein. *Basic research in cardiology*, 92, 96-105.
- NASER, K. A., GRUBER, A. & THOMSON, G. 2006. The emerging pandemic of obesity and diabetes: are we doing enough to prevent a disaster? *International journal of clinical practice*, 60, 1093-1097.
- NCD RISK FACTOR COLLABORATION 2016. Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19. 2 million participants. *The Lancet*, 387, 1377-1396.
- NCEP, N. C. E. P. 2002. Third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation*, 106, 3143.
- NESTEL, P. 1964. Relationship between plasma triglycerides and removal of chylomicrons. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 43, 943.
- NESTEL, P., REARDON, M. & FIDGE, N. 1979. Sucrose-induced changes in VLDLand LDL-B apoprotein removal rates. *Metabolism*, 28, 531-535.
- NESTEL, P. J., CARROLL, K. F. & HAVENSTEIN, N. 1970. Plasma triglyceride response to carbohydrates, fats and caloric intake. *Metabolism*, 19, 1-18.
- NICHOLLS, D. & COHEN, H. 1985. Effect of oral and intravenous glucose on alimentary lipaemia in normal man. *Irish journal of medical science*, 154, 348-353.
- NICHOLS, A. B., RAVENSCROFT, C., LAMPHIEAR, D. E. & OSTRANDER, L. D. 1976. Daily nutritional intake and serum lipid levels. The Tecumseh study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 29, 1384-1392.
- NIKKLA, M. & HEIKKINEN, J. 1990. Serum cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and five-year survival in elderly people. *Age and ageing*, 19, 403-408.
- NILSSON-EHLE, P., CARLSTRÖM, S. & BELFRAGE, P. 1975. Rapid Effects on Lipoprotein Lipase Activity in Adipose Tissue of Humans after Carbohydrate and Lipid Intake Time Course and Relation to Plasma Glycerol, Triglyceride, and Insulin Levels. Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation, 35, 373-378.
- NIU, Y.-G. & EVANS, R. D. 2011. Very-low-density lipoprotein: complex particles in cardiac energy metabolism. *Journal of lipids*, 2011.

- NORATA, G. D., GRIGORE, L., RASELLI, S., REDAELLI, L., HAMSTEN, A., MAGGI, F., ERIKSSON, P. & CATAPANO, A. L. 2007. Post-prandial endothelial dysfunction in hypertriglyceridemic subjects: molecular mechanisms and gene expression studies. *Atherosclerosis*, 193, 321-327.
- NORDESTGAARD, B. G., BENN, M., SCHNOHR, P. & TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A. 2007. Nonfasting triglycerides and risk of myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and death in men and women. *Jama*, 298, 299-308.
- NORDESTGAARD, B. G. & NIELSEN, L. B. 1994. Atherosclerosis and arterial influx of lipoproteins. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 5, 252-257.
- OLIVECRONA, T. & OLIVECRONA, G. 1999. Lipoprotein and hepatic lipases in lipoprotein metabolism. *Lipoproteins in health and disease*, 223-246.
- ONG, J. M. & KERN, P. A. 1989. Effect of feeding and obesity on lipoprotein lipase activity, immunoreactive protein, and messenger RNA levels in human adipose tissue. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 84, 305.
- OOI, E. M., BARRETT, P. H. R., CHAN, D. C. & WATTS, G. F. 2008. Apolipoprotein C-III: understanding an emerging cardiovascular risk factor. *Clinical science*, 114, 611-624.
- ORDOVAS, J. M. & MOOSER, V. 2004. Nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics. *Current* opinion in lipidology, 15, 101-108.
- OSEI, K., COTTRELL, D. A. & HARRIS, B. 1992. Differences in basal and poststimulation glucose homeostasis in nondiabetic first degree relatives of black and white patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 75, 82-6.
- OSEI, K. & SCHUSTER, D. 1994. Ethnic differences in secretion, sensitivity, and hepatic extraction of insulin in black and white Americans. *Diabetic medicine*, 11, 755-762.
- OUCHI, N., KIHARA, S., ARITA, Y., MAEDA, K., KURIYAMA, H., OKAMOTO, Y., HOTTA, K., NISHIDA, M., TAKAHASHI, M. & NAKAMURA, T. 1999. Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin. *Circulation*, 100, 2473-2476.
- OWEN, B. & WOLEVER, T. M. 2003. Effect of fat on glycaemic responses in normal subjects: a dose-response study. *Nutrition research*, 23, 1341-1347.
- PACKARD, C. J. 2003. Triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins and the generation of small, dense low-density lipoprotein. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31, 1066-1069.
- PACKARD, C. J., MUNRO, A., LORIMER, A., GOTTO, A. & SHEPHERD, J. 1984. Metabolism of apolipoprotein B in large triglyceride-rich very low density

lipoproteins of normal and hypertriglyceridemic subjects. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 74, 2178.

- PACKARD, C. J. & SHEPHERD, J. 1997. Lipoprotein heterogeneity and apolipoprotein B metabolism. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis*, and Vascular Biology, 17, 3542-3556.
- PAN, W.-H., FLEGAL, K. M., CHANG, H.-Y., YEH, W.-T., YEH, C.-J. & LEE, W.-C. 2004. Body mass index and obesity-related metabolic disorders in Taiwanese and US whites and blacks: implications for definitions of overweight and obesity for Asians. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 79, 31-39.
- PARILLO, M., RIVELLESE, A., CIARDULLO, A., CAPALDO, B., GIACCO, A., GENOVESE, S. & RICCARDI, G. 1992. A high-monounsaturated-fat/lowcarbohydrate diet improves peripheral insulin sensitivity in non-insulindependent diabetic patients. *Metabolism*, 41, 1373-1378.
- PARKS, E. J., KRAUSS, R. M., CHRISTIANSEN, M. P., NEESE, R. A. & HELLERSTEIN, M. K. 1999. Effects of a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet on VLDLtriglyceride assembly, production, and clearance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 104, 1087.
- PARTHASARATHY, S., KHOO, J. C., MILLER, E., BARNETT, J., WITZTUM, J. L. & STEINBERG, D. 1990. Low density lipoprotein rich in oleic acid is protected against oxidative modification: implications for dietary prevention of atherosclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87, 3894-3898.
- PATSCH, J. 1998. Influence of lipolysis on chylomicron clearance and HDL cholesterol levels. *Eur Heart J*, 19 Suppl H, H2-6.
- PATSCH, J. R. 1987. Postprandial lipaemia. . Baillière's Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 1.
- PATSCH, J. R., KARLIN, J. B., SCOTT, L. W., SMITH, L. C. & GOTTO, A. M. 1983. Inverse relationship between blood levels of high density lipoprotein subfraction 2 and magnitude of postprandial lipemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 80, 1449-1453.
- PATSCH JR, M. G., HOPFERWIESER T, MÜHLBERGER V, KNAPP E, DUNN JK, GOTTO AM JR, PATSCH W 1992. Relation of triglyceride metabolism and coronary artery disease: Studies in the postprandial state. *Arteriosclerosis* and Thrombosi, 12, 9.
- PATSCH, J. R., MIESENBÖCK, G., HOPFERWIESER, T., MÜHLBERGER, V., KNAPP, E., DUNN, J. K., GOTTO, A. & PATSCH, W. 1992. Relation of triglyceride metabolism and coronary artery disease. Studies in the postprandial state. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 12, 1336-1345.

- PEARSON, T. A., OSORIO, D. & BROWN, K. 2000. Nutritional interventions in cardiovascular disease: New challenges and opportunities. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 2, 515-520.
- PEAT, J. & BARTON, B. 2008. *Medical statistics: A guide to data analysis and critical appraisal*, John Wiley & Sons.
- PEDERSEN, A., MARCKMANN, P. & SANDSTRÖM, B. 1999. Postprandial lipoprotein, glucose and insulin responses after two consecutive meals containing rapeseed oil, sunflower oil or palm oil with or without glucose at the first meal. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 82, 97-104.
- PEDERSEN, T. R. 2011. Lipids: HDL, LDL, Role in Primary Prevention, the Message from Trials? *Atherosclerosis: The 21st Century Epidemic*, 65.
- PELKMAN, C. L. 2001. Effects of the glycemic index of foods on serum concentrations of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglycerides. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 3, 456-461.
- PEREIRA, M. A. & LIU, S. 2003. Types of carbohydrates and risk of cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Women's Health*, 12, 115-122.
- PEREIRA, M. A., O'REILLY, E., AUGUSTSSON, K., FRASER, G. E., GOLDBOURT, U., HEITMANN, B. L., HALLMANS, G., KNEKT, P., LIU, S. & PIETINEN, P. 2004. Dietary fiber and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of cohort studies. Archives of internal medicine, 164, 370-376.
- PETERSEN, S., PETO, V., RAYNER, M., LEAL, J., LUENGO-FERNANDEZ, R. & GRAY, A. 2005. European cardiovascular disease statistics. *London: British Heart Foundation*.
- PETERSON, J., BIHAIN, B. E., BENGTSSON-OLIVECRONA, G., DECKELBAUM, R. J., CARPENTIER, Y. A. & OLIVECRONA, T. 1990. Fatty acid control of lipoprotein lipase: a link between energy metabolism and lipid transport. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 87, 909-913.
- PETITT, D. S. & CURETON, K. J. 2003. Effects of prior exercise on postprandial lipemia: a quantitative review. *Metabolism*, 52, 418-424.
- PHILLIPS, L. K., DEANE, A. M., JONES, K. L., RAYNER, C. K. & HOROWITZ, M. 2015. Gastric emptying and glycaemia in health and diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 11, 112-128.
- PI-SUNYER, F. X. 2002. Glycemic index and disease. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 76, 290S-298S.
- PICKUP, J. & MATTOCK, M. 2003. Activation of the innate immune system as a predictor of cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetic medicine*, 20, 723-726.

- PIERCE, J. P., FIORE, M. C., NOVOTNY, T. E., HATZIANDREU, E. J. & DAVIS, R. M. 1989. Trends in cigarette smoking in the United States: educational differences are increasing. *Jama*, 261, 56-60.
- PILLARISETTI, S., PAKA, L., SASAKI, A., VANNI-REYES, T., YIN, B., PARTHASARATHY, N., WAGNER, W. D. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 1997. Endothelial Cell Heparanase Modulation of Lipoprotein Lipase Activity EVIDENCE THAT HEPARAN SULFATE OLIGOSACCHARIDE IS AN EXTRACELLULAR CHAPERONE. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272, 15753-15759.
- PODL, T. R., ZMUDA, J. M., YURGALEVITCH, S. M., FAHRENBACH, M. C., BAUSSERMAN, L. L., TERRY, R. B. & THOMPSON, P. D. 1994. Lipoprotein lipase activity and plasma triglyceride clearance are elevated in endurance-trained women. *Metabolism*, 43, 808-813.
- POPKIN, B. M. 2002. An overview on the nutrition transition and its health implications: the Bellagio meeting. *Public health nutrition*, 5, 93-103.
- POURMAND, G., ALIDAEE, M. R., RASULI, S., MALEKI, A. & MEHRSAI, A. 2004. Do cigarette smokers with erectile dysfunction benefit from stopping?: a prospective study. *BJU international*, 94, 1310-1313.
- POWNALL, H. J., BALLANTYNE, C. M., KIMBALL, K. T., SIMPSON, S. L., YESHURUN, D. & GOTTO, A. M. 1999. Effect of moderate alcohol consumption on hypertriglyceridemia: a study in the fasting state. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 159, 981-987.
- PRENNER, S. B., MULVEY, C. K., FERGUSON, J. F., RICKELS, M. R., BHATT, A. B. & REILLY, M. P. 2014. Very low density lipoprotein cholesterol associates with coronary artery calcification in type 2 diabetes beyond circulating levels of triglycerides. *Atherosclerosis*, 236, 244-250.
- PRIOR, I. A., DAVIDSON, F., SALMOND, C. E. & CZOCHANSKA, Z. 1981. Cholesterol, coconuts, and diet on Polynesian atolls: a natural experiment: the Pukapuka and Tokelau island studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 34, 1552-1561.
- PROSPECTIVE STUDIES COLLABORATION 1995. Cholesterol, diastolic blood pressure, and stroke: 13 000 strokes in 450 000 people in 45 prospective cohorts. *The Lancet*, 346, 1647-1653.
- PROSPECTIVE STUDIES COLLABORATION 2007. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55 000 vascular deaths. *The Lancet*, 370, 1829-1839.

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2014.

PUNYADEERA, C., VAN DER MERWE, M., CROWTHER, N., TOMAN, M., SCHLAPHOFF, G. & GRAY, I. 2001. Ethnic differences in lipid metabolism in two groups of obese South African women. *Journal of lipid research*, 42, 760-767.

- PURNELL, J. Q., KNOPP, R. H. & BRUNZELL, J. D. 1999. Dietary fat and obesity. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 70, 108-108.
- PYÖRÄLÄ, K., DE BACKER, G., GRAHAM, I., POOLE-WILSON, P. & WOOD, D. 1994. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice: recommendations of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society and European Society of Hypertension. Atherosclerosis, 110, 121-161.
- QI, L. & HU, F. B. 2007. Dietary glycemic load, whole grains, and systemic inflammation in diabetes: the epidemiological evidence. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 18, 3-8.
- QIAN, F., KORAT, A. A., MALIK, V. & HU, F. B. 2016. Metabolic effects of monounsaturated fatty acid-enriched diets compared with carbohydrate or polyunsaturated fatty acid-enriched diets in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes care*, 39, 1448-1457.
- QIANG, L., TSUCHIYA, K., KIM-MULLER, J.-Y., LIN, H. V., WELCH, C. & ACCILI, D. 2012. Increased atherosclerosis and endothelial dysfunction in mice bearing constitutively deacetylated alleles of Foxo1 gene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287, 13944-13951.
- RABEN, A., AGERHOLM-LARSEN, L., FLINT, A., HOLST, J. J. & ASTRUP, A. 2003. Meals with similar energy densities but rich in protein, fat, carbohydrate, or alcohol have different effects on energy expenditure and substrate metabolism but not on appetite and energy intake. *The American journal* of clinical nutrition, 77, 91-100.
- RAHELIĆ, D., JENKINS, A., BOŽIKOV, V., PAVIĆ, E., JURIĆ, K., FAIRGRIEVE, C., ROMIĆ, D., KOKIĆ, S. & VUKSAN, V. 2011. Glycemic index in diabetes. *Collegium antropologicum*, 35, 1363-1368.
- RAJI, A., SEELY, E. W., ARKY, R. A. & SIMONSON, D. C. 2001. Body fat distribution and insulin resistance in healthy Asian Indians and Caucasians. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 86, 5366-5371.
- RALEIGH, V. S. 1997. Diabetes and hypertension in Britain's ethnic minorities: implications for the future of renal services. *BMJ*: *British Medical Journal*, 314, 209.
- RAMACHANDRAN, A., SNEHALATHA, C., MARY, S., MUKESH, B., BHASKAR, A. & VIJAY, V. 2006. The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian

Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). *Diabetologia*, 49, 289-297.

- RAPSOMANIKI, E., TIMMIS, A., GEORGE, J., PUJADES-RODRIGUEZ, M., SHAH, A. D., DENAXAS, S., WHITE, I. R., CAULFIELD, M. J., DEANFIELD, J. E. & SMEETH, L. 2014. Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. *The Lancet*, 383, 1899-1911.
- RASK-MADSEN, C., BUONOMO, E., LI, Q., PARK, K., CLERMONT, A. C., YEROKUN, O., REKHTER, M. & KING, G. L. 2012. Hyperinsulinemia does not change atherosclerosis development in apolipoprotein E null mice. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 32, 1124-1131.
- RASK-MADSEN, C., LI, Q., FREUND, B., FEATHER, D., ABRAMOV, R., WU, I.-H., CHEN, K., YAMAMOTO-HIRAOKA, J., GOLDENBOGEN, J. & SOTIROPOULOS, K. B. 2010. Loss of insulin signaling in vascular endothelial cells accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E null mice. *Cell metabolism*, 11, 379-389.
- RAVANDI, A., KUKSIS, A. & SHAIKH, N. A. 2000. Glucosylated glycerophosphoethanolamines are the major LDL glycation products and increase LDL susceptibility to oxidation. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and* vascular biology, 20, 467-477.
- REAVEN, G. M. 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes*, 37, 1595-1607.
- REAVEN, G. M. & CHEN, Y. I. 1996. Insulin Resistance, Its Consequences, and Coronary Heart Disease Must We Choose One Culprit? *Circulation*, 93, 1780-1783.
- REDGRAVE, T. 2004. Chylomicron metabolism. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 32, 79-82.
- REIBER, I., MEZÕ, I., KALINA, Á., PÁLOS, G., ROMICS, L. & CSÁSZÁR, A. 2003. Postprandial triglyceride levels in familial combined hyperlipidemia. The role of apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase polymorphisms. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 14, 394-400.
- REISER, B. & FARAGGI, D. 1999. Confidence intervals for the overlapping coefficient: the normal equal variance case. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series D (the Statistician)*, 48, 413-418.
- REYNOLDS, K., LEWIS, B., NOLEN, J. D. L., KINNEY, G. L., SATHYA, B. & HE, J. 2003. Alcohol consumption and risk of stroke: a meta-analysis. *Jama*, 289, 579-588.

- RICCARDI, G., GIACCO, R. & RIVELLESE, A. 2004. Dietary fat, insulin sensitivity and the metabolic syndrome. *Clinical nutrition*, 23, 447-456.
- RIMOIN, D. L. 1969. Ethnic variability in glucose tolerance and insulin secretion. *Archives of internal medicine*, 124, 695-700.
- RIZKALLA, S. W., TAGHRID, L., LAROMIGUIERE, M., HUET, D., BOILLOT, J., RIGOIR, A., ELGRABLY, F. & SLAMA, G. 2004. Improved plasma glucose control, whole-body glucose utilization, and lipid profile on a lowglycemic index diet in type 2 diabetic men a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes care*, 27, 1866-1872.
- ROBERTS, C. K., NG, C., HAMA, S., ELISEO, A. J. & BARNARD, R. J. 2006. Effect of a short-term diet and exercise intervention on inflammatory/antiinflammatory properties of HDL in overweight/obese men with cardiovascular risk factors. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 101, 1727-1732.
- ROCCA, A. S. & BRUBAKER, P. L. 1995. Stereospecific effects of fatty acids on proglucagon-derived peptide secretion in fetal rat intestinal cultures. *Endocrinology*, 136, 5593-5599.
- ROCHE, H. 1999. Dietary carbohydrates and triacylglycerol metabolism. *Proc Nutr Soc* 58, 201-207.
- ROCHE, H. M. & GIBNEY, M. J. 2000. Effect of long-chain n- 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on fasting and postprandial triacylglycerol metabolism. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 71, 232s-237s.
- RODEN, M., PRICE, T. B., PERSEGHIN, G., PETERSEN, K. F., ROTHMAN, D. L., CLINE, G. W. & SHULMAN, G. I. 1996. Mechanism of free fatty acidinduced insulin resistance in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97, 2859.
- RODERICK, P., JONES, I., RALEIGH, V., MCGEOWN, M. & MALLICK, N. 1994. Population need for renal replacement therapy in Thames regions: ethnic dimension. *BMJ*, 309, 1111-1114.
- ROSENSON, R. 2005. Lipoprotein classification; metabolism; and role in atherosclerosis. UpToDate. Wellesley, MA, USA: UpToDate.
- ROSENSON, R. S., OTVOS, J. D. & FREEDMAN, D. S. 2002. Relations of lipoprotein subclass levels and low-density lipoprotein size to progression of coronary artery disease in the Pravastatin Limitation of Atherosclerosis in the Coronary Arteries (PLAC-I) trial. *The American journal of cardiology*, 90, 89-94.
- ROSS, W. D. & MARFELL-JONES, M. 1991. Kinanthropometry. *Physiological testing of elite athlete. London: Human Kinetics*, 223-308.
- ROSSETTI, L., SHULMAN, G., ZAWALICH, W. & DEFRONZO, R. 1987. Effect of chronic hyperglycemia on in vivo insulin secretion in partially pancreatectomized rats. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 80, 1037.
- ROTH, Z. & BROWN, G. 2005. Mediterranean diet, lifestyle factors, and 10-year mortality in elderly European men and women: The HALE project. *Evidence-Based Ophthalmology*, 6, 48-49.
- RUGE, T., NEUGER, L., SUKONINA, V., WU, G., BARATH, S., GUPTA, J., FRANKEL, B., CHRISTOPHERSEN, B., NORDSTOGA, K., OLIVECRONA, T. ET AL 2004. Lipoprotein lipase in the kidney: activity varies widely among animal species. Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol 287, 1131-1139.
- RUSH, E., GOEDECKE, J., JENNINGS, C., MICKLESFIELD, L., DUGAS, L., LAMBERT, E. & PLANK, L. 2007. BMI, fat and muscle differences in urban women of five ethnicities from two countries. *International journal of obesity*, 31, 1232-1239.
- RUSH, E. C., FREITAS, I. & PLANK, L. D. 2009. Body size, body composition and fat distribution: comparative analysis of European, Maori, Pacific Island and Asian Indian adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 102, 632-641.
- RUTH, M. R., PORT, A. M., SHAH, M., BOURLAND, A. C., ISTFAN, N. W., NELSON, K. P., GOKCE, N. & APOVIAN, C. M. 2013. Consuming a hypocaloric high fat low carbohydrate diet for 12weeks lowers C-reactive protein, and raises serum adiponectin and high density lipoprotein-cholesterol in obese subjects. *Metabolism*, 62, 1779-1787.
- RUTLEDGE, T., REIS, V. A., LINKE, S. E., GREENBERG, B. H. & MILLS, P. J. 2006. Depression in heart failure: a meta-analytic review of prevalence, intervention effects, and associations with clinical outcomes. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 48, 1527-1537.
- RYO, M., NAKAMURA, T., KIHARA, S., KUMADA, M., SHIBAZAKI, S., TAKAHASHI, M., NAGAI, M., MATSUZAWA, Y. & FUNAHASHI, T. 2004. Adiponectin as a biomarker of the metabolic syndrome. *Circulation Journal*, 68, 975-981.
- SACKNER-BERNSTEIN, J., KANTER, D. & KAUL, S. 2015. Dietary Intervention for Overweight and Obese Adults: Comparison of Low-Carbohydrate and Low-Fat Diets. A Meta-Analysis. *PloS one*, 10, e0139817.
- SADUR, C. & ECKEL, R. 1982. Insulin stimulation of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase. Use of the euglycemic clamp technique. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 69, 1119.
- SADUR, C. N., YOST, T. J. & ECKEL, R. H. 1984. Fat feeding decreases insulin responsiveness of adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase. *Metabolism*, 33, 1043-1047.

- SADY, S. P., THOMPSON, P. D., CULLINANE, E. M., KANTOR, M. A., DOMAGALA, E. & HERBERT, P. N. 1986. Prolonged exercise augments plasma triglyceride clearance. JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association, 256, 2552-2555.
- SAHEKI, S., TAKAHASHI, I., MURASE, M., TAKEUCHI, N. & UCHIDA, K. 1991. Composition of very low density lipoproteins and in vitro effect of lipoprotein lipase. *Clinica chimica acta*, 204, 155-166.
- SALMERÓN, J., ASCHERIO, A., RIMM, E. B., COLDITZ, G. A., SPIEGELMAN, D., JENKINS, D. J., STAMPFER, M. J., WING, A. L. & WILLETT, W. C. 1997. Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of NIDDM in men. *Diabetes care*, 20, 545-550.
- SAVAGE, P. J., BENNETT, P. H., SENTER, R. G. & MILLER, M. 1979. High prevalence of diabetes in young Pima Indians: evidence of phenotypic variation in a genetically isolated population. *Diabetes*, 28, 937-942.
- SAXENA, S., AMBLER, G., COLE, T. J. & MAJEED, A. 2004. Ethnic group differences in overweight and obese children and young people in England: cross sectional survey. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 89, 30-36.
- SCANDINAVIAN SIMVASTATIN SURVIVAL STUDY GROUP 1994. Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *The Lancet*, 344, 1383-1389.
- SCHAEFER, E. J., EISENBERG, S. & LEVY, R. I. 1978. Lipoprotein apoprotein metabolism. *Journal of lipid research*, 19, 667-687.
- SCHAEFER, E. J., MCNAMARA, J. R., SHAH, P. K., NAKAJIMA, K., CUPPLES, L. A., ORDOVAS, J. M. & WILSON, P. W. 2002. Elevated remnant-like particle cholesterol and triglyceride levels in diabetic men and women in the Framingham Offspring Study. *Diabetes Care*, 25, 989-94.
- SCHEEN, A. J. Pathophysiology of insulin secretion. Annales d'endocrinologie, 2004. Elsevier, 29-36.
- SCHENK, S. & HOROWITZ, J. F. 2007. Acute exercise increases triglyceride synthesis in skeletal muscle and prevents fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 117, 1690-1698.
- SCHIFFRIN, E. L., CALHOUN, D. A. & FLACK, J. M. 2016. Do we need a new definition of hypertension after SPRINT? : Oxford University Press US.
- SCHMIDT, M. I., DUNCAN, B. B., WATSON, R. L., SHARRETT, A. R., BRANCATI, F. L., HEISS, G. & INVESTIGATORS, A. R. I. C. S. 1996. A metabolic syndrome in whites and African-Americans: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities baseline study. *Diabetes care*, 19, 414-418.

- SCHNEEMAN, B. O., KOTITE, L., TODD, K. M. & HAVEL, R. J. 1993. Relationships between the responses of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in blood plasma containing apolipoproteins B-48 and B-100 to a fat-containing meal in normolipidemic humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90, 2069-2073.
- SCHONFELD, G. & PFLEGER, B. 1971. Utilization of exogenous free fatty acids for the production of very low density lipoprotein triglyceride by livers of carbohydrate-fed rats. *Journal of lipid research*, 12, 614-621.
- SCHONFELD, G., WEIDMAN, S. W., WITZTUM, J. L. & BOWEN, R. M. 1976. Alterations in levels and interrelations of plasma apolipoproteins induced by diet. *Metabolism*, 25, 261-275.
- SCHRAUWEN-HINDERLING, V. B., MEEX, R. C. R., HESSELINK, M. K. C., VAN DE WEIJER, T., LEINER, T., SCHAR, M., LAMB, H. J., WILDBERGER, J. E., GLATZ, J. F. C., SCHRAUWEN, P. & KOOI, M. E. 2011. Cardiac lipid content is unresponsive to a physical activity training intervention in type 2 diabetic patients, despite improved ejection fraction. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 10, 47-47.
- SCHRAUWEN, P., VAN MARKEN LICHTENBELT, W., SARIS, W. & WESTERTERP, K. R. 1997. Changes in fat oxidation in response to a high-fat diet. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 66, 276-282.
- SCHREZENMEIR, J., FENSELAU, S., KEPPLER, I., ABEL, J., ORTH, B., LAUE, C., STÜRMER, W., FAUTH, U., HALMAGYI, M. & MÄRZ, W. 1997. Postprandial Triglyceride High Response and the Metabolic Syndromea. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 827, 353-368.
- SCHREZENMEIR, J., WEBER, P., PROBST, R., BIESALSKI, H., LULEY, C., PRELLWITZ, W., KRAUSE, U. & BEYER, J. 1992. Postprandial pattern of triglyceride rich lipoprotein in normal-weight humans after an oral lipid load: exaggerated triglycerides and altered insulin response in some subjects. Annals of nutrition and metabolism, 36, 186-196.
- SCHUTZ, Y. 1995. Macronutrients and energy balance in obesity. *Metabolism*, 44, 7-11.
- SCHWAB, U., LAURITZEN, L., THOLSTRUP, T., HALDORSSON, T. I., RISERUS, U., UUSITUPA, M. & BECKER, W. 2014. Effect of the amount and type of dietary fat on cardiometabolic risk factors and risk of developing type-2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: a systematic review. Food & nutrition research, 58.
- SCHWINGSHACKL, L. & HOFFMANN, G. 2013. Comparison of effects of long-term low-fat vs high-fat diets on blood lipid levels in overweight or obese patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 113, 1640-1661.

- SCHWINGSHACKL, L., STRASSER, B. & HOFFMANN, G. 2011. Effects of monounsaturated fatty acids on glycaemic control in patients with abnormal glucose metabolism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 58, 290-296.
- SEIDELL, J. C. 1998. Dietary fat and obesity: an epidemiologic perspective. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 67, 546S-550S.
- SEMB, H. & OLIVECRONA, T. 1986. Nutritional regulation of lipoprotein lipase in guinea pig tissues. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism, 876, 249-255.
- SESSO, H. D., LEE, I.-M., GAZIANO, J. M., REXRODE, K. M., GLYNN, R. J. & BURING, J. E. 2001. Maternal and paternal history of myocardial infarction and risk of cardiovascular disease in men and women. *Circulation*, 104, 393-398.
- SHAH, M., ADAMS-HUET, B. & GARG, A. 2007. Effect of high-carbohydrate or high-cis-monounsaturated fat diets on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of intervention trials. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 85, 1251-1256.
- SHAI, I., JIANG, R., MANSON, J. E., STAMPFER, M. J., WILLETT, W. C., COLDITZ, G. A. & HU, F. B. 2006. Ethnicity, Obesity, and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Women A 20-year follow-up study. *Diabetes care*, 29, 1585-1590.
- SHAI, I., SCHWARZFUCHS, D., HENKIN, Y., SHAHAR, D. R., WITKOW, S., GREENBERG, I., GOLAN, R., FRASER, D., BOLOTIN, A. & VARDI, H. 2008.
 Weight loss with a low-carbohydrate, Mediterranean, or low-fat diet. New England Journal of Medicine, 359, 229-241.
- SHARA, N. 2010. Cardiovascular disease in Middle Eastern women. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 20, 412-418.
- SHARMA, A. M. & KUSHNER, R. 2009. A proposed clinical staging system for obesity. *International journal of obesity*, 33, 289-296.
- SHARRETT, A. R., CHAMBLESS, L. E., HEISS, G., PATON, C. C. & PATSCH, W. 1995. Association of postprandial triglyceride and retinyl palmitate responses with asymptomatic carotid artery atherosclerosis in middleaged men and women. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 15, 2122-2129.
- SHARRETT, A. R., HEISS, G., CHAMBLESS, L., BOERWINKLE, E., COADY, S., FOLSOM, A. & PATSCH, W. 2001. Metabolic and lifestyle determinants of postprandial lipemia differ from those of fasting triglycerides. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 21, 275-281.

- SHAW, J. E., SICREE, R. A. & ZIMMET, P. Z. 2010. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. *Diabetes research and clinical* practice, 87, 4-14.
- SHEARD, N. F., CLARK, N. G., BRAND-MILLER, J. C., FRANZ, M. J., PI-SUNYER, F. X., MAYER-DAVIS, E., KULKARNI, K. & GEIL, P. 2004. Dietary carbohydrate (Amount and Type) in the prevention and management of diabetes a statement by the American diabetes association. *Diabetes care*, 27, 2266-2271.
- SHEKELLE, R. B., SHRYOCK, A. M., PAUL, O., LEPPER, M., STAMLER, J., LIU, S. & RAYNOR JR, W. J. 1981. Diet, serum cholesterol, and death from coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med*, 1981, 65-70.
- SHEN, G. X. 2007. Lipid disorders in diabetes mellitus and current management. *Current pharmaceutical analysis*, 3, 17-24.
- SHIN, H. K., KIM, Y. K., KIM, K. Y., LEE, J. H. & HONG, K. W. 2004. Remnant Lipoprotein Particles Induce Apoptosis in Endothelial Cells by NAD (P) H Oxidase-Mediated Production of Superoxide and Cytokines via Lectin-Like Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-1 Activation. *Circulation*, 109, 1022-1028.
- SHIRAI, K. & JACKSON, R. 1982. Lipoprotein lipase-catalyzed hydrolysis of pnitrophenyl butyrate. Interfacial activation by phospholipid vesicles. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 257, 1253-1258.
- SHOJAEE-MORADIE, F., MA, Y., LOU, S., HOVORKA, R. & UMPLEBY, A. M. 2013. Prandial hypertriglyceridemia in metabolic syndrome is due to an overproduction of both chylomicron and VLDL triacylglycerol. *Diabetes*, 62, 4063-9.
- SIBAI, A. M., NASREDDINE, L., MOKDAD, A. H., ADRA, N., TABET, M. & HWALLA, N. 2010. Nutrition transition and cardiovascular disease risk factors in Middle East and North Africa countries: reviewing the evidence. Ann Nutr Metab, 57, 193-203.
- SILER, S. Q., NEESE, R. A., PARKS, E. J. & HELLERSTEIN, M. K. 1998. VLDLtriglyceride production after alcohol ingestion, studied using [2-13C1] glycerol. *Journal of lipid research*, 39, 2319-2328.
- SIMMONS, D., WILLIAMS, D. & POWELL, M. 1991. The Coventry Diabetes Study: prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in Europids and Asians. QJM, 81, 1021-1030.
- SIMONS, L., DWYER, T., SIMONS, J., BERNSTEIN, L., MOCK, P., POOMA, N., BALASUBRAMANIAM, S., BARON, D., BRANSON, J. & MORGAN, J. 1987. Chylomicrons and chylomicron remnants in coronary artery disease: a case-control study. *Atherosclerosis*, 65, 181-189.

- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2008. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Experimental biology and medicine*, 233, 674-688.
- SING, C. F., STENGÅRD, J. H. & KARDIA, S. L. 2003. Genes, environment, and cardiovascular disease. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 23, 1190-1196.
- SIRI, P. W. & KRAUSS, R. M. 2005. Influence of dietary carbohydrate and fat on LDL and HDL particle distributions. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 7, 455-459.
- SIRI, W. E. 1961. Body composition from fluid spaces and density: analysis of methods. *Techniques for measuring body composition*, 61, 223-44.
- SKILTON, M. R., CHIN-DUSTING, J. P., DART, A. M., BRAZIONIS, L., LANTIERI, O., O'DEA, K., BALKAU, B. & GROUP, D. S. 2011. Metabolic health, obesity and 9-year incidence of peripheral arterial disease: the DESIR study. *Atherosclerosis*, 216, 471-476.
- SLAVIN, J. 2008. Position of the American Dietetic Association: health implications of dietary fiber. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 108, 1716-1731.
- SLIEM, H. A., AHMED, S., NEMR, N. & EL-SHERIF, I. 2012. Metabolic syndrome in the Middle East. Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism, 16, 67.
- SMELTZER, M. S., HART, M. E. & IANDOLO, J. J. 1992. Quantitative spectrophotometric assay for staphylococcal lipase. Applied and environmental microbiology, 58, 2815-2819.
- SODJINOU, R., AGUEH, V., FAYOMI, B. & DELISLE, H. 2008. Obesity and cardiometabolic risk factors in urban adults of Benin: relationship with socioeconomic status, urbanisation, and lifestyle patterns. *BMC public health*, 8, 1.
- SORAN, H. & DURRINGTON, P. N. 2011. Susceptibility of LDL and its subfractions to glycation. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 22, 254-261.
- SPADY, D. K. & DIETSCHY, J. M. 1985. Dietary saturated triacylglycerols suppress hepatic low density lipoprotein receptor activity in the hamster. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 82, 4526-4530.
- SPARKS JD, S. C. I.-.-. 1994. nsulin regulation of triacylglycerol-rich lipoprotein synthesis and secretion. *Biochimica et biophysica acta.*, 1215, 23.
- SPARKS, J. D. & SPARKS, C. E. 1990. Insulin modulation of hepatic synthesis and secretion of apolipoprotein B by rat hepatocytes. *Journal of biological chemistry*, 265, 8854-8862.

- SPARKS, J. D., SPARKS, C. E. & ADELI, K. 2012. Selective hepatic insulin resistance, VLDL overproduction, and hypertriglyceridemia. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 32, 2104-2112.
- SPILLER, G. A., JENSEN, C. D., PATTISON, T., CHUCK, C. S., WHITTAM, J. H. & SCALA, J. 1987. Effect of protein dose on serum glucose and insulin response to sugars. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 46, 474-480.
- SRINIVASAN, S. R., FREEDMAN, D. S., SHARMA, C., WEBBER, L. S. & BERENSON,
 G. S. 1986. Serum apolipoproteins AI and B in 2,854 children from a biracial community: Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*, 78, 189-200.
- STAMLER, J., STAMLER, R. & NEATON, J. D. 1993a. Blood pressure, systolic and diastolic, and cardiovascular risks: US population data. *Archives of internal medicine*, 153, 598-615.
- STAMLER, J., VACCARO, O., NEATON, J. D. & WENTWORTH, D. 1993b. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Diabetes care*, 16, 434-444.
- STAMLER, J., WENTWORTH, D. & NEATON, J. D. 1986. Is relationship between serum cholesterol and risk of premature death from coronary heart disease continuous and graded?: findings in 356 222 primary screenees of the multiple risk factor intervention trial (mrfit). Jama, 256, 2823-2828.
- STAMPFER, M. J., COLDITZ, G. A., WILLETT, W. C., SPEIZER, F. E. & HENNEKENS, C. H. 1988. A prospective study of moderate alcohol consumption and the risk of coronary disease and stroke in women. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 319, 267-273.
- STAMPFER, M. J., HU, F. B., MANSON, J. E., RIMM, E. B. & WILLETT, W. C. 2000. Primary prevention of coronary heart disease in women through diet and lifestyle. New England Journal of Medicine, 343, 16-22.
- STAMPFER, M. J., KRAUSS, R. M., MA, J., BLANCHE, P. J., HOLL, L. G., SACKS, F. M. & HENNEKENS, C. H. 1996. A prospective study of triglyceride level, low-density lipoprotein particle diameter, and risk of myocardial infarction. Jama, 276, 882-888.
- STAMPFER, M. J., SACKS, F. M., SALVINI, S., WILLETT, W. C. & HENNEKENS, C. H. 1991. A prospective study of cholesterol, apolipoproteins, and the risk of myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 325, 373-381.
- STANLEY, W. C., RECCHIA, F. A. & LOPASCHUK, G. D. 2005. Myocardial substrate metabolism in the normal and failing heart. *Physiological reviews*, 85, 1093-1129.

- STEGEMANN, C., PECHLANER, R., WILLEIT, P., LANGLEY, S., MANGINO, M., MAYR, U., MENNI, C., MOAYYERI, A., SANTER, P. & RUNGGER, G. 2014. Lipidomics profiling and risk of cardiovascular disease in the prospective population-based Bruneck study. *Circulation*, CIRCULATIONAHA. 113.002500.
- STEIN, C., FALL, C., KUMARAN, K., OSMOND, C., BARKER, D. & COX, V. 1996. Fetal growth and coronary heart disease in South India. *The Lancet*, 348, 1269-1273.
- STEINBERGER, J., MORAN, A., HONG, C.-P., JACOBS, D. R. & SINAIKO, A. R. 2001. Adiposity in childhood predicts obesity and insulin resistance in young adulthood. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 138, 469-473.
- STENDER, S., SCHUSTER, H., BARTER, P., WATKINS, C. & KALLEND, D. 2005. Comparison of rosuvastatin with atorvastatin, simvastatin and pravastatin in achieving cholesterol goals and improving plasma lipids in hypercholesterolaemic patients with or without the metabolic syndrome in the MERCURY I trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 7, 430-438.
- STEPTOE, A., WARDLE, J., CUI, W., BELLISLE, F., ZOTTI, A.-M., BARANYAI, R. & SANDERMAN, R. 2002. Trends in smoking, diet, physical exercise, and attitudes toward health in European university students from 13 countries, 1990-2000. Preventive medicine, 35, 97-104.
- STERN, M. P. & MITCHELL, B. D. 1999. Genetics of insulin resistance. *Insulin Resistance*. Springer.
- STEVENS, J., CAI, J., PAMUK, E. R., WILLIAMSON, D. F., THUN, M. J. & WOOD, J. L. 1998. The effect of age on the association between body-mass index and mortality. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 338, 1-7.
- STINS, M. F., MAXFIELD, F. R. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 1992. Polarized binding of lipoprotein lipase to endothelial cells. Implications for its physiological actions. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 12, 1437-1446.
- STONE, N. J. 2001. Approach to the Patient with Hyperlipidemia. *Cardiology for the primary care Physician*. Springer.
- STRANDBERG, T. E., PYÖRÄLÄ, K., COOK, T. J., WILHELMSEN, L., FAERGEMAN,
 O., THORGEIRSSON, G., PEDERSEN, T. R., KJEKSHUS, J. & 4S GROUP, N.-F.
 2004. Mortality and incidence of cancer during 10-year follow-up of the
 Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). *The Lancet*, 364, 771-777.
- STREPPEL, M. T., OCKÉ, M. C., BOSHUIZEN, H. C., KOK, F. J. & KROMHOUT, D. 2008. Dietary fiber intake in relation to coronary heart disease and all-cause mortality over 40 y: the Zutphen Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 88, 1119-1125.

- STUMVOLL, M., MITRAKOU, A., PIMENTA, W., JENSSEN, T., YKI-JÄRVINEN, H., VAN HAEFTEN, T., RENN, W. & GERICH, J. 2000. Use of the oral glucose tolerance test to assess insulin release and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes care*, 23, 295-301.
- SUMNER, A. E. & COWIE, C. C. 2008. Ethnic differences in the ability of triglyceride levels to identify insulin resistance. *Atherosclerosis*, 196, 696-703.
- SUPERKO, H. R. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1992. Differential effects of nicotinic acid in subjects with different LDL subclass patterns. *Atherosclerosis*, 95, 69-76.
- SWINBURN, B., BOYCE, V., BERGMAN, R., HOWARD, B. & BOGARDUS, C. 1991. Deterioration in carbohydrate metabolism and lipoprotein changes induced by modern, high fat diet in Pima Indians and Caucasians. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 73, 156-165.
- SYMONS, J. D., MCMILLIN, S. L., RIEHLE, C., TANNER, J., PALIONYTE, M., HILLAS, E., JONES, D., COOKSEY, R. C., BIRNBAUM, M. J. & MCCLAIN, D. A. 2009. Contribution of insulin and Akt1 signaling to endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the regulation of endothelial function and blood pressure. *Circulation research*, 104, 1085-1094.
- TAILAKH, A., EVANGELISTA, L. S., MENTES, J. C., PIKE, N. A., PHILLIPS, L. R. & MORISKY, D. E. 2014. Hypertension prevalence, awareness, and control in Arab countries: a systematic review. Nursing & health sciences, 16, 126-130.
- TAJEU, G. S., BOOTH, J. N., COLANTONIO, L. D., GOTTESMAN, R. F., HOWARD, G., LACKLAND, D. T., O'BRIEN, E. C., OPARIL, S., RAVENELL, J. & SAFFORD, M. M. 2017. Incident cardiovascular disease among adults with blood pressure< 140/90 mm Hg. *Circulation*, 136, 798-812.
- TAKEICHI, S., YUKAWA, N., NAKAJIMA, Y., OSAWA, M., SAITO, T., SETO, Y., NAKANO, T., SANIABADI, A. R., ADACHI, M. & WANG, T. 1999. Association of plasma triglyceride-rich lipoprotein remnants with coronary atherosclerosis in cases of sudden cardiac death. *Atherosclerosis*, 142, 309-315.
- TALAYERO, B. G. & SACKS, F. M. 2011. The role of triglycerides in atherosclerosis. *Current cardiology reports*, 13, 544.
- TANIGUCHI, A., FUKUSHIMA, M., SAKAI, M., MIWA, K., MAKITA, T., NAGATA, I., NAGASAKA, S., DOI, K., OKUMURA, T., FUKUDA, A., KISHIMOTO, H., FUKUDA, T., NAKAISHI, S., TOKUYAMA, K. & NAKAI, Y. 2000. Remnant-like particle cholesterol, triglycerides, and insulin resistance in nonobese Japanese type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*, 23, 1766-9.
- TANNE, D., YAARI, S. & GOLDBOURT, U. 1997. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and risk of ischemic stroke mortality. A 21-year follow-up of

8586 men from the Israeli Ischemic Heart Disease Study. *Stroke*, 28, 83-87.

- TAPIERO, H., BA, G. N., COUVREUR, P. & TEW, K. 2002. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) and eicosanoids in human health and pathologies. Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy, 56, 215-222.
- TASKINEN, M. R. 1987. Lipoprotein lipase in diabetes. *Diabetes/metabolism* reviews, 3, 551-570.
- TASKINEN, M. R. 2003. Diabetic dyslipidaemia: from basic research to clinical practice. *Diabetologia*, 46, 733-749.
- TCHERNOF, A. & DESPRÉS, J.-P. 2013. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. *Physiological reviews*, 93, 359-404.
- TEEBI, A. S. 2010. *Genetic disorders among Arab populations*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- TEO, K. K., OUNPUU, S., HAWKEN, S., PANDEY, M., VALENTIN, V., HUNT, D., DIAZ, R., RASHED, W., FREEMAN, R. & JIANG, L. 2006. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: a case-control study. *The lancet*, 368, 647-658.
- TETALI, S. D., BUDAMAGUNTA, M. S., SIMION, C., DEN HARTIGH, L. J., KÁLAI, T., HIDEG, K., HATTERS, D. M., WEISGRABER, K. H., VOSS, J. C. & RUTLEDGE, J. C. 2010. VLDL lipolysis products increase VLDL fluidity and convert apolipoprotein E4 into a more expanded conformation. *Journal of lipid research*, 51, 1273-1283.
- THE SCOTTISH HEALTH SURVEY. 2014. *Obesity* [Online]. Scottish Government Available: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/09/6648/318800</u> [Accessed 1].
- THOM, T., HAASE, N., ROSAMOND, W., HOWARD, V. J., RUMSFELD, J., MANOLIO, T., ZHENG, Z.-J., FLEGAL, K., O'DONNELL, C. & KITTNER, S. 2006. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2006 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation, 113, e85.
- THOMAS, A. J., EBERLY, L. E., DAVEY SMITH, G., NEATON, J. D. & STAMLER, J. 2005. Race/ethnicity, income, major risk factors, and cardiovascular disease mortality. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95, 1417-1423.
- THOMAS, D., ELLIOTT, E. J. & BAUR, L. 2007. Low glycaemic index or low glycaemic load diets for overweight and obesity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 3.

- THOMAS, J. E. 1957. Mechanics and regulation of gastric emptying. *Physiological reviews*, 37, 453-474.
- THRAINSDOTTIR, I. S., ASPELUND, T., THORGEIRSSON, G., GUDNASON, V., HARDARSON, T., MALMBERG, K., SIGURDSSON, G. & RYDÉN, L. 2005. The association between glucose abnormalities and heart failure in the population-based Reykjavik study. *Diabetes Care*, 28, 612-616.
- TIMBERLAKE, N., KLINGER, L., SMITH, P., VENN, G., TREASURE, T., HARRISON, M. & NEWMAN, S. 1997. Incidence and patterns of depression following coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Journal of psychosomatic research*, 43, 197-207.
- TING, H. J., STICE, J. P., SCHAFF, U. Y., HUI, D. Y., RUTLEDGE, J. C., KNOWLTON, A. A., PASSERINI, A. G. & SIMON, S. I. 2007. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins prime aortic endothelium for an enhanced inflammatory response to tumor necrosis factor-α. *Circulation research*, 100, 381-390.
- TINKER, L. F., PARKS, E. J., BEHR, S. R., SCHNEEMAN, B. O. & DAVIS, P. A. 1999. (n-3) fatty acid supplementation in moderately hypertriglyceridemic adults changes postprandial lipid and apolipoprotein B responses to a standardized test meal. *The Journal of nutrition*, 129, 1126-1134.
- TOLFREY, K., CAMPBELL, I. G. & JONES, A. M. 1999. Intra-individual variation of plasma lipids and lipoproteins in prepubescent children. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, 79, 449-456.
- TOMONO, S., KAWAZU, S., KATO, N., ONO, T., ISHII, C., ITO, Y., SHIMIZU, M., SHIMOYAMA, M., NAKANO, T. & NAKAJIMA, K. 1993. Uptake of remnant like particles (RLP) in diabetic patients from mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis*, 1, 98-102.
- TORNVALL, P., KARPE, F., CARLSON, L. A. & HAMSTEN, A. 1991. Relationships of low density lipoprotein subfractions to angiographically defined coronary artery disease in young survivors of myocardial infarction. *Atherosclerosis*, 90, 67-80.
- TOWNSEND, N., NICHOLS, M., SCARBOROUGH, P. & RAYNER, M. 2015. Cardiovascular disease in Europe—epidemiological update 2015. European heart journal, ehv428.
- TRIAL, D. M. 2006. Low-fat dietary pattern and risk of cardiovascular disease. *JAMA*, 295, 655-666.
- TRIBBLE, D. L., HOLL, L. G., WOOD, P. D. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1992. Variations in oxidative susceptibility among six low density lipoprotein subfractions of differing density and particle size. *Atherosclerosis*, 93, 189-199.

- TRIBBLE, D. L., VAN DEN BERG, J., MOTCHNIK, P. A., AMES, B. N., LEWIS, D. M., CHAIT, A. & KRAUSS, R. M. 1994. Oxidative susceptibility of low density lipoprotein subfractions is related to their ubiquinol-10 and alphatocopherol content. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91, 1183-1187.
- TRIPLITT, C., SOLIS-HERRERA, C., CERSOSIMO, E., ABDUL-GHANI, M. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 2015. Empagliflozin and linagliptin combination therapy for treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 16, 2819-2833.
- TSEKOURAS, Y. E., YIANNIS, T. E., YANNI, A. E., AMALIA, Y. E., BOUGATSAS, D., DIMITRIOS, B., KAVOURAS, S. A., STAVROS, K. A., SIDOSSIS, L. S. & LABROS, S. S. 2007. A single bout of brisk walking increases basal very low-density lipoprotein triacylglycerol clearance in young men. *Metabolism*, 56, 1037-1043.
- TSETSONIS, N. V. & HARDMAN, A. E. 1996. Reduction in postprandial lipemia after walking: influence of exercise intensity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 28, 1235-1242.
- TU, J. & XIA, Z.-G. 2008. Examining spatially varying relationships between land use and water quality using geographically weighted regression I: model design and evaluation. *Science of the total environment*, 407, 358-378.
- TUNSTALL-PEDOE, H., KUULASMAA, K., MÄHÖNEN, M., TOLONEN, H., RUOKOKOSKI, E. & AMOUYEL, P. 1999. Contribution of trends in survival and coronar y-event rates to changes in coronary heart disease mortality: 10-year results from 37 WHO MONICA Project populations. *The Lancet*, 353, 1547-1557.
- TURNER, N. C. & CLAPHAM, J. C. 1998. Insulin resistance, impaired glucose tolerance and non-insulin-dependent diabetes, pathologic mechanisms and treatment: current status and therapeutic possibilities. *Progress in Drug Research*. Springer.
- TWICKLER, T., DALLINGA-THIE, G., CHAPMAN, M. & COHN, J. 2005. Remnant lipoproteins and atherosclerosis. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 7, 140-147.
- TWICKLER, T., DALLINGA-THIE, G., COHN, J. & CHAPMAN, M. 2004. Elevated remnant-like particle cholesterol concentration a characteristic feature of the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. *Circulation*, 109, 1918-1925.
- TYROLER, H. A., HAMES, C. G., KRISHAN, I., HEYDEN, S., COOPER, G. & CASSEL, J. C. 1975. Black-white differences in serum lipids and lipoproteins in Evans County. *Preventive medicine*, *4*, 541-549.

- TYROLER, H. A., HEISS, G., SCHONFELD, G., COOPER, G., HEYDEN, S. & HAMES, C. G. 1980. Apolipoprotein AI, A-II and C-II in black and white residents of Evans County. *Circulation*, 62, 249-254.
- UESHIMA, H., IIDA, M., SHIMAMOTO, T., KONISHI, M., TANIGAKI, M., DOI, M., NAKANISHI, N., TAKAYAMA, Y., OZAWA, H. & KOMACHI, Y. 1982. Dietary intake and serum total cholesterol level: their relationship to different lifestyles in several Japanese populations. *Circulation*, 66, 519-526.
- UMPAICHITRA, V., BANERJI, M. A. & CASTELLS, S. 2004. Postprandial hyperlipidemia after a fat loading test in minority adolescents with type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 17, 853-864.
- VAGUE, J. 1956. The degree of masculine differentiation of obesities a factor determining predisposition to diabetes, atherosclerosis, gout, and uric calculous disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 4, 20-34.
- VALTORTA, N. K., KANAAN, M., GILBODY, S., RONZI, S. & HANRATTY, B. 2016. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. *Heart*, heartjnl-2015-308790.
- VAN BARLINGEN, H. H., KOCK, L. A., DE MAN, F. H., ERKELENS, D. W. & DE BRUIN, T. W. 1996. In vitro lipolysis of human VLDL: effect of different VLDL compositions in normolipidemia, familial combined hyperlipidemia and familial hypertriglyceridemia. *Atherosclerosis*, 121, 75-84.
- VAN MELLE, J. P., DE JONGE, P., SPIJKERMAN, T. A., TIJSSEN, J. G., ORMEL, J., VAN VELDHUISEN, D. J., VAN DEN BRINK, R. H. & VAN DEN BERG, M. P. 2004. Prognostic association of depression following myocardial infarction with mortality and cardiovascular events: a meta-analysis. *Psychosomatic medicine*, 66, 814-822.
- VAN OOSTROM, A. J., VAN DIJK, H., VERSEYDEN, C., SNIDERMAN, A. D., CIANFLONE, K., RABELINK, T. J. & CABEZAS, M. C. 2004. Addition of glucose to an oral fat load reduces postprandial free fatty acids and prevents the postprandial increase in complement component 3. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 79, 510-515.
- VAN TOL, A., VAN DER GAAG, M. S., SCHEEK, L. M., VAN GENT, T. & HENDRIKS, H. F. 1998. Changes in postprandial lipoproteins of low and high density caused by moderate alcohol consumption with dinner. *Atherosclerosis*, 141, S101-S103.
- VARBO, A., BENN, M., TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A., JØRGENSEN, A. B., FRIKKE-SCHMIDT, R. & NORDESTGAARD, B. G. 2013. Remnant cholesterol as a causal risk factor for ischemic heart disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 61, 427-436.

- VARBO, A., NORDESTGAARD, B. G., TYBJÆRG-HANSEN, A., SCHNOHR, P., JENSEN, G. B. & BENN, M. 2011. Nonfasting triglycerides, cholesterol, and ischemic stroke in the general population. *Annals of neurology*, 69, 628-634.
- VEGA, G. L., CLARK, L. T., TANG, A., MARCOVINA, S., GRUNDY, S. M. & COHEN, J. C. 1998. Hepatic lipase activity is lower in African American men than in white American men: effects of 5' flanking polymorphism in the hepatic lipase gene (LIPC). Journal of lipid research, 39, 228-232.
- VENEMA, H. U., GARRETSEN, H. & VAN DER MAAS, P. 1995. Health of migrants and migrant health policy, The Netherlands as an example. Social science & medicine, 41, 809-818.
- VENKAT NARAYAN, K., AVILES-SANTA, L., OZA-FRANK, R., PANDEY, M., CURB, J. D., MCNEELY, M., ARANETA, M. R. G., PALANIPPAN, L., RAJPATHAK, S. & BARRETT-CONNOR, E. 2010. Report of a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Workshop: Heterogeneity in Cardiometabolic Risk in Asian Americans in the US: Opportunities for Research. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 55, 966-973.
- VENN, B., WILLIAMS, S. & MANN, J. 2010. Comparison of postprandial glycaemia in Asians and Caucasians. *Diabetic Medicine*, 27, 1205-1208.
- VERGES, B. 2005. New insight into the pathophysiology of lipid abnormalities in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab*, 31, 429-439.
- VERSCHUREN, W. M., JACOBS, D. R., BLOEMBERG, B. P., KROMHOUT, D., MENOTTI, A., ARAVANIS, C., BLACKBURN, H., BUZINA, R., DONTAS, A. S. & FIDANZA, F. 1995. Serum total cholesterol and long-term coronary heart disease mortality in different cultures: Twenty-five—year follow-up of the seven countries study. Jama, 274, 131-136.
- VESSBY, B. 2003. Dietary fat, fatty acid composition in plasma and the metabolic syndrome. *Current opinion in lipidology*, 14, 15-19.
- VILARÓ, S., CAMPS,L., REINA,M., PEREZ-CLAUSELL,J., LLOBERA,M., AND OLIVECRONA,T. 1990. Localization of lipoprotein lipase to discrete areas of the guinea pig brain. *Brain Res.*, 506, 249-253.
- VISSCHER, T. L. & SEIDELL, J. C. 2001. The public health impact of obesity. Annual review of public health, 22, 355-375.
- VIST, G. E. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 1995. The effect of osmolality and carbohydrate content on the rate of gastric emptying of liquids in man. *The Journal of physiology*, 486, 523.

- VOGELBERG, K., GRIES, F. & MOSCHINSKI, D. 1980. Hepatic production of VLDLtriglycerides. Dependence of portal substrate and insulin concentration. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 12, 688-694.
- VON ECKARDSTEIN, A., NOFER, J.-R. & ASSMANN, G. 2001. High density lipoproteins and arteriosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 21, 13-27.
- VON SCHACKY, C. 2003. The role of omega-3 fatty acids in cardiovascular disease. *Current atherosclerosis reports*, 5, 139-145.
- VON SCHACKY, C. & HARRIS, W. S. 2007. Cardiovascular benefits of omega-3 fatty acids. *Cardiovascular research*, 73, 310-315.
- WALLACE, T. M., LEVY, J. C. & MATTHEWS, D. R. 2004. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. *Diabetes care*, 27, 1487-1495.
- WALLUM, B., KAHN, S., MCCULLOCH, D. & PORTE, D. 1992. Insulin secretion in the normal and diabetic human. In international textbook of diabetes mellitus, ed. Alberti, KGMM, RA DeFronzo, H. Keen, P. Zimmer, 285-301. Chichester, UK: John Wiley and Sons.[Links].
- WANG, H. & ECKEL, R. H. 2009. Lipoprotein lipase: from gene to obesity. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 297, E271-E288.
- WANG, M. & BRIGGS, M. R. 2004. HDL: the metabolism, function, and therapeutic importance. *Chem Rev*, 104, 119-137.
- WANG, Y., ZHANG, D., CHIU, A. P.-L., WAN, A., NEUMAIER, K., VLODAVSKY, I. & RODRIGUES, B. 2013. Endothelial heparanase regulates heart metabolism by stimulating lipoprotein lipase secretion from cardiomyocytes. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 33, 894-902.
- WATTS, G., NAOUMOVA, R., CUMMINGS, M., UMPLEBY, A., SLAVIN, B., SÖNKSEN, P. & THOMPSON, G. 1995. Direct correlation between cholesterol synthesis and hepatic secretion of apolipoprotein B-100 in normolipidemic subjects. *Metabolism*, 44, 1052-1057.
- WEICKERT, M., MOHLIG, M., KOEBNICK, C., HOLST, J. J., NAMSOLLECK, P., RISTOW, M., OSTERHOFF, M., ROCHLITZ, H., RUDOVICH, N. & SPRANGER, J. 2005. Impact of cereal fibre on glucose-regulating factors. *Diabetologia*, 48, 2343-2353.
- WEINTRAUB, M. S., GROSSKOPF, I., RASSIN, T., MILLER, H., CHARACH, G., ROTMENSCH, H. H., LIRON, M., RUBINSTEIN, A. & IAINA, A. 1996. Clearance of chylomicron remnants in normolipidaemic patients with coronary artery disease: case control study over three years. *Bmj*, 312, 935-939.

- WELLEN, K. E. & HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S. 2003. Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 112, 1785.
- WELLEN, K. E. & HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S. 2005. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 115, 1111.
- WEN, C. P., DAVID CHENG, T. Y., TSAI, S. P., CHAN, H. T., HSU, H. L., HSU, C. C. & ERIKSEN, M. P. 2009. Are Asians at greater mortality risks for being overweight than Caucasians? Redefining obesity for Asians. *Public health nutrition*, 12, 497-506.
- WESTPHAL, S., KÄSTNER, S., TANEVA, E., LEODOLTER, A., DIERKES, J. & LULEY, C. 2004. Postprandial lipid and carbohydrate responses after the ingestion of a casein-enriched mixed meal. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 80, 284-290.
- WESTPHAL, S., LEODOLTER, A., KAHL, S., DIERKES, J., MALFERTHEINER, P. & LULEY, C. 2002. Addition of glucose to a fatty meal delays chylomicrons and suppresses VLDL in healthy subjects. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 32, 322-327.
- WEYER, C., BOGARDUS, C., MOTT, D. M. & PRATLEY, R. E. 1999. The natural history of insulin secretory dysfunction and insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 104, 787-794.
- WEYER, C., TATARANNI, P. A., BOGARDUS, C. & PRATLEY, R. E. 2001. Insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction are independent predictors of worsening of glucose tolerance during each stage of type 2 diabetes development. *Diabetes care*, 24, 89-94.
- WHELAN, A., SUTHERLAND, W., MCCORMICK, M., YEOMAN, D., DE JONG, S. & WILLIAMS, M. 2004. Effects of white and red wine on endothelial function in subjects with coronary artery disease. *Internal medicine journal*, 34, 224-228.
- WHITING, D. R., GUARIGUATA, L., WEIL, C. & SHAW, J. 2011. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 94, 311-321.
- WHO 2006. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia: report of a WHO/IDF consultation. *World Hearth Org*.
- WHO 2012. Global database on body mass index: an interactive surveillance tool for monitoring nutrition transition. *World Health Organization: Geneva*.

WHO 2014a. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs).

WHO 2014b. Obesity and overweight

Khloud Jamíl Ghafourí ® 2017

Geneva: World Health Organization.

- WILD, S., FISCHBACHER, C., BROCK, A., GRIFFITHS, C. & BHOPAL, R. 2006. Mortality from all cancers and lung, colorectal, breast and prostate cancer by country of birth in England and Wales, 2001-2003. British Journal of Cancer, 94, 1079-1085.
- WILLIAMS, D. P., GOING, S. B., LOHMAN, T. G., HARSHA, D. W., SRINIVASAN, S. R., WEBBER, L. S. & BERENSON, G. S. 1992. Body fatness and risk for elevated blood pressure, total cholesterol, and serum lipoprotein ratios in children and adolescents. *American journal of public health*, 82, 358-363.
- WILLIAMS, D. R. 1997. Race and health: basic questions, emerging directions. Annals of epidemiology, 7, 322-333.
- WILLIAMS, P. T., KRAUSS, R. M., WOOD, P. D., LINDGREN, F. T., GIOTAS, C. & VRANIZAN, K. M. 1986. Lipoprotein subfractions of runners and sedentary men. *Metabolism*, 35, 45-52.
- WILSON, D. E., CHAN, F., BUCHI, K. N. & HORTON, S. C. 1985. Postchallenge plasma lipoprotein retinoids: chylomicron remnants in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. *Metabolism*, 34, 551-558.
- WILSON, M., KELLOCK, C., ADAMS, D. & LANDSBERG, J. 2015. The Scottish Health Survey Topic Report: Mental Health and Wellbeing; 2015, Scottish Government.
- WILSON, P. W., CUPPLES, L. A. & KANNEL, W. B. 1991. Is hyperglycemia associated with cardiovascular disease? The Framingham Study. *American heart journal*, 121, 586-590.
- WILSON, P. W., D'AGOSTINO, R. B., SULLIVAN, L., PARISE, H. & KANNEL, W. B. 2002. Overweight and obesity as determinants of cardiovascular risk: the Framingham experience. *Archives of internal medicine*, 162, 1867-1872.
- WINKLEBY, M. A., KRAEMER, H. C., AHN, D. K. & VARADY, A. N. 1998. Ethnic and socioeconomic differences in cardiovascular disease risk factors: findings for women from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Jama, 280, 356-362.
- WOLEVER, T. & BOLOGNESI, C. 1996a. Prediction of glucose and insulin responses of normal subjects after consuming mixed meals varying in energy, protein, fat, carbohydrate and glycemic index. *The Journal of nutrition*, 126, 2807-2812.
- WOLEVER, T. & BOLOGNESI, C. 1996b. Source and amount of carbohydrate affect postprandial glucose and insulin in normal subjects. *The Journal of nutrition*, 126, 2798-2806.

- WOLEVER, T., JENKINS, A., VUKSAN, V. & CAMPBELL, J. 2009. The glycaemic index values of foods containing fructose are affected by metabolic differences between subjects. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 63, 1106-1114.
- WOLEVER, T., JENKINS, D., OCANA, A., RAO, V. & COLLIER, G. 1988. Secondmeal effect: low-glycemic-index foods eaten at dinner improve subsequent breakfast glycemic response. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 48, 1041-1047.
- WOLEVER, T. M., HAMAD, S., CHIASSON, J.-L., JOSSE, R. G., LEITER, L. A., RODGER, N. W., ROSS, S. A. & RYAN, E. A. 1999. Day-to-day consistency in amount and source of carbohydrate intake associated with improved blood glucose control in type 1 diabetes. *Journal of the American College* of Nutrition, 18, 242-247.
- WOLEVER, T. M., JENKINS, D. J., JENKINS, A. L. & JOSSE, R. G. 1991. The glycemic index: methodology and clinical implications. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 54, 846-854.
- WOLEVER, T. M., KATZMAN-RELLE, L., JENKINS, A. L., VUKSAN, V., JOSSE, R. G. & JENKINS, D. J. 1994. Glycaemic index of 102 complex carbohydrate foods in patients with diabetes. *Nutrition Research*, 14, 651-669.
- WOLEVER, T. M. & MEHLING, C. 2003. Long-term effect of varying the source or amount of dietary carbohydrate on postprandial plasma glucose, insulin, triacylglycerol, and free fatty acid concentrations in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 77, 612-621.
- WOLEVER, T. M., VUKSAN, V., JENKINS, A., BUCKLEN, G. & WONG, G. 1992. Jenkins DJA, Vuksan V, Jenkins AL, Bucklen GC, Wong GS. Beneficial effect of a low glycemic index diet in type II diabetes. *Diabet Med*, 9, 451-8.
- WOLF, P. A., D'AGOSTINO, R. B., O'NEAL, M. A., SYTKOWSKI, P., KASE, C. S., BELANGER, A. J. & KANNEL, W. B. 1992. Secular trends in stroke incidence and mortality. The Framingham Study. *Stroke*, 23, 1551-1555.
- WOLFE, M. L., LONG, C. J., SIVAPACKIANATHAN, R. & RADER, D. J. 2002. Identification of genetic variants in endothelial lipase in persons with elevated high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. *Circulation*, 106, 1321-1326.
- WOOD, P. A. 2006. How fat works, Harvard University Press.
- WOOD, T. R., HANSEN, R., SIGURÐSSON, A. F. & JÓHANNSSON, G. F. 2016. The cardiovascular risk reduction benefits of a low-carbohydrate diet outweigh the potential increase in LDL-cholesterol. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 115, 1126-1128.

- YAKTINE, A. L. & NESHEIM, M. C. 2007. Seafood choices: balancing benefits and risks, National Academies Press.
- YANG, X. & SMITH, U. 2007. Adipose tissue distribution and risk of metabolic disease: does thiazolidinedione-induced adipose tissue redistribution provide a clue to the answer? *Diabetologia*, 50, 1127-1139.
- YKI-JÄRVINEN, H. & KOIVISTO, V. A. 1983. Effects of body composition on insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes*, 32, 965-969.
- YOSHIDA, H., ISHIKAWA, T., SUTO, M., KUROSAWA, H., HIROWATARI, Y., ITO, K., YANAI, H., TADA, N. & SUZUKI, M. 2010. Effects of supervised aerobic exercise training on serum adiponectin and parameters of lipid and glucose metabolism in subjects with moderate dyslipidemia. *Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis*, 17, 1160-1166.
- YOUNG, S. G. & FIELDING, C. J. 1999. The ABCs of cholesterol efflux. *Nature* genetics, 22, 316-318.
- YUSUF, S., HAWKEN, S., ÔUNPUU, S., DANS, T., AVEZUM, A., LANAS, F., MCQUEEN, M., BUDAJ, A., PAIS, P. & VARIGOS, J. 2004a. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *The lancet*, 364, 937-952.
- YUSUF, S., HAWKEN, S., ÔUNPUU, S., DANS, T., AVEZUM, A., LANAS, F., MCQUEEN, M., BUDAJ, A., PAIS, P. & VARIGOS, J. 2004b. INTERHEART Study Investigators Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): casecontrol study. *Lancet*, 364, 937-952.
- ZAKHARI, S. 1997. Alcohol and the cardiovascular system: molecular mechanisms for beneficial and harmful action. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 21, 21.
- ZALOGA, G. P., HARVEY, K. A., STILLWELL, W. & SIDDIQUI, R. 2006. Trans fatty acids and coronary heart disease. *Nutrition in clinical practice*, 21, 505-512.
- ZAMBON, A., SCHMIDT, I., BEISIEGEL, U. & BRUNZELL, J. D. 1996. Dimeric lipoprotein lipase is bound to triglyceride-rich plasma lipoproteins. *J Lipid Res*, 37, 2394-2404.
- ZEBEKAKIS, P. E., NAWROT, T., THIJS, L., BALKESTEIN, E. J., VAN DER HEIJDEN-SPEK, J., VAN BORTEL, L. M., STRUIJKER-BOUDIER, H. A., SAFAR, M. E. & STAESSEN, J. A. 2005. Obesity is associated with increased arterial stiffness from adolescence until old age. *Journal of hypertension*, 23, 1839-1846.

- ZHANG, J. Q., JI, L. L., FOGT, D. L. & FRETWELL, V. S. 2007. Effect of exercise duration on postprandial hypertriglyceridemia in men with metabolic syndrome. *J Appl Physiol*, 103, 1339-1345.
- ZHANG, Q.-J., HOLLAND, W. L., WILSON, L., TANNER, J. M., KEARNS, D., CAHOON, J. M., PETTEY, D., LOSEE, J., DUNCAN, B. & GALE, D. 2012. Ceramide mediates vascular dysfunction in diet-induced obesity by PP2Amediated dephosphorylation of the eNOS-Akt complex. *Diabetes*, 61, 1848-1859.
- ZHAO, G.-J., YIN, K., FU, Y.-C. & TANG, C.-K. 2012. The interaction of ApoA-I and ABCA1 triggers signal transduction pathways to mediate efflux of cellular lipids. *Molecular Medicine*, 18, 149.
- ZHENG, C., KHOO, C., FURTADO, J., IKEWAKI, K. & SACKS, F. M. 2008. Dietary monounsaturated fat activates metabolic pathways for triglyceride-rich lipoproteins that involve apolipoproteins E and C-III. *The American journal* of clinical nutrition, 88, 272-281.
- ZHENG, C., KHOO, C., FURTADO, J. & SACKS, F. M. 2010. Apolipoprotein C-III and the metabolic basis for hypertriglyceridemia and the dense low-density lipoprotein phenotype. *Circulation*, 121, 1722-1734.
- ZHONG, S., SHARP, D. S., GROVE, J. S., BRUCE, C., YANO, K., CURB, J. D. & TALL, A. R. 1996. Increased coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men with mutation in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene despite increased HDL levels. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97, 2917.
- ZIEMER, D. C., KOLM, P., WEINTRAUB, W. S., VACCARINO, V., RHEE, M. K., TWOMBLY, J. G., NARAYAN, K. V., KOCH, D. D. & PHILLIPS, L. S. 2010. Glucose-independent, black-white differences in hemoglobin A1c levels: a cross-sectional analysis of 2 studies. *Annals of internal medicine*, 152, 770-777.
- ZILVERSMIT, D. B. 1979. Atherogenesis: a postprandial phenomenon. *Circulation*, 60, 473-485.
- ZIMMET, P., ALBERTI, K. G. & SHAW, J. 2001. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. *Nature*, 414, 782-787.
- ZINDAH, M., BELBEISI, A., WALKE, H. & MOKDAD, A. H. 2008. Obesity and diabetes in Jordan: findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 2004. *Prev Chronic Dis*, 5, A17.
- ZIOGAS, G. G., THOMAS, T. & HARRIS, W. S. 1997. Exercise training, postprandial hypertriglyceridemia, and LDL subfraction distribution. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 29, 986-991.

 ZUBAID, M., RASHED, W. A., ALSHEIKH-ALI, A. A., ALMAHMEED, W., SHEHAB, A., SULAIMAN, K., AL-ZAKWANI, I., ALQUDAIMI, A., ASAAD, N. & AMIN, H.
 2011. Gulf Survey of Atrial Fibrillation Events (Gulf SAFE) Design and Baseline Characteristics of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation in the Arab Middle East. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes, 4, 477-482.

9 Appendices

Appendix A; Heath Screen Questionnaire -Chapter 4, 5 & 6

University | College of Medical, of Glasgow | Veterinary & Life Sciences HEALTH SCREEN FOR STUDY VOLUNTEERS

Name:

It is important that volunteers participating in research studies are currently in good health and have had no significant medical problems in the past. This is to ensure (i) their own continuing well-being and (ii) to avoid the possibility of individual health issues confounding study outcomes.

Please complete this brief questionnaire to confirm fitness to participate:

1. At present, do you have any health problem for which you are:

(\mathbf{n})	on modication proscribed or otherwise		1	no [1
(a)	on medication, prescribed of otherwise	yes [1		1
(b)	attending your general practitioner	yes []	no []
(c)	on a hospital waiting list	yes []	no []
2.	In the past two years, have you had any illn	ess which r	eqı	uired you t	:
(a)	consult your GP	yes []	no []
(b)	attend a hospital outpatient department	yes []	no []
(c)	be admitted to hospital	yes []	no []
3.	Have you ever had any of the following:				
(a)	Convulsions/epilepsy	yes []	no []
(b)	Asthma	yes []	no []
(c)	Diabetes	yes []	no []
(d)	A blood disorder	yes []	no []
(e)	Digestive problems	yes []	no []
(f)	Disturbance of balance/co-ordination	yes []	no []
(g)	Numbness in hands or feet	yes []	no []
(h)	Disturbance of vision	yes []	no []
(i)	Thyroid problems	yes []	no []
(j)	Kidney or liver problems	yes []	no []

(k) Chest pain or heart problems(l) Any other health problems	yes yes	[] []	no [no []]		
4. Have any of your family (parents, grar	ndparents, bro	thers, s	isters, o	children,		
aunts, uncles, cousins) ever had any of the following: (if yes please give details						
including age of first diagnosis)						
(a) Any heart problems	yes []	no []			
(b) Diabetes	yes []	no []			
(c) Stroke	yes []	no []			
(d) Any other family illnesses	yes []	no []			
5. Do vou currently smoke	ves []	no [1			
Have you ever smoked	yes []	no [j			
If so, for how long did you smoke and when did you stop?						

- 6. How many units of alcohol do you typically drink in a week?
- 7. <u>Have you taken part in a research study in the last 3 months?</u> yes [] <u>no []</u>

If YES to any question, please describe briefly if you wish (e.g. to confirm whether problem was short-lived, insignificant or well controlled.) (Use a separate sheet if necessary)

.....

Blood pressure measured at screening......mm Hg Blood Glucose measured at screening......mmol.l⁻¹

Appendix B1; Subjects Information Sheet and consent Form -Chapter 4



VOLUNTEER INFORMATION SHEET

Title: A Pilot Study to Determine the Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoprotein for lipoprotein Lipase

Lay title: Effect of Exercise on Fats in the Blood

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study?

Heart disease is the leading cause of death in Scotland. A high level of fat in the blood is an important risk factor. We know exercise reduces the level of fat in the blood, but we don't know fully understand how it does this. Recent research from our lab suggested that mild exercise changes the nature of fat particles in the blood stream so that they are more easily cleared away. This study will help to increase understanding of how this happens. This is important as exercise could be used as a treatment option, rather than drugs, to prevent and treat disturbances in blood fat metabolism.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you are a healthy man aged between 18-60 years, and you are heavier than the ideal weight for your height.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide, you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. If you do this you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you receive.

What will happen to me if I take part?

In the first instance you will be asked to attend for a screening visit in which we will:

• discuss with you and complete confidential questionnaires regarding your health, family history and physical activity level

- measure your blood pressure
- take your height, weight and waist measurements
- take a small blood samples to check the fat and sugar levels in your blood.
- provide an opportunity for you to ask questions

These preliminary procedures will enable us to determine whether you fall into the group of people we wish to study and will also ensure that it is perfectly safe for you to take part.

Experimental procedures

A. Preliminary Exercise Test

At the beginning of the study, an exercise test will be undertaken. This will involve walking on a motorised treadmill. If you are not used to walking on a treadmill, we will familiarise you with this before any 'real' sessions are performed. The test is designed to estimate your body's ability to use oxygen and enables us to find the correct speed and gradient for you to walk at during your treadmill walks. This will not require a maximal effort and the test will last for about 20 minutes. Heart rate will be monitored and recorded throughout using a heart rate monitor and expired air will be collected at intervals using a mouthpiece and respiratory valve. For safety reasons, the test will be stopped if your heart rate exceeds 85% of your predicted maximum.

B. Body Composition

The amount and distribution of your body fat will be determined by measuring body girths and by using callipers to measure skin fold thickness at four different sites (a sophisticated version of "pinch an inch"). Your height, weight and waist and hip circumferences will also be recorded. You will need to wear only underclothing for these measurements which will be made in private by an experienced researcher. These measurements only take a few minutes and can be made on the same day as other tests.

C. Main Trials

We will ask you to undertake two trials in random order. The first trial is a control with no exercise and the other is by performing a single exercise session. On the day prior the test, a controlled exercise session of 90-minute walk will be undertaken (Exercise test). Other than this, conditions (such as alcohol consumption, food eaten, etc) in the days leading up to each trial will be EXACTLY the same. On day 2 you will report to the lab after ~12 h fasting, a cannula will be inserted into an antecubital or forearm vein. No more than 120 ml (approximately 8 tablespoons) of blood will be taken in total during the course of this trial (less than quarter the volume of blood given in a blood donation) and a fatty meal will be provided as an oral fat tolerance test (OFTT). (Please refer to what do I have to do section).

Control Trial (con): on day one you will be asked to stay at home without doing any exercise. On day 2 you will come to the Clinical Investigation Suite (or whatever it's called) after approximately 12hours fasting overnight. After giving a blood sample we will provide you with a creamy milkshake and buttered croissant, we will have 4 more blood samples at 30 min, 0hr, 2hr and 4hr. You will

remain fasting but we will provide you with plenty of water or low you are free to sit, read, relax, or watch TV during the entire observation. Exercise trial:

This trial will be identical to the control trial except on the Day 1 you will visit the exercise laboratory in the evening and complete a treadmill walk at brisk force representing half of your maximum capacity.

What do I have to do?

We also ask you to maintain your usual lifestyle (i.e. don't change your diet or exercise habits) for the duration of this study. However, before each trial, we ask you to do the following:

1. For 3 days before each trial, refrain from planned or strenuous exercise, other than for personal transportation and the 90-minute treadmill walk in our laboratory.

2. Weigh and record everything you eat and drink for 2 days before each test. We will provide you with weighing scales and diet sheets to do this.

3. Refrain from alcohol consumption on the day before each test.

4. For the 2 days leading up to the second test, we will ask you to eat the same diet as you did on the two days leading up to the first test. <u>Therefore, we would advise you to eat meals that you will be able to easily repeat during the days preceding both tests</u>.

5. FASTING

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

• Exercise testing will not be at a maximal level but the possibility exists that, very occasionally, certain changes may occur during or shortly after the tests. They include abnormal blood pressure, fainting or a change in the normal rhythm of the heartbeat. Reassure them that they will be looked after

• Blood sampling via the cannula may cause minor bruising or an inflammation of the vein. Good practice, however, minimises this risk. Some people may feel faint when they give blood.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

There may be no immediate benefits to you personally, but as a result of being involved in this study you will receive health and fitness information about yourself including fitness tests, dietary assessment, body fat measurement and your cholesterol and blood sugar levels. This study will help us to determine how exercise can improve risk factors for heart disease and diabetes. The findings will be published in scientific journals so that understanding of the way in which exercise decreases the risk of heart disease and diabetes can be increased. This information may help make up better exercise guidelines, particularly for people who are overweight or obese.

We will provide you with feedback about the main study findings and also about your own results and would be delighted to explain results and discuss the implications with you.

What if something goes wrong?

The chances of something going wrong are extremely small. We have recently conducted a similar project and there were no problems. All of the procedures involved in this study are low risk and our screening tests are designed to ensure that you will only participate if it is safe for you to do so. In the unlikely event that you are harmed due to someone's negligence, then you may have grounds for a legal action but you may have to pay for it. Ressurance again re experienced researchers

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information which is collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential. Any information about you which leaves the University or hospital will have your name and address removed so that you cannot be recognised from it. In addition, your records, samples and results will be identified by a number and not your name. where will it be stored?

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results from this study will be presented at scientific meetings and published in scientific journals. A copy of the published results will be sent to you upon request. You will be informed which part of the study you were in, as this information will be confidential and no one else will know your name and which part you participated in. thesis?

What will happen to my samples after the study has finished?

The blood samples that you provide for this study may be useful for future research into the prevention and treatment of diabetes and heart disease; this may involve investigating new biochemical markers that are not yet identified. Samples will be analysed anonymously and will require a new ethics application before they would be used for future research. If you do not wish your samples to be used for future research, please indicate this on the consent form.

Who has reviewed the study?

College of Medial veterinary and Life Science (MVLS), ethics committee.

Contact for Further Information

Any questions about the procedures used in this study are encouraged. If you have any doubts or questions, please ask for further explanations by contacting either:

Khloud Ghafouri

E-mail: k.ghafouri.1@research.gla.ac.uk

Tel: 07868351398

Dr Jason Gill

Tel: 0141 3302916

E-mail:Jason.Gill@glasgow.ac.uk

You will be given a copy of this information sheet and a signed consent form to keep for your records.



Volunteer Identification Number for this trial:

CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: A Pilot Study to Determine the Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoprotein for lipoprotein Lipase

Lay title: Effect of Exercise on Fats in the Blood

Name of Researcher: _____

Please initial box

1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet datedfor the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.

3. I agree to take part in the above study.

4. I agree for my samples to be used for future research into the prevention and treatment of diabetes and heart disease. This may involve analysis of new biochemical markers not yet identified. Yes

		No	
Name of Subject	Date	Signature	
Name of Person taking consent (if different from researcher)	Date	Signature	
Researcher	Date	Signature	

Copy for subject Copy for researcher

Appendix B2; Subjects Information Sheet and consent Form -Chapter 4



VOLUNTEER INFORMATION SHEET

Title: A pilot study to determine metabolomic responses to fat and carbohydrate ingestion Lay title: Metabolic responses to consuming fat and sugar

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study?

Heart disease and diabetes are leading causes of death and ill health in Scotland. High levels of fat and sugar in the blood, particularly after we eat food, are important risk factors for these conditions. Many different factors in the blood change when we eat, but until recently it was difficult to measure all of them. With new technology it has become possible to measure dozens of different factors in the blood related to fat and sugar metabolism in a single blood sample. Measuring how all of these factors change after eating different types of meals help our understanding of how fat and sugar consumption can influence risk for heart disease and diabetes.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you are a healthy adult aged between 18-60 years.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to participate, you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. If you do this you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you receive.

What will happen to me if I take part?

In the first instance you will be asked to attend for a screening visit in which we will:

- discuss with you and complete confidential questionnaires regarding your health, family history and physical activity level
- measure your blood pressure
- take your height, weight and waist measurements
- take a small blood samples to check the sugar level in your blood.

• provide an opportunity for you to ask questions

These preliminary procedures will enable us to determine whether you fall into the group of people we wish to study and will also ensure that it is perfectly safe for you to take part.

Experimental procedures

We will ask you to undertake three experimental trials in random order, separated by an interval of 1-3 weeks, as described below.

Glucose test: We will ask you to come to the University after an overnight fast (i.e. having eaten nothing for 12 hours) and spend about 9 hours with us in our metabolic investigation suite. We will give you a sugary drink containing 75 g (15 teaspoons) of glucose and will take small blood samples before the meal and at intervals for 8 hours afterwards to determine how your body is handling the food. Taking blood will be no more painful than a simple blood test as samples will be obtained from a tiny plastic tube called a 'cannula' placed in a forearm vein. A total of 140 ml (about 9 tablespoons, or less than a third of the amount taken when you donate a "pint" of blood) will be taken over the course of the day. During your time with us, you will be able to rest comfortably in our metabolic investigation suite, watching TV or videos, reading or working. At the end of the experiment we will give you a meal to eat before you go home. On the morning of the next day we will ask you to come back to the lab after an overnight fast for one further blood sample.

Fat test: This will be identical to the glucose trial except we will give you a creamy milkshake to drink that contains 75 g of fat.

Combined fat and glucose test: This trial will be identical to the previous trials except we will give you both drinks together.

What do I have to do?

Other than the specific tasks described above, we ask you to maintain your usual lifestyle (i.e. don't change your diet or exercise habits) for the duration of this study. We will ask you to weigh and record everything you eat and drink for two days before your first main trial, and not to drink alcohol or exercise on these days, and to repeat this diet before your second and third main trials. We will provide you with weighing scales and diet sheets to do this.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

• Blood sampling via the cannula may cause minor bruising or an inflammation of the vein. Good practice, however, minimises this risk. Some people may feel faint when they give blood.

• There is a small possibility that taking part in this study will reveal a health problem that you already have such as high cholesterol or high blood pressure. If such a problem is revealed, we will ask your permission to inform your GP to ensure that you receive appropriate treatment.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

There may be no immediate benefits to you personally, but as a result of being involved in this study you will receive health information about yourself including dietary assessment and your cholesterol and blood sugar levels. This study will help us to determine how fat and sugar intake influences risk factors for heart disease. The findings will be published in scientific journals so that understanding of the way in which diet influences the risk of heart disease and diabetes can be increased.

We will provide you with feedback about the main study findings and also about your own results and would be delighted to explain results and discuss the implications with you.

What if something goes wrong?

The chances of something going wrong are extremely small. We have conducted several similar projects over the past 10-15 years, with many hundreds of participants, and have never had any problems. All of the procedures involved in this study are low risk and our screening tests are designed to ensure that you will only participate if it is safe for you to do so. In the unlikely event that you are harmed due to someone's negligence, then you may have grounds for a legal action but you may have to pay for it.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information which is collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential. Any information about you which leaves the University or hospital will have your name and address removed so that you cannot be recognised from it. In addition, your records, samples and results will be identified by a number and not your name.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results from this study will be presented at scientific meetings and published in scientific journals. The results will also form part of Miss Khloud Ghafouri's PhD thesis. A copy of the published results will be sent to you upon request. You will not be identifiable in any of the data presented or published from this study.

What will happen to my samples after the study has finished?

The blood samples that you provide for this study may be useful for future research into the prevention and treatment of diabetes and heart disease; this may involve investigating new biochemical markers that are not yet identified. Samples will be analysed anonymously and will require a new ethics application before they would be used for future research. If you do not wish your samples to be used for future research, please indicate this on the consent form.

Who has reviewed the study?

This study has been reviewed and approved by the College of Medial Veterinary and Life Sciences Ethics Committee at the University of Glasgow.

Contact for Further Information

Any questions about the procedures used in this study are encouraged. If you have any doubts or questions, please ask for further explanations by contacting either:

Khloud GhafouriE-mail: k.ghafouri.1@research.gla.ac.ukTel: 0141 2329494 (office) or 07868351398 (mobile)

Dr Jason Gill

Tel: 0141 3302916

E-mail: jason.gill@glasgow.ac.uk

You will be given a copy of this information sheet and a signed consent form to keep for your records.



Volunteer Identification Number for this trial: _____

CONSENT FORM

Title: A pilot study to determine metabolomic responses to fat and carbohydrate ingestion

Lay title: Metabolic responses to consuming fat and sugar

Name of Researcher: _____

Please initial box

1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet dated

for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

5. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.

6. I agree to take part in the above study.

7. I agree for my samples to be used for future research into the prevention and treatment of diabetes and heart disease. This may involve analysis of new biochemical markers not yet identified.

Yes

No

Name of Subject	Date	Signature
Name of Person taking consent (if different from researcher)	Date	Signature
Researcher	Date	Signature
Co	py for subject	

Copy for subject Copy for researcher

Appendix C; Blood and lipoprotein subfraction analysis

Spectrophotometric Assays

Plasma analyses were carried out using commercially available kits. Plasma glucose (Randox Laboratories Ltd, UK) and total and HDL cholesterol (Roche Diagnostics, UK,) were analysed in the fasted state. LDL cholesterol was calculated in the fasted state using the Friedewald equation (Friedewald et al., 1972). TG (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK), NEFA (Wako Chemicals, GmbH, UK, LTD).

Samples were analysed in duplicate on an automated spectrophotometric IL600 Analyser (Instrumentation Laboratories, USA). The IL600 is an automated, random access clinical chemistry analyser which uses analytical technique photometry for the in vitro quantitation of analyses found in physiological fluids, such as serum, plasma, urine or cerebrospinal fluid.

All the samples were analysed in McGregor Building, University of Glasgow by Mrs. Josephine Cooney.

Method and materials

The following materials and equipment were used in all testes.

Equipment

- IL600 Analyser (Instrumentation Laboratories, USA).
- 2 ml Free standing Apex tubes (Alpha Laboratories).
- Hitachi sample cups (Sarstedt Ltd).

Samples

• 500 μ l Plasma and serum samples were stored at 4 °C fridge and/or frozen at -80 °C.

Quality Control

• Each test QC were prepared and stored as 350 μl aliquots in Apex tubes at -80°C.

Procedure

The following steps were applied in each test:

1. QC and standers for each test were prepared according to the insert inside each kit and stored as recommended.

2. Reagents were prepared freshly before each test.

3. QC, stander and samples were defrosted (or removed from the fridge) for 45 minutes, then mixed genteelly.

4. The IL600 analyser was calibrated before each test was started.

5. Samples and reagent were loaded into the sample tray as per worksheet. A minimum sample volume of 200 μ l is required and the test was started by sending an order via computer system.

6. The samples and QC were incubated in for 5 minutes at 37 °C and the absorbance were read at the required wave length.

7. The values of the samples and QC were determined by the analyser using a regression equation from analysis if the standers.

8. QC values were checked against acceptable ranges in the kit inserts in the stock book or by using the QC package on Modulab. If QCs were out of acceptable range, the IL600 was recalibrated and the samples were retested, if the QC was still out, a norther sample aliquot was used and the reagents were checked for contamination.

Determination of plasma glucose concentration

Plasma glucose concentrations were determined in by enzymatic method using commercially available kits (Glucose hexokinase, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The enzymatic hexokinase (HK) catalyses the reaction between glucose and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to form glucose-6phosphate and adenosine diphosphate (ADP). In the presence of NAD, the enzyme glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), oxidizes glucose-6-phosphate to 6-phosphogluconate. The increase in NADH concentration is directly proportional to the glucose concentration and can be measured photometrically using the IL600 analyser at 340 nm. The equation is shown below:

Glucose + ATP _____HKglucose-6-phosphate + ADP

Glucose-6-phosphate+ NADP⁺ G-6-PDHgluconate-6-phosphate + NADPH + H⁺ The CV for the assay was 2.0%.

Reagents

- Glucose Kit. (Randox Laboratories, Northern Ireland).
- R1- Buffer/Coenzymes (contents ready for use).

• R2 -made by mixing Reagent 2 diluent to one bottle of R2 enzymes rinsing the contents several times with the diluent.

Standards

• Randox Calibration Serum Level 2 was reconstituted in 3 ml of distilled water at room temperature with gentle mixing.

Quality Control

Human Assay Control (HC2 and HC3 Catalogue No. HS2611, Randox, Crumlin, UK), were prepared by mixing each control into 5 ml of distilled or deionised water.
Determination of plasma and lipoprotein triglyceride

Plasma and lipoprotein TG concentrations were determined by an enzymatic method using commercially available kits (GPO-PAP, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The method based on lipase hydrolysis of TG to glycerol followed by oxidation to dihydroxyacetone phosphate and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide produced then reacts with 4-aminophenazone and 4-chlorophenol under the catalytic action of peroxidase to form a red dyestuff which was measured spectrophotometrically using the IL600 analyser at 550 nm. The equation is shown below:

Glycerol + ATP $GK_{glyc}erol-3$ -phosphate + ADP glycerol-3-phosphate + O₂ GBHAP+ H₂O₂ H₂O₂ + 4 aminophenazone + p-chlorophenol GUHOPeime + 4 H₂O + HCl (GK: Glycerol kinase; GPO: Glycerol phosphate oxidase; POD: Peroxidase; DHAP: dihydroxyacetote phosphate). The CV for the assay was 3.8%.

Reagents

- Triglyceride Reagent (Randox laboratories Reagent Kit Cat No TR210ridge) was made by dissolving R1b on 15 ml of R1a.
- Sodium Chloride (NaCl)Cat No: S9888 Sigma.

Standards

- 0.9% NaCl (used as Saline Blank).
- Ready to use calibrator

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD3)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

Determination of plasma glycerol

Determinations for Glycerol were performed using commercially kits (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

A direct spectrophotometric procedure for the measurement of glycerol utilising a quinoneimine chromogen system in the presence of glycerol kinase, peroxide and glycerol phosphate oxidase. The equation is shown below:

Glycerol + ATPGK
Glycerol-3-phosphate + ADPGlycerol-3-phosphate + O2GPO
PeroxidaseH2O2 + DCHSB + 4 aminophenazonePeroxidase
Peroxidase

(GK: Glycerol kinase; GPO: Glycerol phosphate oxidase; DCHBS: 3.5-dichloro-2hydroxybenzene sµlphonic acid; ACSB: n-(4-antipyryl_-3-chloro-5-sµlponate-pbenzoquinoneimine). The CV for the assay was 1.9%.

Reagents

Randox glycerol Colorimetric Assay (cat no GY105, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK).

Reagent 1-Buffer as supplied

Reagent 2-4-aminophenazone color reagent lyophylised.

Glycerol reagent prepared by adding 15 ml of reagent 1 to one bottle of reagent

2, then mixed gently and use for analysis.

Standards

100 μ mol.l⁻¹ standard supplied ready to use.

Quality Control

Randox glycerol (Control cat no GY1369, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK).

Determination of plasma hydroxybutrate Analysis

Determinations for hydroxybutrate were performed using commercially available (Wako Chemicals, GmbH, UK, LTD). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The principle of this test is based upon the enzymatic conversion of B-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase to acetoacetate by the action of D-3-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase, and concomitantly the co-factor nicotineamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) is converted to its reduced form B-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH). In the presence of diaphorase, NADH reacts with the colorimetric detector WST-1 to produce a formazan dye with a maximum absorbance at 505 nm. The equation is shown below:



Reagents

R1 containing β-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase and diaphorase enzymes. R2 containing NAD, INT and oxalate.

Reagent prepared by mixing 10 ml of reagent 1 with 1.5 ml of reagent 2.

Standards

Standard containing 1mM sodium D-3-hydroxybutyrate was provided in the kit.

Quality Control

Randox glycerol (Control cat no GY1369, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK).

Determination of plasma NEFA Analysis

Determinations for NEFA were performed using commercially available (Wako Chemicals, GmbH, UK, LTD). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

This method relies upon the acylation of coenzyme A (CoA) by the fatty acids in the presence of added acyl-CoA synthetase (ACS). The acyl-CoA thus produced is by added acyl-CoA oxidase (ACOD)with generation of hydrogen peroxide. Hydrogen peroxide, in the presence of peroxidase(POD) permits the oxidative condensation of 3-methyl-N-ethyl-N (B-hydroxyethyl)-aniline (MEHA) with 4-aminoantipyrine to form a purple colour adduct which can be measured spectrophotometrically at 550 nm. The equation is shown below:

Reagents

Two colour reagents (R1A and R2A) were supplied in powder form with the kit. For analysis performed, the reagent R1A was reconstituted in 50 solvent R1. Colour reagent R2A, reconstitute with 20ml of solvent. Standard Solution is(1.0 mEq.L^{-1})

Standards

Standard supplied with kit.

Quality Control

Human Assay Control (HC2 andd HC3 Catalogue No. HS2611, Randox, Crumlin, UK), were reconstituted by mixing each control into 5 ml of distilled or deionised water.

Determination of plasma and lipoprotein total cholesterol

Total plasma cholesterol was determined using commercially available kits (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The principle based on the generation of hydrogen peroxide from the substrate by the action of cholesterol esterase, after the hydrolysis of EC, which is coupled through peroxidase to produce a chromogen, detected by its absorbance at 500 nm. The equation is shown below:

Cholesterol esters + H₂O Cholesterol esterase Cholesterol + C₂ Cholesterol oxidase Cholesterol -3-one + H₂O₂ Peroxidase Quinoneime + 4 H₂O The CV for the assay was 2.9%.

Reagents

- Cholesterol Reagent (Reagent Kit Cat No CH200, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK), used as supplied.
- Sodium Chloride (NaCl)Cat No: S9888 Sigma

Standards

- 0.9% NaCl (used as Standard Blank).
- Calibrator (CFAS, Cat. No.10759350, Roche).
- The calibrator was reconstituted in 3 ml of distilled water at room temperature with gentle mixing.

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD3)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

Determination of plasma and lipoprotein free cholesterol

Plasma and lipoprotein free cholesterol concentrations were determined by an enzymatic method using commercially available kits (Diagnostic Systems GmbH, Germany). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

Free cholesterol in the serum is oxidised by cholesterol oxidase to cholestenone and produces simultaneously hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide formed causes phenol and 4-aminoantipyrine to undergo quantitatively an oxidative condensation in the presence of peroxidase, to produce a red colour. The amount of free cholesterol in the test sample is determined by measurement of the absorbance of the red colour at 510 nm. The equation is shown below:

Cholesterol esters +
$$O_2$$
 cholesterol-3-one + H_2O

2 H₂O₂ + phenol + 4-aminophenazone $\underline{Peroxidase}$ During the H₂O The CV for the assay was 2.2%.

Reagents

- Wako Free Cholesterol C (code No. 274-47106, wako chemicals, GmbH, UK, LTD).
- Buffer solution, use as supplied
- Colour reagent, reconstituted in 75 ml of buffer solution.

Standards

- Standard Solution (supplied with kit)
- Diluent for standard solution.

Quality Control

Two controls were used. Normal control serum 1 and abnormal control serum 2 (Catalogue No. 410-00101 and No 416-00201, wako chemicals, GmbH, UK, LTD). Both controls had been reconstituted Wako 1 and Wako 2 in 5 ml distilled or deionised water.

Calculation of esterified cholesterol

CE concentration was calculated by multiplying the difference in mass (mg.dl⁻¹) of TC and FC by 1.68 and converted to mmol.l-1 by dividing with 38.7.

Determination of plasma HDL cholesterol

Determinations for plasma HDL cholesterol were performed using commercially available enzymatic kits (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The cholesterol concentration of HDL-cholesterol is determined enzymatically by cholesterol esterase and cholesterol oxidase coupled with polyethylene glycol (PEG) to the amino groups. In the presence of magnesium sulphate, dextran sulphate selectively forms water-soluble complexes with LDL,VLDL and chylomicrons which are resistant to PEG- modified enzymes. Cholesterol esters are broken down quantitatively into free cholesterol and fatty acids by cholesterol esterase, in the presence of oxygen, cholesterol is oxidised by cholesterol oxidase to cholesterone and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide generated reacts with 4-amino-antipyrine and N-(2-hydroxy-3-sulfopropyl)-3,5-dimethoxyaniline to form a purple-blue dye. The colour intensity of the dye is directly proportional to the cholesterol concentration and is measured photometrically at 600 nm. The equation is shown below:

HDL cholesterol + H₂O $\xrightarrow{\text{PEG-cholesterndesterndesterol + RCOOH}}$ HDL-cholesterol + O₂ $\xrightarrow{\text{Peroxidase}}$

2 H₂O₂ + 4-aminoantipyrine + HSDA H₂O (HSDA: Sodium N-(2-hydroxy-3-sµlfopropyl)-3,5-dimethoxyaniline). The CV for the assay was 2.8%.

Reagents

• HDL-C Reagent 3rd generation (Cat No 04713214, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)

• Sodium Chloride (NaCl).

Standards

- 0.9% NaCl (used as Standard Blank).
- Roche CFAS Lipids calibrator (Cat. No.12172623, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) was reconstituted in 1 ml distilled water.

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD2)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

Determination of plasma small dense LDL

Determinations for plasma sdLDL cholesterol were performed using commercially available enzymatic and turbidimetric kits (Denka Seiken, Japan). Samples were analysed in ILab600 as mentioned above.

Principle

The principle of cholesterol determination is based on the following 2 steps of colorimetric reaction: of two steps; the first step removes non-sdLDL lipoproteins (chylomicrons, VLDL, IDL,L LDL and HDL) using a surfactant and sphingomyelinase in Reagent 1, where the released cholesterol is then degraded by standard enzymatic reactions; in the second step, another specific surfactant releases cholesterol only from the sdLDL particles and the catalase in Reagent 1 is inhibited by sodiumazide while the hydrogen peroxide produced from the reaction of cholesterol esterase and cholesterol oxidase results in a purple red colour with the coupler in the presence of peroxidase. The colour intensity of the dye is directly proportional to the cholesterol concentration and is measured photometrically at 550 nm. The equation is shown below:

First Step

Chylomicrons, VLDL, IDL. L LDL and HDL CHE & Cholestenone + Fatty acid + H_2O_2 2 H_2O_2 2 H_2O + O_2 Catalase

Second Step

sdLDL-C CHE & CO Cholestenone + Fatty acid + H₂O₂

2 H₂O₂ + 4-aminoantipyrine + TOOS Peroxidase (TOOS: N-Ethyl-n-(2-hydroxy-3-sµlfopropyl)-3-methylaniline). The CV for the assay was 2.8%.

Determination of lipoprotein phospholipid

Determinations of phospholipid concentrations in lipoprotein subfractions were performed using spectrophotometric test for using available enzymatic and turbidimetric kits (Roche Diagnostics, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

Phospholipids in serum are hydrolysed to free choline by phospholipase D. The liberated choline is subsequently oxidised with simultaneous production of hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide, which is produced quantitatively, oxidatively couples 4- aminoantipyrine and phenol to yield a chromogen with a maximum absorbance at 570 nm. The equation is shown below:

Phospholipids (Lecithin Sphingomyelin Lysolecithin) +H₂O Phospholipase D Choline + Phosphatidic acid N-acylsphingosyl phos Lysophosphatidic acid

Choline oxidase Choline + 2 O_2 _____Betains + 2 H_2O H_2O + 4-aminoantipyrine + DAOS _____Brentation + H_2O

Reagents

- Phospholipid available Kit (Cat No. MRP2 691844, Roche Diagnostics, UK).
- Bottle 1 Buffer
- Bottle 2 Enzyme reagent

Working reagent solution was prepared by dissolving contents of one bottle 2 in 40 ml buffer from bottle 1.

Standards

• Bottle 3 - Choline Chloride Standard Solution 300mg/dl, supplied ready to use.

• Use 0.9% NaCl as Standard Blank

Quality Control

Diluted Quality control 1:5 using 0.9% Saline (cat no 5 9020 99 10 065, Diagnostic Systems GmbH, Germany).

Khloud Jamíl Ghafourí ® 2017

Determination of lipoprotein ApoE

Determinations of ApoE concentrations in lipoprotein subfractions were determined by turbidometric immunoassay using commercially available turbidimetric kits (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Samples were analysed in IL600 as mentioned above.

Principle

Through specific antibody binding to Apolipoprotein E in plasma, insoluble aggregates are formed which cause an increase in turbidity. The level of turbidity was measured at 340 nm. The CV for the assay was 3.3%.

Reagents

• Apolipoprotein E Diagnostic Kit - Randox Apo E (Cat No LP 3864, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK), used as supplied.

Standards

• Apolipoprotein calibrator (Cat No 3023, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK).

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD3)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

Determination of ApolipoproteinB Analysis

This is a turbidometric immunoassay using commercially available kits (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Through specific antibody binding to Apolipoprotein B in plasma, insoluble aggregates are formed which cause an increase in turbidity. The level of turbidity is measured using an IL600 analyser nm and is proportional to the amount of Apo B (mg.dl⁻¹) present.

Principle

This method is based on the reaction of a sample containing human apolipprotein-B (apoB) and specific antibodies to form an insoluble complex which can be measured turbidimetrically at 340 nm in an autoanalyser (ILabTM 600, Clinical Chemistry System, Instrumentation Laboratory, USA). The method in **Vascular Biochemistry Lab** has been optimised for apoB measurements in lipoprotein fractions by increasing the volume of sample used in the assay from 3 µl to 12 µl (results were then multiplied by a factor of 0.25). The supplied quality control was also diluted to account for the lower concentrations of apoB. The CV of apoB in plasma was 3.8 and 2.5% and 3.2% in VLDL₁ and VLDL₂ respectively.

Reagents

Apolipoprotein B Diagnostic Kit - Randox Apo B (Cat No LP 3839), distributed by Randox Laboratories (Fridge 1 beside analyser). Use as supplied.

Standards

Calibration is not necessary as it is linked to the standard curve on SOP/LIPRES/159 (Apo B) partnered 10 coefficient 0.25

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD2)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

LPDA made by diluting LPD1 1:5 with deionised water

Determination of Apolipoprotein C-II Analysis

This is a turbidometric immunoassay using commercially available kits (Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK). Through specific antibody binding to Apolipoprotein CII in the sample , insoluble aggregates are formed which cause an increase in turbidity. The level of turbidity is measured using an IL600 analyser and is proportional to the amount of Apo CII (mg.dl⁻¹) present.

Principle

This method is based on the reaction of a sample containing human ApoC-II and specific antiserum to form an insoluble complex which can be measured turbidimetrically at 340 nm. The CV for the assay was 3.3%

Reagents

Apolipoprotein C11 Diagnostic Kit - Randox Apo C11 (Cat No LP 3866), distributed by (Randox Laboratories. (Fridge 1 beside analyser). Used as supplied

Standard

Calibration is not necessary as it is linked to the standard curve on SOP/LIPRES/160

(Apo C2))

Partnered 6 coefficient 0.25

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD2)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

LPDA made by diluting LPD1 1:5 with deionosed water

Determination of Apolipoprotein C-III Analysis

This is a turbidometric immunoassay. Through specific antibody binding to Apolipoprotein CIII in plasma, insoluble aggregates are formed which cause an increase in turbidity. The level of turbidity is measured using an ILab600 analyser and is proportional to the amount of Apo CIII (mg.dl⁻¹) present.

Principle

This method is based on the reaction of a sample containing human ApoC-II and specific antiserum to form an insoluble complex which can be measured turbidimetrically at 340 nm. The CV for the assay was 3.3%

Reagents

Apolipoprotein CIII Diagnostic Kit - Randox Apo CIII (Cat No LP 3865), distributed by Randox Laboratories. Use as supplied.

Standards

• Apolipoprotein calibrator (Randox LP Cat No 3023), distributed by Randox Laboratories (Fridge 1 beside analyser). Calibrator values are lot specific.

To prepare std curve reconstitute one vial of calibrator with 1ml of distilled water at room temperature with gentle mixing, - Apo Cal .

Quality Control

Two controls were included in the kit. Normal lipid control (LPD1) and abnormal Lipid control (LPD2)(Catalogue No LE 2661 and No LE 2663, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK. Each control has been reconstituted in 3 ml distilled or deionised water.

Appendix D; participants Feedback Sheet

University | College of Medical, of Glasgow | Veterinary & Life Sciences

Title: The effects of exercise on lipoprotein affinity for lipoprotein lipase

Lay title: The effects of exercise on fats in the blood

RESULTS FEEDBACK

Name:

DOB:

Address:

Study Start Date: Study End Date:

> *Tel:* 0141 2329494 *E-mail:* k.ghafouri.1@research.gla.ac.uk

Body Composition Measurements

1. Height and Weight

Height and body mass are widely used to measure body fatness. An index called the '**Body mass index**' or '**BMI**' can be used to determine whether somebody is the correct weight for his or her height. Usually, a BMI value of 20 to 25 is normal, 25 to 30 is overweight, and 30+ is classed as obese. (BMI is calculated by dividing body mass in kg by height in metres squared, i.e. kg/m²). However, this index is of limited value, as it does not take into account an individual's build and does not distinguish between fat and muscle mass. (In fact a number of athletes would be classed as overweight by this index, due to their large muscle mass.)

Your height	XX	cm	xx ft xx ir	nch
Your weight:	XX	kg	(xx stn xx	lbs)
Your body mass	s index	K (BMI)): xx	kg/m²

The following graph shows the ideal body mass based on BMI and optimized for men. According to your height, your body mass should be between about xx-xx stones.



2. Skinfolds

When deciding how fat somebody is, it is more useful to consider body fat levels rather than weight. A body fat estimation was calculated from measurements of the fat layer under the skin at four sites (biceps (front of the arm), triceps (back of the arm), subscapular (under the shoulder blade) and suprailiac (above the hip)). This was expressed as a percentage of total body mass (e.g. an 80kg man with 25% body fat would be carrying 20kg of fat). High percentages of body fat are linked with a number of diseases including heart disease and diabetes. For an adult male, body fat should ideally be between about 15-25%.

Your Biceps:	XX	mm	
Your Triceps:	XX	mm	
Your Subscapular	• xx	mm	
Your Suprailiac:	XX	mm	
Your Percentage Body Fat (%BF):			

3. Waist Circumference

The waist circumference is perhaps of greater importance than BMI or % body fat in determining risk of metabolic disorders such as diabetes and heart disease. This is because abdominal fat is thought to be in a position anatomically (i.e. near to the liver and other internal organs) where it could potentially cause a lot of harm. A waist measurement of greater than 100 cm (39.5 in) may increase the risk of certain metabolic complications.

```
Your Waist Circumference (WC): xx cm (xx inch)
```

Health Screening Results

(A copy of your blood results has been sent to your GP.)

1. Blood Pressure

Your Blood Pressure: xx mm Hg

A blood pressure of **xx mm Hg** is considered (**low**, **normal or high**). The systolic pressure (**xx mm Hg**) indicates how hard the heart is working and the force that is blood exerts when blood is pumped from the heart. The diastolic pressure (**xx mm Hg**) tells us what resistance there is to blood flow and therefore how easily blood flows through the blood vessels.

2. Fasting Glucose

Fasting glucose level is used to determine whether you have diabetes or not. The normal range of fasting glucose is 3.5-5.5 mmol/l and a value of greater than 7 mmol/l suggests diabetes.

Your Fasting Glucose: xx mmol/l (which is low, normal or

high)

3. Blood Lipid Measurements

Lipids, or fats, are normal constituents of the 'watery' part of the blood, known as plasma. They are present in a number of forms, but in this study we are most interested in cholesterol and triglycerides.

Cholesterol is a fundamental component of all the cells in our bodies and is essential for the normal functioning of the body. Part of the cholesterol in plasma comes from the liver, where it is made, the remainder being absorbed from the diet. Ideally, the level of cholesterol in the plasma should not exceed 5.0 mmol/l.

Your Cholesterol: xx mmol/l (which is low, normal or

high)

High-density lipoprotein cholesterol or **HDL cholesterol** is commonly referred to as 'good cholesterol'. These particles are responsible for transporting excess cholesterol away from the cells to the liver where it can be disposed of safely. High levels of HDL cholesterol are associated with a *reduced* risk of heart disease. It is desirable for your HDL concentration to be *above* 1.0 mmol/l.

high)

Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol or **LDL cholesterol**, on the other hand, is commonly referred to as 'bad cholesterol'. These particles are responsible for transporting cholesterol from the liver to all cells of the body. This is essential as cholesterol is an integral component of every cell. However, high levels of LDL cholesterol will result in the deposition of cholesterol inside the arteries which is associated with an *increased* risk of heart disease. It is desirable for your LDL cholesterol to be *below* 3.0 mmol/l.

Your LDL Cholesterol: xx mmol/l (which is low, normal or

high)

Cholesterol-to-HDL (Chol/HDL) ratio is the ratio of 'bad' to 'good' cholesterol. Ideally, it should be less than 5.0.

Your Chol/HDL ratio: xx

Triglyceride (TG) is an important source of energy and like cholesterol is both made by the liver and absorbed from the diet. Concentrations of TG in plasma rise after eating a fatty meal, but after an overnight fast it is desirable for concentrations to be below 2.3 mmol/l.

Your Triglycerides: xx mmol/l (which is low, normal or high)

Many people living in Western societies have elevated levels of cholesterol and TG. Comparisons of the incidence of coronary heart disease in different societies indicate that high levels of lipids are associated with increased risk of heart disease. However, it is important to realise that an elevated blood lipid concentration is only one of several well-documented risk factors for coronary heart disease, others include family history, high blood pressure, diabetes, obesity and smoking. In most circumstances it is only when a person exhibits several of these risk factors that there is a major cause for concern.

Fitness Analysis

1. Predicted Maximum Heart Rate (HRmax)

This is the maximum number of beats that your heart can produce in a minute (beat per minute or BPM). It is calculated using the equation of (220 - your age). Common use for this value is for developing fitness programs and prescribing exercise intensities.

Your Predicted Maximum Heart Rate (HR_{max}): xx BPM

2. Predicted Maximal Oxygen Uptake (VO_{2max})

Your maximal oxygen uptake or VO_{2max} is a measure of your body's ability to use oxygen and is one measure of endurance fitness. The point at which you perform exercise at increasing intensity without consuming more oxygen is considered your VO_{2max} and is the point at which exercise can no longer normally be sustained. The major determinant of VO_2 max is genetics, or how well you chose your parents. Another big factor is how heavy you are, as the value is expressed per kg body mass (your VO_{2max} will increase if you lose weight). Perhaps a better measure of endurance fitness is the ability to sustain a reasonable percentage of VO_{2max} for a prolonged period. This, quite clearly, is something that you can manage well!

Your Maximal Oxygen Uptake (VO_{2max}): xx ml O₂/kg/min

Fitness category	VO _{2max} (ml O ₂ /kg/min)
Excellent	44+
Good	35-43
Average	29-34
Below average	23-28
Poor	<23

The fitness classifications for *your* age group and gender are shown below:

3. Energy Expenditure

The body requires energy for every physical activity which is dependent on the duration and type of activity and the body's age and gender. Energy is measured in calories (cal) and is obtained from the body stores or the food we eat, namely carbohydrates, fat and protein. The longer and harder the exercise is, the more calories you burn in order to sustain it. In order to lose 1 pound of fat, you need to burn 3500 kcal (7700 kcal for 1 kg). For the 90-minute brisk walking session you performed:

Your Energy Expenditure: xx kcal

4. Exercise Recommendations

We asked you in this study to walk for 90 minutes at about 50% of your VO_{2max} to maximise the potential effects of exercise on your body's fat metabolism. This would allow us to see the effects of exercise on fat metabolism more clearly. In practice, you don't have to perform such long exercise sessions to get a beneficial effect. We would recommend that you perform a total of 30 minutes of moderate intensity exercise (e.g. walking, gardening, golf, tennis, cycling, swimming etc.) on most, preferably all days of the week. This 30 minutes does not need to be continuous - you could split it up into a number of shorter exercise periods (each of at least 10 minutes). In addition, everyday activities such as walking to the shops can all count towards your daily exercise. This amount of exercise is the ideal, but taking any exercise at all will be beneficial. *We recommend* you to exercise at an exercise intensity of 50-70% of your VO_{2max}. For you, this would be at a heart rate range of xx BPM.

ম্ভ Thank you for your time and participation ন্থ

Appendix E; Statistician Report about statistical test used in Chapter 4

Centre of Statistics and Development

15 Queen Square, Leeds LS2 8AJ Phone: (44) 773-780 3857 Fax: (44) 113-281 6770 Email: <u>info@cstatsd.co.uk</u> Website: <u>www.cstatsd.co.uk</u>



Statistical review of PhD thesis

"Effect of Exercise, Diet and Ethnicity on postprandial metabolism"

In particular Chapter 4

"Effect of Exercise on the Affinity of Lipoproteins for Lipoprotein Lipase"

Submitted by Khloud Ghafouri

The statistical objectives of this study are to compare two or more groups and to provide estimates and confidence intervals for the size of the effect as well as p-values.

Many statistical tools assume that the variable should be normally distributed. A significant violation of the assumption of normality can seriously result in the chances of the researcher committing either a Type I or II error (depending on the nature of the analysis and the non-normality). Thus, one reason (although not the only reason) researchers using data transformations is improving the normality of variables. Statistical tests are often more meaningful and accurate if outcomes are transformed, and a common choice for transforming variables is to apply logarithmic transformation. The advantage of transformations is the increase in statistical power from using parametric statistics over nonparametric statistics. Outcome means may be directly transformed back to the original scale for all these transformation, allowing outcome differences on the transformed scale to be interpreted as ratios on the original scale.

I confirm that the statistical analysis used in this thesis is correct and no further statistical work needs to be done.

Many Thanks

Dr Farag Shuweihdi (PhD in Statistics) Director of CSD